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Introduction

Our clients’ victory in the 5th Circuit is now final. . . . I think the main thing
we are learning is that racial discrimination perpetuates racial discrimina-
tion, and if we are ever to get beyond that regrettable chapter in our nation’s
history, it is time to stop doing it for all purposes.

—Theodore B. Olson, attorney for Cheryl Hopwood, who sued the
University of Texas on the grounds that it had practiced ‘‘unconstitutional

reverse discrimination,’’ reacting to the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision,
quoted in Houston Chronicle, 1 July 1996

When the incisive wit of Richard Pryor’s Bicentennial Nigger warms my
heart, I recall my hopes and dreams in 1976 as a young American who
happened to be of color. I had no limits. My vision was to become the first
black to be elected to the U.S. Senate from Texas, perhaps one day to
become president of the United States. Of course, the reality and preva-
lence of racism and white supremacy did not escape me. Like Nat Turner
and Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., two of my heroes, I felt I was destined to
play a profound role in lifting humanity above outmoded attitudes and
practices to higher ground and a better day. I worked hard all through my
school years preparing: being a class representative, winning oratorical
and writing contests, and reading voraciously, especially the works consid-
ered masterpieces. Then in 1976, the bicentennial of the United States,
came my senior year and time to pick a university where I would further
educate myself and advance toward my ambitions. From my peers, teach-
ers, and persons who seemed to be in the know there was only one choice:
the University of Texas at Austin (ut).∞

I do not recall ever doubting whether I would be admitted to ut. My first
SAT score was not promising. I retook it on a day when I was struggling
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with contact lenses and a higher degree of test anxiety relative to my first
try. The result was a lower score. Still I did not worry. I had attended a
predominately white Catholic high school and had taken a college pre-
paratory track of courses. My grades, except for physical education, math,
and typing, had all been in the A+ to B+ range. My service activities had
been extraordinary. Frankly, I did not have a well-developed sense of the
competitive nature of college admissions, and I had never once heard
anything about how affirmative action might help me get into ut because I
was black and thereby disadvantaged. In fact, race-based affirmative action
did not exist and certainly did not concern me. When my white high
school chums, whom I knew I was smarter than, received their acceptance
letters, I fully expected to receive mine as a matter of course. And so it
ultimately arrived.

In the summer of 1977, I attended a week-long group orientation ses-
sion that instructed me about the important logistical and historical infor-
mation about ut, or the ‘‘Forty Acres,’’ which refers to the original size of
the Austin campus. I learned my first gang sign: the Hook ’Em Horns hand
signal. I learned about the ut tower as the key campus landmark and how
no one could visit the observation deck any longer after some nut went up
there with high-powered rifles and shot people to death. I even learned my
first Aggie jokes as I was introduced to the intense rivalry ut has with the
state’s older land-grant institution, Texas Agricultural and Mechanical
University. I remember being told that ut had the largest endowment
fund for an institution of higher education second only to Harvard, but
never once was I told that people whom the state designated as Negro or
black like me had only recently been allowed to attend ut. I would have to
hunt and commit years of my life pursuing and engaging the hard facts of
black admission to ut and the other institutions of higher education that
the state of Texas had declared for whites only. I wonder how my under-
graduate experience might have been different if I had been able to read
what is presented in this book. I wonder how the undergraduate experi-
ence of all university students might have been transformed if the role and
relationship of race to higher education and democracy in U.S. and Texas
history had been a mainstream part of our education.

The process by which segregated higher educational systems remade
themselves to a greater or lesser extent into environments in which all
citizens, regardless of racial designation, could study on a basis of equality
has not been, until recently, a subject of special consideration among
historians. Two reasons for the relatively undeveloped state of this field of
inquiry may be hazarded. The first has to do with how historians deter-
mine when events have become historic. Clearly there must be some tem-
poral space between the historical happening and the historian’s work of
representing the occurrence as history. De jure desegregation, the break-
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ing down of racially restrictive social policies and practices by resort to
action in a court of law, still occurs. De facto desegregation, or the actual
activity of a member of one racial group entering and becoming a part of
institutions or positions or social and cultural spaces from which they once
were barred, is also still taking place. For example, desegregation events
such as a white or black person for the first time joining a college sorority
or fraternity that had never pledged a member of the other race or the first
African American becoming the president of a large, state-supported uni-
versity are still a part of day-to-day current events. How does one dare treat
such phenomena as a part of history rather than the sociology of a continu-
ing, unfinished process within higher education? How can historians inter-
pret the significance of such practices and events that directly configure
their own world? Historians are clueless.

The second reason historians shy away from the subject of higher educa-
tional desegregation may have to do with the difficulty posed by subjective
issues like fear, politeness, and concern for the reputations of the living or
the recently departed. The ego and all of our basic human emotions often
come into play more strongly with contemporary history than with the
distant past. The trials of scholarly detachment are compounded when the
unit of analysis is the academic historian’s own shop, the place where one’s
living is earned or could be earned: the university. To reconstruct events
that depict university life as held captive by blatant, obscene, and crude
acts of ignorance, prejudice, and discrimination is not the kind of scholar-
ship stakeholders care to partake in, least of all about their own school.

Rising against the grain, the historical literature on the desegregation of
higher education has begun to make a respectable showing. E. Culpepper
Clark’s Schoolhouse Door: Segregation’s Last Stand at the University of Alabama is
an illuminating study of the journey toward desegregation at Alabama’s
flagship campus. As an administrative official at the University of Alabama,
Clark studied the school that provided some of the most dramatic episodes
in collegiate desegregation. His work goes beyond the ‘‘saccharin studies’’
and ‘‘house histories’’ that often characterize books on institutional change
in higher education.≤

Mark Tushnet, with The NAACP’s Legal Strategy against Segregated Educa-

tion, 1925–1950 and Making Civil Rights Law: Thurgood Marshall and the

Supreme Court, 1936–1961, greatly expands our appreciation of the com-
plexities involved, legal and otherwise, in the struggle for citizenship
rights. He shows how the fight against racial discrimination in higher edu-
cation established the National Association for the Advancement of Col-
ored People (naacp) as a leading force in the mid-twentieth-century chal-
lenge to white supremacy, as well as the premier architect of the field of
public-interest litigation known as civil rights.≥

The kind of historical work still missing is one that weaves a critical



I N T R O D U C T I O N

4

inquiry into the emergence of higher education together with an analysis
of the struggle for black liberation at the state and local levels. Recently,
historians have mapped a new framework for periodizing and localizing
the civil rights phase of the modern black liberation struggle. No longer
can the story begin with the honorable action of Mother Rosa Parks in
1955. Reassessments of the dynamic salience of the naacp to the momen-
tous period from before the Second World War to the Civil Rights Act of
1964 have pointed out the visible tip of an iceberg of resistance activity. It
is not a matter of the naacp doing all the work or even the most important
work of the struggle. The association does, however, provide an avenue
through which the heart of black resistance can be reached. Through its
more or less continuous presence in areas of the South between the 1930s
and the 1960s, the naacp facilitates scrutiny of other parts of the black
social quilt that sustained actions for justice, equality, and liberation. Stud-
ied carefully, the naacp can reveal the links between churches, labor
unions, fraternal and benevolent associations, organizations of profes-
sionals and business owners, newspapers and other mass communication
forms, and infrapolitical contestations of a spatial or everyday sort, as well
as political and cultural beliefs of a given community.∂

A study of how white supremacy challenged black people and, in turn,
how blacks challenged that ignoble system of ‘‘race’’ domination finds an
important focal point in African Americans’ struggle for higher educa-
tion. James Anderson’s Education of Blacks in the South, 1860–1935 bril-
liantly delineates the vital importance black people in the period after
slavery attached to access to the schoolhouse, to creating and maintaining
centers of learning for themselves and future generations. As an integral
part of the great undertaking of black enlightenment came the demo-
cratic demand of African Americans for access to institutions for their
higher education.∑

No historian has yet picked up the story where Anderson left off and
carried forward the evolution of ‘‘Negro Higher Education’’ or, more
broadly, the education of black southerners up to their rendezvous with
what Manning Marable calls ‘‘liberal integrationism.’’ The political inte-
grationist ideology, frequently referred to in the present study as civil liber-
tarianism, acted as the midwife to deliver the offspring of racial militancy
and conciliatory interracialism: the desegregation struggle. Marable writes
that the ‘‘central tenets’’ of this new form of black political consciousness
included ‘‘the eradication of all legal barriers to blacks’ gaining full access
to civil society, economic exchange, and political institutions; an increase
in the numbers of African Americans representing their race in both real
and symbolic positions of authority within the state; [and] a strategic al-
liance with liberal whites, especially the national leaders of the Democratic
Party, after the Great Depression.’’ He adds that ‘‘several generations of
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African-American leaders were nurtured in this secular creed and un-
thinkingly accepted its implications.’’∏ My effort here is to show how the
adherents to this ‘‘secular creed,’’ organizing under the naacp banner,
attacked the ‘‘legal barriers’’ that restricted access to the doors of the
university. The larger aim of my historical narrative is to openly explore
the ‘‘implications’’ that liberal integrationism had both for African Ameri-
cans and for society as a whole.

Texas, of all the southern states, recommends itself for special study in
the first instance because with Sweatt v. Painter it gave the nation the land-
mark case that launched the dismantling of racial discrimination in higher
education. Of even greater importance in the choice of Texas, however, is
the claim it makes to being the South’s most unique and diverse state. It is
the only former slave state that was once a part of Mexico and that has a
substantial Mexican American population. This group never experienced
legal exclusion in regard to higher education, but it did face a form of
systematic discrimination despite the fact that the juridical conventions of
the day declared the Mexican ‘‘Caucasian.’’ The Tejano/a experience and
the Mexican American concentration in the borderlands of the southern
and western parts of the state created a Trojan horse within the fortress of
white supremacy. The direct and indirect influence of the Mexican Ameri-
can presence in South and West Texas softened white resistance to deseg-
regation, sped black entry into the region’s colleges, and provided a valu-
able ally to the statewide desegregation campaign. The diversity only
begins there. Texas is where the East meets the West. It looks in both direc-
tions and summons engaging comparisons of the traditionally ‘‘southern’’
cities of Beaumont, Texarkana, Dallas, and Houston with the more ‘‘west-
ern’’ or mestizo cities of Corpus Christi, El Paso, San Antonio, Amarillo,
and Brownsville. Texas furnishes a revealing touchstone from which the
southern story may be brought into sharper focus.π

The study of a single state is also an initial step toward a comparative
history. With the rise of class differentiation among black Texans there
emerged the most vibrant of southern campaigns to improve African
American access to higher education. The unique economy of Texas, dom-
inated after the turn of the century by the production and refining of oil,
produced a deeply divided political and ideological terrain that ultimately
worked against segregation in favor of national goals, such as a global
image of the United States as leader of the free world. The ascendancy of
the idea of human equality over white supremacy did not, however, result
from federal pressure on the outside and business owners on the inside
trying to bring the state out of the southern region’s colonial morass and
into line with national policy and the urban-industrial age, at least not in its
entirety. That triumph must be found in the self-determined struggle of
blacks themselves. While their choices undoubtedly reflect traces of major-
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itarian and bourgeois class influences, this does not negate the fact that
blacks chose the goals, tactics, and strategies of their struggles. Also, with-
out African American initiative, none of the changes presented here
would have occurred or mattered.

In our present time of momentous changes in higher education and the
national political consensus on established desegregation strategies and
racial justice policies, a study that takes aim at the histories of these impor-
tant features of the American social landscape is especially warranted.
How else can we know what makes racial discrimination in college admis-
sions a ‘‘regrettable chapter’’ in the history of the United States? Thus, I
begin with a brief overview of segregation in higher education in Texas. In
the 1870s, schools were not vastly unequal. Over the next seven decades,
however, Anglo-Texans established for themselves seventeen public senior
colleges and continued to restrict blacks to one inadequate facility (see
Table 1). Throughout this ninety-year period, blacks struggled for greater
access to higher education in breath and brick. In speech and petition they
demanded the creation of a new state-supported university for blacks.
Refused admission to ‘‘white’’ colleges and universities, restricted to a
single segregated college, and guided by the value of self-determination,
African Americans took over the educational resources the state and
custom racially identified as ‘‘for colored youth’’ and fought for the contin-
uous improvement of the college at Prairie View. What they still lacked in
higher education in the state they sought outside of Texas. The blacks-only
inconvenience of having to leave the state to pursue advanced degrees that
Texas institutions offered to all other racial groups led in the late 1930s to
a campaign for state assistance in the form of tuition subsidies. Black
Texans succeeded in getting the state legislature to appropriate finances
for blacks who studied outside of Texas for graduate and professional
education. A pragmatic, remarkably unified campaign known as the Texas
University Movement followed. At first the movement rooted itself in the
marrow of racial tradition, but in the 1940s, it began to embrace a new
political rhetoric. The concept of opening traditionally white institutions
to blacks, and vice versa, became thinkable and utterable, and around it,
lawyers, schemes, and a legal campaign cohered.

As troubling as the exposure of white-domination in areas of American
life might be, no intellectuals have bothered to carefully delineate the
implications of a self-defined prodemocracy move to separate race from
higher education. There is no single tract or collected works to hold up,
but a candid and, at times, intriguing conversation can be pulled from
oral and written records that document a mind at work—both for and
against—launching the antiracist democratization of the university. The
history of higher educational desegregation, then, is a history simulta-
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Table 1. Segregated Texas Senior Colleges by Year of Creation as

State-Supported Institutions and Year of Opening, 1871–1963

Institution, City Created Opened

Texas A&M, College Station 1871 1876
Prairie View A&M College, Prairie View 1876 1879
Sam Houston State, Huntsville 1879 1879
Southwest Texas State College, San Marcos 1881 1883
University of Texas, Austin 1881 1883
University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston 1881 1891
North Texas State College, Denton 1899 1901
Texas Women’s University, Denton 1901 1903
University of Texas Dental School, Houston 1905 1943
Texas Western College, El Paso 1913 1914
West Texas State College, Canyon 1913 1914
Arlington State College, Arlington 1917 1917
Tarleton State College, Stephenville 1917 1917
East Texas State Teachers College, Commerce 1917 1917
Sul Ross State College, Alpine 1917 1920
Stephen F. Austin State College, Nacogdoches 1917 1923
Texas College of Arts & Industries, Kingsville 1917 1925
Texas Technological College, Lubbock 1923 1925
Midwestern University, Wichita Falls 1946 1946
Texas Southern University, Houston 1947 1947
Southwestern Medical College, Dallas 1949 1949
Lamar State College of Technology, Beaumont 1949 1951
University of Houston, Houston 1961 1963

Sources : Texas Legislative Council, Higher Education Survey, 1953, and Texas Almanac, various
editions

neously of a kind of legal and self-evident transformation and of a sweep-
ing intellectual engagement and evasion.

Beginning as an attention-grabbing effort to extract concessions from
white power holders who had long ignored black people’s pleas for equal-
ity, the fight against segregation in Texas colleges and universities follow-
ing the Second World War matured into the leading form of organized
black activism. The civil libertarian thrust and the larger ideology of liberal
integrationism did not assume hegemony over the black community by fiat
from Thurgood Marshall, the naacp, or Harry Truman, for that matter.
Rather it was the brave example of blacks students, who, from 1949 to
1965, stepped onto white campuses in the face of white resistance that
ranged from passive, to massive and legal, to illegal mob violence. These
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students played the decisive part in winning the hearts and minds of large
numbers of blacks of all social classes and, eventually, of many white lib-
erals to integration as the only way to ensure racial equality and justice.
While the students made things happen, they drew their inspiration from
myriad forces: Marshall, the naacp, Truman, the great aims of humanity,
justice, and peace that heartened soldiers and their families in the recent
world war in Europe and Asia, the desire for individual advancement,
torch-bearing for the race, and as many other forces as there were students
who dared to cross the color line. The ultimate motor forces for the move-
ment as a whole were twofold: to save the race and to advance the cause of
democracy.

In the late 1970s, the hollowness of the integrationist ideology at its
moral and intellectual core began to expose itself. When I attended ut in
1977, the school had changed in but a small way from the days of its first
black undergraduates of two decades before. Black students in my genera-
tion, however, faced racism with a crumbling ideological armor. We did
not know we were on the moral high road because we did not know our-
selves in the context of a history as an African American people. We did
not know that we were the primary heirs of the great human tradition of
democratic struggle.

Moving from the Juneteenth emancipation to the 1965 Civil Rights Act,
the following chapters map the intellectual, legal, and grassroots activism
that helped launch a new way of thinking about race and citizenship rights
in a democracy and the transformation of a segregated system of higher
education. If this history helps us face the lawsuits of Jennifer Gratz, Bar-
bara Grutter, Cheryl Hopwood, Jennifer Johnson, and Katuria Smith that
challenge how we in higher education try to address racial domination’s
brutal effects, then let the blessings be. I hope democracy is mature enough
in our part of the world to justly reconcile individual and group interests
and pasts.∫
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chapter one

As Separate as the Fingers
Higher Education in Texas from Promise to Problem,

1865–1940

Dear readers, come and walk with me on the porch of research for a little
investigation. . . . We stand today over 12 million strong. These millions
speak, sing and preach in the English language, and beginning sixty years
ago our progress has been so marvelous, having now an army of cultured
Teachers, Preachers, Lawyers, Doctors, Masters and promoters of business
enterprises. Why should we not be inspired to take courage and press for-
ward? . . . [A]ll we ask is an equal chance in the field of endeavor and we will
build a monument of honor and love in the hearts of all mankind that shall
stand as a sure foundation for us and even unborn generations who will have
need to call us blessed.

—Andrew Webster Jackson, A Sure Foundation (1940)

Before black Texans had their own history, schools, churches, warriors,
martyrs, and women and men of big affairs, they had Juneteenth. It may
not have looked like much in the eyes of an arrogant world, but it was
everything black Texans had, and they each loved and cherished that day
with all their heart. On the nineteenth of June, they celebrated with their
songs of sorrow and joy, they shared the mirth that helped them to survive
the long, white-hot day of bondage, their tongues spread the lore that
sustained their folk life, and most important of all, they remembered.
Facing their past together, the know-it-alls and the know-nothings, the tall
and the short, the bright and the blighted, those whose britches seemed to
be on fire and those who could go along to get along, they all came to-
gether and remembered. Here, from that day forward, they gathered the
scattered meanings of their prehistory and put themselves to the task of
creating a new collective persona, the freedmen and the freedwomen of
the land known as the United States of America. The American soil on
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which most of them had been born was, however, a land their captors had
always claimed as fully theirs and theirs alone. The Euro-Texan claim to
ultimate supremacy over the state and its power to control the land is what
brought to the Afro-Texans’s Juneteenth an enduring sense of paradox,
ambiguity, and irony. Much as they would resist the prerogatives and as-
sumptions of white power, the relative weakness of black power made
negotiation a matter of necessity, and negotiate they did. To wrest from
white Texans access to the higher educational resources of the state, black
Texans had to negotiate a complex system of myths, authority, law, state-
craft, prejudice, domination, and psychopathology. The story of how they
did this is a significant and fascinating one. Telling no lies and claiming no
easy victories, it is clear that the struggle for access and equity in Texas
higher education is a vital part of the process of the social construction of
black freedom itself.∞

From 1866 to 1876, white Texans, against the wishes of the state’s mi-
nority black population, created a dual system of public education predi-
cated on the separation of a white race from an African or Negro race.
The start of an apartheid system of racial domination in Texas began with
the constitution of 1866 with its decree that the ‘‘income derived from the
Public School Fund be employed exclusively for the education of white
scholastic inhabitants’’ and ‘‘that the legislature may provide for the levy-
ing of a tax for educational purposes.’’ The state would direct tax monies
raised among people of African descent themselves exclusively toward
‘‘the maintenance of a system of public schools for Africans and their
children.’’ Political turmoil and postwar economic conditions, however,
prevented the actual development statewide of any public school system.

In 1867, the Reconstruction legislature erased the language of racial
segregation. The efforts of ten black representatives at the Constitutional
Convention—George T. Ruby, Wiley Johnson, James McWashington, Ben-
jamin O. Watrous, Benjamin F. Williams, Charles W. Bryant, Stephen
Curtis, Mitchell Kendall, Ralph Long, and Sheppard Mullins—were a cru-
cial part of the process that helped create public schools and take state
government out of the business of maintaining race consciousness. In The

Development of Education in Texas, Frederick Eby wrote that despite ‘‘the ex-
treme irritation which was felt at the school system imposed by the radical
régime, schools were opened; and as attendance was made compulsory
many of the colored children attended, this being their first experience of
public education.’’ By 1873, however, the Texas legislature began repeal-
ing most of the Reconstruction laws, and the brief and limited episode of
nonracial school access became a faint memory.≤

In the centennial year of the American War of Independence, a racialis-
tic and inegalitarian spirit seized the hearts of the majority of the legisla-
tors in Austin and the white majority of the state’s population at large.
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Where the constitution of 1869 had been silent on the matter of inte-
grated classrooms, the 1876 constitution was quite definite: ‘‘Separate
schools shall be provided for the white and colored children, and impartial
provision shall be made for both.’’ State government was again in the role
of preserving racial identity, and, more perniciously, it fully intended to
deny blacks the ‘‘impartial provision’’ of schools, as well as the ‘‘Branch
University for the instruction of the colored Youths of the State,’’ which it
had promised them in Article 7 of the constitution ratified on 15 February
1876. Historian Alton Hornsby Jr. speculates that the integration of the
University of South Carolina, which resulted from the failure of state offi-
cials to establish any institution of higher learning exclusively for blacks,
moved Texas legislators to pass a constitutional provision creating a dual
system of higher education.≥

Six months after Texans ratified their new, more racist state constitu-
tion, the state legislature enacted a measure creating a ‘‘State Agricultural
and Mechanical College for Colored Youths.’’ The act gave Governor
Richard Coke the power to appoint a commission to find a site for the
college and supervise the building of its physical plant within a paltry
budget of $20,000. The state-supported school that would train the minds
of free black men and women, ironically, found a home at Alta Vista, the
1,000-acre slave plantation that became the property of Helen Marr Swear-
ingen Kirby and her husband, Jared, in 1858. In 1867, Helen Kirby, wid-
owed shortly after the Civil War, opened Alta Vista Institute, a boarding
school for white girls. She closed the school in 1875 and reopened the
institute in Austin. The state of Texas purchased the Alta Vista Plantation
from her for $13,000, and because its lands ‘‘were exceptionally good for
farming and other agricultural purposes,’’ it became the location for Alta
Vista Agricultural College for ‘‘colored’’ people.∂

‘‘Alta Vista,’’ meaning the high view or landscape, did not last long
as the school’s name, and the school itself almost died out with it. On
21 January 1878, the state commission concluded its work of preparing
the ‘‘colored’’ state college, in compliance with the federal government’s
Agricultural Land Grant Act, or Morrill Act, from which Texas had bene-
fited. It formally handed over the stewardship of the new institution to the
board of directors of the Texas A&M College, the main branch of which
was created in 1871 (but not opened until October of 1876). The A&M
directors then named Thomas S. Gathright, the president of the white
A&M college, as president of the new black A&M college, requesting that
he serve in that capacity without any additional pay. They also hired a black
man from Mississippi, Frederich W. Minor, to serve as the institution’s
chief operating officer under the baneful title of principal. The title may
have caused Minor little distress; he actually constituted Alta Vista’s sole
employee: chief administrator, registrar, faculty, janitor—all rolled into
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Although the Texas state constitution of 1876 promised to create a branch of the University
of Texas ‘‘for the instruction of the colored Youths of the State,’’ legislators established a
separate and unequal branch of Texas A&M. Shown in this engraving done in the 1890s is
Prairie View’s Kirby Hall, an old plantation house on the left, and Academic Hall on the
right (Cushing Library, Texas A&M University).

one. The white president/black principal dualism, which remained in
effect for more than seven decades over the objections of students and sup-
porters of the school, signified the peculiar, subordinate place the school
held within a white supremacist society. On its opening day, 11 March, a
mere eight students showed up to enroll; but even they quickly fled the
plantation school. Like the white A&M branch, Alta Vista only accepted
men. The educational function of both the black and white agricultural
schools largely involved taking young men fresh off a farm and returning
them to the farm as more highly skilled or ‘‘scientific’’ farmers. Alta Vista’s
early ‘‘black students,’’ however, as a Texas A&M historian found, ‘‘were
not interested in college training which would merely return them to the
drudgery of farm labor.’’ Until 1879, the little ‘‘colored’’ school on the
high prairie withered on the vine, until Governor Oran Roberts took up
the suggestion to convert Alta Vista into a coeducational normal school for
the preparation of teachers for ‘‘colored’’ schoolchildren. Under the new
name of Prairie View State Normal and Industrial College but continuing
under the control of A&M’s board and the white president/black princi-
pal arrangement, the multipurpose institution began attracting students.
With scholarships from the state treasury and community organizations, as
well as the support of popular black political leaders like Norris Wright
Cuney of Galveston, Prairie View grew slowly into a major institution of
postsecondary education in Texas.∑

Cuney, like many blacks of his day, did not rush to endorse the machina-
tions of the white supremacists setting up Prairie View. After Cuney visited
Austin in the 1870s, word spread that he had given his support to legisla-
tion establishing a state school exclusively for ‘‘colored’’ deaf, dumb, and
blind youth. Answering the rumor in his characteristic style of burning
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forthrightness, Cuney said he opposed segregation in no uncertain terms.
Cuney stated that ‘‘had the memorial’’ to establish a special state school for
the hearing and visually impaired ‘‘been drawn to read that the State
should make provision for all her unfortunates, I should certainly have
endorsed it, but I do not seek special legislation for the Negro.’’ He as-
sailed the fact that in Texas only two public institutions showed any eager-
ness about admitting persons of African descent: the penitentiary and the
lunatic asylum. The state-supported institutions of higher learning and the
asylum for the hearing and visually impaired were all closed to blacks, he
bemoaned. He went on to articulate a clear argument against a dual system
of higher education that had to wait over three-quarters of a century be-
fore it reappeared before the Supreme Court:

It is a sad travesty upon humanity and justice that the State of Texas accepted
gifts of public lands for the endowment of an Agricultural and Mechanical
College for the benefit of the whole people, and bars a large proportion of
her population because they were born black. . . . No, I do not ask for social
equality for my race. That is a matter no law can touch. Men associate with
men they find congenial, but in matters of education and State charity there
certainly should be no distinction. There is a clause in our State constitution
separating the schools. This brands the colored race as an inferior one.∏

Ultimately, albeit reluctantly, Cuney became a supporter of the separate-
but-unequal Prairie View. He helped many persons to get scholarships to
attend the school, and his daughter, Maud, later taught there, as well as
headed the music department of the Deaf, Dumb, and Blind Institute for
Colored Youth in Austin. Both Cuney and his daughter, and black Texans
in general, lived in an age of compromises that typically were unfairly cut
against black equality. Nonetheless, for every sacrifice of principle, every
indignity withstood, they also fought for ground. In 1883, when a Gal-
veston businessman gave the city $200,000 to build a public high school,
Cuney, the first African American elected to the city council, demanded
that the grant be accepted only if Ball High did not exclude black children.
His principled but unsuccessful stand against segregated education and
Jim Crow laws faded into the background of Cuney’s pragmatic maneuver-
ing as a politician. Historian Merline Pitre argues that Cuney ‘‘was too busy
climbing [ladders for political offices] to devote much of his attention to
racial matters.’’ However fair this assessment of Cuney may be, it is clear
that accommodation of and rebellion against racial oppression character-
ized and shaped the lives of black Texans from the most privileged strata to
the least.π

In the 1880s, when the state perfected its plans to create the University
of Texas at Austin as an institution of the first class for white youths, blacks,
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including Cuney, protested government officials’ failure to abide by the
state constitution and a constitutionally mandated popular vote in 1882
that affirmed that the state would create in Austin a branch of the Univer-
sity of Texas (ut) exclusively for black students. Black educational leaders
consistently reproached the legislature’s biased way of administering the
state’s dual system of education through the end of the nineteenth century
and into the twentieth. Despite their protests, the Texas legislature did not
deem it ‘‘practicable’’ to establish a ‘‘colored branch’’ of the University of
Texas until it faced the possibility of having black students integrate its
flagship university in the middle of the twentieth century.∫

Texas blacks’ struggle for equal education acquired the reputation of
being the most progressive of any state in the postemancipation South.
‘‘During the last three decades of the nineteenth century,’’ one historian
has noted, ‘‘Texas made greater progress in reducing Negro illiteracy than
any other state. . . . Until about 1880 Texas retained her primacy in Negro
education, but by 1900 the state had lost this lead’’ in all areas except the
number of black high schools. Moreover, ‘‘whites had little sincere interest
in furthering the education of the Negroes.’’Ω Thus, a large measure of the
relative advance in black education must be accorded to the actions of
blacks themselves.∞≠

A combination of factors enabled black education to get a strong start
in Texas. The leadership of public servants like Matthew Gaines and Norris
Wright Cuney was a key factor, but the military, through the Freedmen’s
Bureau, also played a positive role. Brigadier General Joseph Kiddoo ‘‘for-
malized and expanded the Negroes’ school system’’ by combining funds
from the volunteer groups working to educate blacks with government
subsidies. The resulting higher salaries induced many of the northern
benevolent agencies’ schools to come under the bureau structure.∞∞

Initially, most white Texans greeted the rise of black education, which to
them invalidated the old order, with mistrust and hostility, which soon
grew into stern, organized opposition. The evangelical fervor of teachers
who came as God’s soldiers of light to ‘‘save’’ a wicked and fallen South
enraged the average white Texan. The state newspapers portrayed black
freedmen and freedwomen as uneducable subhumans who needed hard
work under the scrutiny of whites for their own best interests. A wave of
school burnings and physical attacks and threats against teachers and stu-
dents ensued. One white woman in Houston expressed with pith the mood
of the period when she stated that she would sooner ‘‘put a bullet in a
Negro than see him educated.’’∞≤

In spite of Anglo-Texan antipathy, by 1867, the bureau estimated it had
taught 10,000 blacks how to read and write. When the bureau withdrew
from Texas on 30 June 1870, the schools were its only program of any
lasting benefit to blacks. The agency failed to endow blacks with land, and
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its direct relief of emergency food rations, fair courts, and just labor con-
tracts was at best a late and poor start. The more than 4,000 blacks attend-
ing bureau schools, however, was a significant step forward.∞≥

Radical Republicans, for a variety of political reasons, tried to guarantee
that these schools would not be closed once military rule was ended in the
state. Before Texas could gain readmission to the U.S. Congress it had to
promise ‘‘that the Constitution of Texas shall never be so amended or
changed as to deprive any citizen or class of citizens of the United States of
the school rights and privileges secured by the Constitution of said state.’’∞∂

After President Ulysses S. Grant signed legislation on 30 March 1870
restoring civil government, the problems of instituting public education
fell squarely into the arena of Texas politics and public opinion. This
development immediately brought on dire consequences for the struggle
for educational opportunity. Indeed, under the newly reconstructed Texas
government, the ‘‘general system of public schools under a state superin-
tendent of education’’ died a quick death when ‘‘popular hostility to the ad-
mission of negroes to the public schools, coupled with the inefficient man-
agement by the courts, rendered the plan in large measure a failure.’’∞∑

By 1879, Texas created a public school system strictly segregated by
race. A provision to the constitution of 1876 denied benefits from the
Available School Fund to any Texas school attended by both white and
Negro children. The legislature followed this step in 1884 with a revision
of the public school law that reinforced the principle of segregation: ‘‘The
children of the white and any colored races shall be taught in separate
schools and in no case shall any school consisting partly of white and partly
of colored children receive any aid from the public school fund.’’ Texas
laws, policies, and state actions that built and perpetuated a separate and
unequal system of education already were solidly established by the time of
the Supreme Court’s 1896 Plessy v. Ferguson decree, which upheld the
constitutionality of laws and practices that excluded African Americans
from institutions, businesses, and services on the basis of racial designa-
tion. White Texans hailed the decision even though it was clear that there
was no consensus regarding white responsibility to the equality part of
Plessy ’s ‘‘separate but equal’’ ruling. While for white Texans Plessy gave
national sanction to state and local white supremacist policies, for blacks it
spurred their move toward nationalism and an ethos of self-reliance over
pleas for integration, a move Texas novelist and Baptist preacher Sutton
Griggs advocated in Imperium in Imperio (1899) and his four other novels
published in the first decade of the new century.∞∏

The paths black Texans took toward solving the problem of Negro edu-
cation became a double-edged sword. If the educational level of blacks
somehow had been held constant at its 1870 level, a major improvement in
their condition would have been virtually unthinkable. The increase in the
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number of educated men and women, the elimination of illiteracy, and the
enlargement of black people’s control over the educational institutions
that served them contributed to their rising standard of living, thus ex-
panding their power to determine the political, social, cultural, and eco-
nomic conditions of their communities. Yet the push for education, its
becoming a basic part of the black creed, carried with it an unfortunately
high degree of uncritical acceptance of the cultural values inherent in the
content and structure of Eurocentric education. The foundation of this
latter aspect is grounded in the plantation experience.∞π

Beckett Harrison from San Augustine, Texas, recalled from his days in
slavery that ‘‘most every farm have a cullud man l’arning to preach. ’Cose
dey couldn’t read de Bible, but dey pay ’tention to de white preacher when
he come ’round an’ some of ’em done good at it. My grampa uster claim to
be a preacher.’’ The claiming of roles such as preacher, which implied the
acquisition of a knowledge base (perhaps divine election as well), involved
a mix of imitating white behavior and black creativity. Harrison added that
‘‘dey have school in de quarters an’ de li’l slaves had a chance to learn how
to read an’ write. Dey teach ’em manners an’ behavier too. Sometime dey
git a broke-down white man to be de teacher. Dey try not to let de chillun
come up so ign’nant. Den dey could use ’em better for dey own purpose.’’
Here he demonstrates cognizance of the hegemonic nature of the slave
education in the quarters. Harrison estimated that ‘‘it took ten or twelve
year after freedom to git de black man de qualification way he could
handle things.’’ For blacks to be able to ‘‘handle things’’ for themselves in a
Eurocentric society in less than a generation no doubt represented a great
accomplishment for the freedpeople, but it came at a price that could run
terribly high.∞∫

Zeno John felt the price. ‘‘I uster b’long to de Odd Fellows,’’ the elderly
black Texan remembered in an interview in 1937, ‘‘I neber be l’arn’
[learned] to hol’ office and I couldn’ qualify. I neber did go to school.’’∞Ω

The Odd Fellows, a black self-help association established in New York City
in 1843, became one of the earliest community organizations after eman-
cipation that supported the institutional and moral foundation of univer-
sal schooling for the freedpeople.≤≠ Membership in fraternal orders like
the Odd Fellows had its privileges, but with leadership came a measure of
elite status and power. The rise of intraethnic social class differentiation
gave an answer to the question the enslaved black boy asked of Fanny
Kemble: ‘‘Missus, what for me learn to read? me have no prospects.’’≤∞ With
education a black man had the prospect of being a leader among his
people, a person of status, a person with the power to direct the course of
affairs in the organizations, institutions, and social life of the black commu-
nity, at least as much as the white power structure would allow. ‘‘If you want
to lead, you must read’’ was the saying that captured the prevailing atti-
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tude. Moreover, given that the power structure could allow the black elite
broad latitude, leadership had its privileges. The point at which white
power holders imposed limits generally came whenever expenditures rose
above what they deemed necessary or whenever a rebellious attitude of
some kind appeared to circulate among black people.

The educated black elite seldom sought a radical departure from white
society and culture, and when they did it was truly a radical development.
At the elite’s most fervent and aggressive point in Texas history, its princi-
pal aim centered on getting more of what was needed to be like white people

rather than anything else. Henry Lewis, born at Pine Island in north cen-
tral Jefferson County, Texas, about two decades before emancipation, saw
the dilemma of enslavement, liberation, and culture in plain terms: ‘‘Us all
wanter git free and us talk ’bout it in de quarters ’mongst usse’fs, but we
ain’t say nuttin’ ’bout it w’ere de w’ite could hear us. W’en freedom come,
some stay on de ol’ place a long time, and some go off. Some was scared to
leave. You know dey was jis’ slaves and warn’t civilize’. Some ain’t nebber git
civilize’ yit.’’≤≤ As it was in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, the schoolhouse
in the United States was socially constructed into a key instrument for
civilizing its internally colonized subjects.≤≥

Black schools also became the site of significant activity that ran counter
to the hegemony of white authorities. They helped to nurture, groom, and
equip a cadre of leaders who challenged the caste relations and the colo-
nial system that constrained their opportunity for social and material ad-
vancement. In Texas, a key organization of educated black men and
women arose in the form of the Colored Teachers State Association of
Texas (ctsat). A dozen men, including L. C. Anderson, principal of
Prairie View Normal School, and David Abner, noted educator and frater-
nalist, met and founded the association in 1884. For eighty-two years it
continuously operated to unite black educators across denomination and
from all over the vast expanse of the Lone Star State. Prairie View’s princi-
pals and chief administrators wielded considerable influence over educa-
tional, social, and political matters through the ctsat. It also served
as a watchdog to protect the interest of publicly supported black higher
education.

The ctsat’s advocacy function extended in at least two different, per-
haps contradictory, directions: first, it reminded state officials of Prairie
View’s importance and worked to maintain and develop the institution;
and second, it tried to keep before the public the constitutional promise of
a first-class university for African Americans. From one generation to the
next, ctsat sought to fulfill its credo: ‘‘Best in Education for Every Negro
Child—Best Working Conditions for Every Negro Teacher.’’ Indeed, it was
in the ctsat that black intellectual warriors against white supremacy
planted the seeds of the modern civil rights movement in Texas.≤∂
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In 1900, ctsat members debated the industrial education idea. Booker
T. Washington’s Tuskegee model ruled at Prairie View, challenged the
liberal arts orientation of the state’s private black colleges, and was spread-
ing its influence across the state’s common schools. Booker T. Washington
in his Atlanta Exposition Address of 1895 had expressed the idea that ‘‘in
all things that are purely social we can be as separate as the fingers, yet one
in the hand in all things essential to mutual progress.’’ Washington cate-
gorized education as a ‘‘purely social’’ matter where African Americans
preferred to be away from whites. Thanks to his separatist position and the
effectiveness with which his Texas-born second in command, Emmett Jay
Scott, spread the news of the Tuskegee Institute’s success with its industrial
training program, Washington became very popular with many black and
white Texans. A ctsat committee, however, reported that the idea that
black minds were best suited for practical training was ‘‘unjust, illogical,
spurious, and antagonistic to American peace and prosperity, and entirely
out of step with the soundest philosophy of the age.’’ Launched in 1896,
the association’s petition drive for a bona fide liberal arts college curricu-
lum at Prairie View brought results in 1901 when Texas A&M approved the
addition of college-level courses. By the 1920s, the ctsat’s sustained op-
position to the Tuskegee model’s limited social vision had contributed to
the galvanizing of a Texas version of the New Negro. In the 1930s, New
Negroes would launch a direct attack on the segregated order. In the years
following emancipation, educated blacks in the ctsat played a decisive
role in shifting the worldview of black Texans away from an unfulfilled
separate equality agenda back to dreams of a racially integrated society.≤∑

As for the outlook of white Texans, the pleas and arguments of the
ctsat principally fell on deaf ears and closed minds. Eby argued that
‘‘while there still remained some opposition on the part of many white
people, the leaders of the state recognized the wisdom of educating col-
ored people.’’ Of course ‘‘reasonable people’’ knew that educating blacks
served many useful ends, but white state leaders most wanted black schools
to instill labor discipline, as well as a peculiar, subordinate sense of place

within southern society, and to fulfill these ends as cheaply as possible.
Prairie View’s biennial appropriation remained inadequate, the black ut
question was ignored, and the New Negro was greeted with indifference
and sometimes scorn. By the First World War the higher education of
blacks had journeyed from a constitutional promise to a clear and manifest
problem. Eby himself expressed surprise that Texas, which ranked seventh
in size of black population—690,049 in 1910—had a total of a mere 129
black college students in 1914. He noted that black college enrollment in
Texas had risen to more than 600 for the 1921–22 academic year, and he
attributed the marked increase to ‘‘the same causes which have operated
in institutions for white students: higher wages after the war furnishing
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more with the means for higher culture, the broadening of the curricula in
offering more industrial training, Federal aid in assisting ex-soldiers, and
the acceptance of the work of negro colleges for teachers’ certificates.’’
The fivefold increase in black college students in Texas suggests the flower-
ing of a black renaissance, but it also highlighted the problematic nature
of the state’s dual higher education system.≤∏

Owing in part to the influence of progressivism, which emphasized the
evaluations of experts, so-called Negro education in the early twentieth
century inspired a great many studies, surveys, and reports, complete with
recommendations for improvement. Although the major studies generally
reflected the biases of the experts who authored them and the governmen-
tal or philanthropic agencies that commissioned them, black leaders and
intellectuals often participated in and influenced these studies. Thomas
Jesse Jones, in his Negro Education: A Study of the Private and Higher Schools for

Colored People in the United States (1917), produced a massive national sur-
vey that stimulated a heightened level of concern among state education
officials, resulting in some minor changes in educational policy in Texas.≤π

After receiving a subvention from John Rockefeller’s General Educa-
tion Board (geb) in 1919, a first for Texas, the legislature established a
Division of Negro Education (dne) within the State Department of Educa-
tion. The dne opened a new, progressive thrust on behalf of the state
government in the field of Negro education.≤∫ It advocated industrial edu-
cation for the black masses and gathered facts in its execution of the state’s
first survey of Negro schools in 1921.≤Ω

In 1924, Texas governor Pat M. Neff announced the completion of a
comprehensive survey of the state’s system of public education, which the
state published the next year in eight separate volumes. In accord with the
segregationist spirit of the times, several volumes of the Texas Educational

Survey Report contained a separate subsection that treated ‘‘Negro educa-
tion.’’ On the basis of scientific testing of black school-age children, the
survey commission reached the conclusion that ‘‘the mental ability of the
negro . . . indicate[s] on the whole, that they would be able to profit by
increased educational opportunity.’’ In addition to offering proof of the
educability of blacks, the writers of the Survey appealed to the white ruling
class’s sense of its own self-interest for their arguments for improving
‘‘negro’’ education. Particularly, the commission stressed that better
schools could improve Negroes’ lifestyles and their health—mental and
physical. Given the fact of the ‘‘interwoven’’ nature of black-white eco-
nomic and geographic life, it would be of ‘‘mutual gain’’ and would free
both races ‘‘to a certain extent from the danger of epidemics.’’ Allowing
blacks to live in conditions that made them more susceptible to disease
caused greater absenteeism from work, lower productivity, and, in the case
of communicable diseases, cross-race exposure to whatever illnesses blacks
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carried. Additionally, the self-interest argument emphasized the ability of
schools to reduce the so-called criminal-mindedness of blacks.≥≠

Using data from southern states that educated children separately in
white and black schools, the Survey ranked Texas fourth after Missouri,
Oklahoma, and West Virginia in having the lowest percentages of ‘‘negro’’
illiterates; moreover, in 1920, approximately 70 percent of black Texans
lived in rural communities working as landowners (23,519), tenant
farmers (54,945), or farm laborers (91,000). Texas ranked ahead of all
other states surveyed except for Maryland and Oklahoma in expenditures
for teachers’ salaries and in narrowing the dollar gap between white and
black teachers’ pay. On average, white teachers in Texas received slightly
more than double what black teachers earned. Maryland and Oklahoma,
on the other hand, paid a little less than double, while South Carolina, the
worst case, paid white teachers almost ten times more than black teachers.
Likewise, Texas paid higher average annual teachers’ salaries to blacks and
invested more in the physical plants of black schools in per capita terms
than all other states besides Oklahoma and Maryland. Texas ranked sec-
ond among the states surveyed in the percentage of black scholastics en-
rolled: 87 percent of black school-aged children (classified as between the
ages of six and fourteen) were enrolled, compared to 91 percent of white
children. Only Oklahoma did better, with 88 percent black enrollment
versus 87 percent white enrollment.≥∞

The Texas Educational Survey Commission also brought to Texas Leo
Favrot, a field agent of the General Education Board, who had primary
responsibility for producing most of the Survey ’s reports on Negro educa-
tion. Favrot’s assessment of the Negro part of Texas’s dual education sys-
tem was thoroughly consistent with the designs of the geb:≥≤

The Prairie View Normal and Industrial School is the only State supported
college for negroes in Texas. It should develop several other lines of work,
such as painting, brick-laying, and the like, of less than college grade. It
should develop more two-year courses above high school for those who find
it impossible to continue in the four-year collegiate courses. Above all, it
should be equipped to do better teacher training. The library needs more
generous support, more cows are needed, and a more adequate training
school should be provided. In short, the standard of support, in general, is
too low. The general spirit of the institution and the conduct of its students
are very creditable. Plans should be laid now for the early provision of profes-
sional education for negroes in such lines as law and medicine.≥≥

Favrot, moreover, determined that Willette Rutherford Banks ‘‘was the
man to carry out the Board’s program at Prairie View,’’ and his recommen-
dation secured Banks the Prairie View principalship. His recommendation
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of ‘‘early provision’’ of professional education for blacks, however, went
unheeded for more than two decades.≥∂

Another widely circulated study, Arthur Klein’s Survey of Negro Colleges

and Universities, published in 1929, also had the general effect of highlight-
ing certain problem areas and of affirming the need for black higher
learning. Klein, as did the 1925 state survey, called upon black colleges to
modernize their classical liberal arts curriculums by making them more in
line with their white counterparts. Above all else, he noted the need for
teacher training, followed by agricultural, industrial, and vocational edu-
cation. ‘‘National social and economic life demands the training of many
more negro professional and technical leaders,’’ Klein wrote. ‘‘This is also
a question of higher education.’’ He stressed that ‘‘to safeguard the health
of the colored people and of their neighbors,’’ it was vital that the relative
size of the black profession-managerial class match the rate of increase of
the general black population. This class was best able ‘‘to instruct’’ the
masses ‘‘in hygiene, sanitation, and in the measures necessary to ward off
disease.’’≥∑

If read with genuine concern, Klein’s study might have alerted Texas
officials to their culpability for the dismally low numbers or nonexistence
of black physicians, surgeons, dentists, architects, engineers, designers,
inventors, pharmacists, and other professionals. State leaders chose in-
stead to ignore his findings. Prairie View did not institute a division of
graduate study until 1937, when black activists pressured the state legisla-
ture and the A&M board to do so.≥∏

Black Texans received little help from state government officials and
fellow white educators, who made no pretense of friendship or liberalism
on race. Nevertheless, blacks, with the few whites they could find, did
organize interracial committees and conferences. The significance of in-
terracial gatherings on education lay more in the way they helped to galva-
nize black educators and political activists and spurred them to clarify
problems and goals than in stimulating actual corrective action. In 1930,
the first Prairie View Educational Conference inaugurated the most im-
portant series of symposia on black life of the decade. The annual meeting
satisfied a variety of purposes. As a collaborative project between the State
Department of Higher Education and Prairie View, it became one of Prin-
cipal Banks’s favorite ways of leveraging his college into a more favorable
relationship with the state government and a more central and authorita-
tive position on Negro affairs and of enhancing the school’s image before
philanthropic boards, accrediting associations, and the community at
large.≥π

The first conference on the outstanding problems of Negro education
in Texas posed that before the ‘‘problem’’ of black education could ‘‘be
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intelligently attacked it must be thoroughly studied in almost all of its
ramifications and viewed from several points of vantage.’’≥∫ The confer-
ence sought to present an authentic portrait of how the dual educational
system functioned for blacks in Texas; to more widely disseminate the
‘‘significant information and facts released by the Texas Survey, U.S. Gov-
ernment studies, Reports of the Department of Education, and other
sources’’; and to stimulate ‘‘educational planning.’’≥Ω Henry Allen Bullock,
professor of sociology at Prairie View and editor and director of research
for educational conferences, conducted prodigious scientific research on
an array of topics concerning the social status of black Texans and put a
considerable amount of energy and genius into publicly showcasing and
disseminating the results. From the first conference, Bullock published a
slim monograph, ‘‘The Survey of Education for Negroes in Texas.’’∂≠ Prin-
cipal Banks, in later years, proudly announced that conference bulletins
and studies were in libraries all across the country and as far away as
Europe, Japan, and China.∂∞

Each year, the conference grew into a larger and more diverse, biracial
gathering. Banks and Bullock expected the inaugural conference to draw
about 75 people, but 138 attended. By 1936, Bullock reported that the
number of registered conferees had increased to 574 persons, with a total
attendance of about 1,500. Of those who registered that year, 11 percent
were white, an increase of 24 percent from the 1934 conference.∂≤

The most important conference on the question of black higher educa-
tion in the state, the eighth conference, in 1937, had as its subject ‘‘The
Availability of Public Education for Negroes in Texas.’’ Banks opened
the gathering with praise for the work and cooperation of all involved in
the educational conference ‘‘movement.’’ He acknowledged a national
study of black educational access that Ambrose Caliver had conducted a
few years earlier and said that the present meeting aimed to do specifically
for Texas what Caliver had done for the country. Professor D. B. Taylor, the
State Department of Education’s white supervisor of Negro education,
introduced the conference’s purpose and scope. He listed eight purposes,
which included as goals ‘‘to discover some of the basic facts concerning
Negro Colleges of the State’’ and ‘‘to present possible steps for making
public education more available for Negroes in Texas.’’ Regarding the
availability of higher education for blacks in Texas, conference organizers
collected information on college personnel, ‘‘projects carried on by col-
leges in behalf of communities,’’ and ‘‘sources of support.’’ They used as
their primary sources the biennial reports of the State Department of
Education and the State Board of Education, bulletins of the U.S. Office of
Education, and the answers college presidents gave to questionnaires they
had distributed.∂≥

Bullock, who followed Taylor in the morning session, presented the
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findings of his research and an analysis of the ‘‘availability’’ of public edu-
cation. He cited Caliver’s 1932 study of black secondary education and his
1935 study of black rural education as having suggested the benefits of a
broader investigation. ‘‘Whether education is being made available or
not,’’ Bullock argued, ‘‘depends upon the degree to which the masses of
our population are being reached by educational influences with a rate
equivalent to the rapidity with which new demands are being made by
national change.’’ The Prairie View sociologist identified as the major
current of national change the ‘‘shift from a handicraft to a machine
economy’’ and the attendant increase in occupational ‘‘specialization’’ and
the overriding emphasis on ‘‘profit accumulation.’’ Thus, the crux of the
problem centered on closing the gap between the imperatives of moder-
nity and the status of black education.∂∂

After presenting various demographic changes in the Texas Negro pop-
ulation between 1850 and 1930, Bullock posed that blacks showed an
increasing demand for public education that necessitated corresponding
‘‘increases in educational facilities, involving changes in physical equip-
ment, personnel and organization.’’ In a matter-of-fact style, he high-
lighted the gross inequality of the dual system of education. The statistical
measure of black-white educational inequality, by 1937, came as no secret
but appeared in sources as common as the Dallas Morning News ’s biennial
Texas Almanac. In drawing comparisons between blacks and whites, Bul-
lock attempted to illustrate how black schools would never be able to
accomplish the fundamental goals of public education. Underfinancing,
not separation from whites, thwarted black schools from producing effi-
cient workers, responsible consumers, and educated citizens. Bullock
made it plain: ‘‘The ultimate factor in the availability of public education is
an element of financial support.’’ A ‘‘racial factor,’’ however, dictated the
amount of property, equipment, per-pupil expenditure, and teachers’ sal-
aries black schools received, and in all cases blacks did not receive what
they needed.∂∑

Frederick H. Eby, ut’s well-known history of education professor, fol-
lowed Bullock, presenting last at the morning session. Eby’s Development of

Education in Texas, published in 1925, defined the subject for almost three
decades.∂∏ After a lighthearted opening, Eby attempted to compress into a
thirty-minute talk a copious amount of information about the public edu-
cation idea in early Texas history, party politics and school legislation
between 1871 and 1936, changes in popular attitudes, and, finally, the
relationship between state government leadership, public education, and
blacks. Eby held that white supremacists in the Constitutional Convention
of 1875 ‘‘who feared the domination in many counties of the Negro peo-
ple’’ did not support the education of blacks and, consequently, they
‘‘bound up the constitutional article on education with many clauses.’’
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Through the leadership of governors like Oran M. Roberts and James
Ferguson, stated Eby, ‘‘the public school systems today are unshackled.’’
He intended his concluding remarks to warm the hearts of his audience:
‘‘There is only one thing that has not been fulfilled. There is in the consti-
tution of Texas a university for Negroes established at Austin. It has never
been established.’’∂π

Eby did not miscalculate. In the afternoon, panelists discussed the black
ut issue at a session titled ‘‘What Steps are Necessary in Order to Increase
the Availability and Effectiveness of Education for Negroes in Texas?’’ Gor-
don Worley of the State Department of Education chaired the panel of
black educational leaders. When ctsat president I. Q. Hurdle’s turn came
to speak, he kept his comments brief and to the point. He began by uttering
half of the political slogan the ctsat had adopted over a decade before:
‘‘The Best in Education for Every Negro Child.’’∂∫ After Hurdle stated a
basic principle of ctsat philosophy, that ‘‘the teacher who does not love
people is a failure in the beginning,’’ he then briefly described the organi-
zation and the program of action its executive committee had adopted. He
also called for support for one of the association’s most important and
enduring campaign since its establishment in 1884. ‘‘House Bill No. 678
was introduced February 23, 1937,’’ he observed. ‘‘It is our hope that every
citizen will urge passage of this bill . . . [which] will lead to partial provisions
for higher education for colored in Texas until the university for Negroes
in Texas be established, according to the constitution of Texas.’’∂Ω Hurdle
ended with a prophetic message: ‘‘We are not far from the time when we
shall have the University for Negroes in Texas, if we work together building
a stronghold of citizenship development by loyal cooperation.’’∑≠

The process of ‘‘loyal cooperation’’ to create the university that Hurdle
labored for already had begun to achieve a high level of organization a year
earlier in the founding of the Texas State Conference of naacp Branches.
The new state conference, however, stood on the shoulders of the ctsat
and the black intelligentsia, who came into their own in Texas in the Jazz
Age. An educated black elite not only had begun to articulate the educa-
tional needs of black Texans but also had sowed ‘‘civil rights’’ ideas into the
black freedom struggle. The struggle for full citizenship rights, equality
under the law, and inclusion in the American political economy and social
body marks a particular phase of black political and discursive practices. It
does not sum up the entirety of black exertions in behalf of their libera-
tion. Historically, the way to black liberation has been characterized by
many roads, of which the campaign for civil rights represented only one,
even if the most influential, path.∑∞

In Texas, the civil rights movement remained in an embryonic form
until the 1920s. Late in that decade, a more or less tightly knit group of
black lawyers and leaders, with financial and moral support from many
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local blacks and organizational backing from the naacp, galvanized into a
small but effective force against the legal exclusion of black voters from the
Democratic primary election. They took the lawsuit as their weapon and
filed four cases that reached the U.S. Supreme Court: Nixon v. Herndon

(1927), Nixon v. Condon (1932), Grovey v. Townsend (1935), and Smith v.
Allwright (1944). In Smith the Supreme Court struck down the Texas Dem-
ocratic white primary as unconstitutional. The strategic, organizational,
and financial nerve centers of the legal campaign were located in Houston
and Dallas, but blacks from El Paso to Port Arthur also played an instru-
mental part in the work that spanned two decades.∑≤

Although the naacp became the decisive organizational factor in the
fight for full franchise rights, the campaign itself represented a much
broader black revolt. Historian Darlene Clark Hine has found that ‘‘by the
mid-thirties, an increasing number of aroused Texas black citizens, most of
whom were middle-class entrepreneurs and professionals, became caught
up in the struggle against the white primary.’’∑≥ Indeed, black professional
men and women, educators, and entrepreneurs were in the thick of the
fight for the vote.∑∂ Moreover, by the 1930s, black women and men who
held college degrees tended to be the state’s most important ‘‘race’’ lead-
ers. Table 2 shows the rise in the number of black Texans in professional-
managerial class occupations between 1900 and 1940. As a portion of the
black population, however, only black women increased their percentage.
From representing less than 2 percent of employed black women in 1910,
their number in the professions more than doubled to nearly 5 percent by
1940. Black men in the professions began and ended the period repre-
senting 2 percent of employed black men in the state.∑∑

As the small, black professional-managerial class in Texas became more
organized, its leaders consistently focused their limited political capital on
greater access to higher education. They saw their work as producing
something meaningful for themselves, their children, and the future of
the race. The New Negro intellectuals pressed on three fronts in regard to
what they perceived as their race’s need for higher education in Texas.
First, they continued the fight for a Negro branch or counterpart of the
University of Texas at Austin. Second, they advocated greater financial
support for the development of the Negro branch of Texas A&M College
that already existed at Prairie View. Third, they lobbied the state to support
blacks who sought professional and graduate education not available to
them in the state. In 1934, a venerable New Negro named Richard T.
Hamilton opened this third front in the campaign to expand black higher
educational opportunity.∑∏

Born on 31 March 1869 in Montgomery, Alabama, Hamilton gradu-
ated with valedictory honors from Alabama State Normal School in 1890.
He left the Deep South for Washington, D.C., took a clerical position in the
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Table 2. Texas Blacks in Professional-Managerial Class (PMC)

Occupations by Gender, 1900–1940

Census Year 1900 1910 1920 1930 1940

PMC black males 2,693 2,897 3,349 5,255 4,705
Total black males 117,181 219,644 227,377 265,660 218,967
Percentage of total 0.02 0.01 0.015 0.02 0.02
PMC black females 1,199 2,085 3,284 5,031 5,679
Total black females 67,709 139,247 103,946 124,095 119,504
Percentage of total 0.018 0.015 0.03 0.04 0.048
Total in PMC 3,892 4,982 6,633 10,286 10,384

Source : Twelfth through Sixteenth Censuses of the United States

Department of Interior, and began studying medicine at Howard Univer-
sity, where in 1893 he obtained his M.D. degree. He moved to Dallas in
1901.∑π Propelled by the human determination to be free, Hamilton led a
five-year-long campaign for graduate education assistance as chairman of
the Committee on Civics and Public Welfare of the Dallas Negro Chamber
of Commerce (dncc). In 1926, key members of Dallas’s black professional-
managerial class had founded the dncc as a way of promoting black enter-
prise and elevating the standard of living of the city’s black population.
However, by the early 1930s, the dncc was dormant. Dallas was not a
friendly place for any kind of work aimed at black advancement, especially
when it threatened the racial status quo.∑∫

In 1932, the spark that revitalized the organization and ultimately acted
as the catalytic force behind a new wave of the black freedom struggle in
Texas was Antonio Maceo Smith. Albon Holsey, the executive secretary of
the Negro Business League of Oklahoma City, wrote a letter of introduc-
tion for Smith to Hamilton, recommending that the dncc hire him to be
its executive secretary. The dncc took Holsey’s advice.∑Ω

Smith, who left his hometown of Texarkana to study at Fisk University
and went on to earn his master’s degree in business administration at New
York University, like Hamilton, saw himself as a New Negro. Exposed to the
Black Renaissance at its epicenter in Harlem in the 1920s, the Texas native
briefly published a weekly newspaper and established his own business, the
Harlem Advertising Agency.∏≠

In 1929, after his father’s death, Smith returned home. In Dallas, he
went into the insurance business and became the city editor of the black
weekly, the Dallas Express. In addition, through his organizing work he
became a leading figure in Dallas’s Negro Business League, the naacp,
and other black groups in the city and across the state. Through the dy-
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namic energy Smith injected into the dncc and elsewhere, specific proj-
ects like Hamilton’s educational equalization work gained an effective or-
ganizational base, an extensive network of support, and, perhaps most
important, a rising mood of optimism. He could be seen as the Marcus
Garvey of Texas.∏∞

Historically, moving the Texas legislature to spend money on black so-
cial or educational needs had proven to be a Herculean—more often a
Sisyphean—task. Hamilton conceived that the campaign for state support
of black out-of-state graduate education work needed allies, black and
white. In 1934, he secured the support of the ctsat. In 1935, he turned to
the Texas Commission on Inter-racial Cooperation (tcic) for white sup-
port. Founded in 1922, the tcic brought together reform-minded whites
under the program of the larger Commission on Inter-racial Cooperation
(cic), which by the middle of the decade was the largest southern-based
organization promoting interracial communication.∏≤ At a meeting held at
Prairie View on 6–7 December 1935, the tcic unanimously adopted a
resolution that Hamilton submitted to the group. It concluded with the
following:

Whereas, in lieu of establishing separate universities for the Negro race
wherein such courses may be pursued, a number of Southern States, includ-
ing Oklahoma, Missouri, West Virginia, and Maryland have made provisions
under certain conditions, to give aid to Negro students who are denied
permission to enter the state universities on account of race, and who desire
to enter the professions or to take post-graduate work, by paying their tuition
and their transportation to recognized institutions outside the state wherein
they are admitted, therefore Be it resolved, that the Texas Commission on
Inter-racial Cooperation be, and is hereby requested to sponsor an enact-
ment by the Texas Legislature similar to the existing law in the State of
Oklahoma.∏≥

On 11 March 1936, Hamilton sent letters of inquiry to the Department of
Education of each of the four states identified in the resolution. He sought
detailed information regarding the kind and number of scholarships they
had given, the requirements and procedures they used, the amount of
money spent, and any printed matter they may have produced on their
programs. He received responses from every state except Oklahoma.∏∂ In
1937, Hamilton hired a lobbyist to help him prepare a draft bill and secure
a legislator that would introduce the measure. For $200, the lobbyist pre-
pared a legislative proposal and, in the artful language of governmental
prose patterned after the U.S. Constitution, it made no mention of race.
Representative Lonnie Smith of Tarrant County became the sponsor of
House Bill No. 678 for out-of-state scholarship aid.∏∑

Hamilton knew he faced an uphill battle. Even after the legislature
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created the Division of Graduate Study at Prairie View, which offered a
master’s degree in education, he remained hopeful that a lily-white Texas
legislature would still do the right thing and pass H.B. No. 678.∏∏ As soon as
Smith got the bill drafted, Hamilton sent a copy of it, along with support-
ing information, to President Harry Y. Benedict of the University of Texas.
Benedict answered that the student aid bill was ‘‘the best and most inex-
pensive way to attain a result that should be desired.’’∏π On 1 March,
Hamilton wrote Benedict to thank him for his ‘‘kind letter’’ and asked his
permission to use it in his lobbying efforts. He attached to his letter clip-
pings of editorials and articles favorable to the bill from the Dispatch, the
Express, and the Times Herald, all Dallas newspapers. The editor of the
Dispatch opined that ‘‘good argument is given for the appeal to the legisla-
ture for funds for the education of qualified Negroes in the professions.’’
The editor reported that the lack of opportunities for blacks to pursue
advanced degrees led to a situation where the state’s six Negro colleges
were ‘‘largely staffed by Northern Negroes, unfamiliar with the problems
and the customs of the South.’’ Furthermore, Texas faced a ‘‘genuine
shortage in the number of Negro doctors, dentists, and lawyers.’’ He also
maintained that new additions to professional ranks could also ‘‘assume
leadership among their own people,’’ which ‘‘would make for better racial
relations.’’ Apparently, the editor had little apprehension of the possibility
that out-of-state experiences, most likely at northern universities, might
turn black Texans against their native ‘‘southern’’ customs.∏∫

The Dallas Express article showed Hamilton also trying to milk Lone Star
State particularism. It reported that Hamilton wrote to Representative
Harry N. Graves on the bill, stressing the idea of a regional mismatch
between the folkways of the state’s black college educators and those of
their students and other persons at the college and its environs. Texas
needed ‘‘educated southern Negroes’’ in the professions and the class-
rooms, according to Hamilton, ‘‘because Negroes who were raised in the
east do not understand the situation in the south and often come to this
area and embarrass themselves as well as southern Negroes.’’ He went on
to state that 97 percent of the faculty in the six black colleges in Texas were
‘‘not native Texans’’ and that ‘‘not infrequently the teachers can’t adjust
themselves to Texas customs and traditions.’’ As a consequence, Hamilton
said, ‘‘complications ensue.’’∏Ω

An editorial in the Dallas Times Herald offered another perspective. Call-
ing the requested annual appropriation of $15,000 a ‘‘small’’ sum, it held
that ‘‘by enacting this bill, the legislature would give the colored race
its due.’’ It added that ‘‘in some places where discrimination exists, the
Negroes have resorted to litigation to gain entry into white colleges and
universities, but the colored race in this state is not following such a pol-
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icy.’’ Only through just such a policy, however, would the state legislature
be shocked into action regarding black higher education.π≠

As for House Bill No. 678, the legislature dragged its feet for more than
two years. Despite the wise counsel of a university president, newspaper
editors, leaders from the Negro Chambers of Commerce, the tcic, and the
Colored Teachers State Association of Texas, the legislature delayed pas-
sage of the bill. Even after Hamilton led a dncc-ctsat-tcic delegation to
meet with Governor James Allred and won his ‘‘whole-hearted support’’
for the measure, nothing occurred. Hamilton tried to think of what else
could be done to get legislative action. In the formal language of the bill, it
called for an emergency to be declared in appropriating funds to aid Texas
students who had to leave the state. Something had to be done to create a
state of emergency. With the chips down, the critical hour demanded a
bluff.π∞

Leaders of the student aid bill campaign, which had come to include
naacp activists, decided to show state officials that blacks meant to have
access to graduate and professional education even if it required them to
integrate the state’s precious University of Texas. In October 1838, George
L. Allen of Austin, district manager of Excelsior Life Insurance Company,
became the test case for the demonstration effort. Ironically, Allen chose
to enroll in ut through its extension division, which was the byproduct of
the progressive impulse in Texas higher education. Historians Robert Cal-
vert and Larry Hill explain that the extension division, established in 1909,
had a mandate to train Americans on a ‘‘practical, nonelitist’’ basis to be
responsible citizens in a participatory democracy.π≤ Allen enrolled in an
evening extension class titled ‘‘Business Psychology and Salesmanship.’’
Having registered over the telephone, he went to the first meeting of the
class fully expecting to be turned away.π≥ ‘‘The only wrench in the whole
machine,’’ Allen mused in an interview more than forty years later, ‘‘was
that they admitted me.’’π∂

Allen’s ‘‘wrench’’ did not clog the sputtering, machinelike operation of
white supremacy for long. Thomas H. Shelby, head of the Department of
Extension, sent Allen a letter informing him that his enrollment at the
university had been canceled. C. P. Brewer, the instructor of the extension
course, also met with Allen to tell him he could not return to the class
because of his race. Allen protested the decision to terminate his registra-
tion, but officials made it clear that he would not be allowed back into the
class.π∑

Allen served his role and faded from the scene. Hamilton and his com-
rades tried to convert the episode into a fillip for movement in the legisla-
ture. On 12 December 1938, however, Hamilton received the boost he
needed with the Supreme Court’s decision in Missouri, ex rel. Gaines v.
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Canada, Registrar of the University of Missouri, et al. Initiated in 1935, this case
involved Lloyd Gaines, a twenty-four-year-old graduate of Lincoln Univer-
sity who sought to attend the law school of the whites-only state university.
The court ruled that Gaines ‘‘was entitled to be admitted to the law school
of the State University in the absence of other and proper provision for his
legal training within the state.’’π∏

Soon after the Court’s decision, Gaines mysteriously disappeared. The
state of Missouri complied with the ruling and set up a ‘‘makeshift’’ law
school at Lincoln University. The Texas legislature now had its state of
emergency. But should it pass the out-of-state education assistance bill?
The Gaines case resulted from a black man who refused to go out of state
for his professional training. Would not some black Texans also opt to stay
in the state, despite out-of-state assistance? The weight of history clearly
marched on the side of a black ut. Given the Court’s ruling, should not the
state move straightaway to erect the institution the state constitution prom-
ised almost fifty years earlier?ππ

In a letter to the People’s Forum published in the Dallas Times Herald

soon after the Gaines decision, Hamilton offered solutions to the ‘‘profes-
sional training problem of Negroes.’’ He explained that ‘‘in view of present
needs and pending extension of the educational curriculum and establish-
ing of professional schools for Negroes in Texas, Negroes are willing to
accept a substitute. The more practical substitute is scholarship aid in
standard out-of-state institutions where Negroes are admitted.’’ Hamilton
supported the creation of a separate-but-equal university for blacks, but he
also stressed that any ‘‘provision made for Negroes must measure favorably
with those provided for whites.’’ As such a development would take a
considerable amount of time, Hamilton recommended passage of the stu-
dent aid bill, which would satisfy present needs and ‘‘return rich dividends
to the state in all elements that make for a contributing, constructive,
grateful and loyal Negro citizenship.’’π∫

The political winds inside the state legislature began to shift in favor of
the renumbered House Bill No. 255, but with a reduction in the proposed
appropriation. The original proposal called for $15,000 a year, but a front-
page Dallas Express article of 22 April 1939 reported that the legislature
now proposed ‘‘an allotment of $10,000 per annum for the entire state.’’
Noting that ‘‘Maryland, which has a much smaller Negro population has
already appropriated $35,000, and the state of Virginia, $30,000,’’ the
article cited a tcic report that more than 450 students had left the state
for graduate education at their own expense. The article warned that ‘‘the
inadequacy of this expected appropriation has already caused speculation
throughout the state over the probability that a number of Negro graduate
students, who will not be covered by this small scholarship appropriation,



H I G H E R  E D U C AT I O N  I N  T E X A S

31

will make strenuous efforts to enter A&M College and Texas University to
do their graduate and professional work.’’πΩ

Although no prospects for lawsuits to desegregate Texas A&M and the
University of Texas existed, word had begun circulating that such a step
marked the new direction in the movement for black educational and civil
rights. Letters from black students seeking admission to ut, dated from
15 January to 6 March 1939, suggest the likelihood of extensive black
concern over policy on higher education. Grandvel A. Jackson, a graduate
of Samuel Huston College in Austin, sought admission to the Department
of Law and Government. Judge Goss, a graduate of Texas College in Tyler
with one summer of graduate work at the University of Michigan, desired
master’s level work in physical education not offered at Prairie View.
Joseph H. Hayes, a native of San Antonio and a soon-to-be graduate of
Morehouse College in Atlanta, applied for entry at the university’s medical
school in Galveston. Samuel J. Murphy, a graduate of Wiley College in
Marshall, Texas, with an M.A. degree from the University of Southern
California, found that he could not afford to attend the University of
Cincinnati, where he was pursuing studies in higher education administra-
tion (as he had also done briefly at Columbia University). ‘‘If what I have
heard is true,’’ wrote Murphy, ‘‘I can enroll in your University and live with
my relatives in the city.’’ He asked that if he could not, could he have an
out-of-state scholarship to continue his Ph.D. work. Neither university ad-
ministrators nor state legislators could keep their heads in the sand any
longer.∫≠

The legislature approved House Bill No. 255 in June 1939, and Gover-
nor James Allred signed it into law the next month. They set the available
funds for out-of-state aid at $25,000 for each year of the biennial appropri-
ation. Allred appointed deans from ut, Texas A&M, and Sam Houston
State Teachers College to oversee the disbursement of scholarship funds. A
little over a month after enactment, they had received sixty applications
and doled out forty-five awards. The Dallas Express warned black students
to claim the grants or risk having the program terminated for lack of
interest. A limit on grant aid per student had been set at $200, but medical
and law students could receive up to $300. Award recipients studied in the
following areas: seventeen in medicine; four each in pharmacy, dentistry,
and social work; five in doctoral studies in the sciences, fourteen in master
of science programs, and one student each in law, optometry, library sci-
ence, music, and costume design. By the end of 1939, 53 students had
received assistance out of 180 who had applied. At $11,415.40, the state
had expended less than half of the annual amount reserved for the pur-
pose of helping black students acquire the graduate education that white
Texans could receive inside their native state.∫∞
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Richard Hamilton could reflect with a degree of satisfaction on what he
had helped accomplish. ‘‘From the very outset,’’ wrote the scholar of Afri-
can American folklore J. Mason Brewer about Hamilton, ‘‘he has, in spite of
his lucrative practice found time to give the welfare of his race deep study.
He has given the public the benefit of this study from the platform and
through the columns of the leading newspapers of the city and state.’’∫≤

Brewer included two of Hamilton’s poems in his Heralding Dawn, ‘‘the first
anthology of Negro verse published in Texas.’’∫≥ Hamilton’s poem ‘‘A
Negro’s Prayer’’ speaks best to the ideas and feelings of an intellectual who
at seventy achieved a small but important victory in the fight for black
freedom and equality. Before the ‘‘Lord God of Hosts,’’ he asked, ‘‘What
more must Afric’s sons endure / For manhood rights—to have secure /
The blessings of sweet liberty?’’ Hamilton recounted the ‘‘years of unre-
quited toil,’’ noting how blacks fought bravely in the American Civil War
and in foreign wars in the defense of ‘‘country, human rights and law,’’ but
then he questioned how much longer before they are given ‘‘an even
chance’’ in the land of their birth.∫∂

Hamilton’s work for an ‘‘even chance’’ spirited all the organizations
involved and at the same time prepared black activists to face the momen-
tous decade of the 1940s, in which the world would become engulfed in
another major war on European shores. In later years, Henry Allen Bul-
lock, an eyewitness to and a participant in the intellectual attack on segre-
gated higher education in the 1930s, summarized the lesson experience
had taught the new black professional-managerial class and, to an appre-
ciable extent, the general black population in Texas: ‘‘Prior to 1940, there
was an attitude of indifference on the part of the public. Since that time,
feeble efforts have been made to improve Negro education. Signs of these
efforts, however weak they are, have been shown in capital investment,
income, and the faculty of Negro public colleges. These improvements
came in response to Negro pressures. Such changes as we can expect in the
future will depend upon the extent to which this pressure is increased.’’∫∑

Increased pressure did come in the 1940s, but it won changes in the
state’s separate and unequal social structure and public educational sys-
tem only after blacks further clarified for themselves the fundamental
goals and direction of their struggle. With black professional-managerial
class leaders taking the driver’s seat, they steered the black freedom strug-
gle toward status goals such as access to institutions of higher learning.
They left the welfare goals—the direct, material advancement of black
people in terms of more jobs and pay, better working and living condi-
tions—to another day and time. That does not mean that black Texans
were passive or less politically sophisticated than they might have been.
The new black elite class assumed the leadership of the black freedom
struggle, bringing its class aspirations and adopting techniques of resis-
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tance to white supremacy with which it felt most comfortable. As early as
the mid-1930s, the idea of resorting to the courts, not for better segregation
through the equalization of the state’s segregated educational system but
for full-blown desegregation of white colleges and universities, had begun
to gain currency among a critical mass of black intellectuals. Through the
fight against the white university, black leaders forged a powerful con-
sensus. Building on the old consensus that advocated the creation of the
black constitutional university, it forsook the promise of 1876 in search of
a new promise. As always, what blacks received was not the promise but
compromises, and still more problems.
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chapter two

The All-Out War for Democracy in Education
Ideological Struggle and the Texas University Movement

The naacp needs to lead out in all programs of advancement of Negroes in
Texas. . . . I was glad to see in the News Letter that the Legal Committee was
doing something about this, ‘‘equal but separate educational opportu-
nities.’’ That’s right, nothing can be equal if it is separate.

—Lulu B. White to Thurgood Marshall, 11 December 1946

Even if Sweatt enters the University of Texas, we will not want to get rid of
Texas State University for Negroes[;] the Texas Constitution decrees separa-
tion provided it is equal, why shouldn’t we make them carry out the Constitu-
tion and equalize Texas State University in toto with the University of Texas?

—Carter Wesley, ‘‘Ram’s Horn,’’ The Informer, 2 July 1949

After 1940, higher education policy and racial politics in the United States
began to collide, and from their collision came one of the most significant
fronts in the battle for black democratic rights and the dismantling of
America’s version of apartheid. Texas became the site of the first direct
legal challenge to the constitutionality of Plessy v. Ferguson and thereby
provided the context for the transition from a legal strategy centered on
separate-but-equal schools to a frontal assault on the legitimacy of racially
segregated education as such. The legal arguments of Thurgood Marshall
in key education cases in the 1940s, along with Truman administration
studies and pronouncements on racial segregation, began preparing the
Supreme Court to bring the idea of desegregation into the vocabulary of
national affairs in its landmark 1954 Brown v. Board of Education decision,
which banned the segregation of blacks in schools. Before the Court pro-
nounced Jim Crow legally dead, however, the long journey from Plessy to
Brown had to turn an important corner in Texas.∞

Outside the courtrooms, beyond the briefs and oral arguments, a drama
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unfolded that shared points of common purpose with the juridical contest,
but in other respects it was a quite different ordeal. Black Texans were
divided in their response to desegregation. Their divisions matched the
four major social philosophies that the Howard University economist
Abram Harris identified in the 1930s: interracial conciliation, militant race
consciousness, civil libertarianism, and class consciousness.≤ The way they
related to the making of new civil rights law constitutes a significant, even if
perplexing, story. The depth and complexity of desegregation emanates
not so much from the clash of competing ideological positions. Although
the story has its share of conflict, it is the way various black worldviews grew
and struggled together against a common enemy that is most striking and
enigmatic. In a time of rising expectations and uncertainty about the fu-
ture that the war against European and Japanese fascism engendered,
black Texans sensed the time was ripe to assert themselves in behalf of their
own best interests. But exactly what were their best interests? In the fight for
equality of opportunity in higher education, blacks reanalyzed the history
of their struggle to define a place in society for themselves. In the 1940s, a
new generation discovered a mission: the eradication of segregation.≥

Willette Rutherford Banks, principal of Prairie View Normal and Indus-
trial College, represented the interracial conciliation position par excel-
lence.∂ A country boy from the northeastern Georgia hill country of Hart-
well, Banks was twenty when, in 1901, he enrolled at Atlanta University.
Starting with only an eighth grade education, he graduated with a bach-
elor’s degree eight years later, and the president of the university recom-
mended him for a teaching position at Fort Valley Normal and Industrial
Institute. Beginning with his years at Atlanta University and throughout
the rest of his life, historian George R. Woolfolk writes, Banks ‘‘gave his
heart to [W. E. B.] Du Bois.’’ Even so, he gave his head to Booker T. Wash-
ington. In the often surreal world of white domination, Banks adroitly
harvested the goodwill of ruling-class whites. Banks did not merely accept
the fact of racial separation; he embraced it as a positive good and sought,
through various artful means, to get from whites all the material resources
for black education that he could. He honed his administrative and leader-
ship skills as principal of Elmore County, Alabama’s Kowiliga Community
School from 1912 to 1915 and as president of Texas College at Tyler from
1915 to 1926 before coming to Prairie View.∑

In August of 1941, however, as he faced his sixtieth birthday, Banks was
a deeply disappointed man. That summer the legislature rejected a pro-
posed $168,000 appropriation for a library and books at Prairie View.
Moreover, Banks saw the state slash his total budget by $3,000 from the
previous biennial appropriation. His was the only state-supported college
that had its funding cut that year.∏ ‘‘I feel that the situation is of such
gravity,’’ Banks stated, ‘‘that it precipitates an emergency.’’ In response, he
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applied to the General Education Board for a $1,000 grant to hire Leo
Favrot to conduct a study of black higher education in Texas. He scuttled
the project, however, when A&M College president T. O. Walton and Uni-
versity of Texas president Homer Rainey wrote to him, suggesting a con-
ference of educational leaders.π

Banks eagerly responded to Walton’s and Rainey’s request. In the past,
A&M, Prairie View’s parent campus, had shown little concern for the im-
mediate and pressing needs of the black normal and industrial college, to
say nothing of long-range planning. Banks welcomed the interest. Allies of
a sort, Banks and Rainey both belonged to the Texas Commission on Inter-
racial Cooperation. During the summer of 1942, as soldiers of all colors
and ethnic backgrounds donned American uniforms on distant shores,
the leaders of public higher education in Texas, with the blessings of
Governor Coke Stevenson, convened ‘‘representatives of the white and
colored people of the state, to meet at the capitol in Austin, to discuss some
of the problems that had arisen in connection with the education of col-
ored children and youth.’’ Wartime conditions and postwar prognostica-
tions imbued the seventy male and female leaders with a sense of urgency.
They created an organization called the Bi-racial Commission on Negro
Education in Texas (bcnet). Walton, Rainey, and L. A. Woods (state super-
intendent of public instruction) comprised its sponsoring committee. Pre-
vailing norms did not permit Banks’s inclusion at that level, despite his
being the initiating agent of the conference.∫

At the meeting, the forty-three white and the twenty-four black con-
ferees authorized the formation of a steering committee and several sub-
committees to assess the problems of ‘‘colored’’ education. B. F. Pittenger,
dean of the ut School of Education, chaired the steering committee,
which included three blacks: Banks, Joseph J. Rhoads, president of Bishop
College in Marshall, Texas, and Richard Hamilton, the Dallas physician
who led the charge for the out-of-state tuition subsidy program. Duties
were delegated, and the work of surveying what to do with the Negro in
higher education commenced.

In April 1944, the bcnet released its ninety-five-page study, The Senior

Colleges for Negroes in Texas. Forthrightly, the report declared two issues at
the heart of the state’s educational troubles: the lack of graduate and
professional education for blacks and inadequate funding for Prairie View.
The state of Texas, in other words, was subverting the doctrine of ‘‘separate
but equal.’’ Inequality in educational opportunity between white and
black youth affected the status of black Texans economically, culturally,
and educationally. The bcnet cautioned, however, that ‘‘only the surface
of the problem of Negro education will have been scratched’’ once the
equalization of education is achieved. Quoting from the work of the native
Texan and University of Chicago–trained social anthropologist Ina Cor-
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inne Brown, the study contended, ‘‘The real problem is that of the Negro’s
freedom to incorporate in his own life and conduct the values and goals of
American life.’’ It explained further, ‘‘Until the Negro is free to accept for
himself the same goals as the rest of the population, the integration and
solidarity of the Nation are only partially achieved.’’Ω

The Bi-racial Commission did not endorse the elimination of all lines
of demarcation between the races. Paraphrasing Brown, the commission
added that the ‘‘Negro in America wants to be regarded as an American
rather than a Negro, and to be so treated. The desire of the Negro for a
larger participation in American life does not necessarily include amal-
gamation and an increase in race mixture, but it does include the removal
of barriers of social mobility and free competition and the giving of Ne-
groes an opportunity to make their way as individuals without the limita-
tions now imposed by the status of a minority group.’’ The commission
held that blacks wanted to stay to themselves in sexual and marital activities
but, as Booker T. Washington said a half century before, to mix in the
competitive capitalist free market.∞≠

Far from questioning the validity of white supremacy, the commission
took it as a given. It acknowledged that ‘‘the crux of the problem of admit-
ting Negro youth to the graduate and professional schools supported by
the state for white students is the traditional policy of segregation.’’ Placing
Texas policy solidly in the context of southern mores and custom, it noted
that black students were barred from flagship state universities in Virginia,
Missouri, and Maryland, with the exception of a single black at Maryland’s
law school. ‘‘Admission of Negroes to existing state universities for whites is
not acceptable as a solution to the problem of providing opportunity for
graduate and professional study for Negroes, on two counts,’’ the study
explained. The two counts were ‘‘(1) public opinion would not permit
such institutions to be open to Negroes at the present time; and (2) even if
Negroes were admitted they would not be happy in the conditions in which
they would find themselves.’’∞∞

Polite language and phrasing in the report, like ‘‘at the present time,’’
with its suggestion of future possibilities, conceal the probable course of
events and the virulent attitudes that forbade institutional inclusiveness at
the University of Texas. A few months before the publication of the bcnet
study, ut regent Orville Bullington was forthright and assertive about the
matter. ‘‘The Board,’’ he wrote in a letter to the eminent folklore scholar
John A. Lomax, ‘‘has already been discussing this negro situation, in viewof
[sic] the decision of the Supreme Court in the Missouri case.’’ After men-
tioning that the state legislature had voted for an appropriation for out-of-
state tuition assistance ‘‘for any negroes who happen to apply for entrance
to any of our state colleges,’’ Bullington professed that he did ‘‘not know
whether any of [the appropriation] has been used or not.’’ But irrespective
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of what blacks were doing for graduate education, the regent declared that
‘‘there [was] not the slightest danger of any negro attending the University
of Texas as long as the present Board are [sic] on the throne.’’ Bulling-
ton went on to boast, ‘‘We city-slicked Washington on our Navy contract,
by nullifying the provision in the contract which would have permitted
negroes to attend the University, under the guise of being Naval students.
As you know, every contract that comes out of Washington contains a
provision, the substance of which is that there can be no discrimination
against any person on account of race, color, religion, etc.’’ Bullington told
Lomax that he did not want him to publish his views of the board’s position
on segregation at ut, but he did ask him to tell his friends that there was
not ‘‘the slightest danger of any negro attending the University of Texas,
regardless of what Franklin D, Eleanor, or the Supreme Court says, so long
as you have a Board of Regents with as much intestinal fortitude as the
present one has.’’∞≤

Black Texans identified Bullington and his like-minded peers on the ut
board of regents as prime examples of ‘‘American Hitlers,’’ their open
enemies on the homefront even as the battles and holocausts in Europe
and the Pacific raged. How bitter the irony of southern life for black
Texans? In his home state, Dorie Miller, the sable son of Texas soil who
became America’s first hero of the Second World War for his ‘‘extraordi-
nary courage’’ at Pearl Harbor, was no hero at all to the ‘‘Hitlers’’ on the ut
board of regents. To Bullington and his kind, Miller represented nothing
more than another low-down ‘‘negro’’ ‘‘in the guise’’ of a Naval student
and fully deserved every ‘‘city-slick’’ tactic that they could imagine to keep
his likes out of their white university.∞≥

If public opinion and the ‘‘intestinal fortitude’’ of the ‘‘Hitlers’’ on the
ut board of regents would not permit desegregation, what then was the
solution to the problem of giving blacks the same opportunities for ad-
vanced education? The bcnet study contemplated four alternatives. First,
the state could continue its policy of providing tuition subsidies for out-of-
state graduate and professional study. The report offered a detailed discus-
sion of the subsidy program as it functioned during the two biennial bud-
gets of the legislature, 1939–41 and 1941–43. During this period, the
legislature appropriated $100,000 ($25,000 annually), which was paid out
in scholarships for varying amounts to 393 students out of 872 who ap-
plied for aid. More than a fourth of those assisted did graduate study in
education, 16.3 percent went to professional schools, and 14 percent did
advanced studies in the social sciences, 11 percent in the vocations, and
the remaining third in fields such as languages, music, science, library
science, mathematics, and nursing. The program for which Hamilton
worked so tirelessly helped hundreds of blacks who otherwise would have
been entirely on their own. But the Supreme Court’s ruling in Gaines v.
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University of Missouri rendered this remedy unconstitutional. It did not
satisfy the mandate the ‘‘separate but equal’’ doctrine placed on each state.
The bcnet thus concurred with the opinion expressed in a Dallas Morning

News editorial that described the out-of-state scholarship provision as ‘‘a
rather ridiculous side-stepping of an obligation . . . upon the state.’’∞∂

The second alternative suffered from the same liability as the first. The
idea arose at the Southern Governors Conference: the best manner in
which the southern states could comply with the Gaines decision would be
to create one outstanding medical school, one law school, one graduate
school, and the like at logical locations in the southern region. These
centers of advanced learning would be reserved for blacks, and with all of
the states sending their black students there and with ongoing interstate
support, they would acquire prestige and be comparable to the schools for
whites. Gaines, however, required that equivalent educational opportuni-
ties exist within a segregated state, not the South as a whole; if these oppor-
tunities did not exist within a segregated state, the ‘‘separate but equal’’
doctrine would be null and void. The development of a regional program
for graduate and professional training thus failed to satisfy the ruling of
the Supreme Court. Besides the legal difficulty, the study noted that ‘‘little
progress ha[d] been made in line with this proposal.’’ Only in Virginia had
a governor gone so far as to recommend that his state enter into a contrac-
tual relationship with Meharry Medical College in Nashville, Tennessee, to
serve as the Jim Crow campus for Virginia blacks who sought a medical
education.∞∑

The third alternative was to erect a new state university for Negroes with
the necessary facilities and faculty to be of ‘‘equal rank and quality’’ to
those of the University of Texas. Elsewhere in the South, the state legisla-
ture established the major state university for whites and the state’s black
college in the same city. In North Carolina this meant that a cooperative
plan of sharing the library and faculties of the white university with the
black sister school could alleviate immediate disparities. The bcnet study
observed that faculty members from ‘‘all the Negro colleges except Prairie
View’’ gave ‘‘considerable support’’ to the idea of establishing a Negro
branch of the University of Texas in Austin. The division in black opinion
pitted Rhoads against Banks, a variant of the civil libertarian position
against the interracial conciliator. The study indicated that Rhoads’s plan
might be part of the ‘‘ultimate pattern,’’ but it doubted that the Texas
legislature would seriously consider building a black state university in
Austin until the final alternative was ‘‘more fully explored.’’∞∏

The bcnet suggested that the option ‘‘most likely to provide an immedi-
ate solution to the problem of meeting the obligation of providing ade-
quate facilities for graduate and professional education of Negroes in
Texas’’ was to expand Prairie View, as the legislature of the state of Missouri
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had done to Lincoln University. Missouri discontinued its out-of-state tui-
tion subsidies and hastily enlarged Lincoln to the point that it offered
makeshift graduate and professional training in areas to which blacks ap-
plied. Likewise, the bcnet held that Texas could have separate-but-equal
education by developing Prairie View’s nonvocational fields (namely, the
arts, humanities, and basic sciences), paying adequate salaries to hold
good teachers, and building a library.

The problem of a library was, by far, the most distressing. Prairie View
had no building exclusively devoted to serving as a library. Moreover, if
each student and faculty member checked out six books from the existing
multipurpose facility, not a single volume would remain on the shelves.
Until the legislature altered such dire conditions, Prairie View could never
become a first-class state university, let alone a center of graduate and
professional education. Given the reality at Prairie View, the study empha-
sized that ‘‘an adequate plant is not only essential to a strong graduate
program; it is a prerequisite to pride, confidence, and loyalty in a constitu-
ency. The State has made no appropriation for a new building at Prairie
View since 1925; such plant improvement as has been made was accom-
plished by penurious hoarding of local funds and by gifts from philan-
thropic foundations.’’∞π

Undoubtedly, much of the study’s emphasis on the status of Prairie View
reflects the influence of Banks. The principal was a hard-nosed and practi-
cal man; if he was an accommodationist, a gradualist, or an opportunist, he
was so, at least in his own mind, for the advancement of Prairie View and his
own ego. It was his dream to create ‘‘separate but equal education for
blacks,’’ and as Woolfolk explains in Banks’s defense, ‘‘he intuitively, if not
fully intellectually, understood the barriers to substantive cultural change
among the masses.’’ Like Booker T. Washington, however, Banks let his
sense of white power and his pragmatism blind him to new possibilities
that stood for the taking just beyond the ‘‘for whites only’’ screen. So firmly
planted in the Jim Crow order, he severely restricted black resistance to
white control. Banks was a victim of the changing times. The historical
moment for interracial conciliation had come and gone.∞∫

Joseph J. Rhoads, on the other hand, began to sing a song of redemp-
tion. Seeking to widen the spectrum of political action, he was utterly
uninterested in getting the State of Texas to make something respectable
out of Prairie View. His goal of a black University of Texas emanated from
a civil libertarian reading of the Texas constitution. The law stated that
blacks had a right to a black university, and he intended on seeing the law
enforced. In 1928, the Colored State Teachers Association of Texas elec-
ted him to become its forty-first president. As the tenth college president
to serve in that capacity, he immediately succeeded W. R. Banks at the end
of his year in office. Rhoads had obtained his baccalaureate degree at
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Bishop before earning a master’s degree at Yale University and doing
advanced work at the University of Michigan. Although he had more for-
mal education than Banks, he always seemed to be in the shadow of the
Georgian, who was nine years his senior. Rhoads’s position ultimately
shifted away from the demand for a black ut in the direction of desegrega-
tion of ut. As much as any single person, he helped move black Texans
toward desegregation.∞Ω

As for Richard Hamilton, his tenure on the bcnet ended while the
survey work was getting under way. His eyesight, which had been weak
throughout his life, was now almost completely gone, and in 1944 he
moved to his native state of Alabama to live out the remainder of his life.
He left behind a distinguished legacy even if he did not militantly confront
the white establishment by seeking an immediate elimination of racial
segregation in higher education. Many social scientists who studied the
American race question in the 1940s would have categorized Hamilton as
a ‘‘gradualist,’’ an ‘‘accommodationist,’’ or a ‘‘racial diplomat.’’ In black
vernacular, Hamilton might have been called an ‘‘Uncle Tom,’’ a ‘‘sell-
out,’’ or an ‘‘Oreo cookie.’’ The use of such labels, however, is only possible
in the absence of an informed appreciation of his historical context. Ham-
ilton pressed both for increased funding for Prairie View and for a black
branch of the University of Texas, possibly to be located in Dallas. The
bcnet filled his position on the steering committee with a Houston sur-
geon, H. E. Lee. The impact of Hamilton’s departure, coming at a time of
growing racial solidarity among black Texans, was not felt so strongly at
the time. In a few years, however, when ideological divisions emerged over
the question of which way forward for the Texas University Movement, the
leadership of the venerated and sagacious elder was missed.≤≠

Of course, no one individual was responsible for the practical struggle
that Rhoads and his contemporaries called the ‘‘University Movement.’’
Some of the state’s most important black community organizations, of-
ten formed and led by members of the community’s newly emergent
professional-managerial class, cared passionately about education. Group
leaders worked to influence political outcomes despite the fact that blacks
were effectively disenfranchised and marginalized. Table 3 shows the num-
bers of black Texans in professional occupations in 1940. They repre-
sented barely 1 percent of the 924,391 blacks the census of that year
enumerated as living in the state. Rather than make them a negligible
force, the relative scarcity of black professional men and women magnified
their status in both the black community and the larger society.≤∞

Black professionals were more important members of society than their
roles or income-level would dictate for the average white professional.
Within their subjective space, moreover, their small numbers and the hard-
ship it took to achieve their class status infused them with a sense of special
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Table 3. Black Male and Female Professionals in Texas, 1940

Occupation Total Male Female

Teachers and college faculty 6,747 1,819 4,928
Clergy 1,780 1,780 0
Nurses, professional 228 0 228
Artists, musicians, and art and music teachers 183 0 183
Physicians and surgeons 160 160 0
Dentists 81 81 0
Pharmacists 48 — —
Librarians 36 0 36
Social and welfare workers 33 0 33
Lawyers and judges 23 22 1
Authors, editors, and journalists 21 16 5
Engineers and surveyors 5 5 0
Architects, designers, and draftsmen 3 3 0
All professions 9,300 3,886 5,414

Sources : Brophy, ‘‘Black Texan,’’ 101, 113; McDaniel, History of the Teachers State Association of

Texas, 146.

importance and mission. Few felt comfortable merely emulating the exam-
ple their white peers set. The racial reality compelled a different approach
to life, at least for the African Americans who sacrificed and contributed to
the war for democracy in education and the other spheres of social life.
Teachers and college educators were the most numerous strata of the
black petty bourgeoisie, and they chiefly demonstrated their interest in
the prospects of higher education for blacks through the Colored Teach-
ers State Association of Texas, from which came the Texas Commission on
Democracy in Education (code) in November 1941.≤≤

Other professionals and business leaders became politically active
through organizations like the Lone Star Medical Society, the Negro Cham-
ber of Commerce, the State Progressive Voters League, and the naacp.
Many of the leaders of these organizations (nineteen initially) came to-
gether through the work of Dallas businessman A. Maceo Smith to form the
Texas Council of Negro Organizations (tcno) in 1942. Smith got black
Texans to form a united front in response to Governor Coke Stevenson’s
call for a biracial commission on Negro education. The work of Smith and
others also received invaluable support from the black press, notably Carter
Wesley’s Informer chain of weekly newspapers. Based in Houston, Wesley’s
printed word stretched across the states of Texas and Louisiana. Wesley was
crucial to the spread of propaganda and information among the black
masses as related to antisegregation lawsuits in particular and the fight



T H E  T E X A S  U N I V E R S I T Y  M O V E M E N T

43

against white supremacy in general. He was also instrumental in the raising
of the large sums of money it took to litigate civil rights cases.≤≥

Of all the many groups, institutions, and leaders, the naacp would lead
black Texans from the goal of separate equality to desegregation. In 1940,
however, the naacp begrudgingly accepted racial separation as a fact of life
in the South. Its political and litigative approach did not directly challenge
the ‘‘separate but equal’’ dictum. The great mastermind of its legal work,
Charles Hamilton Houston, in his ‘‘Statement on the University Cases’’
before the naacp national conference in 1940, asserted that ‘‘[w]e are
essentially fighting for America, to eliminate the waste of duplications of
public facilities, to establish common public honesty by stripping the farce
away from the phrase ‘separate but equal.’ We are challenging America to
make democracy work.’’ He cautioned that ‘‘the victory [was] going to
come slowly. Nobody need expect any blitzkrieg. Prejudice does not cave
in; it fights to the last ditch, and has more lives than the proverbial cat. All
we lawyers can do is open the door and get Negroes into position to exer-
cise their rights. The final push must come from the citizens themselves.’’≤∂

Houston was content to leave the ‘‘final push’’ to black people, which
was not the case for the staunch integrationists in the naacp like its na-
tional secretary, Walter White. In his address to the 1941 naacp national
conference in Houston, the first time the association had ever held its
annual meeting in a Deep South state, White attacked Jim Crow higher
education: ‘‘Then there has been the continuation of our struggle against
discrimination in graduate training, and we herewith serve notice on the
tax-supported institutions of the State of Texas that we hope we may get
around to them; so you might as well prepare now.’’≤∑ He then interrupted
his speech to introduce Lucille Bluford to the audience. Bluford was the
plaintiff in a lawsuit to integrate the University of Missouri’s School of
Journalism. She was a minor celebrity at the conference, but a month later
the state courts dismissed her suit, giving school officials time to present its
plan to commence graduate education in journalism at the all-black Lin-
coln University. Charles Houston, Bluford’s lawyer, was unable to prove
that this plan did not meet the equality standard since the University of
Missouri eliminated its journalism school, ostensibly because of a wartime
enrollment decline.≤∏ The naacp, nevertheless, hailed Bluford as on the
cutting edge of the fight for black democratic rights. Her image and the
rhetoric of leaders like White was so influential that the naacp youth
section adopted the resolution: ‘‘Whereas, there exists in the United States
certain inequalities regarding educational facilities between Negroes and
Whites and whereas, these inequalities not only tend, but do make for a
weakening of democracy, therefore be it resolved that we do all in our
power to make for uniform educational opportunities for everyone re-
gardless of race, creed or color.’’≤π After all was said and done, however,
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more was said than done. Blacks in southern states like Texas were not yet
prepared to pursue vigorously a direct challenge to segregated education.

On 9 April 1945, A. Maceo Smith wrote to inform Thurgood Marshall
that the executive committee of naacp branches in Texas had requested
Resident Counsel W. J. Durham ‘‘to prepare an opinion on the possibility
for legal action in connection with equalizing educational opportunities
for Negroes in Texas.’’ He sent Marshall a copy of Durham’s opinion for
him and Judge William Hastie to review. He added, ‘‘The Texas Con-
ference is now ready for action and we want to go about it in the same
manner that we handled the Texas Primary Case.’’≤∫ The voting rights
victory won a great deal of credibility for the naacp in Texas and buoyed
the hopes of its members for the naacp’s legal strategy against white su-
premacy.≤Ω Major branch leaders were ready for legal action at a time when
lawsuits to equalize the salaries of black and white teachers began achiev-
ing desired results. Also, state officials seemed to be taking steps toward
implementing the bcnet’s recommendations. In January 1945, Texas
A&M’s regents proclaimed they would make a first-class university out of
Prairie View. In May, the legislature passed a bill renaming the college
Prairie View University but also voted down a measure that would have
allowed Prairie View to draw from the Permanent University Fund, which
remained exclusively reserved for ut and Texas A&M. Fine words and
fancy name changes looked good in principle, but to black observers the
dollar sign remained the bottom line.≥≠

The shift in the political terrain from interracial conciliation to civil lib-
ertarianism may be traced in various developments through the 1940s. Al-
though it does not completely explain the complicated process of change
concerning legal strategies and ideological struggles, the protracted politi-
cal feud between naacp leaders Lulu B. White and Thurgood Marshall on
one side, and Carter Wesley on the other offers an illuminating representa-
tion of the changing times. Merline Pitre has provided a good introduction
to the ‘‘continuous warfare’’ that arose between White and Wesley.≥∞ Addi-
tionally, Mark Tushnet has pointed out that this fight extended to the
national office of the naacp. He credits the Wesley-Marshall exchange in
letters on legal strategy as responsible for Marshall and the national staff’s
clean break with Charles Houston’s original equalization-based legal strat-
egy in favor of a direct assault on segregated education.≥≤ Both authors
rightly impute a critical historical significance to the equalization-versus-
desegregation debate. Pitre limits her focus to the Houston area, and Tush-
net accepts Marshall’s side rather uncritically and restricts his analysis to
the legal and organizational aspects of the struggle. A close reading of the
debate reveals deep fissures within the black professional-managerial class
and the larger black community vis-à-vis the direction and purposes of their
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struggle. In that reading, the story of a social change movement in the
making and its malcontents emerges.

The confrontation between the naacp and Carter Wesley underscores
the new ideological setting of 1940. From the end of Reconstruction to the
1930s, if an official party line can be said to have existed among black folk,
especially its upper classes, then interracial conciliation surely represented
the line. Radical dissenters from the canon no doubt existed, but the
political faith to which most blacks publicly professed an allegiance re-
mained the one the interracial conciliator presented. With no great tu-
mult, the party line had simply faded from existence by the 1930s. The
unabated string of lynchings, of whitecappings, of injustices of so many
kinds simply led blacks to lose interest in an ideology that delivered noth-
ing and freed them from none of their social afflictions. To wit, the Com-
mission on Inter-racial Cooperation went out with a whimper. Blacks, as
well as their sympathizers from other races and cultures, came to desire a
more assertive type of social action in the South.≥≥ Black leaders who had
patiently worked inside the cic or who searched elsewhere for less conser-
vative southern whites to join with in struggle for a racially democratic
‘‘New South’’ were able to take heart.

Carter Wesley represented one such soldier for black rights. In letters to
the naacp’s New York headquarters, Wesley kept Thurgood Marshall and
the other national leaders of the naacp informed about the work of south-
ern black leaders, even though he felt they were ‘‘not interested in what is
being done down here[;] you think we are all Uncle Toms.’’≥∂ Nonetheless,
from the call of Gordon B. Hancock, a dean at Virginia Union University,
for southern Negroes to conference at Durham, North Carolina, in Octo-
ber 1942, to the formal creation of the Southern Regional Council (src)
in 1944, Wesley participated in the wartime challenge of black southerners
to ‘‘that element of the white South who express themselves as desirous of a
New Deal for the Negroes.’’≥∑ He saw the movement that culminated in the
src as a covenant ‘‘to give equal opportunities to Negroes.’’ It successfully
attracted the financial support of the Rosenwald Fund and the American
Missionary Association, which wanted more effective ‘‘direct action’’ than
the cic or black colleges seemed capable of taking to eradicate the caste
system in American race relations. Cultivating the goodwill of whites and
slowly making a Negro elite educated in the ways of Western civilization
had done little to undermine Jim Crowism and to create an antiracist,
integrated South. To Wesley, blacks had to organize whites into a strong
southern movement to create ‘‘equal opportunity’’ in education, jobs, vot-
ing rights, and social mobility. In his brand of militant race consciousness,
he saw the general line of march toward full Negro emancipation as the
movement for equality in the first instance, and the breakdown of segrega-
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tion after that wherever possible. As long as the southern movement did
not become ‘‘another old hen’s group like the Interracial Commission
was,’’ Wesley committed to it his full support.≥∏

A product of the activity that founded the src, the Southern Negro
Conference for Equalization of Educational Opportunities (snc-eeo) held
its first annual meeting in May 1945 and elected Carter Wesley its presi-
dent. Other officers included C. A. Scott of Atlanta and Lucy Harth Smith
of Lexington as vice presidents; Reid E. Jackson of Southern University in
Scotlandville, Louisiana, as secretary; and R. B. Atwood of Kentucky State
College in Frankfort as treasurer. Horace Mann Bond of Fort Valley State
College agreed to serve as director of research, and thirteen others permit-
ted their names to be listed as snc-eeo commission members: Henry A.
Bullock and E. M. Norris of Texas (Prairie View); A. W. Dent and Lucius L.
Jones of Louisiana; Lawrence A. Davis of Arkansas; Roscoe Dunjee of
Oklahoma; G. Blyden Jackson and Frank L. Stanley of Kentucky; Edward
Bishop, Percy Greene, and S. D. Redmond of Mississippi; and R. O’Hara
Lanier of Virginia. They launched the group with high hopes for its suc-
cess. Its first task was raising the enormous sum of $100,000 to support the
antidiscriminatory legal work of a Southwide legal committee composed of
Marshall, Alexander P. Tureaud of Louisiana, A. T. Walden of Georgia,
Arthur Davis Shores of Alabama, and W. J. Durham of Texas.≥π

In the wink of an eye, Wesley’s hopes floundered. The legal committee
never got organized. Wesley scheduled the group to meet the day after the
snc-eeo’s first annual meeting in Memphis, but it was called off when
Marshall claimed he could not make travel arrangements to be there.
Tureaud offered to host a meeting in New Orleans in June, but it came
to no avail. That month, however, Marshall sent out a memorandum to
A. Maceo Smith and other officers of the naacp State Conference of
Branches, sparking, at least in Wesley’s eyes, the impression that the naacp
wanted to be the vanguard leader in the fight for equalization of educa-
tional opportunities in the South and had opted to ‘‘preempt’’ all comers
to the field of battle. Wesley responded that if the naacp was going to ‘‘take
over’’ all the work, he would ‘‘present the matter to the Southern Confer-
ence and give them a chance to dump it in your lap.’’≥∫ Marshall answered
Wesley that the naacp headquarters had for some time periodically sent
memos to the branches to urge them to study local problems in prepara-
tion for litigation or some other naacp-directed activity. Marshall prom-
ised that no legal action would be undertaken without first contacting
Wesley and others but underscored that the naacp had gotten into the
fight to see it to the finish: ‘‘As you know, I have been in full accord
with the Southern Negro Conference and its objectives and have been and
am still anxious and willing to work with you. However, I do not understand
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that the naacp was to abandon its fight for equalization of educational
opportunities.’’≥Ω

This exchange was the first indication of a rift developing between
Wesley and the naacp, particularly Marshall. It was not over a difference in
approach or principle, however. Through their work together on the legal
challenge to the white Democratic primary, a personal closeness grew
between Wesley and Marshall. By 1943, Marshall would greet the Houston
publisher in his letters with ‘‘Dear Carter’’ and on occasion ‘‘My dear
buffle-headed friend.’’∂≠ Likewise, Wesley wrote to the New York attorney
using colorful and jocular terms such as ‘‘Hi Toots’’ and ‘‘chucklehead’’
and might even curse him with no malice intended: ‘‘You just are a long,
lank ‘Nigger.’ ’’∂∞ Given their relationship and their mutual sense of the
other’s importance to the cause of racial justice, neither man relished a
course toward conflict.

In late July, Wesley went to New York for a meeting of black publishers.
While there, he and Marshall met and discussed the campaign for educa-
tional equalization. Marshall summarized the points of the discussion in a
letter to Wesley in August:

It is my understanding that we agreed that in states where the N.A.A.C.P. was
sufficiently active to handle cases to equalize educational opportunities that
these cases would be handled by the N.A.A.C.P. and the Southern Negro
Conference for Equalization of Educational Opportunities would handle
cases in places where the N.A.A.C.P. was not sufficiently active. . . . [I]t was
believed that the [snc-eeo] could lend aid in all of these cases, and should
not under any circumstances disband. . . . I for one am not kidding when I say
that we want and need, not only the cooperation of your organization but
also your continued personal cooperation.∂≤

Pacific relations between Wesley and Marshall, as well as the snc-eeo
and the naacp, resumed through the fall and into the spring of 1946,
when Marshall filed a lawsuit against ut’s racially discriminatory admis-
sions policy. The case of Heman Sweatt brought unity and enthusiasm to
the University Movement, but beneath the surface, Marshall and the
naacp still harbored suspicion toward Wesley and the snc-eeo. When the
snc-eeo held its second annual meeting in New Orleans at the Booker T.
Washington High School on 13 April 1946, despite Wesley’s open-faced
manner of dealing with the naacp, Marshall felt it necessary to ask Daniel
Ellis Byrd, executive secretary of the New Orleans naacp branch, and A. P.
Tureaud to attend the conference as representatives of the naacp. He
asked them to send him ‘‘a confidential and full report of what happens at
the meeting, which will be between the two of us.’’∂≥ Marshall’s fear of
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rivalry with the snc-eeo contrasted sharply with conference members’
repeated statements of full support for the naacp’s educational equaliza-
tion work. The Southern Conference also began encountering a difficult
time getting itself organized.

With suspicion in the air, the fire of trouble blazed nearby, and it first
flared in Wesley’s hometown of Houston. On 3 September 1946, Smith
and Wesley sent out an open letter to people on a statewide mailing list
announcing that the tcno had voted to launch its effort for educational
equality through a branch of the snc-eeo ‘‘known as the Texas Negro
Conference on Equalization of Education’’ (tncee), which would hold its
first meeting at Houston’s Emancipation Park.∂∂ For almost two decades
before this letter went out, Lulu White and her husband, Julius, had been
allies with Wesley as part of the city’s family of leading black activists. The
Smith-Wesley letter, however, prompted bitter words from the Houston
branch’s executive secretary against Wesley. In the margin and on the back
of the letter, she implored Walter White to ‘‘read this d—— thing.’’ She
argued that Texas did not need a tncee; the work of the naacp needed
help enough. Moreover, the existence of the tcno, which she never sup-
ported, already cluttered the field. ‘‘If the naacp is spearheading this
case,’’ White wrote, ‘‘why have any other organization to compromise
over?’’ She answered her own question saying, ‘‘Maceo is bound to have an
organization to accept the segregated college for Negroes.’’ Linking Wes-
ley and Smith with a plot in support of a black university, she complained,
‘‘I may be wrong Walter, but this is nothing but a sell out.’’∂∑ Walter White
reacted myopically and completely supported her position.

In a memorandum to Marshall, Walter White informed the special
counsel that the tncee had organized ‘‘to devise [a] means of effecting a
compromise in the Herman [sic] Sweat [sic] case.’’ Nowhere in the Smith-
Wesley letter does it speak of working for a compromise in the Sweatt case,
but they did call for establishing the tncee to ‘‘cooperate with the naacp
in its fight for entrance into the University of Texas.’’ The national secre-
tary either did not read the Smith-Wesley letter carefully or deliberately
misrepresented its content to Marshall. Misrepresentation is the most
likely possibility given that he took quotes from the letter in every particu-
lar, except the ‘‘compromise’’ issue. Furthermore, Walter White informed
Marshall that ‘‘Lula wants our go ahead signal to fight this outfit [the
tncee] with every possible weapon and also the Texas Conference [sic] of
Negro Organizations, apparently another A. Maceo Smith operation, to
accept ‘equal but separate educational facilities.’ Lula wants me to call her
back this afternoon to tell her our decision. . . . What do you think?’’ White
sent a telegram to Lulu White notifying her that, at the suggestion of
Thurgood Marshall, he had written Wesley and Smith ‘‘affirming our posi-
tion of opposition to any form of segregation.’’ The war was on.∂∏
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On 25 October 1946, Marshall fired off a letter to Wesley marked ‘‘Per-
sonal,’’ emphasizing that he considered the communication strictly be-
tween the two of them, saying, ‘‘For once, I am serious.’’ Marshall ex-
pressed worry over the program of the tncee. He regretted he had not
written to Wesley sooner, but he had been recuperating from an illness
since July. Marshall complained that either the tncee duplicated the work
of the naacp in Texas or it constituted a ‘‘competing organization.’’ If the
group truly committed itself to working ‘‘on cases in the segregated field of
education,’’ then to Marshall, such work conflicted and competed with the
‘‘principles’’ of the naacp. Invoking the story of the woman who said she
was just ‘‘a little pregnant,’’ Marshall explained to Wesley that there could
be no acceptance of ‘‘a little segregation,’’ not even in the short run. ‘‘The
N.A.A.C.P.’s State Conference in Texas is opposed to segregation in any
form,’’ he continued. The tncee, on the other hand, ‘‘is going to try to get
as much as possible under the segregated system. The Negroes in Texas
will most certainly end up in two divided camps, and I do not believe it is
possible to be in both camps at the same time.’’ Marshall’s only evidence
for the mutual exclusivity of the two positions on segregation was a story
about people who try to carry a bucket of water on each shoulder, ending
up ‘‘with both buckets and water parked on the middle of their skulls.’’
Marshall also called upon Wesley to rethink the purpose of the tncee in
that the opposition could view it ‘‘as a counter-move and as a compromise
answer to the problem.’’ He portrayed Wesley as ‘‘clamoring for a segre-
gated school’’ of law for Negroes and reminded him that ‘‘every segregated
elementary school, every segregated high school and every segregated
college unit is a monument to the perpetuation of segregation. It is one
thing to ‘take’ segregation that is forced upon you and it is another thing
to ask for segregation.’’∂π

Of more pressing concern to Wesley than Marshall’s avuncular letter,
however, were the public attacks at his flank coming from Lulu White. She
had been railing against Wesley and others she suspected of collaborating
with state government leaders in the creation of a segregated black univer-
sity. Less than a week before the hearing in which Judge Roy Archer prom-
ised he would issue a mandamus compelling the admission of Sweatt to ut
if no law school had been created for him, White wrote to Marshall and
urgently repeated her opposition to Wesley. ‘‘The naacp needs to lead out
in all programs of advancement of Negroes in Texas,’’ she affirmed. ‘‘I was
glad to see in the News Letter that the Legal Committee was doing some-
thing about this, ‘equal but separate educational opportunities.’
That’s right, nothing can be equal if it is separate.’’∂∫

White had the simplest of reasons to hope that Archer would rule in
Sweatt’s favor: the state had not established a Negro law school equal to the
one Negroes were banned from in Austin. Targeting Wesley for her bit-
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To the consternation of Texas activists like Carter Wesley, naacp’s top executives (seated,
left to right), administrator Roy Wilkins, executive secretary Walter White, and special
counsel Thurgood Marshall, tried to maintain hegemony over the Texas campaign for equal
educational opportunity (Crisis, July 1950, 445).

terest criticism, however, seemed a strange choice given that he had edi-
torialized on 7 December that if Judge Archer was ‘‘a jurist of integrity and
follows through on his June decision,’’ he could do nothing else but order
the desegregation of the ut School of Law. Wesley castigated members of
the governor’s biracial commission on education as accomplices with Gov-
ernor Stevenson in perpetrating a ‘‘hoax’’ on black Texans and Judge
Archer. He published a front-page indictment of W. R. Banks, retired
principal of Prairie View, and Dr. M. L. Edwards for ‘‘doing the dirty work
in this swindle’’ by helping to set up a makeshift law school in Houston.
These broadsides had not been Wesley’s first attacks on interracial concil-
iators; but despite his record of vigilance against those who compromised
in favor of separate equality, White continued to scandalize him as a sell-
out unfaithful to the naacp.∂Ω

Wesley did not suffer White’s attacks with grace. Although on 14 De-
cember he defended White and the naacp against the charge that commu-
nists had come to dominate the Houston branch, a week later he threw
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White in with the ‘‘ ‘red’ white people’’ who had replaced ‘‘respectable
‘high class’ Negro board members.’’∑≠ Wesley jabbed at White with a red
smear and followed with solid left and right punches. He attacked White
for endorsing a conception of the naacp as having the prerogative to
preempt any other form of organizing among black Texans that proposed
to fight on fronts where the naacp refused to be involved. The knockout
blow charged that White had chosen to work to undermine the unity and
solidarity that black leaders in Texas had been forging since 1941. Wesley’s
pugilistic work in the pages of his papers pushed White to the point of
resignation. She disclosed that her Achilles heel, her vow to ‘‘honor and
obey’’ her husband, Julius, had been struck.∑∞

Julius White, a most fascinating, if shadowy, figure in the freedom move-
ment of blacks in Texas, had the reputation for being a man with a ‘‘trucu-
lent’’ temperament and the means to get physical with anyone he felt had
disrespected him or his wife. Lulu White felt resourceful enough to fight
her own battles until the internecine warfare with Wesley got heated to a
point that Julius could take no more.∑≤

On 29 December, Lula White placed a collect telephone call to Walter
White reporting to him that ‘‘Julius insists that she resign because Carter
Wesley and Maceo Smith are making the fight a personal one against her.’’
The national secretary, dismayed that he had to hear ‘‘the whole story at
our expense,’’ counseled her not to resign ‘‘under fire,’’ and urged her to
send him a ‘‘temperate statement of facts’’ so that the national board could
determine if there were grounds upon which to ‘‘take appropriate ac-
tion.’’∑≥ With support from Walter White, Thurgood Marshall, and other
naacp leaders at the national level, the board of the local branch took
courage and refused Lulu White’s resignation. Considerably deflated, she
stayed on as executive secretary even as Wesley continued to batter her in
his editorials. In June of 1949, she finally left office saying that she could
no longer ‘‘say ‘pay Wesley no mind, he has to sell his paper.’ ’’∑∂

In the 1940s, a word like ‘‘sexism’’ did not roll off the tongues of men
like Carter Wesley, or even women like Lulu White. From the vantage of
five decades removed, however, the equality a black woman like White
exercised in ‘‘a man’s world’’ is striking. Although he was convinced ‘‘Lulu
is full of prunes’’ on the question of strategy in the fight for educational
equality, Wesley readily admitted that she had excellent skills as an naacp
organizer. Any sentimental regrets he felt were not about White, however,
but about her husband. In December of 1946, Wesley wrote President
John Jay Jones of the Texas State Conference of Branches:

I never had any doubts about your understanding of my position, or any
other intelligent leader of Negroes in Texas misunderstanding my position.
Lulu’s attitude nonplussed me, but I knew she just didn’t know what she was
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talking about and didn’t get too excited. . . . Only a few of them got the real
significance of Lulu’s resignation Tuesday night. Lulu wouldn’t run away
from the fight, but Julius, her husband, is very sensitive to publicity about his
wife. He can’t appreciate the fact that when his wife is in a public office she is
always subject to criticism, as is any other public official. So the crux of the
thing really is that Julius wants Lulu out of the whole mess. Julius is a square-
shooter, and I am really sorry that the thing came out for his sake. I imagine if
I ever talk to anybody about this thing, it will be to Lulu and Julius together,
but other than that I am content to have the thing stay now as an issue.∑∑

Lulu White and Carter Wesley might have generated a healthy debate
about the equalization versus desegregation strategy, but they failed to do
so, and their failure begins with White. From the point she personalized
Wesley’s position and inveighed against him in emotionally charged terms
like ‘‘sell-out’’ and ‘‘traitor to the race’’ working for segregation, she sub-
stituted calumny for calculated argument. Wesley, in turn, resorted to the
same tactics to destroy her standing. The charge of communism in black
Houston meant roughly the same thing as calling her a sell out. Where she
vilified Wesley as the running dog of whites who wished to manipulate and
control blacks in their segregated, bourgeois world order, Wesley re-
sponded by calling her the running dog (knowingly or unwittingly) of
‘‘red’’ whites who sought to control blacks in an integrated, proletarian
political order. The exchange between Wesley and Marshall had somewhat
more substance, but frequently it also lapsed into sideline issues.

In advance of the deadline in Judge Archer’s courtroom on 17 Decem-
ber, the naacp organized a statewide mass meeting at Dorie Miller Au-
ditorium in black East Austin. The executive committee of the Texas
naacp also scheduled a meeting for the day after the hearing to take place
at Samuel Huston College, inviting Wesley and his colleague in the tncee,
Dr. Waldo Howard, to attend so that the ‘‘confused situation’’ between
Wesley (tncee-tnco) and Marshall (naacp) could be settled. Wesley at-
tended the mass meeting and the hearing in Archer’s court. However,
when Archer had done his work of ruling in behalf of white supremacy, the
publisher left and returned to Houston. Wesley later claimed to have
heard that Lulu White opposed his appearing before the committee and
would attack his presence there. Although Wesley saw no sense in staying
overnight for the meeting, it might have been more colorful if he had. In a
review of the Texas case, Marshall stated as plain as ever the legal strategy
of the naacp regarding higher education equalization. All cases were
being processed on the basis of the Gaines decision and the Fourteenth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Furthermore, the naacp did not see
where the creation of Jim Crow schools compromised its legal position.
‘‘The development of public sentiment’’ made it necessary to attack such
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schools and show them no quarter. Marshall even ‘‘endorsed the tech-
nique of ‘picketing’ ’’ so-called makeshift schools to discourage blacks
from attending such institutions.∑∏

In his reply to a letter from Marshall regretting his absence at the Austin
meeting, Wesley reexamined the history of his involvement in the Texas
University Movement and his approach to the battle for winning improve-
ments in the opportunities for black higher education in Texas. His ap-
proach treated the matter of equalizing education as a ‘‘total problem’’
rather than an isolated issue of integrating a single black student into ut.
He infused his argument to Marshall with strong language in behalf of the
rights of local people over the processes of struggle that most immediately
affected their future. ‘‘I make this jibe at you,’’ Wesley quipped, ‘‘if you
spent half of the energy trying to get up the other suits that need to be filed
in Texas for entrance into the University of Texas that you are spending in
trying to cut off some possible rivalry of the Texas Conference on Equaliza-
tion, you, we and everybody else would be a hell of a lot better off.’’∑π

Marshall’s reply to Wesley took up many tangential issues, while Walter
White, who also sent a reply, recast Wesley’s letter into a personal condem-
nation of the special counsel as all out for himself. Wesley’s criticisms of
selfishness, however, were mainly against the association, not Marshall.
Both letters were silent on Wesley’s charge that the naacp demanded
exclusive control over the Texas University Movement.∑∫

In separate letters to Walter White and Marshall, Wesley tried to get an
answer from the naacp as to why it was bent on trying to ‘‘kill off’’ the
tncee and taking a ‘‘narrow view and a narrow attitude.’’∑Ω White bowed
out of the controversy, snapping to Marshall, ‘‘Don’t Texans ever write
short letters?’’ He requested from Marshall an opinion as to some action
the national board might take in response to the ‘‘trouble’’ in Texas.∏≠

Marshall composed a letter, but Roy Wilkins, the editor of the naacp’s
Crisis magazine and assistant to White, pulled it because it was too ‘‘hot.’’
He drafted a cooler version of the letter, but Marshall rejected it, asking
that he ‘‘please put this into English.’’ Marshall took another day to com-
plete a different, longer letter, in which he refrained from suggesting that
Wesley supported the erection of monuments to Jim Crow education. He
answered Wesley’s main question by referring him to his letter of 25 Octo-
ber 1946.∏∞ Such a referral only served to lead Wesley to find proof of his
charge that Marshall intended to make ‘‘an attack upon [his] integrity.’’∏≤

On 13 January, Marshall wrote that he would cease trying to answer Wesley
as he had concluded that ‘‘nothing can be gained from this continued
exchange of correspondence.’’∏≥

The Marshall-Wesley exchange, however, was not over. On 17 January,
Wesley tendered his written resignation from the local, state, and national
naacp, citing as his reasons that the naacp had become ‘‘a source and
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means of malicious and entirely unjustifiable slander against me in my
area’’ and had ‘‘recklessly taken a course to split the leadership of Texas.’’
The next day, he pressed Marshall to ‘‘show forth proof’’ that he was
‘‘seeking segregation’’ and ‘‘a compromise of the Sweatt case.’’ Marshall
felt ‘‘duty bound’’ to send him a hair-splitting rehash of his arguments that
failed to prove Wesley was a traitor to his race.∏∂ Wesley responded with a
letter charging Marshall with evading the issue. James Nabrit, co-counsel
with Marshall on the Sweatt case and a longtime friend of Wesley, called on
the men to ‘‘battle this thing out between yourselves, compose your differ-
ences and again join in this fight,’’ but the two men continued to drift
apart.∏∑ In February, Marshall wrote Wesley a short note sniping at an
article he had written. Wesley was mostly taken aback by Marshall’s manner
of address: ‘‘I notice that it has drifted to ‘Mr. Wesley.’ ’’ He accepted the
new formal terms of address, and their correspondence ceased for seven
months.∏∏

During the hiatus in Wesley-Marshall communication, Marshall came to
some significant insights regarding the Texas University Movement and
related cases in Louisiana, South Carolina, and Oklahoma on which he
served as co-counsel or adviser. For the first time, he began acknowledging
that the ‘‘cases against state universities . . . are brand new types of legal
action striking at segregation per se.’’ Moreover, in a memorandum to
Gloster B. Current calling for closer coordination of naacp legal work with
local branches and the branch department, Marshall, ever the great story-
teller, offered an interesting comparative observation:

In Texas, as a result of the intensive work by the State Conference and others,
there is hardly a Negro in Texas today who is not convinced that segregation
is not only bad, but cannot be tolerated. It is likewise evident that this senti-
ment does not exist in any other southern state where we are operating. I
remember, for example, that several months ago we had a meeting in Austin,
Texas; I made the statement that the naacp was sick and tired of separate but
equal and would fight to the last ditch to remove all segregation and the
applause of the white and Negro people in the audience was terrific. A week
thereafter I made the same statement in Charleston, S.C., at a regional meet-
ing, on three different occasions, including twice in a working session and
once at the mass meeting, and there was absolutely no applause, but rather a
look of apprehension on the faces of most of our delegates.∏π

He noted that blacks (including many naacp members) in states outside
of the South—namely, Illinois, Ohio, Michigan, Pennsylvania, Kansas, and
New Jersey—approved of their children attending ‘‘completely segregated
schools.’’ Marshall offered no reasons for why, in his estimation, Texas
blacks marched ahead of the rest of black America in their readiness to
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embrace desegregation, but he emphasized the need for ‘‘complete sup-
port of all the Negroes’’ in those states having antisegregation legal action.
Texas, site of the naacp’s most noteworthy case of this kind, represented a
crucial object lesson for the masses of black folks across the entire country.
‘‘All out’’ war on segregation rendered counterproductive Wesley’s two-
line approach of fighting for equal opportunity both in separate facilities
and through integration. For desegregation efforts to succeed, the naacp
felt, all Jim Crow schools had to be condemned without pity. For the sake
of good propaganda, of winning the hearts and minds of the people to
integrated education as the only assurance of equality, Marshall de-
manded unequivocal support of his legal work. It did not matter how long
the realization of the goal might take; he was committed forthrightly to a
head-on collision with the legal foundations of segregation. The honesty
or accuracy of his assessment of how black Texans felt about his new direc-
tion also did not seem to matter to Marshall. He felt his way to be the only
way the race could be saved, whether the race liked it or not. In his view,
blacks who failed to appreciate the cause he led were like children who
refused to take their medicine, and the choice was the medicine or death.

Two different examples may be presented to show how Marshall mis-
judged black Texans and their reaction to the contrasting positions of
Wesley and Marshall. Over a year after the critical exchange developed
between Marshall and Wesley, Marshall related to Carl Murphy, editor of
the Baltimore Afro-American, that ‘‘as a result of Carter Wesley’s attack on
us, I am certain that he has lost circulation instead of gaining it, and all of
the people I have talked to, many times without revealing my identity, offer
unanimous support for our all-out attack on segregation in Texas.’’ Figures
from Ayer and Son’s Directory of Newspapers and Periodicals indicate that the
years between 1944 and 1948 were banner years for Wesley. In those years,
the total circulation of the papers under his control, at a minimum,
reached between 40,000 and 50,000 people per week. The numbers de-
clined after 1948, with the sharpest drop coming in 1953. There is no
evidence in the circulation rates, nor in the pages of his newspapers or his
correspondence, to suggest that the criticisms Wesley launched against the
naacp in 1946 led to any drop in circulation.

Polling data also indicated Marshall’s miscalculation of reality. The
Texas Poll, established in 1940, began surveying public opinion regarding
civil rights in 1946, especially in the areas of voting rights and education.
In 1947, through its quota-sampling technique, the poll’s findings con-
trasted sharply with Marshall’s assertions. Blacks were in favor, eight to five,
of the creation of a separate University of Texas for their race rather than
entering ut. Whites supported the separate university option twenty-five
to one over integration.∏∫ The complete results of the poll are represented
in Figure 1.
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Figure 1. Results of Texas Poll, Report No. 132, 26 January 1947. Question: ‘‘Under a Supreme
Court ruling, Texas is faced with the problem of either setting up a first-class university for
Negroes or allowing them to enter The University of Texas. What do you think ought to be
done?’’ Source: Scott, ‘‘Twenty-Five Years of Opinion on Integration in Texas,’’ 158

Clearly, Marshall overstated the support among black Texans for his
‘‘new’’ position on university litigation and sacrificed the truth to serve
personal and organizational purposes. Emboldened to chart a new course,
the special counsel put together a case that repudiated and denigrated the
possibility that a separate law school for blacks could ever be equal to the
established one set up for whites. In the brief filed in Sweatt’s behalf after
he refused to attend the Houston law school on the grounds that it was
inadequate, Marshall stressed the inherently discriminatory nature of a
separate law school.∏Ω Moreover, when the trial began before Judge Archer
in May 1947, Sweatt’s attorneys (Marshall, Nabrit, Durham, and C. B.
Bunkley), produced a ‘‘surprise witness.’’ They called Robert Redfield,
professor and chairman of the Department of Anthropology at the Univer-
sity of Chicago, to take the stand as an expert witness on the effects of racial
segregation on education. Also described as an ‘‘eminent sociologist’’ and
a lawyer who ‘‘for twenty years had given special attention to racial differ-
ences in education,’’ Redfield was the living symbol of a growing number
of social scientists who since the 1920s had begun to attack the intellectual
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underpinnings of white supremacy as a social doctrine. Influenced by
Bronislaw Malinowski (the Polish-born scholar who brought anthropolo-
gists off the ‘‘verandas’’ of colonial administrators and into the lives, living
spaces, and folk cultures of colonized peoples in the ‘‘primitive’’ and ‘‘pe-
ripheral’’ societies of the global market system), Redfield was more a civil
libertarian ally than an author with a distinguished publication record on
the subject of segregation in the American South. He substituted well
enough for white scholars like Hortense Powdermaker and John Dollard
who had produced such a record. His testimony did not center on the
ramifications that racial separation in education had on the personalities
or ego states of blacks. Instead, he drew attention to the way in which racial
separation perpetuated a ‘‘mythical conception of differences’’ that re-
stricted the field of participation both across cultural or racial lines and
within a specific cultural or racial group. ‘‘Segregation,’’ Redfield stated,
‘‘tends to intensify suspicion and distrust’’ between and within all catego-
ries of American citizens.π≠

Marshall’s case, weaving together Redfield’s testimony, with references
to Gunnar Myrdal’s American Dilemma, the reports of President Harry Tru-
man’s Committee on Civil Rights, articles from the Journal of Negro Educa-

tion, and testimony from Dean Charles H. Thompson of Howard Univer-
sity, did little to sway Archer and white Texans. Nevertheless, the use of
experts to document the inequality of the dual system of education and its
negative social consequences grew into a major part of the legal strategy of
direct assault on segregated education.

While Sweatt’s case went up the appellate process, the naacp legal staff
grew anxious to test out the new direct-assault approach at other levels of
the dual school system. Local people in Texas communities like Hearne,
LaGrange, Texarkana, and Wichita Falls, on the move against oppression
and discrimination in the public schools provided to blacks, offered the
naacp the test cases it sought. A few of these cases that developed in the
late 1940s will be explored in Chapter 3, but one case involving a chal-
lenge to segregation at the secondary school level deserves consideration
here. It is a prime example of local blacks growing tired of appeals to the
consciences and the hearts of whites and, through a surge of racial mili-
tancy, experimenting with the civil libertarian remedy of legal action.

In Hearne, a Negro Citizens Committee (ncc) could not accept that in a
town where the scholastic population of black to white pupils was 712 to
650, facilities for blacks (including proposed development) did not exceed
$300,000, although facilities for whites were valued in excess of $3 million.
The committee’s petition arose from the smoke and ashes of a fire on 9 De-
cember 1945, when the Negro primary school burned to the ground and
severely damaged the adjacent high school. The Hearne Independent
School District (isd) approved a replacement facility financed from a
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bond issue and federal aid, but when ‘‘school authorities proce[e]ded to
throw up an unsightly, inadequate makeshift plant constructed mainly of
prisoner-of-war barracks given them by the Federal government,’’ protest
was immediate.π∞ The ncc’s petition noted that the teacher-student ratio
for whites was 27:1 but for blacks it was 60:1 and concluded, ‘‘[I]n the light
of the present world picture we believe that Democracy should begin at
home and its practices extended to all citizens to share and share alike.
Therefore we submit this petition to your honorable body in the hope that
you reconsider your present plans and provide equal instructional facilities
for Negro students with those provided for whites.’’π≤

On 14 August 1947, A. Maceo Smith seized upon the case and quickly
sent a copy of the petition to Lulu White, noting that the Hearne case
might be ‘‘our next ‘battleground.’ ’’π≥ Special counsel Marshall and re-
gional naacp counsel W. J. Durham, however, had problems with the local
citizen’s request for equalization instead of integration. Marshall had a
new version of the petition written without the request for equalization
and in its place a demand for the school board to end its discriminatory
policies without stating how it could remedy the situation. On 15 Septem-
ber 1947, C. G. Jennings, one of the ncc members who embraced the
integrationist revision, took his thirteen-year-old stepdaughter, Doris Fay,
to Hearne High School for whites and attempted to enroll her. The district
superintendent, R. M. Hix, told him that he would not enroll the girl.
Jennings, with Durham and Marshall for attorneys, filed suit in behalf of
his daughter. In support of Doris Fay and in protest of conditions at the
black school, 300 black students launched a boycott of classes on 17 Sep-
tember, which lasted several days.π∂

As the Jennings suit developed, Marshall attempted to elicit the help of
George I. Sanchez of the University of Texas’s Latin American Education
and Intergroup Relations. Sanchez had been involved in the Orange
County, California, case Mendez v. Westminster School District, in which the
Supreme Court had ruled unconstitutional the segregation of Mexican
students. In a 6 July 1948 letter to Marshall, Sanchez expressed his doubt
that the affidavits of expert witnesses used in that case would be of any
assistance to Marshall ‘‘since those affidavits are pointed specifically to-
wards a denial of the pedagogical soundness of segregation that is based
on the ‘language handicap’ excuse.’’ Sanchez pointed out that the case’s
general ‘‘plan of attack’’ could be of use.π∑

Judge Ben Rice, with no regard for argument against the ‘‘separate but
equal’’ doctrine itself, issued a declaratory judgment in the case on 1 Sep-
tember 1948. He gave district officials until the opening of the schools a
few weeks later to furnish equal facilities, but the district did nothing at all
close to equalizing the schools. Hearne parents like Mrs. Carrie Mack grew
despondent. On 19 October, Smith wrote to assure her that the naacp was
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‘‘not nearly through with the Hearne case.’’ From the standpoint of the
national staff, however, the Hearne case was a dead letter. It did not get off
on the right foot, and Smith never got educational experts to come and
survey the school situation there. On 5 May 1949, Smith gave Mack the
brush off, saying that naacp attorneys remained undecided as to whether
to file a new lawsuit or contempt proceedings based on Judge Rice’s origi-
nal ruling, which they all deemed to be too ‘‘weak’’ to get the school board
to do anything. Black children in Hearne were left behind.π∏

naacp failures, like that at Hearne, confirmed for black Texans the
definite limitations of the civil libertarian strategy. Suing whites carried
risks of physical and economic recriminations for what many blacks saw as
perhaps a noble, but utterly impractical and inflammatory, strategy. Mark
Tushnet offers a different view. Rather reductively, he argues that because
‘‘there were at least a few lawyers who were available for facilities suits,’’
Marshall and other naacp lawyers ‘‘could be reasonably confident that,
when no such suits were brought, the black community taken as a whole
did in fact prefer the direct attack to equalization litigation.’’ Without any
justification, he says that Wesley, ‘‘the most vocal advocate of facilities litiga-
tion,’’ was ‘‘presumably’’ available to represent blacks who did not desire
the integration approach. Although Wesley was a lawyer ‘‘with significant
experience in constitutional litigation,’’ he was a newspaper publisher by
choice. In the late 1930s, when he started to create his chain of papers, he
consciously made himself unavailable for such legal work, except indi-
rectly as an armchair lawyer. In establishing the snc-eeo (and the tncee
on a statewide basis), Wesley hoped to organize a Southwide network of
lawyers committed to a two-line approach, but this never materialized
thanks in large part to the naacp covertly undermining his efforts. Tush-
net is wrong, however, not merely because of fallacious reasoning but on a
factual level as well. He misrepresents the Hearne case as a ‘‘facilities’’ case,
when it was an unsuccessful direct-attack case. He misrepresents Wesley as
solely an advocate of facilities litigation, when he was a better champion of
desegregation than equalization litigation. For reasons he never com-
pletely divulged—perhaps a product of naacp domination of the legal
field in the 1940s but more likely a result of Marshall influencing his
position—Wesley let the snc-eeo and the tncee die a quiet death. He
resigned from the naacp and withdrew to his role as a publisher and
opinion maker. Finally, Tushnet is flatly in error in his argument that ‘‘the
fact that Wesley did not mobilize any communities for facilities cases sug-
gests that he did not speak for a significant portion of the black community
anywhere in the country.’’ Leaving aside his making a straw man out of
Wesley to ‘‘prove’’ that Marshall and the legal whips in New York fully
represented the masses of black folks in the United States, the evidence
shows that Wesley did back the postwar grassroots movement for separate
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equality in public education. Lawsuits did not figure prominently as a
means or an end; rather, the movement sought tangible improvements to
the schools of patient, long-suffering black communities. Wesley did not
start every petition and protest action for separate educational equality,
but the influence of his newspaper chain and his contact with key leaders
can be identified in many equalization struggles across the state.ππ

The upper Gulf Coast oil producing and refining boomtown of Beau-
mont provides a good example of the representativeness of Wesley’s posi-
tion and his role vis-à-vis the spontaneous movement for separate equality
in education. In the bloody summer of 1943, Beaumont, like forty-six other
American cities that year, became a racial battleground.π∫ The scars of the
tragedy were still fresh when the Negro Goodwill Council (ngc) went into
action to increase the opportunity for vocational, adult, and college educa-
tion for blacks. As the city’s white junior college grew (doubling its enroll-
ment in 1946 over the previous year) into Lamar State College of Technol-
ogy, black leaders asked for their Negro equivalent. Boycotts and petition
campaigns in protest of deplorable primary and secondary school condi-
tions already had commenced during World War II. The ngc and other
black groups applied pressure in a variety of ways and contemplated a
facilities equalization suit. One of Beaumont’s school districts attempted to
satisfy blacks in 1947 with the construction of a new, brick high school
known as Charlton-Pollard (named for two local black pioneer educators)
and the George Washington Carver Elementary School. The other district
erected a new building in 1952, Hebert High School, named for a local
black benefactor of education.

The ngc did not compete with the local naacp. Public work in behalf of
social reform or human rights for blacks could scarcely be done in the
name of the naacp in Beaumont, especially in the years immediately after
the riot of 1943. Most whites considered the organization too provocative.
For a southerner to publicly identify herself as a member of the naacp was
to threaten her employment or business dealings with the average white
person in the South. It could also invite white distrust and harassment.
Black leaders created the ngc as a united front of blacks across the spec-
trum of ideologies that had a name that would sound safe and respectable.
The improvements in facilities the ngc wrested from the white power
holders did not produce a dual system that was equal, but it did bring a
change that most blacks hailed as meaningful and considered long over-
due. Wesley’s connection to the spontaneous upsurge in black agitation
came in the person of Aaron Jefferson. A grocer and a charter member of
the Beaumont branch of the naacp when it resurfaced in 1930, Jefferson
also worked as Wesley’s point man for the Informer in the Golden Triangle
area of Beaumont, Port Arthur, and Orange. He gathered the news from



T H E  T E X A S  U N I V E R S I T Y  M O V E M E N T

61

the tricity area, reported it to Wesley, and helped distribute the paper’s
state edition. Through the paper, Wesley circulated information on de-
velopments occurring elsewhere but also gave blacks the chance to read
about their own problems and see themselves as change agents when they
took steps to address those problems. When the ngc sent a delegation to
Austin to meet regarding their educational concerns with Governor Beau-
ford Jester, the event fulfilled the ideas Wesley sought to provide with
an organized structure in the tncee. Beaumont’s black leaders tried to
stall or defeat any bills being passed to upgrade Lamar Union Junior Col-
lege into a four-year state-supported college without some assurance that
blacks, in exchange for their support, would get something in return. John
Gray, president of the junior college, promised the ngc separate facilities,
and a year later a black branch of Lamar ‘‘was instituted at Charlton-
Pollard High School during the evenings.’’ Twenty years behind what
whites had, the school nonetheless gave area blacks a starting point. Wesley
provided the work in Beaumont and in other cities with mass exposure, le-
gitimacy, and critical feedback. Coupled with his support of desegregation,
his separate equality agitation won consistent support as a method of ad-
dressing educational inequality from Beaumont’s black Texans through-
out the 1940s.πΩ

Contrary to Marshall’s view and Tushnet’s shallow defense of the same,
all black Texans did not stand pat for desegregation. Black people in
Beaumont and elsewhere did not struggle for abstract ideas from anyone’s
head but for concrete, material changes in their quality of life. Those who
waded into the troubled waters of the emerging civil rights movement
always had the familiar harbors of interracial conciliation or militant ‘‘do-
for-self’’ race consciousness to which they could return. Marshall knew the
significance of the ideological challenge Wesley posed. Somehow he felt
he had to neutralize the publisher in his own region. Marshall had to
negotiate a complex ideological terrain and win a solid number of black
Texans behind the direction he sought to take the University Movement. It
would be no easy task. Undaunted neither by Wesley nor the cofounder of
the naacp, W. E. B. Du Bois, who was back on the staff of the association as
director of special research, Marshall took on the same attitude as Walter
White, Roy Wilkins, and others in the naacp hierarchy that the association
had a monopoly on certain areas of the budding civil rights struggle. Civil
rights litigation, especially in the realm of Negro education, would be the
exclusive domain of the naacp and its Legal Defense and Educational
Fund, also known as the ldf or Inc. Fund. Marshall would no more allow
black Texans to file school equalization lawsuits outside of the naacp’s
control than he would accept Du Bois’s salary being taken out of the ldf’s
coffers. Nor would he permit the old man’s efforts to organize a Pan-
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African Congress or to press the cause of the colonized world before the
United Nations to overshadow his legal attack on Jim Crow inside the
United States.∫≠

Publicly, Marshall ignored Wesley’s steady stream of editorials against
the ‘‘strutting,’’ limelight-seeking naacp from February to August 1947,
when the Informer carried a front-page editorial titled ‘‘We Query the
naacp.’’∫∞ On 5 September, Marshall struck back at the Texas State Con-
ference of naacp Branches convention at Denison. He answered Wesley’s
editorial with a masterful piece of sarcasm, black folk wit, legal acumen,
historical analysis, American idealism, base propaganda, malignant name-
calling, and outright deceit. In searing language, he suggested that Wesley
and other blacks who accepted the Texas State University for Negroes
(tsun), which the state moved to create in answer to Sweatt’s lawsuit, were
‘‘selling the race down the river.’’ Many blacks could listen to Marshall’s
moving oratory and hope that his ideas would prevail. The next day, how-
ever, they still had to send their children to schools that desperately needed
improvements. Marshall’s complaint that black Texans had been pursuing
separate equality for eighty years and had ‘‘not obtained the semblance of
equality’’ must have rung hollow in their ears. What now would the naacp
have them do? Boycott the monuments to Jim Crow and keep their chil-
dren in ignorance until the naacp and the Supreme Court got white
schools opened to blacks? And if black children were to continue in segre-
gated schools until the naacp changed the law and the law changed social
policy and practice, then what would it hurt to struggle to materially im-
prove those schools now? Marshall contended that equality could only
come within a unitary, integrated school system; any work to improve black
schools would only blunt the point that segregation was ‘‘illegal as well as
immoral.’’∫≤

Wesley responded to Marshall’s Denison address with fury. In reply,
Marshall wrote Louis Martin, the publisher of the Chicago Defender, com-
plaining how, since the Denison address, Wesley had been having ‘‘a field
day in his paper.’’ He also told Martin he had concluded that the time had
come for him ‘‘to quit trying the ‘get along’ ’’ with Wesley. The naacp
special counsel prepared to mount a national attack against the Texas-
based newspaperman.∫≥ On that same day, however, Marshall sent a letter
to Wesley asking him to ‘‘concentrate on constructive criticism rather than
on destructive criticism,’’ noting his immunity to Wesley’s rebuffs since he
had come to develop a ‘‘skin closely resembling that of a walrus.’’ Marshall
also got a little rough with Wesley. Solely because of the naacp’s ‘‘forth-
right attack on segregation,’’ he boasted, ‘‘the whole State of Texas is
scurrying around appropriating millions of dollars’’ all ‘‘in an effort to
counteract the suit.’’ In the meantime, complained Marshall, ‘‘you and
your paper haven’t accomplished a darn thing toward getting a stick of
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wood for a building, a book, or a chair or anything else for the education of
Negroes in Texas. Oh, yes, you say that you are for the Sweatt case. But your
continued diatribe against the lawyers in the Association that are fighting
this case belie your very high sounding statement.’’ Marshall also asked
Wesley to admit that his criticisms of the naacp’s handling of the Hearne

case stemmed from the fact that the people in Hearne chose the naacp
‘‘and not your paper organization to handle their case.’’ Marshall de-
scribed Wesley as crying ‘‘like a baby’’ over the Denison attack and as
having ‘‘the same degree of maturity as a young kid who takes his baseball
and bat away from the game because they won’t let him pitch.’’ He ended
his letter doubtful that Wesley would change his ways but needing ‘‘to
satisfy my own self that I have made every effort to present to you logic and
reason in support of our position.’’∫∂

Marshall’s letter reopened communication with Wesley. After his first
letter and Wesley’s reply, their discourse changed abruptly to a more posi-
tive tone, with Marshall affirming that he was near a point of understanding
the Houstonian. By the end of October, the two men had returned to ad-
dressing each other on a first-name basis and both diligently avoided in-
flammatory rhetoric. Also, Marshall sent the publisher a copy of the brief
the legal staff had prepared to send to the court of civil appeals requesting a
rehearing in the Sweatt case. The only new twist in the renewed correspon-
dence was Wesley’s attempt to harmonize his position with the second sec-
tion of the naacp’s ‘‘new’’ two-line strategy. Marshall argued that in elemen-
tary and secondary school cases the naacp would fight inequality with
lawsuits that made ‘‘the general prayer that the court restrain and enjoin
the defendant school board from denying to the Negro the equal facilities
furnished to the white student.’’∫∑ Marshall delineated two key differences
in this approach from the straight equalization approach. In his procedure,
before blacks would bring suit, they would first attempt to enroll their
children at a white school; and, second, they would make no plea for
equalizing segregated facilities. Wesley interpreted this as precisely his
position: ‘‘I can’t see for the life of me where you really state any distinction
or difference in what you now say is the second section of the naacp
program, and the position I have taken regarding the matter all along.’’∫∏

Wesley did not object to blacks attempting to enter white schools, pro-
vided that the naacp did not make it the prerequisite of all legal action. He
also accepted the Fourteenth Amendment as the foundation of litigation
as long as state statutes demanding ‘‘impartial provision’’ could be invoked
when necessary to get the most out of local school authorities who refused
the option of admitting blacks into the white schools. The differences
could be seen as minor, but from an absolutist standpoint within the post-
war world’s ‘‘rights revolution,’’ an unscalable mountain stood between
Marshall and Wesley.∫π
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The rapprochement that seemed at hand proved elusive. Wesley pub-
lished another ‘‘blast’’ against Marshall and the naacp and distributed
copies to other newspaper editors, namely Louis Martin of the Chicago

Defender and Carl Murphy of the Baltimore Afro-American. Marshall as-
sumed Wesley would not ‘‘write up the naacp’’ while they were engaged
‘‘in an effort to arrive at a clear understanding’’ and rebuild ‘‘mutual
trust.’’ Wesley, however, repudiated the charges of ‘‘bad faith’’ and re-
sumed a combative posture in a letter to Marshall on 11 December. Mar-
shall replied with a final sign-off letter on 16 December, after which the
correspondence between the two men ended. As for Thurgood Marshall
and the naacp, the lines of demarcation between progressive and reac-
tionary black politics had been drawn. Armageddon had commenced, and
one either marched with Uncle Sam or shuffled along with Uncle Tom.
That such rhetoric amounted to utter nonsense did not go unnoticed by
black Texans. The critical consciousness Wesley directed at the naacp and
its all-out war on Jim Crow may have been a secret source of the associa-
tion’s success. By dispelling the illusion of mass acceptance of the new
dogma of the naacp, Wesley may have held back black and white conserva-
tives from a more feral reaction to the association’s challenge to legalized
white supremacy. The articles he published engendered a healthy public
conversation and revealed the complex political interior of the Texas Uni-
versity Movement.∫∫

As for the political interior of the naacp, the Wesley-Marshall fracas of
the late 1940s was a sort of rerun of the 1934 Du Bois–naacp brouhaha
over Du Bois’s January-to-May editorials in the Crisis. David Levering Lewis
has likened Du Bois’s separatist writings that year—articles such as ‘‘Segre-
gation’’ and ‘‘Counsels of Despair’’—both to a ‘‘concussion grenade’’ and
to a ‘‘heuristic exercise’’ that drove the naacp hierarchy with a bit of good
old-fashioned drama to give its founding member the boot as editor-in-
chief of its official organ. Ten years later, he was invited back into the fold,
but by 1948 he again became too much trouble to the naacp of White,
Wilkins, and Marshall, and in September he was no longer director of
special research. Carter Wesley, who always had identified himself as a
disciple of Du Bois and explained that his life membership in the naacp
was paid when it was under the leadership of Du Bois and James Weldon
Johnson, published Du Bois’s explanation of his departure on the front
page of the Informer. ‘‘The naacp,’’ wrote Du Bois, ‘‘has taken no stand nor
laid down any program with regard to Africa. I have repeatedly urged this
since my return but I have neither the help, funds, nor authority to accom-
plish much.’’ On 7 December, less than three months after his ejection
from the naacp, Du Bois came to Houston and spoke at the one-year-old
tsun. The available sources are silent on his visit, but it is easy to imagine
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that the two warriors for democracy and against the hegemonic backward-
ness of the naacp had a good time together.∫Ω

Just as Du Bois carried on the fight, Wesley continued to advocate sepa-
rate equality simultaneous with the fight against racial discrimination. Al-
though he used his newspapers as chief weapons, occasionally he partici-
pated in face-to-face public debates such as one organized in 1949 on the
question: ‘‘Are there any circumstances under which separate but equal
educational facilities should ever be accepted by Negroes?’’ Heman Sweatt
and Arthur Mandell, an activist left-wing white lawyer, took the negative
position. Wesley and the prominent Houston businessman and race leader
Charles A. Shaw argued the affirmative. Sweatt proposed a full-scale boy-
cott of the public school system, a total refusal to use the segregated schools
until state policy makers eradicated the dual system. In response, Wesley
pledged his allegiance to the desegregation cause but countered Sweatt’s
immediatism by asking, ‘‘How will the Negroes produce the Sweatt’s of
tomorrow?’’ Education, he averred, was at once a right, a social process,
and a societal product. Blacks did not have mere citizenship rights to an
equal education; they also, as members of civil society, consumed and
produced education ‘‘for life.’’ If blacks forced their way onto white cam-
puses overnight, would they find the pedagogical, administrative, and col-
legial contexts prepared to educate them? Wesley knew that while some
blacks could successfully manipulate whatever contexts they faced, many
others might not. If Texans woke up the next morning and suddenly found
themselves going to racially integrated schools, in his mind, there would
still be a valid mission for black institutions of higher education. Wesley was
convinced that black schools, with competent, autonomous administration
and improved funding, could make a greater contribution to society than
they had already done in producing Heman Sweatts, J. Mason Brewers,
A. Maceo Smiths, Lulu Whites, and many other Texas ‘‘Race Builders,’’ as
A. W. Jackson called them in his book A Sure Foundation. Neither side ‘‘won’’
the debate. Although a broad segment of black Texans, including Wesley,
genuinely supported Sweatt’s bid to attend the University of Texas, few
took seriously his suggestion of an all-out boycott of segregated schools. A
number of young Texans, however, did join his crusade. Prior to a Supreme
Court decision ordering ut to admit Sweatt, there emerged in Texas a
small but consequential wave of twentieth-century neo-abolitionists.Ω≠



66

chapter three

Lift the Seventy-Five-Year-Old Color Ban and
Raise UT’s Standards

University Students for Democracy before Sweatt

W. Astor Kirk is trying to force an issue. . . . Does this colored man want to
study courses in government and political science, or does he want social
equality with the white students? . . . From one who used to sit out in front of
the Old Main Bldg & pet your beautiful collie, Please don’t change your
mind this year anyway.

—Luciel Decker to ut president, 9 January 1950

Money and numbers are the language of politics, and the Texas naacp
expanded rapidly in both categories with victory in the Smith Democratic
primary case. As never before in its history, the association suddenly be-
came a player in the raucous arena of Texas politics. Statewide in 1945, the
naacp had more than a hundred branches with some 23,000 members. In
Houston, during the late 1930s only a few hundred members paid their
membership dues; but by 1943, the membership roll had soared to 5,679,
and by 1945 it had doubled to over 12,000 members. Propagandists and
organizers like Carter Wesley and Lulu B. White, as well as wartime influ-
ences—of jobs and mass politicization—fueled this growth. In many ways
it was a golden age.∞

Golden ages are only worth their place in time by the extent of social
change accomplished in such eras. The Texas naacp wanted to deal Jim
Crow a mortal blow, but first it had to raise money, and second, it had to
find someone willing to sue the state for practicing caste discrimination.
Carter Wesley helped the naacp address the first need after he collected
over $7,000 for a lawsuit. The question of the right plaintiff for the legal
battle with segregation was the next order of business.≤
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Heman Sweatt, Henry Eman Doyle, and the Rites of Passage

At a gathering of Houston’s best and brightest at the Wesley Chapel
ame Church, a young letter carrier and emerging naacp activist, Heman
Sweatt, listened intently as Houston branch leader Lulu White, a graduate
of Prairie View, asked for a volunteer to file a lawsuit to gain admission to
the University of Texas. A hush fell over the meeting. The other brothers
and sisters present looked strangely at White and then searched the faces
of their peers. No one wanted to be the sacrificial lamb; no one was pre-
pared to endure the hardships such litigation would undoubtedly wreak.
Sweatt finally broke the icy silence. In a soft but certain voice, he stood up
and said he would do it. White was overjoyed and arranged for Sweatt to
meet with naacp attorneys, who assessed that he was a good applicant. It
was high noon at the University of Texas.≥

Sweatt’s bid to enter the University of Texas Law School rejected the ra-
tionale of the Bi-racial Commission on Negro Education in Texas (bcnet)
study, or, at the very least, it indicated that here was a black student who
wanted to attend a law school in his home state so ardently that he was
prepared to be in an unhappy situation to do so. On 26 February 1946, his
application to attend ut was carefully choreographed as part of a meeting
that the Texas State Conference of naacp Branches set up with ut presi-
dent Theophilus Painter. R. A. Hester, president of the Progressive Voters
League of Texas, headed the committee and was joined by his fellow Dallas
citizens Reverend C. D. Knight and Dr. B. E. Howell, together with Hous-
tonians Lulu White, James H. Jemison, C. F. Richardson Jr., and Sweatt; and
St. Philip’s College president Artemisia Bowden, Euretta K. Fairchild, and
Reverend E. J. Wilson of San Antonio. Painter had Vice President J. C.
Dolley, Scott Gaines (ut board of regents attorney for land matters), and
registrar E. J. Matthews on hand for the meeting. Hester opened by asking
what steps Painter had taken to provide blacks with equivalent graduate
and professional school opportunities relative to the twelve-point program
he released to the press on 20 January. Painter reported that virtually no
progress had been made and asked Hester and his group to give him
suggestions. Hester replied: ‘‘We are not here to discuss or try to solve the
race problem. The Negro citizens of Texas are seriously interested and
concerned about provisions for them in the graduate and professional
schools. We want to know what the committee has done. What is available
now. Not tomorrow, next week or next month. We need training for our
returning GIs and our children who must compete with others in their own
state for jobs with inferior education.’’∂ The committee did, however, rec-
ommend to Painter that Prairie View be severed from the control of Texas
A&M and be upgraded to a status equal to its white counterpart. Second, it
called for a black graduate and professional school to be created at a large
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urban area. When the university officials hedged, citing the lack of funds,
White reminded them of the more than $10 million in additional appropri-
ations coming to ut and Texas A&M and suggested that the state should
use that money instead to institute a black graduate and professional
school center. Matthews sarcastically questioned White: ‘‘What would you
have us do, close down the white schools for a year?’’ White answered him,
‘‘That would not be a bad idea. It would give us an opportunity to catch up
with you in training.’’∑ Painter then shifted the discussion to the prospect of
making some kind of a start by the coming fall semester. Hester then tossed
the ball to Sweatt, and on cue he sent the meeting into an entirely different
direction.

With all the courteousness of a southern gentleman, the thirty-three-
year-old, bespectacled Sweatt asked for permission to speak. He asserted
that he had a right to legal training and the state had the duty and the
money to see to it that he got such training. Taking tuition assistance to go
to a law school outside of Texas and waiting for some unspecified time
when the state of Texas would erect a black law school was unacceptable.
He pulled out a transcript from Wiley College, from which he had gradu-
ated in 1934, and asked to be admitted to the ut law school. Painter had a
ticking time bomb in the ut tower, but he took it calmly. He acknowledged
Sweatt’s request and said he would seek a ruling from Texas attorney
general Grover Sellers as to what the law required. He doubted, however,
that Sweatt would be admitted because the university was bound by the
laws of Texas requiring the separation of the races. Matthews reacted by
professing his love for black folks and that he held no more ‘‘than the
normal amount of prejudice against Negroes.’’ In the spirit of love, he
warned Sweatt that he would roll back great strides that the state govern-
ment had undertaken to advance black higher education.∏

Matthews was trying to intimidate the wrong group of Negroes. It did
not see Prairie View’s name change as anything substantive. Moreover, the
state’s announcement on 1 June 1945 that Prairie View would some day
offer courses of study in law, medicine, engineering, pharmacy, journal-
ism, and other professional fields did nothing to satisfy the immediate
demand for legal instruction that Sweatt presented. Whites like Matthews
and Painter, on the other hand, did not like Negroes telling them to hurry
up. A very real potential existed for state government officials to halt all
efforts to improve black higher education if they perceived that blacks
would refuse to attend the segregated graduate and professional programs
they proposed to establish. Matthews was not making an idle threat. The
ut meeting amounted to a notification of white authorities of black Tex-
ans’ preparedness to take legal action.

Notwithstanding the threat of litigation, the new wave of black assertive-
ness, and the democratic and antiracist rhetoric of the recently ended war,
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ut officials found no difficulty in refusing Sweatt admission solely on the
basis of race. Painter wrote Attorney General Sellers that Sweatt was ‘‘duly
qualified [for admission to the ut School of Law] . . . except for the fact
that he is a Negro,’’ and asked for his opinion. Sellers stated on 16 March
that Sweatt must not be admitted to ut but that a single instructor in law at
Prairie View would answer his demand of equal educational opportunity.π
Painter complied with the opinion, and by June he found himself in the
126th District Court in Austin on charges that he had violated Sweatt’s
constitutionally protected civil rights. The Texas A&M board of regents
proffered that it would create a law school for blacks at once; consequently,
Judge Roy Archer ruled against Sweatt. A&M fulfilled its claim with a
makeshift solution. It hired two black lawyers to hold classes in their own
offices in Houston and call it a law school. No blacks dignified the cracker-
jack facility with as much as an application.∫ The Texas legislature next
began to work out the transformation of the twenty-year-old Houston Col-
lege for Negroes into the Texas State University for Negroes, but in the
meantime it enlisted law professors at ut to establish a better makeshift
arrangement than what the Aggies had proposed. Professors, the most
junior in rank, would hold class in the basement of a building south of
the ut campus on Thirteenth Street, a block from the state capitol. On
10 March 1947, when the teachers appeared for class, they found no black
students present. In September, however, Henry Eman Doyle became its
first Jim Crow enrollee.Ω

Dean McCormick of the ut School of Law expected Doyle in the spring
term, but mysteriously he did not show up. After calling him to a meeting to
ask if he had been intimidated from attending the makeshift law school,
Doyle had to assure his white interrogators that only business matters had
kept him away. For black Texans, Doyle and Sweatt thus became the physical
embodiment of the terms of a critically important political and theoretical
debate. Within the black community Sweatt and Doyle both could be re-
spected. Each embraced the time-honored black value of self-improvement
through education. Each man wanted to study law. Black institutions like
Howard University had produced great lawyers like Thurgood Marshall,
just as white institutions like Harvard University had produced great law-
yers like Marshall’s teacher, Charles H. Houston. Likewise, both schools
produced their share of not-so-great lawyers. The East Thirteenth Street law
school of Texas State University for Negroes was undoubtedly no Howard or
Harvard, but it could be seen as a start. In spite of the deficiencies of his
school, Doyle might still make a good lawyer. Sweatt, on the other hand,
might attend a better school and not become as good a lawyer as Doyle.
Both men received both admiration and criticism in black communities
across the state.

The public debate, however, transported the contemplation of educa-
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tional values to a political level. On this terrain, Doyle and Sweatt could be
represented as racial villains and traitors, as well as saints and heroes.
Setting up the ideological terrain of the debate over equalization versus
desegregation, the Houston Defender on 9 March 1946 quoted John W.
Davis, president of West Virginia State College: ‘‘Negro education postu-
lates doctrines of minimization of personality, social and economic medi-
ocrity, and second class citizenship. The remaining task for it is to die. The
aim of all segregated institutions should be to work themselves out of a
job.’’∞≠ Inflammatory statements of this kind increased in the mid-1940s,
invoking a mish-mash of theories and research from the social sciences in
an effort to demonize black schools as inherently inferior and breeding
grounds of mediocrity. By this mode of representation, Sweatt appeared as
a sort of messiah while Doyle’s attendance at a segregated institution con-
stituted an act of self-negation, Samboism, and complicity in his own psy-
chosocial subordination. Beneath the mythic images, however, Doyle ap-
peared as a climber, an oppressed man of African descent, trying to get out
of the bucket of despair and powerlessness through the system of educa-
tion available to him. He graduated from Anderson High School and
Samuel Huston College in Austin and then worked as a teacher, a principal
at an elementary school, and an instructor at his collegiate alma mater. He
took a summer course at Columbia University, studied law through the Ex-
tension School at La Salle University, and broadened his horizons through
travel, such as a trip to Europe to the Boy Scout World Jamboree as scout-
master of an Austin troop. He also ran a grocery store but sold it to enter
the ‘‘makeshift’’ law school.

Doyle explained his feelings about being the sole student at the Texas
State University for Negroes law school to a reporter for the ut student
newspaper: ‘‘It’s just like having a steaming plate of chicken on a box in the
back yard. I’d rather have it in the house here, but chicken is chicken, and
it’s better in the back yard than not at all.’’ He was reported to have been
‘‘well satisfied’’ with the school’s one-to-five student-teacher ratio but that
he looked ‘‘forward to the day when segregation will be a thing of the
past.’’ In regard to Sweatt’s decision to boycott the basement law school,
Doyle pleaded for his personal freedom to choose a different course. His
situation offers a striking contrast to a momentous event that would take
place almost a decade later involving Rosa Parks and blacks in the capitol
city of another southern state. ‘‘If I filed suit against the Austin Transit
Company because they would not permit me to sit in a seat designated for
white people,’’ he remarked, ‘‘I couldn’t very well expect all my friends to
stop riding the buses here until the case was settled.’’ Sweatt, Marshall,
Lulu White, and other ‘‘true believers’’ did expect such a response. Such a
united black stance, however, never came to be. The very idea of desegre-
gating the South through the method of public litigation, let alone the
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tactic of an all-out boycott, was so novel that the ordinary Texan simply did
not feel obliged to disrupt her or his life—albeit a Jim Crow life—for what
seemed a futile protest.∞∞

Years later, as Attorney Doyle, the man who would eat his fried chicken
on a box in the back yard if those were the terms white supremacy decreed,
surprised those who thought he was a docile, ‘‘resigned’’ Negro when he
brought suit on behalf of Attorney A. W. Plummer to desegregate the cafe-
teria at the Harris County Courthouse. He secured a desegregation order
from a federal judge, but on 12 April 1956, a ‘‘scuffle broke out’’ when
Plummer, two other attorneys (Francis Williams and Robert D. Ford), In-

former reporter Nina McGowan, and Lillie Marie Alonzo tried to eat their
chicken dinners inside the cafeteria. Doyle represented the group in the
proceedings that followed and also shored up his pro-integration creden-
tials when he and two other Houston attorneys on 26 December 1956 filed
the lawsuit that eventually led to the token desegregation of the Houston
city schools, the largest Jim Crow school system in the United States.∞≤

Texans may not have been willing to boycott the state’s dual system, but a
brave handful was ready to cross the color line and demonstrate that Sweatt
was not a lone star. Only smatterings of information are available about
some of the students who sought admission to schools that prohibited
them from attending solely on the grounds of race. A year after Sweatt
applied to ut, Ben Davis wrote President Painter, identifying himself as a
‘‘Negro Student’’ who wanted a medical education but could not afford to
leave the state to study. He indicated that he did not ‘‘desire any publicity’’
but that he and more than thirty other youths that he knew of shared the
common problem of being long on will and an ability to learn but short on
opportunity. Dr. A. Julian Lee, chair of the biology department at Samuel
Huston College, had administered to them the Carnegie Medical aptitude
test and the graduate record examination, and he and his colleagues had
their scores and their transcripts in hand. All they needed was a medical
school in their home state to which to apply. Painter answered: ‘‘I am
writing to tell you what you probably already know’’: that the Texas Senate
had approved Governor Beauford Jester’s choices for the board of direc-
tors for the tsun and that, by law, the problem of graduate and professional
education for blacks rested in their hands. He asked Davis to direct his
inquiries to the chairman of the board, Craig F. Cullinan. Davis and his
peers would, however, find no answers with the tsun board.∞≥

James Hemanway ‘‘Little Doc’’ Morton behind the Scenes

Samuel Huston College students—with the encouragement and guidance
of James Hemanway Morton, their chemistry professor and president of
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the Austin naacp branch after 1945—kept the pressure on ut and finally
provided from their ranks the student who would make the first crack in
the wall of segregation in Texas higher education. That student was Her-
man A. Barnett, and his appointment with destiny came in 1949. Morton
taught Barnett more than the wonders of atoms, molecules, and the peri-
odic table; he gave him valuable lessons in self-pride, black unity, and
organizing for social change. ‘‘Little Doc’’ Morton never became the physi-
cian he dreamed of becoming as a boy growing up in Owensville, Indiana,
in the first decades of the twentieth century. He graduated from Indiana
University in 1927 and straight away started searching for employment to
support his family. His search brought him to Wiley College in Marshall,
Texas. The crushing weight of the Great Depression dried up whatever
lingering ideas he harbored of going to medical school. He did, however,
obtain a master’s degree at the University of Chicago in 1935. In the late
1930s, he stepped onto the political scene, first in Marshall and Harrison
County.

Starting with his fraternity, Kappa Alpha Psi, Morton went to churches
and public events and talked to folks. Before long, he had helped to stir up
area youth and sparked a movement. Rallies attracted ‘‘hordes of young
males and females [who] swarmed the [Wiley] campus listening to student
leaders sound off on literally every subject from the chains of slavery to the
naacp Freedom Movement.’’ He left his ebony tower in the summer of
1944 and traveled across Texas as the state organizer for the Texas Progres-
sive Voters League agitating for blacks to pay their poll tax and vote for
their interests. By the fall, his political savvy landed him an appointment as
an examiner for the Tenth District of the Fair Employment Practices Com-
mission, but in his official work of investigating a complaint against a
pipeline company in Harvey, Louisiana, it was his streetwise savvy that
helped him escape a trip to the hospital or the morgue. After that inci-
dent, he settled in Austin and embarked on a distinguished career as a
citizen-scholar. He expressed his civic work through his leadership of the
Austin naacp branch and his academic work through his involvement with
the National Committee on Atomic Energy, numerous honorary and pro-
fessional societies, and, most important, in the lives of the students he
helped shape. Three of those students became Texas’s frontline chal-
lengers to racist policies in higher education: Heman Sweatt and W. Astor
Kirk, whom Morton knew from his tenure at Wiley, and Herman Barnett,
his star pupil at Samuel Huston College.∞∂

The Texas University Movement entered a new phase after Governor
Jester signed the Stewart-Moffett Bill into law, which created tsun on
3 March 1947. On paper it fulfilled the original goal of the Texas University
Movement: the creation of the constitutional university for blacks that
would be the equivalent of the white university in Austin. Jester’s enact-
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ment of the Stewart-Moffett Bill marked a point of climax for a struggle that
had its roots in Reconstruction Texas and galvanized as a social movement
in the New Deal era and wartime era of black militancy of the early 1940s.
The black ut arrived too late; however, a new tact had already emerged.
The naacp, and its point man, Heman Sweatt, had redirected the Univer-
sity Movement toward the abolition of segregation in higher education,
with a particular focus on the state’s one bona fide law school. A new
beginning in the movement called for new fronts in the head-to-head fight
against segregation, and Austin was the natural site for the first challenges.

Kirk, Givens, and a March in Austin

Dallas and Houston were without question the hubs of intellectual, mate-
rial, informational, and economical resources that powered the Texas Uni-
versity Movement. When black Texans launched the Sweatt case, naacp
organizational work in Austin languished. In April 1946, naacp state orga-
nizer Juanita Craft, whose organizational skills perhaps surpassed those of
Lulu White and A. Maceo Smith, announced to Crisis editor Roy Wilkins
that under her direction the Austin branch had started a process of revival.
She informed him that the Tillotson College chapter was ‘‘doing a nice
job’’ of revitalizing and that the Samuel Huston College chapter had been
‘‘revamped.’’ These student members worked together with the city’s
‘‘adult body,’’ which had officers that Craft dubbed ‘‘unfinancial.’’ On the
strength of the Sweatt case, she predicted she would be able to organize a
large branch in short order. She noted, as well, that she had interviewed a
committee of white students from the University of Texas and that they
promised to bring at least one hundred persons to the mass meeting on
the Sweatt case, planned for 5 May.

By the end of the year, Austin had a viable naacp branch with James
Morton as its president. Under his leadership, supported by Craft, the
branch established several committees, including one for legal redress
and another for lobbying the Texas legislature. The executive committee
picked Arthur DeWitty, a local community activist and the Austin editor of
the Houston Informer, to serve as its chief lobbyist at the capitol. The com-
mittee also gave a group of law students at ut consideration, but ‘‘there was
not much favorable opinion expressed in regard to this resource.’’∞∑ Al-
though hailed initially as a great triumph, the involvement of ut students
in the naacp’s all-out war against segregation also gave Morton and other
naacp leaders more than a few headaches. No sooner had almost twenty
campus organizations come together to form a ut chapter of the associa-
tion than it became embroiled in a political battle between liberals, social-
ists, and communists. Despite its internal contradictions, the group did
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raise funds and consciousness and could be counted on to organize cred-
ible numbers of whites to mass meetings and protest marches. Moreover,
some of the student leaders had good relations with prominent liberal
faculty and staff members. However, the successful effort of certain white
leaders to obtain a special charter making the campus formation autono-
mous of the local adult branch and the state conference of branches irked
veteran leaders of the Texas University Movement.∞∏

W. Astor Kirk, a professor of political science at Tillotson College, pro-
vided another Austin-based challenge to segregation in Texas higher edu-
cation. He was a recent addition to the faculty of the college when he put
himself forward as a candidate for a companion suit to Sweatt’s in 1947. As
a former student of Morton’s, he graduated magna cum laude from Wiley
College in December 1946 and went on to earn a master’s degree in
political science in June 1947 at Howard University. The young professor
eagerly desired to obtain his terminal degree, especially if he could do so
in his native state, where he had already started his teaching career and
planted residential and social roots. He applied by mail to ut on 5 Decem-
ber 1947. Painter answered him on 21 January 1948 that the same ut
faculty members ‘‘who now give graduate work to students in The Univer-
sity of Texas will be available for your instruction’’ at the Negro Law School
where Doyle and his two other classmates matriculated. Kirk, uninterested
in joining the three-student makeshift school, enlisted Morton’s help in
putting his case before A. Maceo Smith and the Texas State Conference of
naacp Branches.

Smith found ‘‘the merits of the application [of Kirk to be] convincing,’’
but it seldom took much to convince Smith, as long as others had to do the
work.∞π He called upon the Austin branch financially to sponsor the case
through 1948, when the state conference could include it in its budget.
Marshall also agreed that the case should be filed, but attorney W. J. Dur-
ham demurred. He prepared and filed the complaint, investigated all the
facts of the case, and turned the matter over to Ulysses S. Tate upon his
taking office as naacp’s regional attorney. Durham advised against filing
the case from the start, but Marshall, who interviewed Kirk personally,
overruled him. The resident counsel complained that the case had at-
tracted their support for ‘‘publicity’’ reasons rather than based on its stra-
tegic merits to the University Movement as a whole. He argued that it
would be ‘‘very easy for the University of Texas to set up a school covering
the courses Mr. Kirk wanted. But I am here to follow instructions.’’∞∫

Durham’s opinion proved accurate since very little ever came of the
case. Kirk rejected classes at the Thirteenth Street Basement School, and
since tsun had no doctoral degree to offer him in his field, he requested
regular admission to ut. In March 1948 he filed suit in the Travis County
District Court, but by mutual consent the attorneys postponed the case
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pending a final ruling in Sweatt v. Painter. Kirk’s aborted case thus won
nothing for the desegregation cause, except, perhaps, a small bit in the war
for additional public support. It did, however, thrust Kirk into the lime-
light and instantly made him a player in Texas’s fledgling civil rights move-
ment. Many other blacks as well as whites filed applications contrary to the
state universities’ race-based admission policies between 1947 and 1950.
The Texas University Movement embraced such actions (with the excep-
tion of Everett Givens’s separate equality suit after ut refused to provide
him with a refresher course in dentistry), but not every applicant desired
the adulation and the censure Sweatt and Kirk took on.∞Ω

Austin continued as a key pressure point for the Texas civil rights strug-
gle and the University Movement in still another way. Movement leaders
reasoned that a bolder, more dramatic initiative had to occur to keep alive
hope in Sweatt’s drawn out legal battle. On 18 February 1949, the ‘‘Presi-
dent and moving spirit’’ of the Texas Council of Negro Organizations, Dr.
Joseph J. Rhoads of Bishop College, called together the leaders of thirty-
one statewide organizations. He charged the group with the task of draft-
ing a ‘‘program of action for an attack on discrimination and segregation in
the state from every conceivable angle.’’≤≠ He also brought word that stu-
dents at Bishop and Wiley in Marshall had suggested and stood ready to
execute a new tactic: a mass demonstration at ut and the state capitol.
Morton, chair of the tcno’s lobbying committee, knew he could interest
some seniors at Samuel Huston College and that Kirk could do the same at
Tillotson. naacp brass A. Maceo Smith, secretary of the State Conference
of Branches; U. S. Tate, southwestern regional counsel; and Donald Jones,
regional naacp field secretary, agreed that such an action would provide a
needed boost in the drive to open ut to black students. The naacp, no
stranger to marches, endorsed the action. It would be the first time black
students attempted collectively to apply to a white university or stage a
demonstration at a state capitol. Over the next three months, students and
state leaders finalized plans for the Austin demonstration and brought on
board students from Jarvis Christian College. They set the date for 27 April.
A week beforehand, the Houston branch of the naacp informed the Asso-
ciated Press that thirty-seven blacks would attempt to enroll in three dif-
ferent branches of the University of Texas: the graduate school in Austin,
the dental school in Houston, and the medical school in Galveston. In
Austin, Morton was elusive when a reporter from ut’s Daily Texan asked
him about whether a large group of black students would march on the
Forty Acres. ‘‘There will possibly be someone on the campus Wednesday,’’
Morton stated, ‘‘but I don’t know for sure.’’≤∞

When the appointed day came, there was more than someone. A reporter
from the Austin Statesman, a bevy of photographers, and white student
supporters met some three dozen blacks described as ‘‘quiet’’ and ‘‘well-
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dressed.’’ The students and their naacp organizers, advisers, and lawyers
converged on the campus of Tillotson College and met in a closed session
before boarding a bus that took them to ut. Virginia Forbes of the States-

man noted their arrival at the Littlefield Fountain and their orderly march,
two abreast, up the South Mall ‘‘past statues of Robert E. Lee and Jefferson
Davis to the Main Building.’’ Their procession ended at the office of admis-
sions in the Main Building. As the students spilled into the room from the
corridor, Kirk approached Max Fichtenbaum, assistant registrar, saying,
‘‘We have some students here from senior colleges who would like to make
application for graduate work.’’ Fichtenbaum answered that they had
come to the wrong place and should instead file their applications in
Houston at Texas State University for Negroes. ‘‘That’s the law in Texas,’’
he added. Attorney Tate queried the office worker further asking him to
give the students application blanks and to note that they wished to do
work at the medical and dental schools. Fichtenbaum stood his ground,
repeating that whether ut provides the courses or not the students would
still have to file their applications at tsun. With that, the group marched
out of the building and off the campus as quietly as they came.≤≤

The students’ actions spoke louder than words, but their placards also
carried their message in words. Some of their posters read: ‘‘Lift the 75-
year-old color ban and raise the standards of the University of Texas’’;
‘‘Regional Education is Unconstitutional’’; and ‘‘ ‘Separate and Equal’ Ed-
ucation is Mockery.’’ Other signs had lengthy comments on the connec-
tions between their action and struggles in Tennessee and elsewhere in the
South, on the inability of a ‘‘modern state’’ to ‘‘long endure’’ under condi-
tions of segregated higher education, on how the dual system of graduate
and professional education was too expensive for Texas, and on how it
would take the state another hundred years to build a comparable univer-
sity for blacks. White student supporters carried placards saying ‘‘Civil
Rights are Everyone’s Rights’’ and others demanding equal educational
opportunities, equal job opportunities, and equal justice in the courts.

After a brief lunch at Tillotson, the delegation resumed its march, with
placards in hand, to the state capitol. Some seventy-five picketers silently
filled part of the gallery overlooking the state senate pit. As they held their
posters, cameras clicked, bulbs flashed, and the tempers of certain sena-
tors exploded. The sergeant-at-arms on duty approached the picketing
students and told them they would have to stack their signs outside the
senate gallery. W. Astor Kirk answered, ‘‘We’ll follow your rules, of course.’’
Kirk may have known very well that it was against the rules to display
posters inside the gallery beforehand. Forbes reported in an article in the
evening edition of the Statesman, written before the action at the capitol,
that ‘‘there was an indication that the group might picket the Capital [sic].
The attorney general’s office was approached earlier this week by Negro
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Students from across the state staged a historic march for equal educational opportunity on
the University of Texas campus and at the Texas state capitol in Austin on 27 April 1949 to
show that Sweatt’s fight had broad support (Center for American History, University of
Texas, Austin, CN No. 01466).

leaders seeking information on state picketing laws.’’ It is doubtful Kirk
and the naacp organizers made an innocent mistake. From start to finish,
the naacp and the students intended that the Austin action would be as
strong and visible a statement as they could possibly make.≤≥

The protest visit to the capitol received no official recognition from
either the senate or the house. Governor Jester did, however, permit nine
representatives of the picketers to come into his office for an informal
audience. He also allowed the entourage of photographers and reporters
inside. With his large, oblong desk acting as a barrier between him and his
Negro visitors, Jester sat and explained that he had sympathy for their plea
for better educational facilities for their race and that he wanted to hear
their concerns. Students David Williams and Sheffield Quarles acted as
spokespersons for the group. Wearing a white suit with a polka-dot tie and
with one hand in his jacket pocket, Williams stepped up and put his fist to
rest on the governor’s desk. He ‘‘told the governor that Negroes [were]
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not looking for sympathy, but as citizens of the U.S. and as native Texans
[were] ask[ing for] what [was] rightfully theirs.’’ They called attention to a
petition, left at the governor’s office earlier in the day, that indicated that
they represented from 300 to 1,000 seniors in accredited colleges for
Negroes who sought to ‘‘extend their preparation for profession [sic] ser-
vice to their under-privileged race.’’ Jester assured the group that he would
turn their letter over to the proper authorities and took the opportunity to
tell them some of the steps he had taken to build separate-but-equal facili-
ties for them. Quarles and Williams objected that the creation of new
institutions set aside for blacks exclusively could never furnish a true solu-
tion because of the problem of a ‘‘time lag.’’

Jester retorted that ‘‘time is not the whole answer’’ and advised the
group that its time was up. Jester’s encounter with the black college stu-
dents did nothing to alter his course from support of the southern gover-
nor’s regional compact for graduate and professional education of blacks
up to his last days in office. On 11 July 1949, five days after the Texas
legislature ended the longest session in its history, Jester died of a heart
attack. The hand that signed into law measures that revamped the funding
and administration of the state’s school system (the Gilmer-Aiken laws)
approved laws modernizing the state prison system, enacted an antilynch-
ing law, created the Board for Texas State Hospitals and Special Schools,
and accepted the first biennial budget that reached a billion dollars lay
stilled. But despite these momentous changes, the problems of black
higher education remained.

The new chief executive of the state, the erstwhile Lieutenant Governor
Allan Shivers, soon would prove to be a formidable enemy of the agenda of
the Texas University Movement, as well as the larger civil rights cause of the
black freedom struggle. In comparison, Jester would seem less conserva-
tive than his successor, but such an assessment must be scrutinized against
the fact that he faced a civil rights movement in its infancy as it had just
begun to cohere and assert a new politics centered on integration. If Jester
had lived to face the challenges Shivers did, or if he better understood the
young men and women like Quarles, Williams, and Kirk that addressed
him in his office, he may have reacted as bitterly to civil rights advocates
that came to his office door as Shivers later did.≤∂

Besides sending a signal to Jester, Shivers, and the 51st Legislature, the
graduate and professional school applications filed in April of 1949 had
one unusual outcome. Herman A. Barnett became the first person of color
to be voluntarily admitted to the University of Texas Medical Branch at
Galveston. This turn of events resulted from at least two factors. First, the
hierarchy at ut had weakened its resolve to maintain racial purity at all
costs. Efforts to launch a black medical school in Houston were going
nowhere, and no educator worthy of the name could pretend otherwise.
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Second, Barnett was a student who demanded a medical education in his
native state, and he held qualifications outstanding not for a Negro but
across the board. In May, Jester put it to the ut board of regents that if
tsun did not have a medical school ready by 1 September, the medical
branch for whites at Galveston would have to admit ‘‘Negro students with
proper scholastic averages.’’ ut admitted Barnett in the fall of 1949, but in
a last-ditch measure to preserve segregation, he was formally listed as a
tsun student and told that his degree would bear the name Texas State
University for Negroes Medical Branch.≤∑

Herman Barnett and the Contract Experiment

On 18 August 1949, Herman Barnett received a reply to his application to
the University of Texas Medical Branch (utmb) at Galveston. President
Painter informed him that the Committee of Admissions had evaluated his
records and determined that he was ‘‘well qualified to enter a medical
school and have met all the technical requirements.’’ The biologist-turned-
university-president told the twenty-one-year-old veteran of the Second
World War that he had informed the officials of Texas State University for
Negroes of the findings of the ut Admissions Committee and then vaguely
indicated to Barnett that he could apply at tsun but would receive his
medical training at ‘‘an existing medical school in the State . . . until such
time as they [tsun] can recruit a staff, equip the school and begin opera-
tion on their own.’’ Why Painter could not say directly what he meant
typifies the dissembling and disingenuous nature of a racist mind. The
‘‘existing medical school in the State’’ to which he referred was the same
one Barnett applied to and no other. He said tsun was ‘‘now making’’ an
‘‘arrangement’’ with a medical school, which state officials had established
more than a year before.≤∏

In the fall of 1947, when tsun first began operation, the board of
directors of the new school and the board of regents of ut launched a
collaborative effort to settle the problem of equalization of educational
opportunity at the graduate and professional levels. Their collaboration
resulted in contracts, the first of which they signed and dated 24 January
1948. The chair of the tsun board, Craig F. Cullinan, and the chair of the
ut board, D. K. Woodward Jr., agreed that ut would, where possible, fur-
nish graduate instruction on a segregated basis to qualified black students
who registered at tsun for graduate courses not available there. The con-
tract period extended from 2 February to 31 August 1948; but university
officials subsequently renewed the contract for additional terms. Thus, in
1949, when Painter wrote Barnett, tsun and ut had in place a contractual
agreement; the basic infrastructure of a partnership between the two
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Herman Barnett, the first black Texan to enter and graduate from the University
of Texas Medical Branch, also became the first African American to serve on the
Texas State Board of Medical Examiners, as well as to be elected president of
the board of trustees of the Houston Independent School District. He is also
memorialized in the distinguished professorship utmb established in his name in
1997 (Blocker History of Medicine Collections, Moody Medical Library,
University of Texas at Austin).
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schools for the expressed purpose of avoiding the full-blown desegrega-
tion of the state’s graduate and professional programs already existed.

Despite the actions of the Austin administration, the medical branch at
Galveston jealously protected its autonomy from the main campus and
would not willingly submit to being a guinea pig simply because Painter
said it should. Although the plan to admit Barnett was a bitter pill to
swallow, ultimately the medical school accepted it. Why they made the
decision to do so remains a bit of a mystery, but utmb’s prior involvement
in the problem of medical education for blacks suggests that the Galveston
campus got pulled into the vortex of segregationists in Austin trying des-
perately to maintain a dying system.

In 1946, Painter broached the idea of a black medical school being
opened in Houston and asked officials at the Galveston campus to help
him work out the details of a plan that he could present to the regents and
the state legislature. Vice President Chauncey Depew Leake, utmb’s chief
executive officer, sent Painter his estimate of the cost of turning Houston
Negro Hospital into a medical school. Leake figured that to attach a medi-
cal school to the hospital would require a minimum of $154,000, not
including the cost of the actual operation of the hospital. The hospital, the
first establishment of its kind in the city when it opened on 19 June 1926,
had benefited from a magnanimous donation of $80,000 from Joseph
Stephen Cullinan, Texaco founder and father of tsun board chairman
Craig Cullinan.≤π

Leake emphasized that ‘‘the costs of medical education are greater than
any other form of university effort’’ and would become more expensive ‘‘as
standards continue to improve.’’ Maintaining segregation at the medical
school level would allow no quick, makeshift solution and would not be
cheap.≤∫ Nevertheless, in the summer of 1949 the Fifty-first Legislature
appropriated $175,000 for the creation of a Negro Medical School and put
the problem in the hands of tsun’s board of directors. On 13 July, Chair-
man Craig Cullinan wrote Painter a sarcastic letter quoting from a resolu-
tion the tsun board had passed the night before. The resolution cited that
‘‘our information is that [Painter] has advised the Legislature that we could
satisfactorily operate a Medical School the first year of the biennium for
that amount of money[;] we desire information from him as to the details
of how it can be done between now and the opening of the school year on
September 1, 1949, with that amount of money, since we do not have any
equipment or qualified teaching personnel.’’≤Ω Painter postured before the
state legislature as the wizard with a crystal ball and magic wand who, in an
instant, could transform the base metal of a historically neglected system of
public higher education for Negroes into a golden treasure substantially
equal to the university system over which he presided. He bumbled into the
role of grand warlock over the dual higher education system because he
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wanted to assure that the legislature would take no steps that might im-
pinge on ut’s reputation or appropriations. Having witnessed the dump-
ing of his predecessor, Homer Rainey, he understood the fatal effect of
neglecting the wishes of his superiors—the regents and state government
officials—and essentially became their number one yes-man. However,
when Painter’s actions affected tsun, he put the board members of the
black college on the spot.≥≠

Cullinan did not appreciate decisions that would place additional bur-
dens on tsun without a commensurate amount of financial and technical
support. He invited Painter to meet with his board or send the details in
writing of how a bona fide Negro medical school could be set up in a
month and a half. He also noted that information had reached his board
‘‘that the University of Texas will have at least one qualified applicant for
admission to your Medical School.’’ It is amazing that Cullinan had this
information only a month after Barnett submitted his application and
before Barnett received notification of admission. Perhaps Cullinan had
the better crystal ball after all.≥∞

Herman Barnett, the man in the middle of the orbs of both Cullinan
and Painter, apparently had some powerful magic of his own. He grew up
in Lockhart, Texas, where his preparation for life had few, if any, lessons
about the ending of the social degradation of blacks. Instead he lived, ate,
prayed, played, perhaps everything but dreamed, in a black-and-white,
caste-bound context. The young, gifted, and black Texan dreamed of fly-
ing airplanes, of being a fighter pilot. With few black aviators to model
himself after, still he dreamed. As Barnett watched the Second World War
engulf the United States, he reasoned that if he had to serve in its defense
he would try to do so as much on his terms as possible. Then news that the
U.S. military had begun training select blacks at the Tuskegee Institute to
become airmen gave him an opportunity he had to seize.≥≤

Straight out of high school, Barnett presented himself for the required
tests. Fortunately, his short and lean stature did not become a liability. The
air force demanded brains more so than brawn. Although many of the
men Barnett competed against already had graduated or at least attended
college, his excellent scores on the qualifying exams secured him a place at
the world’s only training school exclusively for black pilots. Barnett soon
discovered that getting into the cadet school represented the least of his
difficulties; staying in and completing the training to become a pilot would
be the real test. Enemies of the Tuskegee airman experiment in the mili-
tary and political milieu did not want to see any African Americans trained
as pilots. He persevered, however, and even managed to have some fun; in
the process, he acquired a reputation for ‘‘buzzing’’ the all-female campus
of Spelman College in Atlanta, Georgia. Although the air force forbade it
and college officials did not like it, a Tuskegee airman flying at low altitude
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over the campus thrilled the students. The Black Eagles became instant
celebrities. Among their own folk they were seen as the crème de la crème
of the U.S. military.≥≥

As much as Barnett may have wished to remain an aviator, when the war
ended so did all hope of being a professional pilot. The Tuskegee experi-
ence endowed him with greater confidence and an even keener sense of
ambition. Nevertheless, he decided the time had come to move on from
army life. One of his instructors described him as a ‘‘natural born flyer, but
no soldier.’’ The young prodigy had a problem with following orders.
Thus, he mustered out to his native state still a teenager with the rest of his
life before him. Barnett enrolled in Samuel Huston College in Austin, a
good school and the closest one to his family home in Lockhart.≥∂

With a genius for science and math, Barnett quickly adopted J. H. Mor-
ton as his tutor and mentor. Likewise, Morton took to his young prodigy
and, in time, harbored the hope that he might become his son-in-law. He
even may have projected onto Barnett the medical career he dreamed of
but never realized. In Austin, Barnett, who lived in the home of a local
minister and his wife, found himself vigorously pursuing his studies in a
time when his peers and teachers, like Morton, grew increasingly impatient
with the strictures of a segregated society. As Barnett neared completion of
his work at Huston, the desegregation movement informed him that Texas
needed him to strike down segregation at utmb. Like Sweatt, he would
refuse to attend a hurriedly created makeshift medical school, and this
pleased all-or-nothing integrationists in the University Movement. Barnett
agreed to become the next court challenge. The only problem he had is
that he did not want to have to wait three years or more for a lawsuit to work
its way up to the Supreme Court, as was the case with Sweatt. Also, he had no
money to hire attorneys. Carter Wesley, the Sweatt Victory Fund, and the
Lone Star State Medical and Pharmaceutical Association, a professional
association of black doctors and pharmacists, pledged to raise money for
Barnett to file suit if utmb denied him admission on account of race. Dr.
J. L. Dickey, president of the Lone Star State Medical Association, stated the
case plainly: ‘‘We are tired of going a thousand miles to a medical school; we
ought to go in Texas, and I don’t mean to a segregated medical school, but
to the one already operating in the state.’’ Stepping in high cotton with the
state’s brightest, wealthiest, and most highfalutin Negroes, Barnett decided
to be their test case. He participated with his peers in the protest action on
the ut campus and at the state legislature on 27 April, hoping throughout
that his qualifications and a favorable ruling in Sweatt’s case would make it
unnecessary for him to file a lawsuit.≥∑

A diligent student, Barnett completed Sam Huston’s course of study for
his baccalaureate degree in 1948 with high honors. Subsequently, he took
the entrance exams for medical school and applied for admission to the
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University of Chicago and Meharry, the developing regional medical col-
lege for blacks in Tennessee. Upon examining his record and test scores,
Chicago and Meharry accepted him, but ut stalled. Barnett hoped fer-
vently that he could remain and study in his home state, privately relishing
the opportunity to show the world that just as members of the Negro race
could make great aviators, they could also make great doctors, if given
equal educational opportunity. Barnett got his chance. No sooner did
Painter’s letter arrive at Barnett’s permanent home address in Lockhart
than word spread from Texas to the naacp national headquarters in New
York City. The vagaries associated with his status as a tsun student who
would matriculate at ut by contract did not damper the naacp’s enthusiasm
or jubilation. Henry Lee Moon, naacp director of public relations, sent
out a press release dated 26 August, with the heading ‘‘naacp Hails First
Break in U. of Texas Jim Crow.’’ The release quoted the association’s
Southwest regional secretary Donald Jones, who said that Barnett’s admis-
sion was a ‘‘major step in the fight of Negro students for the equal educa-
tional opportunities which are their Constitutional right.’’ It occurred,
moreover, without the necessity of another lawsuit.≥∏

Carter Wesley gave the story front-page treatment with a streamer above
the Houston Informer masthead boldly proclaiming that ut had admitted its
first Negro student. Arthur DeWitty, the Austin correspondent who wrote
the story, praised Samuel Huston College’s Department of Science and
Mathematics, which Morton chaired, and called Barnett’s admission a
‘‘moral victory.’’ He also noted that creating a ‘‘makeshift Medical School’’
could not be done ‘‘because of the nature of the class room work that has
to be done with all the necessary facilities in the way of laboratory equip-
ment’’ and mentioned the existence of a contract between tsun and ut.
‘‘All Negro applicants who qualify in any field regardless to whether or not
the facilities are at the Negro University at Houston,’’ the Austin activist
rather blithely observed, ‘‘will be channeled through that Institution.’’ For
DeWitty, the ‘‘number one problem’’ came down to the preparation of
black undergraduates ‘‘to meet the competition on all fronts and with all
students.’’ If the Negro College fails here,’’ he continued, ‘‘then our going
will be very difficult in the future.’’≥π

However much becoming a celebrity may have swelled Barnett’s ego, he
did not let his notoriety interfere with his schoolwork. Immediately, he had
to relocate to Galveston and get ready to begin his training to become a
medical doctor. After completing all the necessary arrangements for en-
rollment at tsun, Barnett moved in with a prominent Galveston educator
and his family on 31st Street, a short distance from the medical school. For
Barnett, the distinction of being the first black man to attend a formerly
all-white, publicly supported medical school in a southern state rapidly
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became less an honor than a cross to bear, a sacred responsibility to fulfill.
He had to do well and show that he deserved the distinction.

After saying his morning prayers asking God for strength and guidance,
Barnett prepared himself to face the many questions, evil eyes, and di-
lemmas his first day at utmb would bring. Financially, Barnett was ready.
tsun president Ralph O’Hara Lanier gave Barnett’s financial needs ut-
most consideration, especially in clearing the way for him to receive the
books and equipment he needed. The school agreed to reimburse the ut
Medical Branch and then bill the Veterans Administration (va). The va’s
response to this procedure would later become a problem.

Barnett’s chief worry was whether his white peers and teachers would
accept him and, if so, on what terms. Upon arriving for class, Barnett en-
countered a policy of internal segregation and discrimination but nothing
greater than he could bear. Instructor’s forced Barnett to sit outside the
classroom, making him have to listen to lectures and view slide presenta-
tions awkwardly from a distance. No teacher expressed any great interest
or support for Barnett and did nothing to lessen his isolation. When the
time came to pair up with a partner for laboratory assignments, a white
student voluntarily asked Barnett to work with him. Chauncey Leake, in his
recollection of Barnett’s admission to utmb in an interview nearly three
decades after the event, accorded himself a progressive attitude: ‘‘I took
the position right away that anybody applying to the School would be
admitted if that person had the intellectual qualifications. . . . So, a man
showed up. His name was Ross [sic] Barnett. He was a Negro and he
certainly was well-qualified. Okay, and he comes. Well, I was nervous the
first day, but I went with him into the cafeteria and as soon as a couple of
boys said to come over and sit with them, I knew everything was alright.’’≥∫

Officially, the state of Texas and utmb labeled Barnett a tsun contract
student subject to internal segregation. Leake’s story suggests, however,
that the young black man did not experience unrelenting racist mistreat-
ment and isolation every minute of his school day. Barnett in no way felt
inferior among the whites and was not above taking on a superior attitude
around black and white subordinates. A straightforward, no-nonsense per-
son, when it came time for business, he could be very demanding. His wife,
the Spelman- and Yale-educated Wylma White Barnett of Beaumont, re-
called how black custodial workers approached her at utmb and John
Sealy Hospital, where her husband did his residency, with comments about
Barnett. He was their champion, and he made them proud of their race,
but they begged her to make him ‘‘change his attitude.’’ The strain of
being the first Negro, the only Negro in his position, contributed to es-
tranging him from regular folk.≥Ω

Barnett dealt with the lingering discriminations of segregation mainly
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as a private matter. On 19 November, after several weeks at utmb, he wrote
Morton a short letter saying that ‘‘things have progressed at such a normal
pace that there was no need for earlier reports. In fact my every resource
will be taxed to find even one unfavorable incident.’’ He promised to give
him ‘‘a detailed verbal report’’ of everything that had taken place when he
came to Austin for the Thanksgiving holidays. ‘‘Tell Messieurs [Donald]
Jones, [Ulysses] Tate and [Maceo] Smith that I am so sorry that they won’t
be able to build a case around me,’’ he teased. ‘‘[T]here just won’t be any
grounds.’’ Undoubtedly Barnett had abundant ‘‘grounds’’ for litigation
and protest action, but that was not his way. His determination centered on
obtaining his goal—a ut medical degree. He would let nothing over-
shadow that pursuit.∂≠

Barnett completed the four-year degree program of the University of
Texas School of Medicine and became its first black graduate. utmb had
enrolled him as a regular student in his second year. The school altered his
status after the va refused to recognize the ut-tsun contractual agree-
ment and disallowed GI Bill tuition and expenses, other than ‘‘subsistence
funds,’’ for Barnett’s 1949–50 and 1950–51 school terms. Tate, as naacp
regional special counsel and Barnett’s attorney, sent Painter a letter on
28 September 1950, pointing out that because of the contract student
arrangement his client was being subjected to ‘‘a position of doubt and
embarrassment as to his rights under the Veteran’s Administration, and is
threatened with serious financial loss. . . . Further, Mr. Barnett’s present
status as a medical student in Texas places him under an emotional stress
which is detrimental to him.’’ The threat of a lawsuit and the loss of federal
GI Bill monies for every black veteran it admitted on a contract basis acted
in concert to convince ut officials to abandon its bizarre contract scheme.
On 12 October, D. Bailey Calvin, dean of student and curricular affairs at
utmb, related the news to Barnett that his academic status had changed∂∞:
‘‘I have received notice from the secretary of the Board of Regents of the
University of Texas to the effect that the contractural [sic] relationships
with the Texas State University for Negroes, Houston, Texas, for medical
education no longer obtain, but rather that you are now to be enrolled as a
regular student.’’∂≤ tsun never opened the medical school Painter con-
vinced the state legislature to appropriate funds to establish. Thus, in
1953, when the medical branch of ut awarded Barnett his degree at its
commencement exercises with a standing ovation, the tsun-ut contract
era, which his application inaugurated, had come to a complete and cere-
monial end. The Texas-trained doctor remained in Galveston and did his
residency in surgery, one of the medical world’s elite fields of special-
ization. No fanfare or banner headlines accompanied Barnett’s gradua-
tion, although the event represented the first time that the state of Texas
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had allowed an African American to demonstrate his capability by at-
tending and graduating from an erstwhile white institution of higher
learning.∂≥

Barnett’s desire to maintain a low profile and avoid newspaper head-
lines notwithstanding, he found himself in the 18 July 1953 edition of the
Informer. A headline that streamed below the masthead reported not his
graduating medical school but read: ‘‘Will the Brutal Beating of Dr. Barn-
ett Be Whitewashed?’’ On 12 July, state highway patrolman John Connor
stopped Barnett for speeding at a hundred miles per hour en route to
Galveston. The twenty-five-year-old intern sometimes drove his car like an
airplane, ‘‘hightailing it’’ across the back roads of Texas while he enjoyed
music from a 45-rpm phonograph he wired up. Connor did not like what
he saw. He ordered Barnett out of the car, handcuffed him, and beat him
unconscious. When he came to, he lay bloody in a squad car headed to Jef-
ferson Davis Ross, the local justice of the peace. One of the officers asked
Barnett who he was, and he answered that he was an intern at John Sealy
Hospital. Upon hearing this, Connor grew enraged: ‘‘You’re a damned
liar!’’ No Negro had ever attended utmb, much less worked a white man’s
job at the hospital. Barnett’s ring with the university’s seal suggested theft.
The officer removed the ring and inspected the markings engraved inside,
which read: ‘‘HAB, MD.’’ Rather than giving the officers cause to look at
the black doctor in a more favorable light, the truth sent them into a rage
and they again pistol-whipped Barnett. Their savage beating knocked him
out. After he was arraigned, the judge and the officers agreed that Barnett
should be taken to nearby Texas City Hospital. Fortunately for Barnett, a
utmb student who worked at the hospital recognized him. At three o’clock
in the morning the intern called Leake and said, ‘‘You’d better come over
here.’’

As soon as Leake arrived, he knew what he had to do. ‘‘Oh, this is
terrible,’’ he began to wail. ‘‘This is an awful situation, he [Barnett] has to
come back with me into our hospital, he can’t stay.’’ Leake got Barnett
discharged to his care, and he admitted him for multiple lacerations of the
skull at John Sealy Hospital in Galveston. Thomas Dent, an attorney, told
Wesley that the police had brutalized Barnett not only near the town of
Alvin when they arrested him but a second time as well. Dent also said that
he had asked the Federal Bureau of Investigation to probe whether police
had violated the doctor’s civil rights. Wesley visited Barnett and later de-
scribed his head as ‘‘looking like a sieve from the big holes knocked in it . . .
and his eye blackened and swollen.’’

Although Wesley gave the story prominent coverage, he observed that
Galveston whites and even members of the Negro elite in Texas had
‘‘rigged up’’ an ‘‘Iron Curtain’’ to ‘‘silence the story of the alleged beating
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of Dr. Herman A. Barnett.’’ Police officials of the island city investigated
the incident but would not comment on it. utmb officials distanced them-
selves and became ‘‘mum on the matter.’’ Leake, who tried to keep anyone
from seeing his special patient, stated to the Informer that the medical
school and hospital had ‘‘nothing to do with the Barnett affair,’’ since
Barnett had not been on hospital business at the time of his arrest and
battery. On the other hand, Leake stated that he had been ‘‘giving the
young intern advice . . . whether or not . . . an ‘issue’ should be made of the
alleged beating.’’ His ‘‘advice’’ was that to make a to-do over the police
brutality would amount to nothing more than a racket and that he should
drop the matter. Leake offered to pay the fine, and Barnett agreed to such
a resolution. ‘‘A peculiar thing,’’ Barnett lamented to Leake however, ‘‘my
father had given me a ruby ring, but ever since that business in Texas City I
don’t have the ruby ring.’’

As for the Hitchcock justice of the peace before whom Barnett was
arraigned for speeding, resisting arrest, and assault on a police officer, he
went on record stating that ‘‘if the policemen whipped Dr. Barnett, he
deserved it.’’ In this, Justice Ross sided with Connor’s official version of the
incident, that Barnett had attacked him with a knife, but when Conner was
asked for the reputed weapon, he could not produce it. Later, however,
Ross himself turned up with an ‘‘old rusty knife,’’ which he claimed he
found when he visited the scene of Barnett’s arrest. The highly unusual
case became even more bizarre when a white student filed charges of
assault against Ross. Three or four months later, the small town justice was
admitted to utmb’s psychiatric hospital. Leake, who reviewed all admis-
sions, spotted Ross’s name. When he checked the listing of the patient’s
valuables and clothing, ‘‘there was the ruby ring.’’ He recalled, ‘‘I took the
ruby ring and it had . . . Barnett’s initials in it, so I put it in my pocket and
gave it to [him]. Then I went to the Justice of the Peace and said: ‘Your
Honor, when you came into this hospital you had a ruby ring and when you
leave, you don’t take that ring with you.’ He looked at me,’’ but Barnett
‘‘really made good. He was the first certified Negro surgeon in Texas and
he was great!’’ Barnett undoubtedly shared Leake’s enthusiasm about
being the first Texas-certified black surgeon. He also appeared to be more
interested in getting on with his life than in becoming a cause célèbre for
the Texas civil rights movement.

It may have been that Barnett did not care for being a political icon, but
he also may not have thought enough of the Texas civil rights movement to
stake his livelihood and future on its capacity to effect change. Although a
gifted and talented individual, Barnett did not come from a privileged
family and faced his personal and financial challenges almost entirely on
his own. Most of Galveston’s black elite, such as Dent, his lawyer, and
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Professor Leon Augustus Morgan, the island’s leading black educator who
let him have free room and board in his spacious house on 31st Street,
embraced and supported Barnett materially and morally for what he sym-
bolized and for the kind of character he exuded. The factual record does
not reveal whether the island’s black vanguard wanted him to make a case
of his brutal mistreatment and would pay for the litigation. Even if they
had, it is questionable that he would have gone against Leake’s advice and
made an ‘‘issue’’ of the police assault and miscarriage of justice. The inci-
dent allowed Wesley the hot month of July to agitate and educate around
the issue of police brutality, but the opportunity to organize against the
barbaric practice would have to await another day, another victim. The
whipping of Barnett was whitewashed.∂∂

Interestingly, the naacp did not enter the picture. In the black commu-
nity, Wesley directed his queries to ‘‘leading Houston physicians’’ and the
public at large about what they would do about the attack on Barnett. He
questioned the immediate past president of the Houston Medical Forum,
Dr. Perry W. Beal, whether the group would call for a complete investiga-
tion or complain to ‘‘high officials.’’ He received the answer that it should
be looked into but was given no indication that the group had demanded
federal authorities to do so. Dr. E. B. Perry, an officer in the Lone Star
Medical Association, responded that ‘‘the uncalled-for incident was so hor-
rible that I’m afraid to put my thoughts in writing.’’ Likewise, Dr. J. C.
Madison regarded Barnett’s plight as an ‘‘unfortunate thing,’’ and Dr.
Charles Pemberton stated he had not had enough time to form an opinion
about the matter. Wesley condemned the ‘‘brass’’ for ‘‘playing ostrich’’ and
burying their heads in the sand. He called upon the general black commu-
nity to recognize that the beating of Barnett ‘‘was a beating of the Negro
group.’’ The attack led him to draw the conclusion ‘‘that the best, the
finest, the most highly advanced in the group are in greatest jeopardy of
being brutally treated at the hands of ‘the law.’ ’’ However factually inaccu-
rate he was as to what strata of the community suffered the most police
brutality, Wesley had a point that, for blacks, the police was no respecter of
education or class.

The educated, black professional-managerial elite may have become
the most cautious and conservative strata of black society in the face of
Barnett’s attack and Wesley’s counsel, but still more blacks followed Barn-
ett’s lead. The year after Barnett’s admission, another veteran, J. H. Pen-
dleton Jr. of Houston, entered the medical school on a contract basis; in
1952, three blacks, Frank Bryant Jr. and Robert L. Hilliard of San Antonio
and Edward W. Guinn of Fort Worth, enrolled; and in 1954, the school
admitted its first African American woman, Mae Frances McMillan of
Houston. utmb took an absolute position to desegregate itself.∂∑
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W. Astor Kirk Claims His ‘‘Forty Acres’’

The Austin campus of the University of Texas regained its position as a
focal point of the desegregation movement in 1950. While Barnett quietly
began his second semester at utmb, two events put the spotlight on ut.
First, W. Astor Kirk resumed his attempt to enter ut’s graduate school, this
time based upon the contract system of internal segregation that Barnett
had pioneered at the medical school. Second, Heman Sweatt’s lawsuit
against the university became a national news item as it came before the
U.S. Supreme Court.

Kirk, who undertook his struggle for admission to ut in 1947 only to
have ut offer him segregated classes at the makeshift Negro Law School,
applied again on 3 May 1949. He received a letter the next day from
Painter notifying him that his application and supporting attachments had
been forwarded to tsun. If the two universities agreed that ut would
temporarily offer graduate work to Negroes in government, then he would
become the Austin campus’s first nonextension contract student. For rea-
sons not altogether clear, however, the necessary arrangements between
ut and tsun did not materialize for Kirk in time for him to begin classes in
the fall semester, as happened for Barnett. Apparently, tsun’s President
Lanier requested of the tsun board of directors the authority to develop a
doctoral program for Kirk as well as to recommend he be admitted to ut
on a contract basis in the meantime, but by 11 November, Lanier’s re-
quests had not been granted. Finally, by January of 1950, tsun and ut
established a contractual agreement that allowed ut to accept Kirk for
graduate work. Lanier dispatched H. Hadley Hartshorn, director of admis-
sions, and S. E. Warren, dean of the tsun graduate school, to Austin for a
meeting with A. P. Brogan, dean of the ut graduate school, ‘‘to work out . . .
the final steps and procedures for processing Mr. Kirk’s application.’’ The
last stumbling block, at least for Kirk, concerned whether his contract
status meant he would attend classes with whites, as had more or less
happened with Barnett, or whether ut would offer him the same segre-
gated classroom situation of two years before.∂∏

While behind closed doors ut inched closer to voluntarily admitting its
first black student, Painter assured the white public that ut had no in-
tentions of permitting Negroes to attend classes with Caucasians. Luciel
Decker of Port Arthur, Texas, a young ut student, wrote Painter after
learning from an article in the Houston Chronicle that the university had
admitted Kirk. ‘‘I merely want you to know,’’ she implored, ‘‘that I hope
you don’t change your mind about segregating the negro students who
may attend the University on a contract basis.’’ Decker’s belief that the
decision to segregate Kirk or not rested with Painter is not unusual; to the
average student, the president is in charge of the university. The determi-
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nant role of regents and state government officials, especially Attorney
General Price Daniel, on matters such as Kirk’s presence at ut remained
less apparent to the casual observer. What is striking about Decker’s letter,
however, is her sense that some administrative wavering about Kirk might
have been going on behind the scene. She explained, ‘‘I believe W. Astor
Kirk is trying to force an issue like Sweat [sic] did.’’ In response to a
newspaper article reporting that Kirk might not accept segregated instruc-
tion at ut, Decker caustically asked, ‘‘Does this colored man want to study
courses in government and political science, or does he want social equal-
ity with the white students? Inaugurate the courses at the negro university
in Houston and I bet he wouldn’t enter any more than Sweat entered the
law school.’’∂π

In restrained language, Painter answered Decker that under the ut-
tsun contract ‘‘we are obligated to give [graduate] work on a segregated
basis.’’ Painter went on to inform her that ut had arranged to instruct Kirk
in a room off campus and noted that he would have access to the university
library, which ‘‘for a long time’’ had been opened to Negroes. ‘‘I shall be
interested,’’ wrote Painter intimating a common bond of concern with
Decker, ‘‘in seeing whether or not Mr. Kirk goes through with his work.’’∂∫

On January 24, Brogan wrote Painter that Kirk ‘‘had unusually good
grades in government through a Master’s degree at Howard University.’’
He assured the president that Kirk had applied to the university in good
faith and sincerely wanted to study courses in government that could not
‘‘reasonably be given at Texas State University.’’ Painter then instructed ut
registrar Captain H. Y. McCown to write Kirk and meet with him to ‘‘ar-
range the necessary preliminary details’’ of his becoming ut’s first (nonex-
tension course) contract student. Kirk did not divulge to university and
state government officials that he would not accept segregated accommo-
dations. But, apparently, he harbored the hope that ut might permit him
to attend classes as a regular student. In the weeks before this official con-
tact from the university, Kirk had put the question of his being segregated
from white students before various organizations in the black community.∂Ω

Members of the Omega Psi Phi fraternity (Qs) of Tillotson College
pleaded with Painter to offer Kirk classes on a nonsegregated basis. ‘‘We
believe that the time has come for the unconditional acceptance of Negro
graduate students at the University of Texas,’’ wrote the Qs, adding, ‘‘We
do not believe it is in the best interest of the University of Texas, or of the
people of Texas to accept Negro graduate students on a basis that will
reflect upon the dignity, reputation, and respect of the University of Texas,
and the people of our great state.’’ ‘‘Therefore,’’ they concluded their
appeal, ‘‘we respectfully urge that Professor Kirk be accepted in the Gradu-
ate School of the University of Texas on the same terms and under the
same conditions as all other graduate students.’’∑≠
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Painter paid no attention to the fraternity’s plea and on 2 February, he
had ut vice president James C. Dolley inform Kirk of the separate arrange-
ments that the university would make to accommodate him as a student.
The wily government professor, however, played his cards up to the final
moment. He replied that he had registered for two courses in public ad-
ministration and expected to attend these classes at the time listed in the
course schedule. Kirk informed Dolley, ‘‘I am prepared to report for class
at the hours that these classes are regularly scheduled,’’ stating the issue as
more a problem of scheduling than an outright refusal to participate in a
segregated set up. Meanwhile, ut made all its final preparations to provide
Kirk with the same offer it made him nearly three years before, which he
refused. Comptroller C. D. Simmons secured the collaboration of the uni-
versity YMCA: for a monthly fee of twenty-five dollars, he got YMCA gen-
eral secretary W. A. ‘‘Block’’ Smith to let ut lease a room for six hours a
week. Also, six university faculty members agreed to teach ‘‘contract Negro
students’’ in the separate classroom.∑∞

On 6 February, Kirk went to his special classroom at the YMCA, where
he met Charles Timm, his government instructor. After less than an hour
of discussing with Timm the course and the racial restrictions the admin-
istration imposed on him, Kirk left the room and issued a statement to
reporters who waited to see how his first day of class as a ut contract
student had gone. Kirk informed them that he could not accept the segre-
gated arrangements ut presented to him and that he would quit unless the
university reversed its policy at once. He then walked over to Dolley’s office
and expressed to him what he had told the press. He also ‘‘declared [his]
willingness to accept separation in the regular classes on the University
campus.’’ The next day, he delivered a letter to Dolley in which he re-
affirmed his ‘‘willingness to accept separation in the regularly scheduled
classes on the campus of the University of Texas.’’ McCown replied to his
letter on 9 February, telling Kirk that the laws of Texas did not permit the
university to admit him as a ‘‘regular student.’’∑≤

Kirk answered McCown’s perfunctory letter with strong words. He
stated that he regarded the issue of whether existing state law required
separation of black and white students on the graduate level in state uni-
versities as ‘‘an open question.’’ In the interest of ‘‘a cooperative solution of
the present problem,’’ he averred, ‘‘I acquiesced in the University’s view
that existing state law does require such separation. But I insisted then,
and I still insist now, that separation can be effectively applied in the
classrooms on the campus of the university.’’ Kirk knew he needed to
argue why he opposed off-campus segregation. ‘‘If existing state law re-
quires separation,’’ he explained, ‘‘it does not require adoption of a mode
of separation deliberately calculated to embarrass the person to whom it is
proffered—a mode, mind you, that makes the University look ridiculous
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in the eyes of the rest of the nation and the world.’’ Kirk would accept
assignment to a chair in an anteroom or on a railed-off row several feet
away from white students in a regular class but found a separate classroom
intolerable and embarrassing. Internal segregation of the sort he could
accept had resulted in G. W. McLaurin’s suit against the University of
Oklahoma, which the Supreme Court had before it along with the Sweatt

case. Untroubled by abstract and legalistic problems, Kirk implicitly refer-
enced Barnett’s arrangement to bolster his argument. ‘‘I cannot accept as
conclusive the University’s construction of the contract which it maintains
with the Houston institution,’’ he wrote, adding that ‘‘it is a matter of
public record that where the contract is currently being implemented, its
application is along lines different from those which the University cate-
gorically affirms as mandatory.’’ Kirk also questioned how ut-tsun could
permit him unfettered access to the university library but deny him admis-
sion to the regular classroom under any conditions whatsoever. Finally, the
chair of Tillotson’s Department of Government ended with a moral: ‘‘It is
just such attitudes of intractableness that incline individuals with legiti-
mate grievances to invoke the assistance of federal authority.’’∑≥

ut had tsun reimburse Kirk for the money he had paid for his tuition
and fees. On 2 March, tsun issued a check for twenty-six dollars, thus
ending the Kirk affair. Kirk’s activism against segregation in Austin con-
tinued with the successful effort he led involving African American access
to the city’s public libraries and nearby state parks. In 1954, however, Kirk
stepped into a controversy over compromising remarks attributed to him
regarding the policy of Texas state officials in response to the Brown deci-
sion. After that incident, he faded from active involvement in the antisegre-
gation movement and restricted himself to a more academic role. ut, how-
ever, had not heard the last of the government professor. In the 1960s, Kirk
did attend and earn his Ph.D. there. More than a decade before that per-
sonal triumph, however, ut failed to provide Kirk with either the internally
segregated educational opportunity Oklahoma University gave to George
McLaurin or the kind utmb furnished to Barnett. The decision to keep the
Austin campus for whites only, on the face of it, appeared inconsistent and
a step backward from the direction state officials took in the case of Barn-
ett. The flagship status of Austin’s Forty Acres and the fact that the state was
locked in battle against Sweatt’s admission to the law school undoubtedly
served to mitigate any compromise with the forces of desegregation.∑∂

Whatever the imperatives that inhibited Painter from relaxing his stance
on segregation, student opinion at ut did not parallel the administration’s
rigidity. In March of 1950, a student referendum emerged regarding the
question ‘‘Should the university lift its ban on Negro students?’’ Two days
before the election, the five-member student court called the poll off.
‘‘Anti-referendum forces’’ convinced the court that however the vote went,
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the result would be a net disservice to the university. Most of the students
endorsing the ban ‘‘would give the Russians another chance to howl at the
U.S.,’’ while a majority vote ‘‘to lift the ban would bring a lot of howling
Texans down on the university’s neck.’’ The latter possibility no doubt
concerned Painter, and it is likely that he compelled the student court to
cancel the referendum. The attorney general’s office also did not want to
risk ut students voting to drop the color bar on the eve of its going before
the Supreme Court to present oral argument in favor of maintaining the
ban. Better to suppress democracy than to defy segregation.∑∑

Modernity stood against the status quo in race relations. The power
holders in Texas, nonetheless, made every last ditch effort to save the
state’s racial essence; but like the lad’s actions in the story of the emperor’s
new clothes, theirs only made more obvious the unessential nature of
segregated education. The legal campaign against segregation stripped off
all the layers of self-delusion and forced Texans to see the naked truth:
Texas was a white man’s state and its institutions reflected that fact. If such
a proposition no longer remained conscionable in an ethnically diverse,
racially tolerant, and democratically organized post-Nazi world order, then
the state’s public institutions had to change. Massive resistance did not
delay change in Texas; elite resistance did. But even the power holders in
the Texas economy and higher educational bureaucracy could not keep
the wall of segregation from crumbling. Ultimately, black students across
the state demanded and eventually won places in white universities. Active
resistance to segregation grew from ground fertilized by the de jure chal-
lenges, the ideological struggles that crystallized among black Texans in
the 1940s, and the brave, if sometime halting steps of the trailblazers—
Sweatt, Doyle, Barnett, Givens, Kirk, and the interracial marchers of 1949.
With a growing number of students on the front lines, the Texas University
Movement changed directions and with it the future of the state.
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chapter four

This Is White Civilization’s Last Stand
University Desegregation before Brown

discuss your plans with this office before you move into a fight. We have the
know how to help you. Do not go off before you are ready. But do not stand
still. We can help you get ready[;] we will help you do the job right. Some will
say that you cannot do it, but the facts prove that we can. We have done it and
the white community has shown a readiness to advance with us.

—Ulysses S. Tate to naacp branch officers, 1 August 1952

Bringing law to the side of desegregation represented a landmark achieve-
ment, but it was also an empty glove without the flesh and blood experi-
ence of the individuals who crossed the line to make the legal victory a lived
reality. The women and men who breathed life into the social, legal, and
political debates that arose from the Sweatt case and enacted their historic
role as ‘‘firsts,’’ reacted to their experiences in many different ways. Like-
wise, students, teachers, and administrators at black-only, as well as black-
excluding, universities responded in various ways to the challenges and
changes to their campus traditions when desegregation finally occurred.
Jim Crow’s death had grave consequences for his alter ego, ‘‘Joe Cracker.’’
Desegregation also meant that the state’s erstwhile black institutions of
higher education were no longer exclusively ‘‘for Negroes.’’ Within the
citadels of historically black higher education, desegregation threw the
common stock of presuppositions about the white race up for grabs. Segre-
gation’s official demise at the ebony and ivory towers of learned society
mightily assisted the unshackling of the southern mind. Blackness and
whiteness ceased to appear as mutually exclusive, diametrically opposed
categories of humanity existing in a hierarchically ordered relation to each
other. Black and white Texans had to have an equality of rights and access
to higher education, but what would equality mean and what difference 
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would it make if change grafted itself to existing traditions? Democracy
required the dismantling of racial hierarchy yet gave no clues about how to
do so democratically.∞

The black Texans who mobilized to achieve white recognition of equal
rights and justice in higher education encountered considerable dangers
and traps along the way. Desegregation at the ‘‘token’’ level occurred in
Texas in three stages. The first period extended from 1949, almost a year
before the Supreme Court’s decision in Sweatt v. Painter, to 1954, the year
of the court’s decision in Brown v. Board of Education. Next came the imme-
diate post-Brown period, which climaxed with the grand posturing of one
of the worst race-mongering governors in modern Texas history, Allan
Shivers. The final period spanned the late 1950s to the middle of the
1960s. The salient activities that helped characterize and shape each of
these periods were, respectively, litigation and legislation, propaganda
and pacification, resistance and reconciliation. Although the process of
change developed with remarkable similarity across the state, its pace var-
ied greatly by location. Such variations reveal local differences in the spe-
cific historical social arrangements of a particular town or city, especially as
concerned configurations of power shaped by race, religion, and class.
Desegregating Texas higher education illuminates much about negotiat-
ing complex and varied cultural and political terrain.

In the first phase of Texas collegiate desegregation, the Supreme Court’s
1950 watershed decision acted as the catalyst to change the racially based
admission practices of fourteen institutions of higher education. Initially,
black students won admission to graduate and professional programs at the
University of Texas beginning in 1949 at its Galveston medical school and
in 1950 at the Austin campus. Subsequently, a few seminaries and de-
nominational colleges set a proper Christian example and began admitting
black applicants. Some of these limited desegregation to their graduate
theology departments, while others opened all their branches and pro-
grams to blacks. Several junior colleges quietly moved toward desegrega-
tion as well. Collegiate desegregation spread across the state, but East Texas
colleges put up fierce opposition.

The rock of separatist resistance first appeared in Texarkana, Wichita
Falls, and Kilgore. The battles against admitting blacks to the colleges in
these East Texas cities led to the organization of the White Citizens’ Coun-
cil movement in the state. Then came Brown. In the pre-Brown period,
resistance to desegregation of higher education was minimal and primarily
confined to the courtroom and the boardroom. Of course, desegregation
was also minimal and the initial phases of the process were largely orches-
trated behind closed doors by rights-seeking blacks and white elites. Yet
something vastly more important occurred than what the small, token
numbers of blacks stepping onto ground formerly reserved for whites
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Texas Universities and Colleges that Initiated Desegregation before the U.S. Supreme
Court’s Brown Decision, 17 May 1956

suggests. A most significant set of social experiments took place on four-
teen Texas campuses between 1949 and 1954; they directly challenged
government, religious, and educational leaders to consider social realities
and questions that most never dared to ponder. Moreover, leading black
Texans began to recognize through Sweatt’s protracted fight and eventual
victory that desegregation was a means to a larger end: social equality with
whites in a unitary society, not a separate equality. They came to see the
path of separate development as having reached a dead end. For each
institution that African Americans desegregated, they claimed additional
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ground for a new vision of social equality that now looked to be within
their grasp.≤

Price Daniel and the Price of Fighting Sweatt

Of course, only the attitudes of nine Supreme Court justices mattered
most to Sweatt’s immediate fate. Originally scheduled for January 1950,
oral arguments came instead in April. The case put Texas in the national
spotlight as the great defender of the lost cause. Attorney General Price
Daniel represented the state’s prosegregation position and howled right
back at critics of Texas’s higher education policy. He asked for the backing
of the attorneys general of the southern states that practiced segregation.
Marking his undated letter ‘‘urgent—personal,’’ he informed each at-
torney general that the Sweatt v. Painter case ‘‘is as important to your state as
it is to Texas.’’ He called for a minimum of six states to file a joint brief or
for individual attorneys general to file briefs in support of the state of
Texas. Daniel explained that he did not desire for them to take the side of
Texas in any of the factual issues in the case but asked that they stress the
point ‘‘that separate schools are constitutionally within the police power of
the States so long as they are substantially equal.’’ Daniel, pondering the
historical significance of the moment, quoted from a letter in which At-
torney General Harry McMullan of North Carolina stated that he was of
the ‘‘opinion that this case [Sweatt v. Painter ] is the most important deci-
sion to the Southern States that has been before the Supreme Court since
the Dred Scott decision.’’ Daniel also quoted McMullan as holding that a
decree in favor of Sweatt would ‘‘be calamitous to the cause of public
education and I am afraid that racial conflict of the most unfortunate
character would result.’’≥

Daniel hoped that his fellow attorneys general of the South would sup-
port his position. Eleven of the eighteen segregating states (including the
District of Columbia) backed him in an amicus curiae brief. Alabama was
the only Deep South state to dissent, and its decision not to support the
white supremacist position sparked the ire of Eugene ‘‘Bull’’ Connor, Bir-
mingham’s commissioner of public safety. Failing to get the support of
Governor James E. ‘‘Big Jim’’ Folsom and ‘‘Folsom progressive’’ attorney
general Albert Carmichael, Daniel wrote Connor asking him to do what he
could to get his state into the fold. Connor, in turn, called upon the
Alabama Bar Association to file a brief stating that ‘‘our State administra-
tion fails to protect the interests of Alabama’s people.’’ Writing Francis
Hare, president of the Alabama State Bar on 10 January 1950, he noted
that attorneys general in several southern states had ‘‘joined the Honor-
able Price Daniel, the Attorney General of Texas, in defending the princi-
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ple of Texas before the Supreme Court of the United States. Alabama has
refused to join. I think nothing is more important since the Civil War than
this to the welfare of our people, both white and black. I am sure you
realize the danger of riot and bloodshed, even in peaceful Alabama, if the
races are thrown together by a mandate of law from Washington.’’∂

The amicus brief of Dixie’s attorneys general represented the solid
South as giving Negroes equal educational opportunities out of a deep-
seated wish to maintain the separation of the races. It asserted that ‘‘the
furnishing of equal educational privileges to all through separate schools
does not involve discrimination.’’ Moreover, ‘‘the continued constitution-
ality of the separate system,’’ it argued, ‘‘furnishes an incentive to South-
ern States to provide more and better schools, especially in higher educa-
tion, as the only way in which separation can be maintained for peace,
harmony, and the general welfare.’’ Thus, to create greater access to qual-
ity education for Negroes, the Court should uphold the legitimacy of seg-
regation and use the threat of selective integration to achieve the greatest
good for the greatest number of Negroes. The Court’s declaring segrega-
tion unconstitutional would take away the carrot and the stick and invite
violence and social chaos. On the other hand, ‘‘if admittance to a separate
grade school or university for whites is obtained by individual Negroes
because of unequal facilities for their own race, it will be understood by
those at fault.’’ In an ahistorical flourish, the brief claimed that ‘‘Southern
people’’ knew ‘‘that Negroes are entitled to equal educational opportu-
nities, and they will share without conflict or resentment the result of any
failure on their own part to provide equality.’’∑

As Daniel ascended the steps of the Supreme Court for oral argument,
letters and telegrams such as concerned citizen W. R. Hughes’s must have
given him a sense of sacred obligation as well as a heavy burden of expecta-
tion. ‘‘This is White Civilization[’s] last stand,’’ read Hughes’s telegram,
the ‘‘hand of Texas and South is on your shoulders.’’ Daniel knew his duty
to his state required him to uphold segregation. To perform that duty he
assigned his chief assistant, Joe Greenhill, to cover the legal history of the
Fourteenth Amendment while he concentrated on expounding the police
power position.∏

Daniel warned against any external interference with southern custom
and dismissed the sociological theories about the pernicious effects of
racial segregation by observing that institutionalized white supremacy in
the form of Jim Crow laws had nothing to do with bolstering white egos or
abusing black self-esteem. Segregation existed as an extension of police
power; it grew out the natural requirements of law and order. ‘‘Some
people have feelings that make for conflict when the races associate too
closely,’’ Daniel remarked.π

The amicus brief of his peers offered an even bleaker admonition: ‘‘The
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Southern States trust that this Court will not strike down their power to
keep peace, order, and support of their public schools by maintaining
separate facilities.’’ ‘‘If the States are shorn of this police power and physi-
cal conflict takes place,’’ warned the attorneys general, then ‘‘the States are
left with no alternative but to close their schools to prevent violence.’’ The
South’s position had able legal representation in Price Daniel; his only
problem was that the region had no legal position.∫

Winning Sweatt

Thurgood Marshall countered Daniel’s ‘‘frantic battle to have discrimina-
tory racial practices upheld by law’’ with an impressive set of supporting
briefs and his own inimitable, to-the-point style of legal argument. Beside
the support of U.S. attorney general J. Howard McGrath and solicitor gen-
eral Phillip B. Perlman on behalf of Harry Truman’s Justice Department,
the naacp received friends of the court briefs from diverse sources such
as the Congress of Industrial Organizations, the American Veterans Com-
mittee, the American Jewish Congress, along with the Anti-Defamation
League of B’nai B’rith, and the Committee of Law Teachers Against Segre-
gation in Legal Education. The latter group represented an important
piece of organizing on Marshall’s part.Ω

The convening of the Committee of Law Teachers, which was composed
of 205 deans and professors from the country’s leading law schools, re-
portedly constituted the first time in U.S. history that so many legal minds
had united to intervene in a case. Lambasting the law school of Texas State
University for Negroes as a ‘‘mockery of legal education and of equal
protection of the laws,’’ their brief launched three salvos against segrega-
tion. First, they charged that segregation ‘‘perverts and distorts the healthy
development of human personality.’’ Second, from their study of U.S. legal
history, they concluded that the Fourteenth Amendment’s equal protec-
tion clause had to be ‘‘thoroughly understood to mean identical, and not
separate rights,’’ especially in education. Third, they pointed out that
while the Truman government distributed the message of a united Amer-
ica through a book by General Bedell Smith, a former U.S. ambassador to
Russia, which featured pictures of desegregated schoolrooms, the Sweatt

case might require ‘‘we send a postscript that there is a special exception
for young men studying their Constitution of the United States in the State
of Texas.’’ All three points underscored the key arguments Marshall put to
the Court.∞≠

Supporting Sweatt’s right to attend the white law school, the Southern
Conference Education Fund, Inc. (scef) tried to help discredit the picture
of imminent race war over a decision unfavorable to segregation. Eighteen
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southern lawyers associated with scef, including Ben N. Ramey and Arthur
J. Mandell of Houston, attacked the doctrine of ‘‘separate but equal’’ as
unconstitutional and injurious to both blacks and whites. The attorneys
contended that the harmfulness of segregated legal education appeared
in the ‘‘tension between lawyer and client’’ when the ‘‘attitude ingrained’’
in a white lawyer trained at a white law school carried over into his or her
work on behalf of a Negro client, which must, at times, occur. scef got
some headlines and riled southern white supremacists, but its lawyers
failed to get the naacp or the Supreme Court to accept its brief. Also, none
of the black attorneys in Texas, especially Durham or Wesley, signed onto
the brief. Marshall and other top brass in the New York office took little
notice of scef’s activities, although key naacp-connected attorneys A. P.
Tureaud of New Orleans and Arthur D. Shores of Birmingham did join the
eighteen signers.∞∞

None of the pro-integration briefs, however, confronted the central
issue that Daniel and his peers raised, namely, the issue of segregation as a
means of maintaining racial peace. In oral argument and later in the press,
Marshall dismissed the specter of violent outbreak resulting from a deci-
sion striking down segregation: ‘‘Our rights cannot be conditioned by a
threat of what a few unlawful people will do.’’ He also countered that all of
Dixieland’s doomsayers had come out with their hellfire and damnation
prognostications when the ‘‘white primary’’ cases were before the courts,
yet no incidents of violence resulted from the decisions of the Supreme
Court in Smith vs. Allwright. ‘‘Negroes are not only voting freely in Texas,’’
Marshall asserted, ‘‘but are part and parcel of the political machine as
though this had been going on for a hundred years.’’ Although his point
here had validity, more than anything else Marshall offered proof positive
that he was no stranger to the realm of overstatement.∞≤

Tom Clark, a native Texan, a former U.S. attorney general, and a Tru-
man appointee to the Court in 1949, in a memorandum to the conference
of the Court on the Sweatt and McLaurin cases, debunked the picture of an
outbreak of horrifying lawlessness following a reversal of the cases. In
Clark’s opinion, the attorneys general in their amici curiae statements
offered ‘‘highly exaggerated’’ assessments. He excluded from this criticism
Oklahoma, whose attorney general ‘‘was frank enough to admit’’ that if the
Court limited the ramifications of a desegregation order to graduate
schools, no ugly incidents would follow. Clark called upon his brethren to
reverse Sweatt but not to overrule Plessy. He cited several reasons for his
opinion that the ‘‘separate but equal’’ doctrine should be abandoned at
the graduate level but not in the lower grades: ‘‘I see no reason why we
should not concern ourselves here with the equality of education rather
than social recognition. These are, after all, education cases. And it is
entirely possible that Negroes in segregated grammar schools being taught
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arithmetic, spelling, geography, etc., would receive skills in these elemen-
tary subjects equivalent to those of segregated white students, assuming
equality in the texts, teachers, and facilities.’’∞≥ A round of discussion fol-
lowed Clark’s memorandum. Justice Harold Burton’s clerks dismissed the
possibility of affirming the lower courts’ decisions as requiring an act of
‘‘plain sophistry.’’ Other possible dispositions involved reversal with vari-
ous answers to the constitutional question, from upholding Plessy to mak-
ing a broad pronouncement against it. Justice Clark’s clerk proposed a
‘‘compromise’’ course.∞∂

While the Court pondered the arguments for and against desegrega-
tion, black Texans continued to press the envelope. Texas State University
for Negroes received an unknown number of applications and inquiries
from black students requesting graduate and professional degree pro-
grams it did not offer. Having received numerous applications in the
spring of 1950, tsun made several recommendations to the Austin cam-
pus of so-called Negro contract students. In response, Painter pressed the
tsun board for progress in its creation of graduate-level Jim Crow school-
ing. On 1 May, he wrote tsun board vice president W. R. Banks to inform
him that utmb’s sole tsun contract student, Herman Barnett, was ‘‘doing
good work and there has been no difficulty regarding him at all.’’ ‘‘All of us
however,’’ he continued, ‘‘are quite anxious to see established in connec-
tion with your institution a medical branch, for we feel that it would have a
very wholesome and upgrading effect in the whole area of Negro educa-
tion.’’ Of course, with the passage of each semester, Painter’s ability to
keep ut ‘‘wholesome’’ and lily-white increasingly became tied to the extent
to which black Texans could find advanced educational opportunities at
tsun and to the degree such segregated programs satisfied their needs
and expectations. Reluctantly, the ut board of regents gave up on the
possibilities of a black medical school being established in Houston or of a
southern regional school coming to the rescue of the Galveston campus.
As for saving the Austin campus, the regents put their hopes in a favorable
decision of the Court.∞∑

The moment of truth finally arrived on 5 June 1950. Chief Justice Fred
Vinson presented the opinion of a unanimous Court: the University of
Texas School of Law had to admit Heman Sweatt. A cunning compromise,
the decision gave Sweatt what he sued for, yet it did not strike down Texas’s
beloved right to segregate. In agreement with Sweatt, the opinion read,
‘‘We cannot find substantial equality in the educational opportunities of-
fered white and Negro law students by the State.’’ Emphasizing so-called in-
tangible factors, Vinson added, ‘‘[W]hat is more important, the University
of Texas Law School possesses to a far greater degree those qualities which
are incapable of objective measurement but which make for greatness in a
law school.’’ In deference to the segregating states, however, the justices
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Standing tall with the bespectacled Heman Sweatt are (left to right) his wife, Constantine
Mitchell Sweatt, father, James L. Sweatt, and mother, Ella Rose Perry Sweatt. In June of
1950, the Supreme Court ruled that the University of Texas Law School had to admit
Heman Sweatt. After two frustrating years as a student facing exceptionally hostile
conditions that broke up his marriage and affected his mental health, he dropped out.
Other students who benefited from his case, however, did obtain degrees at ut and other
schools previously closed to African Americans (Center for American History, University of
Texas at Austin, CN No. 01839).
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added that they need not ‘‘reach petitioner’s contention that Plessy v. Fer-

guson should be reexamined in the light of contemporary knowledge re-
specting the purposes of the Fourteenth Amendment and the effects of ra-
cial segregation.’’ The Supreme Court deferred judgment day on whether
separate schooling denied blacks equal protection of the laws, but for
black civil libertarians in Texas, the Sweatt decision occasioned a great
awakening.∞∏

Advancing Democracy, Engaging Resistance

At the head of the momentum of the University Movement was J. J. Rhoads.
As chair of the Texas Commission on Democracy in Education (tcode), the
Bishop College president commissioned (and perhaps wrote) a booklet
that extolled Sweatt’s ‘‘frontal attack on separate equality,’’ which tcode
sent to public libraries throughout the state. Titled Advancing the Cause of

Democracy in Education (1951), the booklet contained a verbatim reproduc-
tion of the Supreme Court’s opinion that ordered ut to admit Sweatt to its
law school. It also contained pictures of the celebrated plaintiff and an
aerial view of the ut campus and the U.S. Supreme Court building. It also
reported that the successful case demonstrated that ‘‘the wall of obstruc-
tion to the progress of democracy in public education in Texas and the
South is crumbling. Having been established on the vicious presumption of
racial superiority, its false foundation is giving away, and its ultimate col-
lapse is inevitable.’’∞π

tcode’s manifesto recapped Sweatt’s legal fight, analyzed how Marshall
and the other ‘‘able’’ attorneys ‘‘seized the opportunity to convert his case
into a frontal attack on segregation,’’ emphasized how tangible and intang-
ible factors combined to prevent the possibility of equality in a dual educa-
tional framework, and noted as ‘‘highly improbable that Texas will attempt
to comply’’ with the Court’s definition of equality. The document further
predicted that ‘‘Little Sweatts’’ would not be kept out of ut simply because
the state spent more money on the School of Law at tsun nor would the
‘‘ ‘growing crop’ of Barnetts’’ transfer from the Galveston medical school
to tsun if it undertook the segregated training of doctors. Projecting the
struggle to increase blacks’ access to the state’s institutions of higher edu-
cation as irreversible, Rhoads’s tract also added a poignant warning about
democratization and the high cost it could exact on the movement’s sym-
bolic leader:

If . . . we should localize our national hero by divorcing the support of his
neighbors from that of others of his admiring Americans; if we should indi-
vidualize him by divorcing his personal academic engagements at Austin
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from his larger unfinished adventure in the interest of his underprivileged
race; if we should embarrass him and his cause by forcing him to ‘‘take sides’’
between divided friends and supporters, we shall dissipate the larger values
of his partial ‘‘victory’’ and lose him as an inspiring national symbol of prog-
ress in democracy and equality.∞∫

Consistent with the vision in the tcode statement, on 4 July 1950,
Rhoads convened the Texas Council of Negro Organizations ‘‘to take im-
mediate steps to extend the field of its attack on legalized segregation.’’ He
listed education as number one on the list but added transportation, hous-
ing, military service, health, and political rights as additional areas of pri-
ority. Representing forty-five affiliated organizations from across Texas,
the eighty delegates voted unanimously in favor of resolutions condemn-
ing segregation. The tcno held a victory dinner in the gymnasium of the
Moorland ymca in honor of Heman Sweatt. Afterward, council delegates
gathered for their final event, a public mass meeting at Saint John Baptist
Church. The warm evening air, the music, and the preliminary oratory
had the crowd more than enthused to hear Marshall deliver the word from
naacp headquarters. Just a few days before arriving in Dallas, Marshall had
called together his staff, the collaborating attorneys, and the lawyers from
interested parties that had filed amicus briefs or otherwise backed the asso-
ciation’s cases. They studied the ramifications of the decisions in the 1950
trilogy of cases in relation to the fight to abolish segregation and reached
the conclusion that all future legal work had to be done on the basis of
challenging the constitutionality of the ‘‘separate but equal’’ doctrine.
Southwestern regional counsel U. Simpson Tate and everyone else had to
be clear that the days of accepting improvements in black schools or the
creation of new black schools could no longer be tolerated or accepted.
School cases in Hearne, LaGrange, Dallas, Lubbock, and Euless had all
ended in such a compromise answer or had been dismissed. Likewise,
pending suits for black admission to the state parks, a Houston suit for
admission to the whites-only municipal golf courses, and lawsuits against
separate and unequal grammar schools in Winnsboro and the junior col-
lege and high school in Texarkana might go the same self-defeating way
unless the lawyers unified the community and took a resolute stand before
local officials and courts, a stand in favor of desegregation and nothing
but.∞Ω

The civil libertarians who gathered in Dallas, the embryo of the modern
civil rights movement in Texas, did not constitute the only social force to
try to become better organized and more influential in the wake of the
Sweatt decision. Old-time white supremacists of the rural sort interpreted
ut’s desegregation as a clear sign of what lay ahead and now understood
that the naacp’s allure to the blacks in their midst had one intention:
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social equality, which would never do. Not surprisingly, in Texarkana only
two days after the tcno’s meeting in Dallas, the Knights of the Ku Klux
Klan launched a membership drive. Roaming the streets with application
forms to sign up new members, they distributed propaganda pamphlets
titled ‘‘Why You Should Become a Klansman.’’ They used the generic
literature produced in Atlanta, Georgia, which invited all white, Protes-
tant, gentile, native-born Americans ‘‘who want to keep America Ameri-
can’’ to pay the $10 fee and join the movement. About a week later, twenty-
five black-owned homes in the Exline Park area of South Dallas were
bombed. No group took credit for the deed, and the crime went unsolved
after the unsuccessful prosecution of one Mexican American man.≤≠

The rise of overt and covert Klan activity in Texas seemed to fulfill the
prediction of the Atlanta Constitution and Journal, which held that the high
court’s opinions in the desegregation cases would lend encouragement to
the Klan and posed ‘‘grave problems for the South’’ in the days ahead.
Georgia governor Herman Talmadge shouted defiantly: ‘‘As long as I am
Governor, Negroes will not be admitted to white schools. The line is drawn.
The threats that have been held over the head of the South for four years
are now pointed like a dagger ready to be plunged into the very heart of
Southern tradition.’’ U.S. representative Ben H. Guill, a Texas Republican
House member, added to Talmadge’s racist, demagogic rhetoric a partisan
and anticommunist jab. ‘‘As long as Texans continue to support in office
their worst enemies, the Socialists who call themselves Democrats,’’ he
fumed, ‘‘they can expect to be stabbed in the back repeatedly as a reward
for their misplaced loyalty.’’≤∞

Such ominous signs of rising incivility among white Texans and south-
erners in general may have appeared as the opening acts of the racial
discord Attorney General Daniel predicted before the Supreme Court, but
his office and the Texas legislature itself did little to prepare for or address
the trouble that had begun to brew. Although Daniel advised Painter to
enroll Sweatt in the white law school, he still refused to accept the Court’s
unanimous decision and chose to seek a rehearing. He claimed that facts
regarding the new law school for Negroes were not in the record before
the Court. Moreover, he said, ‘‘even if a full hearing of the evidence does
not convince the court that the new school is now substantially equal, it is
believed that the evidence would show that it can in time become substan-
tially equal and therefore meet the state’s responsibilities to its Negro
citizens who desire to study law.’’≤≤

After its recess, the Court acted on his plea in October. It rejected
Daniel’s argument and refused to review its decision in the Sweatt case,
thus stripping Texas officials of their last legal means of hedging and
dodging. Despite the Supreme Court’s clear opinion on the matter, Texas
and other segregating states continued to resist a full-blown dropping of
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the color line in graduate and professional school admissions. An uneven
step forward, step back, process emerged. At Greensboro, North Carolina,
segregationists received the support of a federal judge who ruled that an
all-black law school satisfied the test of substantial equality with the Univer-
sity of North Carolina’s law school for whites. The black litigant appealed
the decision to the Supreme Court. In Louisiana, on the other hand, black
citizen Roy S. Wilson won a court-ordered admission to the state’s law
school. Carroll G. Jones, state representative from Lincoln parish, an-
swered the verdict with the suggestion that the legislature close the law
school of Louisiana State University rather than let a black man into the
school. The legislature did not follow his idea, but an extremist mood in
reaction to desegregation of higher education had begun to register itself
in pronounced terms throughout the South.≤≥

One gauge of the political temperature of Texas reactionaries were the
letters that Daniel’s office received on the desegregation issue. Through-
out the litigation process, the attorney general earned the praise and admi-
ration of opinion-makers and ordinary white Texans alike. In 1947, one
correspondent who supported his efforts sent him a detailed letter propos-
ing a ‘‘super state’’ university for blacks in Texarkana, the center of the
black population of Texas, Arkansas, Oklahoma, and Louisiana. He ex-
horted Daniel to stand strong against Eleanor Roosevelt’s ‘‘nigger baby,’’
the naacp. That same year, ‘‘a white Democrat while I breathe’’ of Dallas
offered Daniel the suggestion that he use deportation law to get rid of
Heman Sweatt, ‘‘our $3,000,000.00 Negro’’ who claims to be smart enough
as to need university training and demands that he be ‘‘tolerated’’ in the
schools ‘‘for the whites.’’ In February of 1948, George W. Hawkes, editor of
the Arlington Citizen, commended Daniel for his handling of the Sweatt case
and his advocacy of the right of individual states to resolve the matter of
black higher education. To these and other letters, which all opposed
desegregation, Daniel replied with gratefulness for their support.≤∂

After the Supreme Court ruled against the state’s prosegregation argu-
ment, letters came in expressing grave concern and questioning Daniel’s
conviction on behalf of white supremacy and separatism. In June of 1950,
letters came in like that of Mrs. A. R. Kavanaugh, an Austin septuagenarian
and ‘‘daughter of the South,’’ who avowed that she held ‘‘no grudge for
negroes’’ but believed it less troublesome for blacks to have ‘‘equal educa-
tional facilities—provided on a segregation basis.’’ Since Sweatt would not
enroll until September, she wondered why the black law school in Houston
could not be made equal to the University of Texas in the next few months
so as to keep him out of ut. ‘‘If one negro is admitted to the University of
Texas, there will be many negroes apply[ing] for admission and that will
cause trouble I fear.’’ Mrs. Edith Robeson of Fort Worth wrote Daniel with
a trembling hand. ‘‘Excuse this writing I realy am nervious [sic],’’ she
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scrawled from her sickbed. ‘‘[T]he idea of one nigger over powering the
whole of Texas, we are plenty mad about it.’’ She demanded that he, as her
elected official, stop the blacks or face being tossed out of office in favor of
officials the voters could trust to keep the schools of Texas from being
‘‘rouined [sic].’’ In the face of ‘‘this nigger business,’’ she complained, ‘‘you
are just soft period.’’ Expressing grave disapproval of the Truman adminis-
tration, she called on Daniel and Governor Shivers ‘‘to do something to
save the white people.’’ Cotton ginner and Hereford cattle breeder E. M.
Brady of Hearne informed Daniel that he had no idea ‘‘how the white men
feel about’’ the ‘‘negro problem.’’ ‘‘We don’t care what it cost lets give them
school equal of our own’’; do anything, Brady implored, but do not ‘‘mix’’
our young people. From the tiny town of Lorena, near Waco, with a popula-
tion of only a few hundred people, rural mail carrier Herbert B. Harlow
protested that state officials seemed ‘‘only concerned over the tideland
issue,’’ but the majority of the white and black people he delivered mail to
‘‘had rather see every oil well in Texas capped than see one black negro
enrol [sic] in our State University.’’ He asked Daniel what he planned to do,
or, he jabbed, are ‘‘we going to take it lying down.’’ Harlow thanked Daniel
for his past stand and told him that he was praying that he would be ‘‘the
‘Moses’ of today, to lead us out of such a serious position,’’ for ‘‘if this negro
question isnt [sic] quieted down we will have a race war in the near future.’’
No letter came too off the beam for Daniel to courteously reply that he
would do all he legally could to uphold segregation.≤∑

One letter, however, slung some mud at Daniel. Attorney Charles How-
ell of Beaumont, a regular editorialist in several of the state’s newspapers,
sent Daniel an open letter questioning his judgments and actions on sev-
eral particulars. A staunch supporter of Daniel in his early work against the
‘‘Communist inspired Sweatt suit,’’ Howell became irate that ‘‘two days
after the decision [in the Sweatt case] was rendered and before the same
could be received in Texas and read and carefully studied and thoroughly
analyzed, and before a motion for rehearing was filed and acted upon, and
therefore, long before the judgment could become final, negroes had
been admitted to classes of the summer school at the University.’’ He
queried Daniel about why blacks appeared at the ut registrar’s office the
morning after the announcement of the Court’s ruling; why university
officials permitted blacks to enroll in graduate programs when the deci-
sion pertained only to the law school; and why he had not already filed a
motion for rehearing. Howell’s questions, largely based on inaccurate sup-
positions, cast Daniel in a soft, do-nothing role in relation to Texas’s sov-
ereign right to discriminate against its black subjects. The enrollment of
blacks such as John Saunders Chase and Horace Lincoln Heath at ut
(discussed below) should have destroyed Daniel’s future in Texas politics.
The Texas Poll in March of 1950 reported no change from its 1947 survey
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in attitudes regarding blacks entering the University of Texas. Nine out of
ten whites still preferred for blacks to attend their own university rather
than enter ut. Daniel, however, remained popular thanks to the ‘‘white
horse’’ called ‘‘tidelands.’’≤∏

In the tidelands battle, both the state attorney general and Governor
Allan Shivers had a perfect issue to deflect public attention away from de-
segregation and through which to represent themselves as champions of
state’s rights government. In 1937, a controversy had arisen over whether
states like Texas or the federal government owned the submerged lands off
its coast. The issue came to a head when, on the same day it made its ruling
in Sweatt, the Supreme Court, in a 4–3 split decision, asserted that the U.S.
government had ‘‘paramount rights’’ to oil and gas revenues generated by
offshore lands. Also, the tidelands issue, which disrupted Democratic Party
dominance in the 1952 presidential election because Shivers supported
Republican presidential hopeful Dwight D. Eisenhower, drove a serious
wedge between Daniel and Shivers. Daniel took an all-or-nothing position
on the state’s claims, and Shivers agreed with Texas congressmen Sam
Rayburn and Lyndon Johnson on a compromise that would have involved
Texas sharing the revenues with the federal government. The controversy
remained unsettled until 1953, when Eisenhower signed a quit-claim bill
that overruled the Court’s 1950 decision. Thus, as state officials beat the
drums of defiance in the tidelands brouhaha and chanted the mantra of
state’s rights over federalism, the desegregation of higher education pro-
ceeded at a slow but definite pace across the state. In every case, the
judgment call on when and how to respond to the challenge of desegrega-
tion fell in the laps of specific college board members and administrators.
The state attorney general, the governor, the federal and state legislators
all steered clear of the issue as best they could until the Court’s ruling
in Brown.≤π

Through the Door Sweatt Opened

While white state officials avoided significant engagement of the ruling in
Sweatt, many blacks reveled in it. Despite the fact that Plessy remained the
law of the land, many would-be black professional men and women acted
as if it had been discarded as surely as Prohibition had been repealed. The
morning after the Sweatt decision, several blacks went to the registrar’s
office at ut, and their applications went beyond law school admission. ut
staff advised those applicants who sought entry into programs provided at
tsun to apply at the Houston campus. Two black students, however, re-
ceived notice that they could enroll for summer classes as regular students.
They, along with another applicant, had presented Painter with a ‘‘Negro
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situation’’ over a month before the Supreme Court ruling in the 1950
desegregation cases. John Saunders Chase desired to pursue a master’s
degree in architecture, and Horace Lincoln Heath sought admittance to
the Ph.D. program in government, to which a few months earlier Kirk had
been admitted but declined to attend on a segregated, contract basis.
Painter knew what to do with Heath. Dean A. P. Brogan would make the
arrangements for teaching staff, and Comptroller Simmonds would make
the arrangements for classroom space at the ymca, followed by the ut
registrar, Captain McCown, notifying Heath when and where to report for
separate instruction. Architecture required laboratory sections that could
not be offered at the ymca. Painter noted to himself that if Attorney
General Daniel would advise him ‘‘in writing’’ to admit Chase to the cam-
pus for his laboratory classes, Painter would do so, otherwise, ‘‘we refuse to
admit.’’≤∫

The case of Mrs. Curtis McPhail Collins, the third applicant for gradu-
ate instruction offered at ut but unavailable at tsun or Prairie View, pre-
sented Painter with an additional problem. An examination of her under-
graduate transcripts revealed that she did not possess the minimum twelve
semester hours in suitable library science courses necessary for admission
to do graduate work at ut’s Library School. Students applying with defi-
ciencies in prerequisite course work had been a commonplace problem
that the university had customarily answered by admitting students ‘‘on
condition that the undergraduate courses be satisfactorily completed dur-
ing the first summer session in residence.’’ In Collins’s case, however, that
meant taking desegregation an additional step beyond what the ut-tsun
contract allowed. Consequently, on 30 May, Painter advised tsun presi-
dent Lanier that Collins should complete the necessary training in library
science at tsun or some other accredited institution. Lacking the addi-
tional schoolwork, she remained ineligible to do graduate work in library
science at ut.≤Ω

Daniel’s opinion that the Sweatt decision required ut to admit all quali-
fied black Texans to its School of Law and to any other graduate or profes-
sional degree program it offered but that Prairie View and tsun did not
revised the university’s admissions policy in an immediate but limited way.
Collins remained ineligible for admission, while Chase and Heath instantly
became regular students and avoided Painter’s plan to accept them as
contract and internally segregated students. The admission of the two
black men, as Marshall predicted, resulted in no acts of violence and did
not launch an ugly parade of unspeakable horrors. Educated southern
white men, according to their own peculiar logic, showed some tolerance
for integration as long as it involved mature, southern-bred adults. Chase
and Heath were not minors, nor were the students with whom they would
attend classes. Chase, a twenty-five-year-old native Texan, who in May of
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1948 had attained a baccalaureate degree in architecture at Virginia’s
Hampton Institute and with plans that summer to marry a black woman, fit
the necessary profile of a safe candidate to let into ut. At fifty years of age,
Heath, a Wacoan, presented an even better prospect, except, ironically, for
his having studied at Colby College in Waterville, Maine, and his having
earned a master’s degree from the Ivy League’s University of Pennsylvania.
Southern white traditionalists did not trust ‘‘nigras’’ with too much north-
ern exposure.

Both Chase and Heath had applied to tsun months earlier following
the contract procedure. President Lanier recommended Chase for segre-
gated admission on 20 April and Heath on 11 May, and, accordingly, ut
accepted them both. In Chase’s case, however, before taking graduate
classes, he had to complete undergraduate courses in design, advanced
composition, and architectural history and submit ‘‘evidence of ability in
reinforced concrete and steel construction.’’ These requirements resulted
from an interview between Chase and Hugh McMath, director of the
School of Architecture, who determined that Chase had deficiencies aris-
ing from inadequacies in the curriculum at Hampton Institute, a nonac-
credited institution. ut did nothing irregular in setting up such pre-
requisites for Chase. Routinely, white students who presented transcripts
that the admissions committee determined lacked specific course work it
deemed essential for success in the graduate program, first had to take
undergraduate classes. The Sweatt and McLaurin decisions striking down
segregated arrangements in graduate and professional education and
Daniel’s opinion directing ut to comply with the Court’s order led to the
admission of Chase and Heath as regular students.≥≠

J. H. Morton and W. D. McClennan, both faculty members at Samuel
Huston College, also applied for admission to become students at ut dur-
ing the summer of 1950. The administration at first rejected McClennan’s
application but then reversed its decision and held his and Morton’s appli-
cations to do advanced work in mathematics ‘‘under consideration.’’ Offi-
cials ultimately admitted McClennan, but Morton’s application died on the
vine, perhaps due to his having been identified as a ‘‘political’’ applicant.
Other blacks entered in the second summer session. The first African
American women to attend ut, Emma L. Harrison, pursued a doctorate in
education, and L. June Brewer, pursued the doctorate in English.≥∞

Patterns of regional socialization, gender, marital status, and age mat-
tered greatly in a world where social contact between blacks and whites at a
level of equality had been against the law, or against custom, which often
had more force than the law. Since the Reconstruction era’s brief hour in
the sun almost three-quarters of a century before, whites believed that
coeducation of the races would bring contact among minors, especially
between black boys and white girls that might extend from the classroom
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to the bedroom, and nothing remained more anathema to white suprema-
cists than the black male–white female miscegenation bugaboo. As long as
desegregation went no further than the graduate and professional levels
involving older students well-schooled on the boundaries of appropriate
social interaction between the races, whites could comfort themselves that
no ‘‘moral’’ outrages would occur. So confident had Chase’s instructors
felt about his intentions to pursue his higher education and not social
equality with whites that he received an unusual welcome. On his first day
as ut’s first full-fledged black student, he stood up as McMath introduced
him to his fourteen white classmates ‘‘and then sat down in an unsegre-
gated seat.’’ After class, the low-key veteran of the Second World War
informed curious news reporters that ‘‘everything went fine, everybody
was swell.’’≥≤

With news of the warm reception, McMath received a number of disap-
proving letters and official censure. A wire service reporting McMath’s
welcome and his comment that Chase was ‘‘just one of the boys’’ incited
John Pence Jr. of Houston to write that ‘‘while there is apparently nothing
that can be done about the enrollment of these people in our University,
we question the advisability of greeting them with open arms. I don’t seem
to remember any such cordial reception being showered on any of the
people who entered the University when I was there.’’ Pence ended his
letter saying that, on behalf of an unspecified collective, ‘‘we feel that you
are entitled to know how some of us in Houston feel about this matter.
Frankly, we don’t like it and hope that with proper handling the whole
thing will die a natural death.’’≥≥

Another letter writer, a ‘‘former Texan,’’ told McMath that if he ex-
tended a Negro the welcome the newspapers reported, ‘‘shame on you.’’
The director of ut’s School of Architecture, who proved to be a friend and
mentor to Chase throughout his attending ut, never retreated from his
initial openness. When he interviewed Chase in May he suggested to him
the possibility that the Court’s decision in Sweatt might compel ut to admit
him as a regular student. Chase, wearing the mask that blacks learned to
wear to disguise or hide their true feelings, approached his meeting with
McMath without revealing any great awareness of the civil rights case and
prepared to take correspondence courses or study wherever and under
whatever circumstances he could. Later, he realized that McMath had a
genuine interest in seeing him do well and achieve his goal of a master’s
degree in architecture. Other whites he met were not so supportive.

Chase never experienced any overtly racist behavior from ut students
or faculty, but, as he put it, ‘‘other things happened that were worse.’’ He
drew an analogy to sitting on an airplane with open seating. As the passen-
gers boarded they would see the open seat next to you, look at your color,
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and move on to take a seat somewhere else until the seat next to yours was
the last seat available. Such ostracism, being treated as a leper, could scar
you, Chase observed, in much more devastating and enduring ways than
straight-out racial animosity. Moreover, being known as the plaintiff who
forced the school to open its doors to blacks must have compounded
Sweatt’s sense of alienation. ‘‘Had the Supreme Court case been Chase v.
Painter ’’ instead of Sweatt v. Painter, Chase stated, ‘‘then I might not have
made it through. I think he bore that pressure, that he would be stopped—
I really believe that—and they stopped him, they stopped him.’’≥∂

Although beset with ‘‘a lot of mental anguish’’ of his own at ut, Chase
was not stopped. He married the year he entered ut, and, unlike Sweatt’s,
his marriage lasted beyond his graduate work at ut. His marital status was,
of course, an important issue. Attuned to the paranoid white male mind-
set, a local Austin newspaper noted about Chase: ‘‘Single, he plans to
marry in August.’’ Despite Chase’s success at ut and that of other black
students, and despite their not threatening white supremacy with the crim-
inally prosecutable outrage of miscegenation, state and university officials
continued to plan a future course that maintained segregation in higher
education, even at the graduate and professional levels.≥∑

Chase’s background is both different from and similar to other blacks
who broke the color line in Texas higher education. His father, a graduate
of Morgan College, taught school for a while but left teaching for a better-
paying job at the post office. His mother, also a college graduate, chose
the better-paying work of maid over teaching. Born on 23 January 1925,
Chase received his early education from all-black Stanton Elementary and
Wiley H. Bates High School in Annapolis, Maryland. At Bates, he was
influenced by his drafting and industrial arts teacher, Professor Marchand,
who gave him the word ‘‘architect’’ for what he described as his desired
occupation and guided him in that direction. Following in the footsteps of
his older sister, Chase attended Hampton Institute, but the draft inter-
rupted his education in 1944 for two and a half years of service, which
included duty in the South Pacific. Afterward, Hampton helped place him
in a job in Philadelphia, but he grew dissatisfied with northern segrega-
tion. He sought another placement and landed a job in Austin teaching at
the Crescent Institute, which was owned and operated by a Hampton grad-
uate and provided adult education to black veterans. He also taught at
Anderson High School while his architectural firm, Chase and Buckley
Modern Designers, from an office on East Eleventh Street, together with
the Lott Lumber Company, built black Austin. He desired graduate train-
ing so that he could design more than homes and small buildings for
African Americans. He wanted to help design and build the modern
world.≥∏
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Limiting Desegregation at UT

While Chase dreamed of being a ut-trained and certified architect deter-
mining the form and function of the structures of the future, segregation-
ists busied themselves with maintaining the already obsolete structures of
the past. tsun’s contract with ut became the framework for limiting the
speed and extent of desegregation in Texas higher education. A year after
the Sweatt decision, board vice chairman W. R. Banks informed Painter
that ‘‘it was definitely decided’’ that tsun would provide, on an ‘‘equal
basis,’’ bachelor’s and master’s degrees in major subjects in the arts and
sciences, in education, and in business, as well as professional degree pro-
grams in law and pharmacy. ‘‘Dr. Lanier has been requested to build his
faculty and secure supplies and equipment to support this training pro-
gram,’’ Banks dryly reported. Painter, for his part, assured Banks, Lanier,
and other tsun officials that ut had no intention of ‘‘competing’’ with the
black university or the A&M college for black graduate students. The law
school would admit blacks because the Supreme Court ruled that it had to,
but, as for other fields of study, it would admit qualified blacks only to
programs neither Prairie View nor tsun listed in its catalog. ut admis-
sions staff strictly adhered to such a policy, but occasionally contradictions
arose. Although tsun’s catalog stated that it offered a master’s degree and
courses required for a teaching certificate in special education, applicants
to the program found reality to be different. When blacks, mostly special
education teachers, began to apply directly to ut, they explained the situa-
tion to Captain McCown, who in turn informed President Painter. In-
structed to contact Lanier, McCown reached the tsun president by tele-
phone on 11 April 1951 and finally received official word that ut should
not admit blacks to the university even though tsun did not yet have a full
program in special education.

A verbal reply to Painter, however, would not be sufficient. On 7 July, he
wrote Lanier asking for ‘‘an official letter so that our records of coopera-
tion will be clear.’’ He explained that ‘‘it is not the desire of the University
of Texas to compete with your institution in the graduate field, and there-
fore, we have consistently refused admission to the University when the
work sought was being offered either at your institution or at Prairie View
University. In the present case, it is important that we have from you an
official statement with regard to the above matter. If you do not offer a
Master’s Degree in Special Education, obviously the University of Texas
should receive the Negro students who are applying for this work.’’ Lanier
responded that tsun had just reached the point where it would offer one
course in the present summer session. He said that there were plans to
offer a larger program the coming academic year and a full program in the
Texas Education Agency–recognized area of special education by the sum-
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mer of 1952. Lanier asked Painter to refer all applications back to tsun
and noted that Chairman Banks had endorsed his position. As for the
many students ut had rejected in the 1950–51 academic year and his lack
of timely response, Lanier explained that ‘‘we had planned to consummate
our plans this present summer session, but we were waiting on our budget
before going through with our plans.’’ Obviously, Lanier did no planning
at all for the blacks who desired what tsun could not provide but ut could.
What he did offer was the opportunity for black students who could not
wait for tsun to accommodate them to apply for financial help to Banks,
who also chaired the Out-of-State Aid Committee. ‘‘Some teachers,’’ Lan-
ier told Painter, ‘‘due to the uncertainty of our offerings in this area, have
been granted Out-of-State Aid to study Special Education this summer.’’≥π

The efforts of President Lanier and Trustee Banks to block blacks from
entering ut’s graduate school did not extend across the board. tsun’s
programs in education, however, constituted in their minds a major pri-
ority area. Student demands for immediate provision in other fields that
tsun listed in its catalog but remained only in the planning stage left
Lanier in a quandary. Stephen L. Carraway’s application to do graduate
work in clinical psychology, a program that did not exist at tsun, left
Lanier two choices: refer him to ut or to the Out-of-State Aid Committee.
Lanier may have wanted to put Carraway on hold or send him out of Texas,
but he acquiesced to referring him to ut after H. E. Wright, head of the
Department of Psychology; S. E. Warren, acting dean of the graduate
school; and Dean H. Hadley Hartshorn informed him that budget reduc-
tions for the 1951–53 biennium left them unable to provide a full course
of study in the field Carraway requested. ut records do not indicate
whether it admitted Carraway.≥∫

Despite occasional contradictions and minor controversies arising from
ut’s limited desegregation policy, blacks entered various graduate-level
departments and professional schools and successfully matriculated with
white students. In all, between 5 June and 2 October 1950, thirty-two
blacks applied for admission to ut. The group consisted of twenty-five men
and seven women applying to sixteen different departments for degrees
on the baccalaureate, master’s, and doctoral levels. ut officials accepted
twenty-two and refused ten of the applications. They rejected five of the
applications because their degree programs of choice already existed at
tsun or Prairie View, three because they applied for work at the under-
graduate level, and two because their academic qualifications did not meet
university requirements. The applicants accepted to ut, many with impec-
cable academic records, enrolled in law or graduate programs not offered
at either of the black colleges.

ut’s first 22 black students out of a total student body of over 12,000
faced a considerable degree of hostility. George Washington Jr. of Dallas,
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one of the six black men who entered the law school in the fall term,
described the racial atmosphere in the fall of 1950 as ‘‘icy and uncomfort-
able.’’ One night, in the first week of the term, Ku Klux Klansmen erected
a burning cross in front of the law school building. The Klan meant for
Sweatt, Washington, and all others to know that white supremacy con-
tinued as the true law of the land. As Sweatt left the law library after
studying late, he walked to his car in the glow of a fiery spectacle. The jeers
and taunts of the crowd assembled on the lawn crowded out of his mind
much of the information he had spent hours learning. Now he had to
worry about whether he would make it home in one piece. A white friend
accompanied him to his car, but, with four slashed tires, his car would not
be able to take him anywhere. In the days after the incident, a few white
liberals offered words of consolation, but ut officials expressed no serious
condemnation of the crime and Austin police never arrested the culprits.
The black students downplayed the incident and went about their studies
showing no outward signs of embarrassment or that their faith in the
righteousness of their course had been shaken. Sweatt, in remarkable a
letter to Thurgood Marshall dated 28 October 1950, portrayed the cross-
burning as working to the benefit of the black students. White students, he
reported, ‘‘have gone obviously out of their way to amend for any discom-
fort likely to have been caused us as a result of it [the Klan action].’’ ut’s
most famous student noted that he and his black peers had not been
subjected to many of the commonplace forms of segregation at ut that
existed elsewhere for blacks. They used the same university restrooms and
water fountains whites used and sat wherever they desired in the lounges,
campus eating places, and sports events that occurred at ut. In the first
month of school, Sweatt received an appointment to his class’s social com-
mittee and attended a ‘‘stag’’ party at the student union and a dance the
students organized at the Austin Commodore Perry Hotel. He informed
Marshall that his white classmates were ‘‘very agreeable.’’≥Ω

Sweatt would later describe himself during this period as an emotional
wreck. Four years of putting his life on hold, of making his life a front-page,
policy-changing legal case had taken its toll. His health had begun to fail
him, and at the same time his marriage hit rock bottom and soon ended in
a divorce court. A man of enormous will, he somehow felt that he could
overcome the frustrations in his personal life, brave a hostile and high-
pressured environment (which kept his ulcers from healing), and make
passing grades at an intensely competitive law school after being out of
school for more than a dozen years. He also worried incessantly over
whether he had what it took to pass and whether certain members of the
faculty or certain classmates were out to ‘‘get him.’’ Ultimately, the demons
of white supremacy did drive him from the school and even from the state
itself. He lived out the balance of his life in Atlanta, Georgia, earning a
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graduate degree in social work and working for the Urban League. A
shroud of public silence and shame fell over Sweatt’s nervous breakdown,
as his condition was called in the rare moments it was mentioned and given
a name. Although Sweatt was recognized by ut Africana Studies director
John Warfield and others on campus, it was not until a decade or more
after his death in the 1970s that ut acknowledged its debt to Sweatt with
the creation of a civil rights symposium and other honors.∂≠

Comparatively, his classmate, George Washington, faced a less difficult
situation. The great J. H. Morton mentored Washington, one of Huston
College’s stellar pupils, and recommended him to teach government
classes at the college after his graduation. From the little campus sitting in
ut’s shadow at day’s end, Washington watched Sweatt’s legal fight with
hope in his heart and prayers on his lips. He entered ut thanks to Sweatt’s
sacrifice, but without his burdens, at least to an extent. Once, during class,
a student said ‘‘nigger’’ as casually as a Christian would call the name Jesus.
Washington’s jaws tightened, but he dismissed the student’s choice of
words as merely the product of a bad habit of speech and not a specific
attempt to degrade him. However, ‘‘there were a few liberals in the room
who I knew would resent it if I showed no offense,’’ he recalled, ‘‘so I
turned around and looked at the fellow with as stern a look as I could
muster.’’ He never heard another student use the word again.∂∞

How heavy an inward price desegregating ut exacted on the young men
and women who attended the school in the early 1950s defies easy estima-
tion. If the black experience at ut could be compressed into a single word
it would have to be ‘‘loneliness’’ or perhaps ‘‘estrangement.’’ Desegrega-
tion did not mean inclusivity. Publicly, however, the black students did not
broadcast their troubles and typically did all they could to represent their
experience in as upbeat a manner as they could. As a result, the applica-
tions from blacks continued to come into ut and to other institutions of
higher learning.∂≤

The Beal Brothers and the Texas Medical Center

The big city of Houston, presumably safe from naacp work against racial
discrimination in higher education, thanks to the presence of Texas State
University of Negroes, became the site of quiet, in-house desegregation.
ut’s outposts in the Bayou City included its Postgraduate School of Medi-
cine and its School of Dentistry. In 1950, they functioned as units of ut’s
newly developing Texas Medical Center, an affiliated but autonomous part
of the University of Texas. The Medical Center’s centerpiece was the hospi-
tal for cancer research named for the multimillionaire bachelor Monroe
Dunaway Anderson, who at his death in 1939 left $3,250,000 in money,
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gifts, and land for its creation. In 1950, when Anthony Wayne Beal read
that the Texas Medical Center would open a postgraduate medical school
where a practicing physician could take courses to remain abreast of the
latest advances in medical sciences, he did not think for a second about
segregation preventing him from enrolling. Born in rural Hammond,
Texas, his father mastered the carpentry trade and his mother, part Afri-
can and part Choctaw, kept house and raised fourteen children. In 1934,
Beal graduated in a class of thirteen from Calvert Colored School, where
he never saw a new textbook in twelve years of study. W. R. Banks, the
keynote speaker at his graduation commencement, gave, as Beal recalled,
a ‘‘strong and progressive speech’’ titled ‘‘Ruling the Roost.’’ It motivated
the young student to attend Prairie View, but having no success at finding a
job to pay for his education, Beal transferred to Paul Quinn College. Still
faced with the burden of inadequate funds, he took time off to work a
while. He soon resumed his studies, however, and finally completed a
bachelor of science degree in chemistry at Bishop College in 1939.∂≥

The tenacious Texan next became one of the first blacks to take advan-
tage of the out-of-state tuition assistance program that Dr. Richard Hamil-
ton prodded the state legislature to create. He graduated from Meharry
Medical College in Nashville, Tennessee, in 1943, whereupon he traveled
to St. Louis to do his residency training in surgery, anesthesia, and psychia-
try at the Homer G. Phillips Hospital. On 15 January 1945, Beal moved to
Houston and joined his older brother Perry, who had been practicing
medicine in the city since 1935. The elder brother’s struggle for a medical
education had been even more arduous without the tuition subsidy. To-
gether the two Beals became a dynamic force in black Houston, especially
in black medical organizations such as the Lone Star State Medical Associa-
tion and the Houston Medical Forum, which pledged to support a student
to sue the University of Texas for admission and tacitly supported Barnett’s
entering the school. Anthony Beal’s activism arose out of a spirited black
weltanschauung. ‘‘We were all dedicated to the fight at that time and it was
a do or die,’’ he recalled. ‘‘It was a fearless type of aggressive movement . . .
a really critical time . . . from 1945, when I came to practice, . . . [the
struggle for racial justice] was very aggressively pursued, fearlessly, we just
let the chips fall where they may.’’∂∂

In the 1950–51 academic school year, the ‘‘chips’’ fell in a classroom of
the University of Texas Postgraduate School of Medicine in Houston’s
Texas Medical Center. Drs. Anthony and Perry Beal sat in middle-row
classroom seats in Mavis P. Kelsey’s course in modern therapeutics. These
men had complexions of a dark black-brown hue that revealed their fa-
ther’s African Madagascar ancestry. The Beal brothers had come for edu-
cation, not demonstration; and on those terms, Kelsey and the officials
made no fuss or furor. Beal received his certificate for twenty-five credit
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hours and returned in subsequent years for postgraduate courses in sur-
gery and gynecology.∂∑

‘‘Zeb . . . Stay out of These White Women’s Faces’’

The University of Texas Dental Branch desegregated in 1952 as a result of
a process carried out as quietly as that of the postgraduate division of the
Medical Center. Officials of the dental school, wanting to head off any
lawsuit, literally grew and hand-picked the blacks that would desegregate
the school. The men they selected, Moritz Virano Craven and Zeb Ferdi-
nand Poindexter, unlike the Beals, came from urbane, relatively privileged
black middle-class families. Craven’s father was Dr. Essex S. Craven, a
prominent physician in black Houston. Poindexter’s father, although he
had only an eighth grade education, got a job as a dining car waiter, one of
the best jobs available for black men during the 1920s. His mother taught
school in Fort Worth after having studied for two years at Wilberforce
University in Ohio, but she later earned her four-year degree from Wiley
College. Widowed in 1941, Poindexter’s mother did what she could to
provide for her four children. Although financially she could only do so
much to help them, she encouraged them to pursue higher education,
and they each one did achieve an advanced or professional degree. A
cousin of the Poindexter’s, Vassar Tolbert, had become a medical doctor
and taught anatomy at Meharry Medical College. Citing his example, Poin-
dexter’s mother pointed her son in the direction of the medical profession
early in his life. After finishing at Terrell High School, he earned a bach-
elor’s degree from Wiley College and then took a job as a dining car porter.
Like Sweatt, who finished his degree at Wiley and felt lucky when he
returned to Houston to find a job as a porter at Sakowitz Department
Store, Poindexter felt no shame in working for the railroad at such a
menial job. Years later, he explained how he faced the indignities and
constraints of a white-dominated world and then became the first to deseg-
regate the ut Dental Branch:

Most people don’t realize what segregation was. You didn’t think about buck-
ing the law, you went ahead and accepted what was status quo . . . what was
the law at that time. Now it took a lots to rebel against the establishment and
when you do usually one single individual gets punished. This is what hap-
pened to Heman Sweatt. Heman Sweatt had a nervous breakdown. It took a
lots of stamina to really get through and fight the status quo.

However, in my favor I had been working for Dr. Telfort for two years and
he was the Dean of Admissions at the University of Texas Dental Branch . . .
[and] they selected the [black] students that they wanted [to have desegre-
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gate the school] so I was asked: ‘‘Zeb, we are thinking about admitting a
colored student to the University here and everybody knows you, would you
like to go?’’∂∏

Telfort hired him as a laboratory assistant in 1950 upon the recommenda-
tion of tsun president Ralph O’Hara Lanier and science professor Robert
Terry. His excellent work in tsun’s master’s program and good record as a
laboratory aide at the dental school convinced the school officials that if
desegregation had to occur, then Poindexter would make a promising
candidate. When they asked Poindexter to attend the white school, it did
not take him long to respond with a ‘‘yes.’’ A man of great personal magne-
tism, the future dentist had a way of looking deep into the place where a
person’s humors reside and with the snap of his fingers turn almost anyone
into a friend. He called it his knack for selling. It served him well; some-
times too well. Shortly after ut admitted him, his charm landed him a
conference with the dean of the dental school, Frederick C. Elliott. He
recalled the reason Elliott, who in 1952 went on to become the executive
director of the Texas Medical Center, called him in: ‘‘The girls used to
come and bring me coffee and donuts when I was down there [in the
laboratory] taking care of the animals—the white girls; wasn’t no black
women working there, the white girls. Dr. Elliott called me in his office. He
say, ‘Zeb,’ he say, ‘you in a new environment now.’ I say, ‘Yes sir.’ I’m
expecting him to ask me do I need a tutor or do I think I can’t keep up with
the subjects and everything. He say, ‘I want you to stay out of these white
women’s faces.’ I said, ‘Yes sir.’ ’’∂π Poindexter’s personality and his being in
the urban metropolis of Houston did not leave him despairing of loneli-
ness during his four years at ut Dental School. He pursued his dental
education and negotiated the daily manifestations of white supremacy,
privilege, and power with a mask that always presented a smile as it con-
cealed his innermost feelings of anger and humiliation. In 1956, he com-
pleted his course of study and became the first black man to graduate from
the dental school. About a decade and a half later, the school asked him to
join its faculty and he became its first black instructor. Craven also gradu-
ated, but a year after Poindexter.

A Breach in Brownsville?

Collegiate desegregation in Texas moved beyond Galveston, Austin, and
Houston in 1951. In the context of the Sweatt decision and the sudden
responses of local authorities to the lack of or unequal postsecondary
educational opportunities available to African Americans, black students,
often with direct ties to naacp activists, began applying like never before to
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the state’s institutions of higher learning that denied their admission on
racial grounds. In some cities, white authorities created black junior col-
leges or expanded existing ones, generally in the black high school. Typ-
ically, the local white junior or senior college organized the black junior
colleges as branches that would satisfy black demands for college, voca-
tional, or adult training programs. An article in the December 1951 issue
of Texas Outlook, the official organ of the all-white Texas State Teachers
Association, reported that a ‘‘growing feeling’’ existed that black junior
college branches ‘‘do not provide equal facilities.’’ It noted that at least one
junior college had begun admitting blacks and that suits for admission had
been filed against other schools. The white teachers’ group did not go so
far as to advocate desegregation, but the article did suggest that it was an
emerging trend, which, along with other developments, indicated that the
state’s junior colleges were on their way to becoming ‘‘community col-
leges’’ in the truest sense of the term.∂∫

Three junior colleges took the unprecedented action of voluntarily de-
segregating in 1951. A close analysis of the places that admitted blacks
reveal some interesting patterns. Texas Southmost College at Brownsville
and Howard County Junior College at Big Spring became the first under-
graduate public schools in Texas to admit black students. The details on
Texas Southmost College’s desegregation remain sketchy. Carter Wesley
published a small article in the 8 September 1951 edition of the Houston

Informer that reported that Howard County Junior College had followed
the Brownsville school in announcing that it would admit blacks. The
available historical records tend to endorse the common view that the
problem of racial segregation of blacks had never been a major issue in
the Rio Grande Valley, at least not for the Anglos and Mexican Americans
who dominated many of the counties of the region.∂Ω

Established as Brownsville Junior College in 1926 with the encourage-
ment of the University of Texas, the school very well may have had persons
with some African ancestry attending the school from its earliest years. A
student’s mother could have been a full-blooded African, but if she had a
Spanish surname, admission officers asked no questions. Despite this lim-
ited flexibility, racial segregation did constitute a significant social problem
for South Texas African and Mexican Americans alike. In 1950, Cameron
County, with Brownsville as its seat, led the way as the most highly industri-
alized county in Texas. The state’s third largest cotton-producing county,
Cameron hosted a wide range of industrial, international trade, tourist,
and petroleum processing business activity. Its population of 125,170 in-
habitants consisted of 65.8 percent Latin Americans, 33.6 percent Anglo-
Americans, and a mere 0.6 percent, or 751, Negroes. Based upon the
pattern of landownership and landowner-worker relations, Cameron grew
up an ‘‘Anglo county,’’ notwithstanding the fact that Anglos represented a
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minority group. The minutes of the junior college’s board of trustees’
meetings between 1950 and 1959 do not mention a policy change regard-
ing the admission of blacks. Nor does the Brownsville Herald report a formal
policy change. In the aftermath of the Brown v. Board of Education decision
in 1954, John F. Barron, superintendent of Brownsville’s school district
and former president of Texas Southmost, stated that he saw no problem
with desegregation since the town only had thirteen pupils attending its
sole black elementary school. By arrangement, the city of Harlingen al-
lowed Brownsville to transport a distance of thirty miles two black students
for instruction at its high school for blacks. In relation to the Brown deci-
sion, Barron stated, ‘‘We’ll see what the state sends down on this and do
whatever they say.’’∑≠

Cameron County Anglos accepted but did not welcome desegregation.
An editorial in the Brownsville Herald groaned about Court’s ruling in
Brown : ‘‘We cannot rejoice with the Negroes, if they consider this a vic-
tory.’’ Calling the Supreme Court a ‘‘College of Cardinals,’’ perhaps reveal-
ing a trace of anti-Catholicism, the editor cautioned that ‘‘you can’t legis-
late a social change overnight.’’ Asserting that the ruling reflected the rule
of men instead of law, the editor chastised that blacks ‘‘have accomplished
nothing to increase their opportunities for real education’’ and predicted
that ‘‘some enterpriser is sure to come up with some variation of the old
Grandfather Clause.’’ Moreover, the allure of ‘‘the fancy palaces of the
white folks across the tracks’’ would cause blacks to lose the sense of ‘‘sacri-
fice and devotion’’ that compelled them to send their children to the
small, Jim Crow school. In 1954, desegregation gradually took place in
Cameron County, despite the disapproval of the Anglo masses.∑∞

The Mexican American majority, on the other hand, embraced the
meaning of Brown and took the opportunity to intensify its struggle against
so-called ‘‘Mexican’’ schools, which were supposedly segregated on the
basis of language rather than race or ancestry. This heightened struggle
did not, however, take the form of additional litigation in the manner of
the landmark 1948 Delgado case in Bastrop. Historian Guadalupe San Mi-
guel observes that from the middle of the 1950s to the late 1960s, organi-
zations of people of Mexican descent, like the League of United Latin
American Citizens (lulac) and the American G.I. Forum, faced an ‘‘era of
subterfuge’’ that effectively rendered ‘‘futile’’ the use of lawsuits to compel
desegregation. Educational equalization activism, however, took other
forms. Increased direct political solidarity between African Americans and
Mexican Americans emerged as one of them.∑≤

In the absence of detailed information on the blacks that desegregated
Texas Southmost between 1950 and 1955, the earliest black student at the
junior college who can be identified is Albert A. Hunter of Brownsville. His
picture appears in the school yearbook, Scorpio, as a freshman in the 1955–
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56 academic year. Emanuel Bowser appears next in 1957–58. In the
1956–57 regular term, Texas Southmost had 1,150 students and sixty-
nine faculty members, up from 763 students and twenty-seven teachers in
1952–53. Thus, desegregation did not have an adverse effect on enroll-
ment at the junior college. Photographs of school organizations and cam-
pus life in Scorpio do not reveal black students entering the mainstream
until 1968. Three blacks appear in the annual’s class pictures, and Robert
Hosey had the honor of being elected most popular sophomore and best
all-around student. Students also voted Philip Turner the most popular
freshman. The college, which later became the University of Texas at
Brownsville, did not recruit its first black faculty until John Anderson came
to the English department to teach speech in 1985.∑≥

Big Spring

The desegregation of Howard County Junior College, like Texas South-
most’s, took place a year after the Sweatt decision in an area with a small
African American population. Howard County, with its ranching, farming,
oil, and gas businesses, had only about 800 black inhabitants. With an
overall population of 26,722, Howard was 82.8 percent Anglo, 13.9 per-
cent Latin, and 3.3 percent African American. Big Spring had been the
home of an army air force bombardier school, and in 1946, after a public
vote, the hospital area of the defunct base was converted to be used as a
junior college. Big Spring blacks, especially black soldiers and veterans at
the nearby Webb Air Force Base, were dismayed when they found out that
they would be barred from any use of the new school and would have no
equal facilities created for them. When college officials announced plans
to move the school to a new 100-acre campus in the southeastern part of
the city effective September of 1951, the local naacp stirred itself into
action to pose a challenge based on the Sweatt victory. Presented with black
applicants, trustees could either desegregate or hurriedly take the eco-
nomically infeasible route of establishing a black junior college. In Sep-
tember of that year, college officials announced that qualified blacks had
applied to the school and that it would admit them. On 17 September,
Gwendell White and Robert L. Brown enrolled for premedical studies and
Frances Louise Stewart entered as a prenursing student. The next day,
Jessie Mae Davis entered with an interest in education, and a few days later
Ervin D. Butler Jr. enrolled in courses in business administration. All oc-
curred with no major opposition, and the naacp branch and civil liber-
tarians at Big Spring claimed a major victory.∑∂

The desegregation of Howard County Junior College helped prepare
Big Spring to take steps toward complying with the Courts ruling in Brown,
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but it also spurred social conservatives into action. In 1955, when school
trustees gathered to discuss ending segregation, one member, R. E. Mc-
Kinney, adamantly opposed any move in that direction. He bolted from
the board and soon became a plaintiff in a suit to stop school district
officials from ending segregation in the city’s elementary schools. McKin-
ney and fellow plaintiff Roy Bruce, another Big Spring resident, identified
themselves as local representatives of the Texas Citizens’ Council, a new
group organized in the summer of 1955. Ted O. Groebl and John W.
Currie, who professed no membership in the new council, joined McKin-
ney and Bruce in suing for a declaratory judgment and injunction to halt
allocation of foundation school funds to the schools of Big Spring unless
they maintained the separate education of black and white children as
stated in the state constitution and various statutes. A Dallas law firm,
Carlton and Street, represented the men in what they agreed would be a
test case that would determine whether the Texas state constitution requir-
ing racial separation or the U.S. Supreme Court’s interpretation of the
federal constitution forbidding the same would be the valid law of the
state. On 26 August, a district judge in Big Spring, Charlie N. Sullivan,
denied the injunction and gave his opinion that the laws and constitution
of a state must yield if they conflict with the antisegregation decision of the
high court. His ruling in effect cleared the way for local school boards to
begin racial desegregation of the schools. Segregationists appealed their
case to the Texas Supreme Court, where justices Few Brewster, Meade
Griffin, and Ruel Walker upheld Sullivan’s decision and voided the ‘‘sepa-
rate but equal’’ doctrine in the Lone Star State. That fall, seven out of the
twenty-one Big Spring black children who were certified as eligible to
transfer to a white elementary school entered a new social reality, putting
the town on the path toward abolishing precollegiate school segregation.
The other fourteen remained at the black school. The city’s eighty-nine
black junior and senior high school students attended school that year in a
new, $210,000 building erected to provide them the separate equality that
had long been denied.∑∑

Amarillo

The conflict between democracy and white supremacy challenged Potter
County’s Amarillo College much as it had Howard County Junior College.
In the 1940s, black students and servicemen at Amarillo Air Force Base,
complained that they were barred access to education or training beyond
the high school level while whites could attend the local junior college. In
1950, Potter County, with Amarillo as its seat, had a population of 73,366.
Known in the Texas panhandle as a leader in oil and gas production, cattle
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raising, and wheat cultivation, the county was 92.2 percent white, 4.8 per-
cent black, and 3.0 percent Latin American. Growing steadily since its
creation in 1929, Amarillo college had about 1,000 students and fifty
faculty members in the early 1950s. Soon after the Court’s decision in
Sweatt, Reverend R. H. Hines, leader of the Amarillo chapter of the naacp,
approached the city school board, which administered the college, to dis-
cuss allowing blacks to enroll. Recognizing that the lawsuit under way to
open Texarkana Junior College would, in A. Maceo Smith’s words, ‘‘defi-
nitely affect Amarillo and 34 other Junior Colleges in Texas which exclude
Negro students,’’ and on the strength of the Sweatt decision, the board
voluntarily dropped the color line.∑∏

On 1 October 1951, when the Amarillo School Board voted to admit
black students, Hines and the naacp claimed a major victory. However, the
board approved the admission of only qualified blacks who could prove
residency inside the boundaries of the independent school district. Lane
McAfee, president of the school board, explained that the board adopted
the residency restriction ‘‘to prevent Negro students from all over the state
from entering the school.’’ Physically and politically, the school could not
sustain what it believed might be a large influx of blacks to the junior
college. On 3 October, just three black women enrolled as regular day
students: Celia Ann Bennett, in premedical studies; Johnnie Mae Cartez,
in prenursing studies; and Dorothy Reese, in home economics. Dr. A. M.
Meyer remarked that Amarillo College had experienced ‘‘no unpleasant
incidents whatsoever. We have found that the students, both white and
Negro, get along extremely well.’’∑π

The board made explicit that the decision to desegregate arose from
practical interests and not out of any desire to practice social or racial
reform. The good Reverend Hines and the naacp, on the other hand,
relished their roles as reformers and pushed to extend desegregation into
the city’s primary and secondary schools. Dr. J. O. Wyatt, a prominent
black physician in Amarillo, added another dimension to the fight for
equal rights and justice when he announced his candidacy for the school
board in the spring elections. He did not win, but for his effort, he did get
eight white boys to leave a burning cross in his driveway. He responded to
the gesture: ‘‘I do not consider this an expression of public sentiment and
it will not alter my plans at all. I have felt during my years of residence here
that the people are not like that.’’ Undeterred, black advocates of integra-
tion secured from the board a plan for desegregation of the local schools
to begin in the fall of 1955, but when the Citizens’ Council members filed
their lawsuit at Big Spring, they abruptly abandoned the plan. Thus, Ama-
rillo College and Howard County Junior College, as the first public under-
graduate institutions of higher learning in Texas to admit blacks and de-
part from the traditions of social separatism, set examples of how to make a
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smooth transition to integration, but their success did not lead their re-
spective communities toward immediate change at the precollegiate level.
If anything, they made their towns become lightning rods attracting con-
certed, albeit futile, resistance from extreme social conservatives.∑∫

Corpus Christi

Del Mar Junior College, the one other two-year institution of higher educa-
tion in Texas to desegregate before the Brown decision, perhaps enjoyed
the most successful and far-reaching transformation of caste arrange-
ments experienced anywhere in the state prior to May of 1954. At midcen-
tury, Nueces County, which had the coastal jewel Corpus Christi as its seat,
had a population of 165,471. With a naval air station and a strong local
economy driven by a diverse mix of agricultural and industrial production,
commerce, tourism, and the oil and gas business, Nueces was home to an
Anglo majority (57.1 percent of its population) that thoroughly domi-
nated county life. Nueces had 7,943 blacks, who made up 4.8 percent of
the population; Latin Americans made up 38.1 percent. Black Corpus
Christians for decades watched as their white neighbors took advantage of
Nueces being one of the richest and fastest growing Texas counties. They
also observed their Mexican American neighbors rouse from their slum-
bers in the late 1920s and openly attack school segregation based on
language. The League of United Latin American Citizens and the Ameri-
can G.I. Forum, founded in 1929 and1948, respectively, were two of the
major Mexican American protest groups that developed in the twentieth
century. Their growth can be attributed to the work of Corpus Christi
leaders like businessman Ben Garza and medical doctor Hector P. García.
The latter leader, moreover, would become a key ally of the black move-
ment for civil and human rights.∑Ω

When the Corpus Christi Independent School District (ccisd) estab-
lished Del Mar in 1935 in the city’s white senior high school, Mexican
Americans could enroll, but the school barred blacks altogether. The dis-
trict furnished education to blacks in three facilities: the Booker T. Wash-
ington Elementary School, the George Washington Carver School, and
the Solomon M. Coles High School. In the late 1940s, Harry Coleman,
president of the local naacp branch, began an exchange of letters with the
ccisd regarding the woeful conditions of the black schools. In a move
contrary to naacp national policy, Coleman requested that ‘‘our Negro
schools be made equal in all respects to the other schools of the city.’’ Ray
West, president of the ccisd board of trustees, answered the naacp equal-
ization demand with promises that a renovation program involving all of
the schools would be completed by the start of the 1950 spring semester.
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He also noted that ‘‘years before it was required by law, this system [ccisd]
adopted a single salary schedule for all teachers. . . . We have been trying to
do the best possible for all students.’’ The board, which administered the
junior college until 1950, when it separated from the district and formed
its own board of regents composed exclusively of Anglo men, also ap-
proved adult education and night school classes in English at the black
high school. In 1946, when the junior college added the adult and voca-
tional department to meet the educational demands of returning vet-
erans, Del Mar also organized ‘‘Negro classes’’ at what officials dubbed the
Solomon Coles Junior College for Negroes. By 1948, E. L. Williams, direc-
tor of the department, boasted that twenty students would graduate from
this program.∏≠

In June of 1952, however, campus administrators rejected black ap-
plications to classes at Del Mar on the basis that the law of segregation
prevented them from doing otherwise. With that decree, prominent black
dentist and longtime naacp member H. Boyd Hall sprung into action.
Appearing before the Del Mar board of regents he apprised them that the
Sweatt decision and other rulings of the Supreme Court nullified the state’s
segregation laws where it could be proven that equal education had not
been provided to blacks. An investigations committee confirmed the in-
equality between the black and the white schools in regard to academic
program, library, physical plant, courses, and schedules. Moreover, it con-
cluded that ‘‘it would take a minimum of $300,000 to bring Coles Junior
College up to Del Mar.’’ Dr. Hall had already served notice that he would
file a lawsuit for the educational rights of black Corpus Christians, so when
the board of regents concluded they did not have the funds necessary to
create separate equality, they determined that their only alternative was to
desegregate. Thus, with no show of reluctance or negative statements, the
board voted unanimously to admit blacks who lived in the Corpus Christi
Junior College district area beginning 1 September. Del Mar president
E. L. Harvin, formerly a history professor, expressed optimism about the
decision and noted that students had registered no objections to the ad-
mission of blacks and that he anticipated no trouble.∏∞

Del Mar experienced no trouble at all over its desegregation in 1952
when perhaps a dozen black students entered the student body of 3,876.
Indeed, if pictures in the 1953 and 1954 annuals, the Cruiser, tell the story,
it is one of remarkable, affirmative acceptance. Alice Fay James and Lav-
ernis Royal, two outstanding students who desegregated the campus, be-
came leaders looked up to by black, brown, and white students alike. James
received the support of the African American, Anglo, and Mexican Ameri-
can student members of the LaMar Club to become its president. In wom-
en’s intramural basketball, she also helped lead the club to victory and
played on the All-Stars team. Royal took the art department by storm and
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as a student of Mary Johnson he designed and produced the thespian
plaques that adorned each side of the stage in the school’s Thimble The-
ater. He also acted on that stage as a member of the Red Masque Players. In
a class photograph of an art appreciation class with five young women,
Royal is pictured seated in the back row with the two white male students.
In his first and sophomore years, members of his class elected him their
representative to the Student Council and that body elected him council
historian. In later years, the college bestowed its highest honor on Royal by
inducting him into its Hall of Fame. Black students also entered vocational
training classes such as auto mechanics. Apparently, even older, working-
class whites accepted the presence of blacks. Corpus Christi’s readiness to
desegregate relative to the larger society’s is indicative of many years of
strong interracial solidarity-building in the city. Although the ccisd un-
dertook desegregation in 1955, with black students enrolling in previously
all-white schools, segregation of African American and Mexican Ameri-
can students and faculty remained a contentious issue in Corpus Christi
throughout the next two decades.∏≤

Roadblocks in the Deep East

naacp southwestern regional counsel Ulysses S. Tate wrote in a letter to all
branch officers on 1 August 1952 that the opening of Howard County
Junior College, Amarillo College, and Del Mar Junior College in the early
1950s was ‘‘good news.’’ He also asked local leaders not to doubt that such
change could occur and reminded them that ‘‘a right gained and not
used is no right at all.’’ He told them to encourage young people to apply
to their nearest junior college for admission, especially if they lived near
Big Spring, Amarillo, or Corpus Christi, and to watch the battles under way
to open the East Texas junior colleges in Wichita Falls, Texarkana, and
Kilgore. Tate emphasized that branches should discuss their plans with the
regional office before moving ‘‘into a fight’’ because his office had ‘‘the
know how to help you. Do not go off before you are ready. But do not
stand still.’’ He pledged that ‘‘[w]e can help you get ready’’ and ‘‘we will
help you do the job right.’’ Rebuking the naysayer, Tate volleyed, ‘‘Some
will say that you cannot do it, but the facts prove that we can. We have done
it and the white community has shown a readiness to advance with us.’’∏≥

Despite Tate’s appeal, only one other public two-year institution deseg-
regated before the Brown decision: San Angelo College in West Texas.
naacp activists and others launched antisegregation efforts in several
places, but their work came to no avail. In East Texas, at Hardin Junior
College/Midwestern University, Texarkana Junior College, and Kilgore
Junior College, resistance to desegregation proved stiff, and legal battles
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ensued, not ending until the fall of 1954 or later. After September of 1954,
when seven junior colleges joined the five already open, the naacp’s south-
western regional office reported, ‘‘[T]he back of racial segregation in
junior colleges in Texas has been broken. There is little doubt that excep-
tion [sic] for those in deep east Texas, the remainder of our junior colleges
[will be] open to Negro applicants as soon as they present themselves and
make a demand.’’ Tate did not exaggerate the importance of the victories
at the junior college level, but even with a broken back, segregation in East
Texas junior colleges would prove a formidable adversary in the years
ahead.∏∂

Defrocking Jim Crow

An additional area of collegiate desegregation in the early 1950s involved
denominational schools and religious seminaries. In September of 1950,
the Austin Presbyterian Theological Seminary became the first postsecon-
dary school in Texas to voluntarily admit blacks. The all-male seminary
under the leadership of David L. Stitt opened its doors to Daniel Clark. Not
much is known about his experience except that he studied on the campus
of a little more than 100 students and about a dozen faculty members. The
seminary was organized in 1902 and became affiliated with the largest of
the four Presbyterian sects in Texas, the Presbyterian Church in the United
States. It trained the vast majority of the state’s educated Presbyterian
ministers, and, with Clark’s admission, black men, especially those from
any of the twenty-one Colored Cumberland Presbyterian churches, were
allowed to enroll. A year before the Austin school desegregated, the board
of trustees at Trinity University in San Antonio, another Presbyterian in-
stitution, approved the admission of black servicemen to its evening divi-
sion at its downtown satellite campus. In so doing, it helped the armed
forces fulfill its obligation to provide equal educational opportunities to all
soldiers regardless of race. Texas Presbyterians, though they have never
sought nor received the credit, took the lead in dropping the color line in
its institutions of higher education. The Austin seminary, moreover, be-
came the second Presbyterian institution in the South to admit blacks after
Columbia Theological Seminary in Decatur, Georgia, admitted E. E. New-
berry in September of 1948. Louisville Presbyterian Theological Seminary
in Kentucky opened its doors in May of 1950, but its first student did not
arrive until September. The Reverend Snowden I. McKinnon, assistant
pastor of Mount Corinth Baptist Church in Houston, traveled to Louisville
to become the only black in the seminary’s Centennial Class of 1953. The
Texan attended Emmett Scott High School in Tyler, studied a year at tsun,
and received a B.A. degree with honors from Fisk University in 1950. He
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exemplifies how black Texans took the lead in desegregating higher edu-
cation in the early 1950s, both inside and outside the state.∏∑

Southern Methodist University (smu) was the second private school to
inch toward desegregation. smu officially decreed in 1950 that it would
admit blacks to its Perkins School of Theology in January of 1951. Pre-
viously, blacks had been allowed to audit classes in the theological school,
but they did not receive credit nor could they obtain a degree for their
work. Dean Eugene B. Hawk of the seminary explained the smu board’s
motive for allowing a graduates of Huston College and Jarvis Christian
College to become students at the state’s fifth largest university and the
premier institution of higher learning in the Dallas–Fort Worth area. We
are trying, he explained, ‘‘to do something Christian for Negro students.
The school can and should provide a service to a great group of people,
that will go far toward saving them to the church and from the inroads of
communism and other false and subtle philosophies.’’∏∏

smu officials refused to do anything ‘‘Christian’’ for black undergradu-
ates until many years later, but opening its graduate school of theology,
along with the desegregation of Austin Presbyterian Theological Semi-
nary, encouraged other denominational schools to question its adherence
to segregation. Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary in Fort Worth
and Wayland Baptist College in Plainview desegregated in the summer of
1951, and Saint Mary’s University in San Antonio and Texas Christian
University’s Brite College of the Bible in Fort Worth entered the fold in
1952. The desegregation of these schools provides evidence that the lead-
ership in major Christian religions—Baptists, Catholics, and Disciples of
Christ—grappled with the injustice and hypocrisy of racial segregation.

Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary (swbts) received its char-
ter from the state of Texas on 14 March 1908. Originally located in Waco,
it moved to Fort Worth in 1910. The school grew out of Baylor University’s
Theological Seminary, from which it separated in 1907. The Baptist Gen-
eral Convention of Texas, which ran both institutions, ceded control of the
Fort Worth school to the Southern Baptist Convention in 1925. Fully ac-
credited, the swbts offered bachelor’s, master’s, and doctor’s degrees and
at one time was the largest evangelical seminary in the world. Its board of
trustees was also responsible for setting policy for the Southern Baptist
Seminary in Louisville, the Baptist Seminary in New Orleans, and the
Golden Gate Seminary in San Francisco. The latter school never ‘‘barred
students of any race,’’ but the Texas, Louisiana, and Kentucky seminaries
did strictly adhere to segregation. In 1951, all three institutions ended
their ban on blacks. The Fort Worth school emerged as a leader among the
schools in promoting the change.∏π

Thomas Buford Maston, the social activist and theological conservative
who cautiously championed a re-envisioning of the Baptist Church’s views
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on race, was behind the victory of desegregation of the Texas seminary
after almost three decades of quietly advocating such reform from within.
He defined his approach: ‘‘[S]tart where the people are and keep the pres-
sure in the right place, pointed in the right direction. This eventually would
yield desirable and lasting results.’’ Where he started was among a thor-
oughly reactionary, white supremacist, and socially conservative bunch of
Texas Baptists. He practiced patience, kindness, balance, empathy, and
restraint with his white brethren, but he also could be exhortatory, declara-
tive, urgent, and assertive.∏∫

In April of 1946, just when Heman Sweatt and the Texas University
Movement had begun their nearly five-year-long battle against segregation
in Texas higher education, the Fort Worth branch of the naacp held a
monthly forum at Morning Chapel cme Church and invited Maston to be
its principal speaker. Forthrightly, the seminarian addressed himself to the
theme of the meeting, asserting that ‘‘the church must take the lead’’ in
the fight to ‘‘get equal educational opportunities for Negroes,’’ for the
problem of segregation ‘‘is primarily moral and spiritual.’’ He prophesied
that black and white students would eventually attend the same schools
and held that such a development ‘‘ought to start on the high level—
among the professionals—and there first among the church schools.’’ The
native Tennessean of impoverished, working-class origins declared that the
right to equal educational opportunities was a moral right, and he ex-
plained that ‘‘right is based on the character and will of God and in his
sight all people are alike.’’ Admonishing blacks to keep up the fight for
their rights, he observed that ‘‘one of the biggest problems of the Negro
race is to get more of ‘your own people’ behind such moves as this.’’ Blacks
kept fighting, and five years later Maston’s seminary found itself ‘‘bringing
up the rear.’’

For all Maston’s influence among Texas Baptists, the swbts did not
admit blacks to its regular day classes until 25 May 1951. With over 600
students in its summer session and over 1,700 in the regular academic year,
the swbts represented the largest school to fully desegregate. In an inter-
view years later, the ethicist claimed that the faculty of Southwestern would
have admitted blacks earlier, but the trustees and Southern Baptists at the
mass level effectively resisted change. When it did desegregate, however,
the seminary laid no restrictions as to the field or the level of study opened
to blacks. ut and smu were larger, but they adhered to a restricted desegre-
gation policy. The black men who first entered swbts and helped elevate
the moral condition of the white men there were Chester Brookings, S. M.
Lockeridge, and Getral Wright. When Maston spoke at the naacp forum
and said ‘‘whites cannot lift themselves by keeping the Negro down,’’ he
presented a basic moral principle that echoed ideas of Booker T. Wash-
ington and other thinkers on the race problem in the world. Of course, he
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had earned some stripes for his public remarks, especially those in his
book Of One, a frank study of race from a scriptural standpoint, which,
when published in 1946, established him as the leading spokesman for
racial justice among white Texas Baptists and embroiled him in no small
amount of controversy. However, after admitting Brookings, Lockeridge,
Wright, and other blacks in course, he, other faculty members, and Presi-
dent Lee Rutland acquired a more personal and visceral appreciation for
the meaning of social equality. They had to defend their decision before
the censure of prominent Baptists such as Dallas cleric W. A. Criswell, and,
more important, they had to close the intellectual gap between themselves
and rank-and-file members of the church for whom white supremacy re-
mained as abiding an article of faith as the belief that Jesus Christ is the
only begotten son of God who died on the cross to bring the possibility of
salvation to all people. As Maston pointed out, to defend desegregation by
pleading ‘‘thus saith the law’’ was to abdicate moral leadership to state
action. What ultimately won over many church leaders, such as Criswell,
was the contradiction in sending missionaries to Africa to spread the good
news while practicing Jim Crow and sharing the bad news of racial discrimi-
nation at home. As for the white masses, the opening of swbts amounted
to no more than a small step in challenging their racial attitudes. Indeed, it
could be seen as merely the fulfilling of a duty of the superior race, an-
other part of the white man’s burden, to let the most gifted and talented
black savages who desired to forsake their heathen ways come and study
theology and the Christian life with the best and brightest of the great
white race. Maston and many of his colleagues in 1951 may have gotten
beyond such retrograde and paternalist attitudes, but their fold had not.
The shepherds’ work against racial hatred and hierarchy had just begun.∏Ω

Wayland Baptist

Immediately on the heels of the desegregation of swbts, Wayland Baptist
College accepted four blacks to the 1951 summer term. The action, how-
ever, had no relation to the seminary changing its admission standards.
For some time, blacks, especially school teachers needing ‘‘leveling out’’
courses that would enable them to renew their contracts and become
eligible for promotions, had inquired whether the college might allow
them to take extension courses or segregated courses, if it would not forth-
rightly admit them to the school. Since it was a private school, the state
constitution’s provision against educating blacks and whites together had
no binding force. The binding force of white supremacy and separatism,
however, precluded any racial intermingling up until the spring of 1951,
when Annie Taylor put her story to Wayland’s president, J. W. ‘‘Bill’’ Wil-
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liams. Taylor, a teacher in Floydada, the seat of Floyd County, twenty-eight
miles from the college in Plainview, the seat of neighboring Hale County,
had to acquire graduate course work that summer or she could not return
to her job that fall. Without her, moreover, the black children of Floydada
would go without instruction. As she found leaving to attend classes at
Prairie View or Houston too inconvenient, it was Wayland or bust. Williams
prayed on the matter and received an inspiration. During the week of final
examinations, President Williams called the student body and the thirty-
and-some-odd faculty members to a general convocation to discuss ‘‘Miss
Annie’’ Taylor’s application. In a ballot on whether the college should
admit her and other Negroes, only 9 out of 274 objected to the idea; no
faculty members opposed her admission. Marshall took news of the vote to
the meeting of Wayland’s board of trustees the next night and asked them
to ‘‘do right,’’ for ‘‘if we do right, God will see we come out right.’’ Al-
though two trustees voted against admitting blacks, thirteen other mem-
bers of the board ultimately elected to open ‘‘the academic facilities of
Wayland College . . . to students of all races and nationalities.’’π≠

Three other local teachers followed Taylor into Wayland: Bessie Wil-
liams and Ernest and Vera Dykes. Together they made Wayland the first,
private, nonseminary four-year institution to eliminate its whites-only ad-
missions policy. President Marshall did not shy away from the opportunity
to use the media attention showered on the small college to trumpet the
idealism that lay behind his motivation: ‘‘We felt like it was the Christian
thing to do, the thing to do in harmony with democratic principles.’’ Dean
Preston James answered reporters’ queries about why the college did not
set up segregated classes to accommodate Taylor and other blacks by say-
ing such arrangements would have been impossible at Wayland. A month
after the news got out that Wayland had enrolled four black students, Mar-
shall reported that of the fifty letters the college received regarding its de-
segregation only five voiced regret over the board’s decision. Marshall felt
good about the ratio of supportive to negative correspondence, ‘‘since ob-
jectors generally voice their opinion quicker than people for a program.’’π∞

Although the articles about Wayland’s desegregation noted that at close
to fifty years of age Taylor was a mother of five with two children enrolled
as students at Prairie View College, few bothered to quote Taylor regarding
how she felt about integrating Wayland. Carter Wesley editorialized that
Wayland’s desegregation represented part of some significant ‘‘cracks in
the dam the oligarchy of the South has been at pains to build to keep the
Negro from equal opportunity’’ in that it involved religious leaders taking
up the ‘‘moral question’’ of segregation in education. ‘‘To a very large
extent,’’ Wesley asserted, the religious leadership set ‘‘the moral tone of
the community.’’ Identifying the private colleges of the South as ‘‘leading
the way’’ against racial discrimination, the editor noted that segregation,
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Annie Taylor, a forty-eight-year-old teacher from Floydada, upon entering
Wayland Baptist University in June of 1951 to take classes necessary to keep
her teacher certification, made the school the first four-year, liberal arts col-
lege in the former Confederate South to voluntarily end segregation. She
was joined by Bessie Williams and Ernest and Vera Dykes (Wayland Baptist
University).
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like chattel slavery, ‘‘has had church sanction since its inception.’’ ‘‘If and
when this sanction is removed,’’ he continued, ‘‘all politicians in the South
will not be able to keep it going.’’ Throughout the 1950s and 1960s, Texas
Baptist leadership openly debated the issue of racial injustice and chang-
ing the ‘‘moral tone’’ of the largest denomination in the state. Transforma-
tion of racial attitudes occurred slowly, if at all, but a crucial source of
change among Baptists came from the early Christian march toward deseg-
regation of the faith’s institutions of higher learning.π≤

With 1,332,187 members in 1953, the Roman Catholic Church in
Texas had a particularly strong presence in San Antonio, where it operated
five institutions of higher learning. Meyer Weinberg in his Chance to Learn:

A History of Race and Education in the United States identified Catholic col-
leges such as the ones in San Antonio as having been ‘‘notoriously exclu-
sionary.’’ The first Catholic school to desegregate in Texas and the River
City, Saint Mary’s University held the distinction of being the state’s oldest
college in continuous operation. In 1852, Bishop John Mary Odin secured
the help of brothers from the Society of Mary to found the school for white
boys. It became a senior college in 1926, adding a law school in 1934 and a
graduate division in 1937. As the university grew, various departments
went coeducational, but it did not admit women to all programs until
1963. Saint Mary’s quiet move toward racial desegregation occurred a few
years after Archbishops Joseph Ritter in St. Louis and Patrick O’Boyle in
Washington, D.C., put Catholic schools on the road to ending racial segre-
gation in 1947. In the early 1950s, San Antonio’s Archbishop Robert E.
Lucey began to lead his diocese in the direction of racial inclusiveness and
would help make the city a model for the state in its peaceful transition
away from the Anglocentric, separatist tradition that governed its schools
and institutions. In 1952, Hattie Elam Briscoe, a licensed cosmetology
instructor with a master’s degree from Prairie View A&M, began taking
night classes at St. Mary’s School of Law. She graduated first in her class in
1956. During her initial semester at the university, someone told her she
‘‘had no business being there.’’ She responded, ‘‘I am a woman, I am in law
school and I am going to become a lawyer.’’ At forty years old she did just
that and in the process garnered a number of ‘‘first’’ distinctions: the first
black woman to graduate from St. Mary’s, the first black woman to receive
a law degree from a Texas university, and one of the first black women
attorneys in the Lone Star State. From her office in the Preachers Profes-
sional Building, she practiced law for more than four decades.

Texas Christian University’s (tcu) Brite College of the Bible first open
its doors to a black graduate seminarian in September of 1952. The di-
vinity school had been a part of the university since 1914 and constituted
the premier theological seminary of the Christian Church (Disciples of
Christ) in the Southwest. The student, James Lee Clairborne, of Green-



U N I V E R S I T Y  D E S E G R E G AT I O N  B E F O R E  B R O W N

136

wood, Mississippi, had earned his baccalaureate degree from Jarvis Chris-
tian College and become pastor of Mount Olive Christian Church in the
Northeast Texas town of Henderson. His connection to the Christian
Church through Jarvis proved felicitous. J. J. and Ida Jarvis of Fort Worth
not only donated the 456 acres that became the campus of the black
denominational college named in their honor but also had a lengthy his-
tory of donating to tcu. The two schools had significant connections
through private philanthropists and members of religious organizations
like the Christian Women’s Board of Missions of the Disciples of Christ,
which may have influenced the board to initiate desegregation.π≥

Although Jarvis and tcu lacked any formal arrangements for inter-
collegiate cooperation, the white institution’s board of trustees looked
sympathetically at an application coming from an alumnus of its black
counterpart. The board announced that it would ‘‘admit Negro students
who have completed their A.B. work at a standard college and who meet all
scholastic and character requirements, to Brite College of the Bible to
work for a graduate degree or degrees in preparation for full time church
service.’’ The board stated that ‘‘it is understood that such Negro students
must meet the same standards and requirements for this graduate work
which have to be met by all other students.’’ The rest of tcu refused to
admit blacks for almost a decade more.π∂

The Road to Brown

On the basis of Heman Sweatt’s travail, the Texas University Movement
produced fourteen victories in the years before the Supreme Court ruled
in 1954 that segregated education violated the Fourteenth Amendment of
the U.S. Constitution. From Amarillo to Brownsville, from Houston to Big
Spring, the students who entered classrooms created by people who never
envisioned that a day would come when whites and blacks might sit as
equals and study morality, law, art, human anatomy, and anything else
their minds cared to explore had started something. What they started is
minimally explained by the degrees they attained and hardly at all by the
word ‘‘desegregation.’’

The ‘‘all-out war’’ of those for and against segregation in the pre-Brown

period has been rewritten in popular memory as a prelude rather than as a
period of struggle in its own right. It would become easy to diminish the
accomplishments of the years between 1949 and 1954. In A Chance to

Learn, Meyer Weinberg wrote disparagingly that ‘‘much of what was repre-
sented as the opening of southern graduate schools turned out to be an
increase in graduate departments of education. Black students in graduate
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departments of natural sciences, social sciences, or humanities were ex-
ceedingly rare.’’π∑

For Texas, however, given the ut-tsun ‘‘contract’’ policy, black students
continued to be barred from graduate departments of education at white
universities because such degree programs already existed at Prairie View
or tsun. Thus, by the time the Court ruled in Brown, in Galveston, Austin,
and Houston, black Texans had started earning doctoral and professional
degrees in the natural and social sciences, in the humanities, and in those
fields where previously they had to leave the South or travel long distances
to find institutions that did not ban them because of their African ancestry.

From 1949 to 1954, for the first time in history, black Texans took their
struggle for human rights to the grassroots level. The campaign for the
vote and the attempts of black workers to appeal to the Fair Employment
Practices Commission involved important, elite-level, preparatory steps;
but a more mass-based movement for racial justice fully emerged in the
fight for equal education. A black consensus formed: social equality would
remain elusive until the race won its right to equal educational oppor-
tunity and entered white institutions of higher learning. Whites also began
to perceive that blacks had begun a process of achieving social equality,
and many began to react negatively and violently. After 1954, moreover,
angry white men and women began organizing to halt or at least retard
blacks’ march toward an integrated equality. Their organized response,
among other important ramifications, polarized state politics and drew the
state government into an active role as an agent of political repression.
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chapter five

Democracy Is on the March in Texas
Black Equality versus White Power, 1955–1957

Mrs. Davis wanted to know if the Attorney General’s office was investigating
the White Citizen’s Councils. I told her that I did not know; that I knew I
wasn’t investigating them. . . . The Davis’s followed us out to our car, and Mr.
Davis stated that ‘‘Democracy is on the march in Texas,’’ and that this inves-
tigation would blow over as soon as it had served John Ben Shepperd’s
political purposes. I asked him if he was expecting me to comment on that
statement. He laughed, and said, ‘‘No,’’ and we drove off.

—Riley Fletcher, naacp investigator, September 1956

Solicit applicants who are going to college, urging Negroes to attend de-
segregated colleges, and the whites to attend Negro colleges. You have very
little time for this last item. Another effort should be made before the Janu-
ary, 1956, session begins. This work must be done. ‘‘The future belongs only
to those who prepare for it.’’

—Texas naacp Memorandum to Youth Councils, 8 August 1955

Through Brown, the civil rights movement gave the United States a new
and radical interpretation of its Constitution—so much for that. Almost
two years after the ruling, Thurgood Marshall, the attorney who presented
the school desegregation cases before the Supreme Court, had to go about
addressing critics who called themselves friends of racial justice but who
chastised the naacp for ‘‘moving too fast’’ in its fight against racial segrega-
tion. At the annual Conference on Human Relations at Central State Col-
lege in Wilberforce, Ohio, on 14 April 1956, Marshall gave his answer to
‘‘so-called liberals’’ and others who felt that the naacp was ‘‘pushing too
hard’’ and that the war against segregation could not be won: ‘‘Saying it
[desegregation] can’t be done is like telling the Federal Government it
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can’t make you pay your income tax. They can’t make you pay it, but if you
don’t you’ll be cracking rocks.’’∞

Cracking rocks indeed. Who would arrest, indict, prosecute, convict,
sentence, much less put on the chain gang to bust rocks: white suprema-
cists maintaining school segregation? The ‘‘Bull’’ Connors of the South?
Judges, legislators, and governors in the southern states? The U.S. Su-
preme Court that mandated no timetable for local school boards to de-
velop or implement desegregation plans but merely exhorted them to
move ‘‘with all deliberate speed’’ in that direction? Would the federal
executive under the leadership of Dwight D. Eisenhower enforce the law?
No. Marshall’s analogy amounted to amusing hyperbole and nothing
more. No white man would send another white man to prison to crack
rocks for refusing to mix the races in the country’s schools. As clear as the
broad nose on the Sphinx’s face, placing white girls next to black boys in
the same classrooms filled many otherwise respectable white men with a
fear and loathing that cut deep into their psyches. No less a respectable
white man than Eisenhower himself argued the case against interracial
commingling and the sexual activity to which it must, of course, lead. At a
White House white men’s only ‘‘stag’’ dinner just after oral arguments in
the Brown case, a few months before the Court’s ruling, the president ex-
plained to Chief Justice Earl Warren, Attorney General Herbert Brownell,
United Nations ambassador Henry Cabot Lodge Jr., Harvard Law School
dean Erwin Griswold, prosegregation attorney John W. Davis, and Prince-
ton professor Edward S. Corwin that white men had every right to object to
their daughters having to be around black boys with their overgrown sex
organs and lascivious psyches. In his memoirs, Warren recalled Eisen-
hower remarking that whites who objected to desegregation ‘‘are not bad
people. All they are concerned about is to see that their sweet little girls are
not required to sit in school along side some big overgrown Negroes.’’
Moreover, the president said, decent white men would strenuously object
to the federal government intruding into southern race relations to en-
force integration. This conversation among some of the most powerful
men in the world’s most powerful and technologically advanced country is
suggestive of the dismal mental condition of certain white male elites on
the eve of the Brown decision.≤

Of course, other elite white men were not content to plug their nostrils
and reluctantly accept the dismantling of the country’s dual system of
education. Rising to the defense of his state and the South on 18 May
1954, the day after the Court announced its decision in the school segrega-
tion cases, U.S. senator Price Daniel, former Texas attorney general, pro-
ceeded ‘‘to place in the Record the facts as to the past and as to the good
faith of the people of 17 States in maintaining our separate school sys-
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tems.’’ His ‘‘study of the issue’’ of segregation compelled him ‘‘to disagree
with the latest opinions of the Court,’’ but he emphasized that his disagree-
ment with the ‘‘new law’’ did not spring from an inborn ‘‘prejudice or a
desire to discriminate against either white or the colored race, or because
of hatred, or a feeling of superiority.’’ He claimed he never lived among
people who held to their heart such a malignant feeling for blacks: ‘‘The
only defense and justification for the doctrine [of separate and equal
schools] have been that in certain localities it has been impossible to main-
tain peace, order, and harmony among the people, and to have support for
the public-school system by the taxpayers, when people are forced to
mingle together against the will of the majority of each race.’’≥ Thus, a
revisionist view of Reconstruction again reared its ugly head some four-
score years later in the Texas lawyer’s speech before the U.S. Congress. The
myth, which could have been lifted directly from Thomas Dixon’s Clans-

man, claimed that northerners foisted on the vanquished white people of
the South close association with blacks, their former chattel slaves, with
dire results: violence, chaos, and rupture. If a second reconstruction had
to occur that would avoid the tragedies of the first one, Daniel argued, a
mutually ‘‘tolerant’’ view would be necessary, as well as an appreciation of
the ‘‘good faith shown by the people of the South and other States in
attempting to provide equal school facilities through separate schools.’’
He predicted that ‘‘if those who are disappointed in the decision are toler-
ant, and if those who hail the decision are tolerant, I believe these prob-
lems can be worked out in the future.’’∂

Carter Wesley hailed the Brown decision but also urged blacks ‘‘to refuse
to be inveigled, enticed or challenged into any kind of debate or discussion
with whites.’’ Calling for a slow-going, humble posture, he noted that
‘‘the Negro gained the victory with the decision, and there is nothing to
be gained from arguing or discussing, or even just talking about it with
whites.’’ If blacks would shut up and let white racists vent their spleens, he
forecasted, they would cool off and eventually become ‘‘harmless.’’ He also
charged that the ‘‘race issue’’ did not belong in the 1954 Democratic
runoff race for governor between Allan Shivers, the social conservative,
and Ralph Yarborough, the economic liberal. Shivers race-baited a desper-
ate Yarborough on school desegregation to the point that Yarborough was
‘‘stupid enough to make a definitive statement on his position,’’ Wesley
wrote. Yarborough announced his support for separate schools, despite his
having received the overwhelming support of black voters in the first pri-
mary election. Wesley felt that Yarborough simply should have pledged to
obey the law and not have taken sides on Brown ; nevertheless, Wesley
encouraged blacks to vote against Shivers to censure him for injecting race
into the campaign and to register their approval of Brown. The black vote
in the runoff primary again went to Yarborough.∑
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The race-baiting in the gubernatorial contest of 1954 came as the
sound before the fury. The aim of the rising hue and cry for massive
resistance to desegregation inside Texas and throughout the South was to
secure government cooperation to control school officials and to intimi-
date blacks from the struggle for racial justice along integrationist lines. In
the short run, recalcitrant white supremacists in Texas won. Shivers and
the Shiverscrats, a Texas version of Strom Thurmond’s Dixiecrats, won
election on a platform strongly opposed to the civil rights and liberties of
blacks, Mexicans, and organized labor. Although more colleges and many
school districts did begin admitting blacks after Brown, white power con-
tinued to deny blacks equality and kept desegregation at a token level into
the 1960s. Finally, the forces of white power also came close to silencing
organized integration activists and did effectively prevent the Texas civil
rights movement from galvanizing a strong, mass base, especially among
grassroots working people. With no enabling legislation, the attorney gen-
eral’s office launched a full-scale investigation into the activities of naacp
branches, which culminated in legal action that effectively killed the asso-
ciation in 1957. By 1954, the ‘‘season of hope’’ that opened with the
enlargement of black political participation with the 1944 Smith v. Allwright

decision had yielded to a ‘‘time of turbulence and despair.’’∏

In higher education, the court’s desegregation decree on 17 May 1954
had an uneven effect on the pace and course of events. That summer,
North Texas State College desegregated its graduate school and Midwest-
ern University (mu) accepted blacks under court order. In the fall of 1954,
six junior colleges opened their doors to black students. Before 1958, seven
public senior colleges desegregated as a result of lawsuits or threatened
litigation that state officials knew they would lose. In legal precedent, liti-
gants had all they needed in Sweatt to force desegregation on Texas colleges
and universities. The case of Willie Faye Battle and her fellow applicants to
Midwestern University proved that blacks could defeat segregation without
a comprehensive ruling on Plessy. For civil libertarians, however, Brown

came as manna from above. At last, it put the great charter of American
citizenship, the U.S. Constitution, in their arsenal. However, for black peo-
ple who took the decision seriously, Brown soon caused more pain and
frustration than it brought joy and hope. As never before, desegregation
advocates received negative sanctions from the state.π

Brown unfolded in two parts. The 1954 decision held that school segre-
gation was an unconstitutional denial of equal protection of the law. A year
later, the Court decreed that states must abandon the ‘‘separate but equal’’
principle set forth in Plessy and create a unitary system of public education.
Contrary to the wishes of the naacp and other civil libertarians, the Court
established a flexible schedule for desegregation expressed in the ambig-
uous phrase ‘‘with all deliberate speed.’’ Focusing on the fight for desegre-
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gation of colleges, rather than the public schools, brings the meaning of
Brown into sharper relief. Moreover, between 1954 and 1957, Texas higher
education remained the most significant battleground of the civil rights
struggle. The naacp exhorted Texas branch leaders to widen the field of
struggle to grade schools, public accommodations, and other fronts, but
the fight to open the state colleges continued as the key arena of litigation
and mobilization.

Between 1946, the year Sweatt launched his case, and 1956, one year
after the second Brown decision, the naacp coordinated legal battles
against college segregation in seven locations, all but one involving East
Texas institutions. Before the Brown ruling, brave plaintiffs filed three law-
suits: Battle et al. v. Wichita Falls Junior College District et al. in 1951 and Allan v.
Masters (Kilgore) and Bruce v. Stilwell (Texarkana) in 1952. After Brown,
equally courageous applicants filed four suits: Atkins v. Matthews (Denton),
Whitmore v. Stilwell (Texarkana), and White v. Smith (El Paso) in 1955 and
Jackson v. McDonald (Beaumont) in 1956. Significant and related move-
ment work also occurred in Sulphur Springs, Austin, Wharton, and Kings-
ville. An intensive study of the clash of the forces of white power and black
equality in these ten cities presents a different interpretation of what revi-
sionist historians have called the Brown backlash thesis. The difference has
less to do with any reputed Texas exceptionalism than with the dynamic
force of ideological hegemony and its relationship to social change.∫

Massive Resistance and Texas Higher Education

In immediate response to Brown, Texas commissioner of education J. W.
Edgar instructed the public schools of the state to make no attempt at
changing their policies of racial separatism and hierarchy. Although all
districts except for the schools of Friona (which remained the West Texas
town’s best-kept secret until 1955) followed his edict, it did not slow
the momentum toward collegiate desegregation. In the summer of 1954,
North Texas State College voluntarily began admitting black students at
the graduate level only. Six public junior colleges announced their deseg-
regation, and under court order, Midwestern University opened its doors
to blacks, making it the first public four-year college in Texas to fully
desegregate. Although grade schools remained segregated in 1954, to
hard-core white supremacists, collegiate desegregation represented the
writing on the wall. The Associated Citizens’ Council of Texas (acct),
the key group in the state that organized massive resistance, grew from the
leadership of men and women who had opposed the desegregation of
higher education.Ω

Although a majority of Texans still favored maintaining segregation of



B L A C K  E Q U A L I T Y  V E R S U S  W H I T E  P O W E R

143

the races at the state’s colleges and universities, in 1954, the Texas Poll

revealed a softening of attitudes from 1948 to 1954 (see Table 4). The
Texas Poll, which surveyed all racial groups, found that the Texans most
resistant to desegregation in the schools had two key characteristics: they
were Anglo-American and of low socioeconomic status. Initially, so-called
poor white trash relied on their better educated and wealthier kinfolk for
leadership, but two groups espousing differing tactics quickly emerged:
racialists who called for fighting fire with fire power and massive resistance
leaders who advocated fighting fire with fire, that is to say, blocking com-
pliance with Brown at the courthouse and the statehouse. The first group,
representing a more primordial instinct and primitive passion, resorted to
terror and coercion. The second group promoted orderly resistance to
desegregation.∞≠

Only two months after the court’s decision in the school segregation
cases, white terrorists attacked the chair of the naacp branch in Sulphur
Springs, a small town of 9,000 in rural Hopkins County (88.8 percent
white and 11.2 percent black), about seventy miles east of Dallas. naacp
branch leaders Hardy W. Ridge and his wife, Eleanor, held meetings in the
grocery store they owned, and from 1952 had organized parents to picket
the town’s lone black school demanding its equalization with the white
schools. Heartened by the Court’s declaration that school segregation vio-
lated the Constitution, on 12 June 1954, Ridge and other members of an
antidiscrimination committee petitioned the local school board to eradi-
cate segregated schooling in Sulphur Springs. After the group threatened
to file suit, district officials responded that they would follow the order of
the Supreme Court and the Texas legislature. Two days after the school
board meeting, two men approached Ridge about buying his business, the
Quality Drugs and Cosmetics Store. Mindful of the southern protocol of
never answering white men too directly, he equivocated and withheld giv-
ing them an answer. Threats against the Ridges started and finally, before
the couple left one afternoon for church, a group of men created a distur-
bance outside their house, yelling to the neighbors who came outside in
response to the commotion ‘‘what would happen to those uppity n——s.’’
Later that night while the Ridges attended church services, terrorists shot
up their home with shotguns and pistols. Police chief Lon Bleaton, who
investigated, played down the matter, saying that some of the ‘‘niggers’’
who lived next to the Ridges’ home were unreasonably fearful that a white
race riot was about to ‘‘break loose’’ in their neighborhood but that most of
the ‘‘niggers’’ did not feel terrorized. When Ridge appealed to the mayor
and other city officials, one official told him, ‘‘If you don’t like the way we
are runni[n]g things here, why don’t you try living in another part of the
country?’’ A few days after the attack on his home, someone told Ridge
point-blank: ‘‘You are a marked man.’’ Immediately, he and his wife fled
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Table 4. Results of Texas Poll Reports, 1948–1954

Question: ‘‘As you may know, the United States Supreme Court is now
considering whether or not Negroes should be allowed to go to the same
university as whites. Are you for or against Negroes and whites going to the same
universities?’’

1948 1950 1953 1954
Against 76% 76% 59% 57%
For 20 20 31 36
Undecided 4 4 10 7

Source : Scott, ‘‘Twenty-Five Years of Opinion on Integration in Texas,’’ 159.

‘‘the state in fear of their lives.’’ They moved to Cleveland, Ohio, never to
return.∞∞

The Sulphur Springs episode was not an isolated instance of white su-
premacists violently opposing black equality. Kilgore, in the East Texas
county of Gregg, the birthplace of the Citizens’ Council movement, pro-
vides an even bloodier example of terrorism in the state. Known as the ‘‘Oil
City of the World’’ and ‘‘City of the Magic Skyline’’ because it sat in the
center of the East Texas Oil Field and had over 1,000 producing derricks
within its city limits, Kilgore had a population of nearly 9,700 in 1950.
Gregg County was approximately three-fourths white and one-fourth black.
Desegregation of the town’s municipal junior college, with a student body
of about 700, would very likely bring into close association a significant
number of young blacks and whites. Thus, when opponents of segregation
challenged the status quo in Kilgore, they tested white supremacy in the
Lone Star State at its cultural heart. Their action drew out of the sewer of
race hatred an unremitting enemy of black equal rights and the leading
mouthpiece of reaction.∞≤

When Norma Joyce Allen and ten other blacks applied to Kilgore Junior
College in 1952, they were denied entry. With the help of naacp south-
western regional counsel U. Simpson Tate, they filed suit against President
Basil Earl Masters and other officials of the college in the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas at Tyler. Judge Joe Sheehy refused
to hear the case until after the Supreme Court made its ruling in the
school segregation cases. After the Court’s 1954 ruling, the two-year delay
ended. Tate appeared before the judge on 11 October prepared only to
argue some pretrial motions. When Sheehy quickly dispensed with the
defendants’ motions, Tate had to ask for a recess to allow him to search for
the witnesses he needed to try his case. I. S. ‘‘Ike’’ White of nearby Long-
view, the ‘‘community representative’’ whom Tate relied on to bring the
student petitioners, reported to the courthouse without them. Unable to
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find any witnesses during a two-and-one-half hour recess, Tate returned
and faced the ‘‘shamefulness’’ of his position. Sheehy granted a postpone-
ment, and the case was rescheduled for early in 1955. Tate avoided cen-
sure, but he exposed a critical vulnerability. The failure of his clients to
appear at a hearing on their case suggested that Tate and the naacp, rather
than the students, were suing to open Kilgore Junior College. At the next
court date, Tate had his witnesses and presented a credible case. Sheehy,
who delayed his ruling until the Court made its implementation decree on
31 May 1955 in Brown II, instructed Kilgore Junior College (kjc) to admit
qualified black applicants. On 15 July, school officials offered to accept the
applications of four of the original eleven who had sued for admission, but
none of these ultimately attended the institution. Edwin Washington Jr.,
naacp assistant field secretary, reported in his 1 October annual report
that ‘‘a special field trip was made to Longview and Kilgore to ascertain the
number of students who would apply to the Kilgore Junior College, just
opened. . . . Many promised to do so, but they have not done so, thus far.’’
Indeed, by 15 October 1961, no one had applied.∞≥

Gregg County, one of East Texas’s most racist regions, gave birth to a
wave of repression in the 1950s that matched the savage days following the
emancipation of blacks from slavery. White terrorist activity discouraged
Allen and other blacks from attempting to enroll in kjc. ‘‘A series of wan-
ton shootings on Negro schools and dwellings’’ occurred in the county but
barely received any mention in wire services, such as the Associated Press,
or local newspapers. The Texas Observer helped expose the rash of violent
attacks, and Tom Sutherland, director of the Texas Commission on Race
Relations (tcrr), called upon East Texas pastors and newspaper editors
to promote peaceful race relations, but the attacks continued unabated.
Then, while the rest of the country registered shock and outrage over the
cold-blooded lynching of Emmett Till in Money, Mississippi, on 28 August
1955, the murder in Gregg County of a sixteen-year-old black boy named
John Earl Reese passed almost unnoticed. On a pleasant Saturday evening,
22 October, Reese sat in a café near the community of Mayflower with
Joyce Nelson, thirteen, and her sister, Johnnie, fifteen. They had no idea
that their young lives were in danger. Two beer-drinking white men, Joe
Simpson, twenty-one, and Dean Ross, twenty-two, decided they had had
enough with uppity blacks and that it was time to ‘‘make a raid.’’ Simpson
got behind the wheel of an automobile and Ross rode shotgun as they
searched for their quarry. When they eyed the three teenagers, Simpson
sped past the café and Ross aimed a 22-caliber rifle out the window and
fired several rounds, wounding the Nelsons and killing Reese. The killers
later tied the murder weapon to a log and tossed it into the Sabine River.
Months went by before Captain Bob Crowder of the Texas Rangers cracked
the case, arrested the gunmen, and wrung confessions from them. District
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Attorney Ralph Prince of Longview gave greater attention to a newspaper
editor who found evidence police officers overlooked than to the murder
investigation itself. He downplayed the shooting as ‘‘a case of two irrespon-
sible boys attempting to have some fun by scaring Negroes.’’ The Reese
murder and the indifferent attitude of local authorities led to a cruel irony:
the first junior college in Texas that the federal court ordered to desegre-
gate became one of the last to actually do so. The Kilgore Junior College
case parallels the more famous episode at the University of Alabama,
where Pollie Anne Myers and Artherine Lucy had attempted as early as
1952 to register. They won court-ordered admission in 1956, only to have
violent racists and irresponsible officials make it impossible for African
Americans to enroll there until the early 1960s.∞∂

Massive resistance in Texas perhaps had its deepest roots in Gregg
County. Days after Judge Sheehy’s ruling in Allen v. Masters, which ended
de jure segregation at kjc, Basil Earl Masters organized the state’s first
Citizens’ Council. A deacon in the Baptist Church, former dean of Paris
Junior College, first president of Amarillo College, and president emeritus
of Kilgore Junior College, Masters had upper-class credibility. On the
strength of his name, the Kilgore Council signed up 300 members at a
single mass meeting and boasted that it had a membership of 1,500 by the
end of the month; if this number was correct, this meant that about half of
the white men of the town were dues-paying members of the council.
Masters played a leading role in organizing other councils in several towns
and cities in the more heavily black populated eastern section of the state.
He also helped organize the Associated Citizens’ Council of Texas in
November 1955 at an assembly in Dallas of 250 white councillors from ten
eastern counties. The acct elected as executive committee chair Ross
Carlton, a Dallas lawyer who had gained notoriety for representing Big
Spring councillors in Blankenship v. McKinney. After the meeting, Carlton
blustered that Texas councils had 20,000 members, predicted that the
numbers would continue to grow exponentially, and pledged that the
acct would wage a full-scale battle against the naacp. ‘‘Wittingly or unwit-
tingly,’’ the naacp had ‘‘become the tool of the Communist Party,’’ Carlton
claimed. The acct adopted a motion to call upon Attorney General John
Ben Shepperd to root out communism and the naacp from Texas. Shep-
perd responded a few months later with an overt ‘‘war’’ against the naacp.
Initially, his cautious, consensus-building approach upset staunch segrega-
tionists and their opponents alike. When he polled the legislature as to
whether he should submit an amicus curiae brief to the second phase of
the Brown case, Texas senator Jimmy Phillips of Angleton, who favored
continued segregation, indignantly replied that Shepperd was ‘‘the first
attorney general I ever saw who needed the legislature’s permission to file
a brief.’’ Although never a stranger to criticism, Shepperd remained a
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tried and true friend of white supremacy, demonstrating his support for
massive resistance in the numerous meetings and consultations he held
with leaders of the acct and in his assistance of the group’s efforts to be
certified as an educational rather than political organization.∞∑

When Shepperd left public office in 1956, Carlton stepped down from
the top leadership position of the acct to run for attorney general. Mas-
ters continued as the fire-breathing prophet of massive resistance. Tom
Sutherland, a descendant of an early Anglo-Texan filibuster and Confeder-
ate general, described Masters’s techniques and the influence he could
wield to great effect. Dubbing him the ‘‘guiding spirit’’ of the Texas Cit-
izens’ Councils, the tcrr director observed that Masters’s message mixed
Christianity and a semimythical version of world history with paranoiac
fears of black sexual potency and genetic dominance into an emotionally
charged argument for maintaining white supremacy by any means neces-
sary. To Masters, the greatest danger confronting the white race, whom he
identified as the chosen people of God, was the horror of ‘‘mongreliza-
tion,’’ or the loss of racial purity. The football-loving educator with degrees
from Yale, Baylor, and the University of Texas, would shout with all the
energy in his gaunt body his stories of race and power: ‘‘India—once a
great race . . . tall, blond people. But they mixed with Negroes and look at
them today. A thousand American soldiers could whip them. Spain—once
a great nation. But they were invaded by the Moors, a sort of Negro people.
Not much account today.’’ Sutherland noted that Masters repeatedly em-
ployed ‘‘the most powerful sex phobias’’ to whip his audience’s emotions
into a ‘‘high pitch.’’ They would leave prepared to do anything to block
desegregation.∞∏

The acct, which to Sutherland was a ‘‘new style’’ of the old Ku Klux
Klan, openly prescribed economic pressure as the primary weapon of
struggle. Blacks who applied to Kilgore Junior College or who signed de-
segregation petitions ‘‘were threatened with the loss of their jobs.’’ Suther-
land recounted that Citizens’ Council economic tactics in LaGrange,
where blacks had battled for equal educational opportunity in the 1940s
long before Brown, caused some blacks to be fired. He also pointed out
that despite council members eschewing the rope and faggot methods
of yesterday, ‘‘the dreadful threat of violence lurks always in the back-
ground.’’ He speculated that many of the rank-and-file members of the
council movement were ‘‘people dispossessed from a rural culture trying
to find something to which they can belong’’ who hungered for excite-
ment to break the monotony of a ‘‘flat life.’’ Finally, he predicted that the
councils would be defeated by the ‘‘two great forces, press and pulpit.’’
Sutherland may have been entirely too sanguine, however, about the pros-
pects of interracial conciliation among his fellow white Texans.∞π

Desegregation spread across the state not because racial liberalism
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seized the hearts and minds of the white majority but because most federal
judges followed the rule of law, most college trustees ultimately behaved
pragmatically, and, above all, courageous black men and women persisted
in demanding change in their local communities. Wichita Falls, in the
northeasternmost part of Texas, and Wharton, in the southeast, reveal the
difficult situation local people faced in desegregating the municipal col-
leges in these towns. In both cases, without Masters or the influence of the
acct, white supremacists took a stand, but eventually the majority of
whites relented and adjusted. Wichita Falls’s journey toward fair access to
higher education went into high speed on 15 August 1951, when Willie
Faye Battle, Helen Davis, Carl McBride, and Marilyn Menefee, all eighteen-
year-olds, Wilma Jean Norris, a twenty-year-old, and Golden Era White, a
twenty-two-year-old, went to the campus of Midwestern University to apply
for admission. They were accompanied by Rev. L. W. Jenkins, president of
the Wichita Falls branch of the naacp, Dr. M. K. Curry Jr., a leader in the
African American community, and Professor A. E. Holland, principal of
the city’s black high school. The next day, registrar J. H. Jamison wrote the
six that their applications had been rejected. mu’s board had voted unan-
imously the week before to maintain segregation after meeting with repre-
sentatives of the Negro Council on Civic and Political Affairs, the respect-
able group through which Jenkins, Curry, Holland, and others organized
desegregation efforts. With the help of U. Simpson Tate and W. J. Durham,
the applicants filed a lawsuit against the school on 4 September in the U.S.
District Court.∞∫

Judge William Atwell accepted the factual record that showed mu offi-
cials conceding that the six met all the financial and academic qualifica-
tions for admission but that it had refused them ‘‘solely on the account of
the[ir] race and color’’ and that the students would find it ‘‘much less
expensive, in both time and money’’ to attend college in Wichita Falls
rather than travel 367 miles to Prairie View or 411 miles to Texas Southern
University (tsu) in Houston. Since there were no facilities in the district
substantially equal to those at mu for the higher education of blacks, Atwell
held that the economic hardship that denial of access to the college placed
on blacks was ‘‘a discrimination which the law does not allow.’’ His con-
cluding remarks in his written decision on 27 November 1951 left no
doubt as to where he stood:

The Negro did not come to the United States. He was brought here. He has
grown in learning and in capacity and in the performance of the duties of
citizenship. He pays taxes, he puts on the uniform of the Armed Forces. That
is because he has had the benefit of his association with his white brethren.
He walks the same streets; he engages in the same business; he reads the
same newspapers; he sings the same songs in his churches and his churches
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are of the same denominations. It is, in truth, an united citizenship for an
United States of America. Decree must go for the plaintiffs requiring their
admission to the defendant college.∞Ω

Atwell’s ‘‘united citizenship’’ argument did not move the college’s board
of trustees, the campus administration led by President James Boren, nor
Attorney General Price Daniel. They appealed the ruling, but the U.S.
Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the trial court. Undeterred, they
filed an application for a writ of certiorari before the U.S. Supreme Court.
On 24 May 1954, the court denied the writ and the color line on admis-
sions at Midwestern University fell.≤≠

In June 1954, five black students enrolled, and that September, more
than forty black students followed, making Midwestern the first publicly
supported senior college to admit black undergraduates in the state. The
first five included four black men who had been top students at the city’s
Booker T. Washington High School and were members of some of the
most prominent families in the black community. The sons of naacp
branch leader Rev. Leland W. Jenkins Sr., Wynell D. Jenkins and Leland
Jenkins Jr., were eighteen and twenty-one years old, respectively. Leland Jr.
was married and recently had completed fourteen months as an airman
second class with the Fifth Air Force in Korea. Wynell finished as the saluta-
torian of Washington High’s class of 1954. The valedictorian, Charles
Bosley, the son of a section worker for the Fort Worth and Denver Railroad,
was another of mu’s first black students, along with Edwin Fuller, son of Dr.
C. B. Fuller. Mrs. Milton Easley, a graduate of a high school in Topeka,
Kansas, and the wife of a civilian instructor at Sheppard Air Force Base,
became the fifth black student to enter mu. The transition to desegrega-
tion on the campus occasioned no aggressive acts of opposition. mu’s first
black students had maturity and solid academic preparation going for
them. The Wichita Falls Record News reported that white students ‘‘accepted
readily without any reservations’’ the five.≤∞

The annual for the 1954–55 school year, the Wai-Kun, reveals that black
students were involved in many aspects of mu’s curricular and extracur-
ricular life. The Reserved Officers Training Corps’ ‘‘A’’ and ‘‘F’’ Company
rosters had one black each, ‘‘B’’ company had three blacks, and ‘‘E’’ com-
pany had two blacks. Students Helen E. Burnett, Ollie M. Jeffrey, Charlsie
Margaret Jenkins, and Donnie M. Wilson were enrolled in the graduate
school, Doris Ann McBride was a nursing student, Dorothy Battle, Ruth
Faye W. Hoyt, Marilyn Menefee, and Dorothy Tarrance were in the soph-
omore class, and Herbert Coleman was in the freshman class, where he was
elected as a representative to the student council and inducted into Alpha
Phi Omega, a campus service organization. The college yearbook’s inclu-
sion of pictures of blacks perhaps represented how the presence of a large,
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newly desegregated military base in Wichita Falls helped to erase the color
line on the mu campus.≤≤

The naacp hailed its victories at Wichita Falls and in a related case
against segregation at Southwestern Louisiana Institute in Lafayette as
giving ‘‘strong support for the suggestion that our Texas State Colleges at
Denton, Commerce, Lubbock, Huntsville, El Paso and elsewhere are ours
for the asking—if not for the asking—most certainly for the taking.’’ Dur-
ham and Tate proudly beat their chests, for they and A. P. Tureaud had
forced the South’s first state-supported colleges to desegregate their un-
dergraduate student bodies. The naacp lawyers eagerly, perhaps too ea-
gerly, as later events proved, sought to achieve the same goal at every
public college in Texas.≤≥

Wharton County Junior College (wcjc), which shared the same name as
the town and county wherein it resided, gave civil libertarians another
important victory in 1954. Despite the widespread disapproval of whites
and without any pressure from a federal court, it eliminated the ban against
blacks. What could explain this development? In almost every respect,
Wharton, a city southwest of Houston, looked like a typical East Texas,
southern locale: an economy heavily dependent on cotton production, a
substantial black population, a cultural past rooted in chattel slavery, and a
historical pattern of underdevelopment and inequality in the public school
resources designated for black people. The most nontraditional aspect of
Wharton from a Dixieland perspective was its large Mexican American
population. In 1950, the county’s 36,077 inhabitants were 60 percent
Anglo, 22 percent African American, and 18 percent Latin American.≤∂

Could an answer to why Wharton’s junior college dropped the color line
be found in the extent of Wharton County blacks’ political consciousness
and mobilization? Probably not. The Wharton’s desegregation did not
result from the work of an assertive naacp chapter. Pioneer black profes-
sionals like physician Ennis Alexander Martin, who opened a medical
practice in Wharton in 1917, never formed a chapter of the naacp. In fact,
E. O. Smith, a leader in the Houston branch, gave testimony at the Thir-
teenth Annual naacp Conference as to how white supremacy in Wharton
operated to stifle overt activism. In 1921, Smith recounted, two of the
town’s police officers went to the farm of a black family and sought to
arrest a man on the charge that he had been cruel to an animal when he
allegedly tied a tin can on a dog’s tail. When the man objected to being
taken into custody and losing a day of work on such a frivolous matter,
the officers jumped him and began pistol-whipping him. The man’s dog
lunged at the white men, and in the melee the man’s wife rushed to the
scene and said, ‘‘For God sake, men, don’t kill my husband.’’ A young boy
then appeared with a rifle and shot to death one of the white men holding
a six-shooter. The man and the boy tried to flee the county, but they were
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caught and lynched. As a result of the fiasco, the man’s mother lost her
mind; his wife was convicted of interfering with an arrest and sent to the
state penitentiary for twenty-five years; and their two little children were
hunted like wild animals. Smith stated: ‘‘Every effort has been made to run
down these children that they might be killed. But the [Houston] Branch
[of the naacp], acting simply as friends and relatives, has seen to it that
these children have not yet been captured. We have changed their names
and they are safe.’’ For many years this event and others like it helped to
suppress an overt naacp presence from developing in Wharton.≤∑

Although Wharton had no naacp in 1954, it did have an outspoken edu-
cator, Principal Thomas Lane Pink, who would press for desegregation of
the junior college. Pink, born near the all-black communities of Kendleton
and Powell Point, had traveled across the United States and to Mexico and
Canada as a professional baseball player in the Negro leagues before re-
turning to his home county to teach in the ‘‘colored’’ schools of Hunger-
ford and Glen Flora. During the Second World War, the Glen Flora School
District constructed a new school building and named it after Pink in
recognition of his popularity and service to his people and the county. In
1952, he embarked on a nonbelligerent campaign to enroll blacks at Whar-
ton County Junior College. Reportedly, Pink and Dr. G. M. Wilkins, pres-
ident of the Victoria chapter of the naacp in nearby Limestone County,
who organized a ‘‘Negro citizen’s committee’’ that successfully petitioned
for the admission of blacks to Victoria ( Junior) College also in 1954, told
the press that ‘‘the naacp played no active part in the admission of Negroes
to the two schools.’’ Wilkins stated, however, that the Victoria branch
‘‘sponsored’’ one student’s application and had been ‘‘anxious to get the
girl admitted with as little controversy as possible,’’ but had she been re-
fused, the branch might have filed a lawsuit ‘‘to make a test case of it.’’≤∏

Wharton County school officials dismissed Pink’s petitions for fair ac-
cess from 1952 until 1954. Only a few days after the Brown decision, school
superintendent C. Graves Sivells Jr. assured parents that the Court’s ruling
would not affect the county’s schools in any way. Noting that school atten-
dance was not zoned in Wharton, Sivells held that ‘‘it is unlikely that col-
ored children would prefer to attend the white school or that the white
children would attend the Wharton Training School by choice, at any rate
in the immediate future years.’’ Less than a month before Brown, the
school district announced it had purchased twenty-three acres of land
adjacent to the all-black Wharton Training School and the Colorado River
and would build a new school facility and a playground. The board of
trustees had authorized a ‘‘negro branch’’ of wcjc at the Training School,
but only a limited number of courses were taught. The board made no
promises of expanding the branch. Pink, his determination renewed by
Brown, again petitioned the wcjc board to drop segregation, and he set off
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a panic in the city. This time it seemed as if black people meant to have
equality even if they had to resort to the courts to get it. Pink’s initiative
exposed the thinness of whatever paternalistic tradition existed among
Wharton County residents. In her 1964 chronicle of Wharton County’s
history, Annie Lee Williams, longtime public relations director for the
junior college, tried to describe the paternalistic spirit that she contended
exercised great influence over race relations in the region:

The old and the new blend in Wharton County. In many ways it is still ‘‘Old
South.’’ Negroes who have long worked for the same white families are
referred to, affectionately, as ‘‘my Negroes’’ by the white people. Men of
Southern heritage give the respectful title of ‘‘Miss’’ to any woman when
addressing her by her first name, even though she may be married and the
mother of many children. There is a certain bearing and indefinable manner
about the long-time residents that sets them apart from the newcomers. They
have long been a part of the county, and their descendants will carry on
when they are gone.≤π

Wharton physician F. J. L. Blasingame, chair of wcjc’s board of trustees,
first learned that blacks in the county were preparing to take the board to
court over the segregation issue through the old-time paternal bond that
whites cultivated through the long night of slavery and maintained during
the era of segregation. ‘‘I had a really prominent black man which had
been a patient of mine for some time,’’ Blasingame recalled in an interview
almost forty years later, ‘‘and he was in to see me in a routine office call and
in the course of conversation [he] mentioned to me in a constructive,
helpful sense, that he had heard rumors that the black people were think-
ing about filing a suit against the Board of Trustees’’ to force desegrega-
tion on wcjc. The well-known and successful young doctor immediately
brought up what he had heard to J. M. Hodges, president of the college,
who confirmed that his sources also had warned him that a suit was in the
making. They then agreed to place the issue on the agenda of the board’s
next meeting, whereupon the board reached the decision to admit black
students in the fall of 1954.≤∫

The new policy sparked a storm of controversy. The semester com-
menced on 13 September with sixteen black students joining about four
hundred white students at wcjc. A public outcry compelled Wharton
mayor J. R. Martin to call a town meeting to discuss the desegregation
of wcjc. All seven members of the board of trustees attended and sat be-
hind a table on the college’s gymnasium floor. They faced a crowd of two
or three hundred Wharton County residents. Blasingame outlined the
board’s decision to desegregate and the reasons for it: ‘‘I made the plea
that they understand’’ that the board members approved the admission of



B L A C K  E Q U A L I T Y  V E R S U S  W H I T E  P O W E R

153

blacks ‘‘because we felt it was better for us to do it voluntarily than to be
involved in lawsuit and be forced to do it under those circumstances.’’ In a
very tense atmosphere, he and the other trustees listened for hours while,
row by row, each person in attendance received the opportunity to air his
or her views. Newspaper accounts of the meeting stated that the majority
of the fifty-three speakers who addressed the forum opposed the board’s
decision to open the main branch of the college to blacks. They demanded
that blacks continue to be restricted to the college’s ‘‘negro branch’’ and
argued that the board’s action was premature. ‘‘Some of the presenta-
tions,’’ Blasingame recalled, ‘‘were very tense, loud, argumentative.’’ How-
ever, ‘‘the majority of the people felt the decision was timely and wise.’’ The
incongruity between his recollection of the meeting and journalists’ con-
temporary accounts may best be explained as the result of the trustees
having to take a course of action at once the most undesirable and yet the
wisest policy available. Brown, even before the Court’s ‘‘with all deliberate
speed’’ pronouncement a year later, had a decisive effect. It said that if
blacks take a segregating college to court, their petition would be upheld.
Thus, voluntary compliance with desegregation could in no way be consid-
ered premature. What Blasingame and other white officials saw was the
need to manage the desegregation process rather than have that process
manage them.≤Ω

There is no evidence that Pink or any other blacks attended or were
allowed to attend the ‘‘public meeting.’’ A few citizens did, however, en-
dorse the board’s action. Gus Gonzales and Barney Bernstein came straight
out and supported desegregation as a matter of fairness. Gonzales re-
minded his fellow citizens about the Four Freedoms, the cherished values
of freedom of speech and worship and freedom from want and fear for
which Franklin Roosevelt said democracies always fought. He said these
values were much talked about in the United States but ‘‘the place to start
practicing them is right here.’’ His remarks hit at the fact that black people
from Wharton County were not free of fear, did not have equal educational
opportunity, and lacked the freedom to speak out at a ‘‘public meeting’’
that concerned their immediate interests. Bernstein, one of wcjc’s first
graduates and its first president of the alumni association, also took up a
theme from the Second World War. He noted that black soldiers had fought
and died for the arsenal of democracy just as other Americans had. ‘‘If this
is a free country,’’ Bernstein said of the United States, then blacks ‘‘should
be free.’’ Other supporters of desegregation, such as Frank Shannon, pub-
lisher of the Wharton Spectator, and state representative–elect Buckshot
Lane, an area attorney and high school history teacher, favored the deci-
sion on other grounds less sympathetic to their black neighbors. Some
regarded the costs of providing blacks with equal facilities simply too high.
Others did not like the idea of ‘‘putting off’’ dealing with the school segre-
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gation problem. Shannon stated he had no criticism of separate equality
except that ‘‘frankly, I’m a nickel and dime boy and don’t believe in that
kind of outlay.’’ An attorney presented the group with a scenario in which
the district would spend $5,000 or $10,000 to educate a single black desir-
ing a class already available at wcjc. Area representatives from Lutheran,
Presbyterian, Catholic, and Episcopalian churches also spoke against segre-
gation at wcjc.≥≠

The majority of those who addressed the gathering cared little if at all
about the cost effectiveness of desegregation or the rights of blacks. Tom
Abell, Wharton Independent School District’s school board president, ex-
pressed virulently anti–African American attitudes. He asked the people
of Wharton if white people would permit the eradication of their civiliza-
tion ‘‘to appease those who come from the jungles of Africa.’’ He vowed
that his three children would never attend a nonsegregated college. Other
whites with similar views included state representative Jack Fisk, a former
mayor of the town, a bank executive, a printer, and a medical doctor, as
well as the fathers of some students who had permitted their children to
enroll not having known that the board had opened the college to blacks.
Blasingame assured them that students could withdraw and have their
tuition fees returned to them. Fisk argued that the board had acted pre-
maturely in response to the Supreme Court’s ban on segregation. He
pointed out that the Texas Democratic Party and the Texas Baptist Associa-
tion remained on record in favor of the continuation of segregation. He
described the board’s action as giving the naacp ‘‘the small wedge’’ they
had been looking for to move into Wharton County and mount a broad
attack against segregation.≥∞

After all the speeches, the board retired to a closed session and re-
affirmed its earlier action. It decided not to expel the sixteen blacks who
were attending classes at the main campus but did not approve the elimi-
nation of wcjc’s black branch or of its policy of not allowing blacks to take
courses at the main branch that the branch exclusively for blacks offered.
Eventually this segregationist holdover would be dropped as the junior
college enjoyed a peaceful transition to desegregation. Blasingame and
the other board members allowed President Hodges to orchestrate the
college’s transition to desegregation. After the initial uproar and national
attention the college received, the officials did their best to treat the deci-
sion to admit blacks as a practical, business matter. They took no pride and
felt no shame over their position. In reflecting on the moment many years
later, Blasingame gave the desegregation of wcjc no special sentiment. He
discussed the issue in the same tone, if not with less enthusiasm, than he
did other difficult questions he faced in the 1950s, the problem of decid-
ing which town in Wharton County the junior college should be placed,
for example. Segregation’s demise at wcjc resulted from a direct chal-
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lenge by blacks for equality in higher educational opportunity that com-
pelled white officials to choose, in a charged atmosphere, to open the
college to blacks.

Once the school was opened, wcjc’s first black students moved rapidly
to become fully and significantly a part of campus life. Hodges, wcjc
president, and J. D. Moore, president of Victoria College, both told a
correspondent for the Houston Post a year after desegregation that no dis-
courteous incidents had occurred between black and white students and
that blacks ‘‘stayed to themselves and neither they nor white students made
any attempt to fraternize.’’ Hodges commented, however, that black stu-
dents ‘‘played games with white students in the college student union
building’’ and ‘‘took part in the intramural sports program.’’ Student Don
Malone joined the college’s new Art Club sponsored by art instructor Elsie
Smothers, and he appeared in the group’s picture in the yearbook, the
only black among the mostly female membership. In 1957, John Frankie,
physical education teacher and head coach of wcjc’s Pioneer Cagers,
integrated the team with Doris ‘‘Hank’’ Allen as a forward.≥≤

In the summer of 1954, as a federal court opened Midwestern Univer-
sity and colleges elsewhere also dropped segregation, ut officials finally
began to face the inevitability of comprehensive desegregation. Logan
Wilson, who replaced Theophilus Painter as president of ut, recognized
the color bar had to go the day the Supreme Court handed down its ruling
in Brown. The Dallas Morning News reported him as saying that the decision
‘‘certainly is going to pose some critical, practical problems in primary,
secondary and higher education.’’ He predicted that if black undergradu-
ates deluged the university with applications, there would be a serious
crisis. ‘‘We have got to remain calm and sensible,’’ he said, until responsi-
ble leaders could intelligently work out the how and when of the end of
segregation. At other state colleges, officials stood by the state constitu-
tion’s segregation mandate and gave no hint of recognizing any impend-
ing demise of Jim Crow as a result of the Court’s decree. President E. N.
Jones of Texas Technological College at Lubbock emphasized that the
state established his university ‘‘for white students’’ only and that he had
‘‘no authority to make any adjustments without legislative action.’’≥≥

James Gee, president of East Texas State College at Commerce, also dug
in his heels. ‘‘We will be governed by the policy set down by the board of
regents of the Texas State Teachers Colleges. We have no other alternative,’’
he declared. Across the state, public administrators and officials alike,
including Governor Shivers, regarded the ruling as incomplete and with-
out effect until the Court prescribed the procedure and deadline for com-
pliance. Thus, the official view regarded Brown I as merely a statement of
principle. Officials hoped that the court would permit them to move toward
it, perhaps, over the course of twenty or, better still, a hundred years.≥∂
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Several black students, however, wanted ut to move toward comprehen-
sive desegregation on a time line of a few months rather than years or
decades. Houston’s John Winfred Walker, an honor student at Jack Yates
High School, and Marion George Ford Jr., a straight-A honor graduate
from Phyllis Wheatley High School, along with Austin’s John Willis Hargis,
valedictorian of the class of 1953 at Anderson High School, Norcell D.
Haywood, Robert Norwood, John A. Searcy, and Herman Clifton Smith,
became the first blacks accepted at ut as undergraduates. Two of the men
applied to the chemical engineering program, and one each hoped to
attain aeronautical, electrical, and petroleum engineering degrees. The
other two students had applied for course work leading to a degree in
architecture. Without making any public record of a policy change, ut
officials adopted the posture that these fields, even at a baccalaureate level,
did not constitute regular academic undergraduate degrees but profes-
sional degrees. Therefore, under the policy established after Sweatt, blacks
could enroll.≥∑

With the admission of John Saunders Chase into the School of Architec-
ture and the requirement that he take undergraduate classes before he
could begin his graduate work (see Chapter 4), the university had antici-
pated accepting blacks in undergraduate courses in professional fields. ut
president Wilson and the regents had enlarged upon that opening but did
not announce it as a formal change. Initially, Ford had been refused admis-
sion in late June, and then in July the university reversed itself after the
scholar-athlete’s rejection garnered headlines across the state and nation.
After admitting Ford, ut went on to accept the other six students. Ford,
who once described himself as a ‘‘dark, large, looming and gruff looking
Black man,’’ had been a newsboy at age seven and a shoeshine boy at nine
and had developed himself physically to a point that at twelve he worked
for a packing company. While in high school making honor-roll grades, he
became a lifeguard, taught swimming classes, and distinguished himself
on the football field. When he received notice that he could attend ut, he
stated to a reporter, either in a fit of arrogance or naïveté, that he longed to
try out for the Longhorn swimming and football teams. As soon as the
word had gotten out that a young black man might suit up in the burnt-
orange and white, or swim in the same water with white youth, Ford and
the other six blacks received letters revoking their admission to ut. Regis-
trar Henry Y. McCown explained that a rule in the ut admissions policy
required that the the engineering students first complete a year’s work at
Prairie View and the architecture students, at Texas Southern before they
would be allowed to enroll at ut and ‘‘begin the professional courses of
your program,’’ as opposed to basic, academic course work. Ford made an
appeal to the regents but then dropped the matter and accepted the
cancellation of his acceptance notice. He enrolled at Wiley University and
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later went to the University of Illinois on a football scholarship. He ul-
timately did earn a ut degree at the dental branch in Houston.≥∏

A few of the other black applicants did not accept ut’s double cross
as passively as Ford. Smith, Norwood (through his father), and Hargis
(through his grandmother) asked the Austin branch of the naacp to help
them get into the university. Walker, eschewing naacp legal counsel, filed a
motion for a temporary restraining order against ut registrar McCown,
President Wilson, and ut’s board of regents in federal district court in San
Antonio before Judge Ben H. Rice Jr. The Houston firm of Dent, Ford,
King, and Wickliff represented him in his request that ut be prohibited
‘‘from forcing Walker and others to pursue undergraduate studies at a
Negro school when other students are permitted to do all their work at the
University.’’ He based his case on the proposition that Prairie View and tsu
were inferior schools in comparison to ut and therefore ut’s action vio-
lated his constitutional right to equal protection of the law. Burnell Wal-
drep and Bill Lee of the attorney general’s office, along with Judge Scott
Gaines, university legal adviser, countered that the court should deny the
motion until the Supreme Court wrote its decree in Brown II. Rice ac-
cepted the defendant’s logic and refused the temporary injunction and
maintained his position in a subsequent preliminary injunction hearing.
Walker’s lawyers never followed up with a motion for a permanent injunc-
tion. Tate and the staff of the naacp regional office accepted the results of
his suit and never challenged ut’s nullification of the acceptance notices
of Smith, Norwood, and Hargis.≥π

Hargis, Smith, and Norwood exiled themselves for a full academic year
to Prairie View, where some members of the administration and faculty
warmly welcomed the three political musketeers as celebrities. They got
the courses they registered for, even upper-division classes. They got their
own rooms in the campus dormitory, and they even received an invitation
to eat in the faculty cafeteria. When they applied to transfer to ut, Prairie
View officials came at the students first with sugar cubes, then with a stick.
Hargis, who had completed a year at Morehouse in Atlanta, knew from the
start that he would not stay at Prairie View. In October, not having been
among the proud and mighty Panthers a good month, he asked ut to
admit him in the spring semester of 1955, but McCown refused his re-
quest. In the spring, he made it known that he had again applied to ut and
that the school had taken his application for summer enrollment under
review pending the outcome of Brown II. Hargis, according to a historian
who interviewed him a year before he died, rejected offers from Prairie
View’s top brass of ‘‘substantial compensation—including an automobile
and monthly payments—if he would remain there.’’ It seems highly im-
probable that such a bribe occurred or that, if it was made, it was genuine.
Who would have provided the funds to make it happen? Did President
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Wilson, ut alumni, or state government officials have a secret kitty they
could tap to induce Hargis to stay put? Did a perennially underfinanced
Prairie View have money at hand to uphold undergraduate segregation?
Whatever the full story behind the promises made to Hargis or the abuse
he endured when he insisted on transferring, there is no denying that ut
did not want to admit him. Wanting a lawsuit even less, however, ut very
quietly admitted Hargis and two other Prairie View students, Smith and
David Wallace, in June 1955. Official statements to the contrary notwith-
standing, these three men became the first black undergraduates at the
University of Texas.≥∫

The board of regents of the University of Texas System announced that
it would make a formal policy statement on university segregation at its
meeting in early July 1955. A five-person committee of the nine-member
board had developed several recommendations for the approval of the full
body. Several challenges demanded action. First, ut officials had used
Brown II as grounds for delaying any changes, but, as of 31 May, the Court
had decreed schools should make a ‘‘prompt and reasonable start’’ toward
compliance with the principle of nonsegregation. Second, in April an
naacp-sponsored lawsuit attacked segregation at Texas Western College
(twc), a branch of ut in El Paso. The regents feared that the federal
district court would open the campus to blacks and possibly strike down
segregation throughout the ut system. Finally, although the regents had
managed to keep the admission of undergraduates Hargis, Smith, and
Wallace one of the best-kept secrets in the state, they did not relish being in
such a predicament. They wanted time. No lawsuits, no exposure and
censure in the press, just time to implement a plan that would settle the
race problem. In the new regent policy resolution made public on 9 July,
ut agreed to open Texas Western College to blacks beginning in the fall
semester, to admit qualified students ‘‘without reference to racial origin’’
to all graduate programs at ut irrespective of whether the state-supported
black institutions offered the programs, and to maintain segregation at the
Austin campus until the fall semester of 1956. The board reasoned that it
needed the additional time so that it could ‘‘formulate a policy of selective
admissions, based on merit and applied equally to all regardless of racial
origin.’’ The centerpiece of its new selective admissions policy, having been
studied for almost a year, would be the adoption of standardized entrance
examinations. The examinations, biased in favor of the white cultural ma-
jority and administered in segregated arrangements, worked according to
plan: from February to September 1956, about 80 percent of blacks who
took the test were rejected, compared to 55 percent of whites.≥Ω

As for the black students at ut, conditions remained anything but pleas-
ant. Before the end of the summer, Smith and Wallace left Hargis the lone
black undergraduate. Haywood and Norwood joined him on the campus
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in the fall, but within a year, Norwood suffered a nervous breakdown and
withdrew from the Forty Acres. Hargis and Haywood alone persevered,
and in the tumultuous fall of 1956, they finally found themselves less
isolated when over 100 black transfer and first-year students joined them.
Meanwhile, black graduate students, with access to all of the university’s
programs, continued to earn advanced degrees. Galveston’s Central High
School principal, Leon Morgan, who permitted Herman Barnett to live in
his house while he was a medical student and intern at utmb, applied,
attended, and in 1956 became one of the first blacks to earn the doctorate
degree in curriculum, administration, and philosophy at ut. The desegre-
gation process became an irreversible trend in the late 1950s, despite the
tight control administrators exercised over it. Its cost weighed most heavily
on the black people who initiated and endured the change.∂≠

White resistance mustered two pathetic attempts to halt ut’s compre-
hensive desegregation in 1956. Both lawsuits originated in Houston, and
both efforts failed to do much more than garner a few headlines and regis-
ter the displeasure of bigots, albeit organized and influential ones. The
first case involved a group of sixteen Harris County men calling themselves
the Citizens League for School Home Rule, counting several ex-ut stu-
dents among its number. Among the primarily middle- to upper-income
petitioners were five attorneys, two ranchers, two real estate agents, an
insurance agent, a tax consultant, a printer, a ‘‘broker,’’ a magazine editor,
an oil operator, and a retired oil company executive named W. J. Barnes.
Edgar E. Townes, a ringleader of the conservative wing of Texas Democrats
who in the summer of 1955 led efforts on behalf of an antidesegregation
resolution, and Fred W. Moore represented plaintiffs in the motion filed in
the Texas Supreme Court on 14 October 1956. The petitioners held that
the state constitution created ut for whites only and only by a constitu-
tional amendment could it be changed to a school for blacks and whites.
Neither the regents, the U.S. Supreme Court, nor the Texas legislature
had the right to open ut to blacks, and thus the petitioners sought a writ of
mandamus against state comptroller Robert S. Calvert to prevent him
from funding the university as long as it admitted black students. In effect,
the league presented a rerun of the Big Spring case in which the Citizens’
Council had tried the year before to stop the desegregation of a public
school district. The Texas Supreme Court dispensed with Barnes et al. v.
Calvert one day after receiving the league’s petition. In a brief, unpub-
lished ruling it told the Home Rule group to go home and give up on
preserving the rule of segregation at ut. The Citizens’ Council of Greater
Houston sponsored the other lawsuit, Barnett v. Calvert, which the Texas
Supreme Court also denied.∂∞

Whereas the comprehensive desegregation of ut generated noteworthy
but altogether futile resistance efforts, El Paso’s Texas Western College
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encountered little opposition to its admission of blacks in the fall of 1955.
The one significant battle took place in the black community, which had
put forward the challenge in the first place. A few years before ut created a
mining school in El Paso in 1914, members of the city’s small but growing
black professional-managerial class formed one of the state’s first branches
of the naacp. In the 1920s, the branch, through the activism of physician
Lawrence A. Nixon, joined Houston and San Antonio blacks in the fight
against the white Democratic primary. By 1949, however, the year the
original mining school had grown into a senior college branch of ut with
its own graduate programs, the city’s naacp branch had declined and had
very few members. Dr. M. C. Donnell, the president of the branch, in 1951
called on A. Maceo Smith to help him revitalize the civil rights group.
Smith made a trip there and into New Mexico and advised Donnell to
rebuild branch membership and to create a ‘‘regular program.’’ As a tactic
to create enthusiasm for the association, he suggested a limited, demon-
strative attack on Jim Crow at twc. ‘‘Professor Fred Strait said that he had
an interest in taking a course or courses at Texas Western University,’’
Donnell explained. ‘‘I think that he should be urged to make immediate
application, if it is not too late. If he is denied admission, we can provoke
quite a lot of sentiment around it without going so far as to get into a law
suit. At least we will not go that far until the branch and the community are
ready for it.’’∂≤

Early in 1954, El Pasoans readied themselves to directly assault race-
based admissions practices at twc. At an executive committee meeting on
7 March the subject arose that the branch ‘‘should be prepared to aid some
student in breaking segregation at Texas Western College.’’ The branch
leadership created a committee to select a student to apply to twc. Six
months later, the selection committee reported that it had chosen Thelma
White. The committee reported that it had tremendous confidence in
White, who was the seventeen-year-old daughter of an employee of an El
Paso garage and the valedictorian of the class of 1954 at the city’s all-black,
all-grades Douglass School. The executive committee discussed contribut-
ing ten dollars per month toward her expenses, as well as helping her with
the steps she would need to take to file her application and bring suit upon
being refused permission to enroll. She had applied through the mail, and
the registrar’s office had returned an unopened envelope containing her
high school transcripts. For the purpose of legal action, however, White
had to have a record that the university had rejected her application on
the grounds of race. Branch officials, therefore, authorized a check for $22
to be paid to selection committee member Mrs. E. M. Williams to accom-
pany White to register at twc; and two prominent citizens would join them
as witnesses. White got her formal rejection and went on that fall to attend
New Mexico A&M College in nearby Las Cruces, leaving the details of her
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lawsuit to the naacp’s local branch and southwestern regional counsel. In
March 1955, Tate filed the case styled Thelma White, a minor, by her Father

and Next Friend v. Alvin Arlton Smith, as President, etc., of Texas Western College of

the University of Texas et al., in federal district court before El Paso’s Judge R.
Ewing Thomason.∂≥

At that point, White’s lawsuit intersected with the administrative ma-
neuvers of the ut board of regents and the political-legal posture of the
attorney general’s office. On 18 July 1955, when the case came up for a
hearing on the merits, ut presented Judge Thomason with a motion to
dismiss White’s suit as moot given the regent’s decree earlier that month
that it would graciously allow blacks to attend twc, citing as a rationale the
fact that the El Paso school board had opted in favor of ending segrega-
tion. Tate opposed the motion, arguing that Brown made the regent’s
statement of a new policy on segregation moot. By offering to allow twc to
desegregate based upon the school district’s decision to comply with
Brown, the regents tried to skirt the reality that they had to comply with
Brown. Tate called on Thomason to overrule and deny the motion to
dismiss, to hear the evidence, and to make his ruling. The judge agreed,
and at the end of the trial he declared Article VII, Section 7, of the Texas
Constitution and Article 2900 of the Revised Civil Statutes of the state
contrary to the constitution and laws of the United States and therefore
void. He also permanently restrained the ut regents from denying blacks
the opportunity of attending Texas Western College or any institution in
the ut system. Thomason shocked everyone, including Tate, when he
extended his order to include the main branch. The regents and the
state’s attorneys disputed the extension of the decision beyond twc, but
for a few days they stewed in their own sweat, relieved only when Thoma-
son sent out his written order on 25 July, which limited the force of the
decree to twc.∂∂

twc’s transition to desegregation went as smoothly as its new president,
Dysart E. Holcomb, and registrar J. M. Whitaker predicted. Twelve blacks,
several of them servicemen from Fort Bliss and Biggs Field, joined 3,877
other students that fall, and no violent incidents on the campus resulted.
Thelma White chose to continue her education at New Mexico A&M, hav-
ing had a good first year there and having no wish to return to her home
city as both a celebrity and a lightening rod for the enmity of staunch white
supremacists. Although White chose not to enter the doors she helped to
open, there appeared among the twelve apostles of a new era of racial
justice at twc a young man, Joe Atkins, who that fall semester had a lawsuit
pending to open the doors of North Texas State College (ntsc) hundreds
of miles away in Denton. Atkins’s fight to open the doors of ntsc had its
beginnings in voluntary actions the college took a year earlier.∂∑

In 1954, ntsc’s graduate program quietly admitted a black man. Presi-
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dent James Carl Matthews could hardly have prayed for a better individual
to help him initiate desegregation at his campus. A. Tennyson Miller, forty-
one years old, had been a participant in the emerging civil rights move-
ment in Texas from the 1940s. Born in Fort Worth the year before the First
World War started, he graduated from I. M. Terrell High School, obtained
a baccalaureate degree at Prairie View during the W. R. Banks era, and in
1936 went to work teaching at Fred Moore High School until 1943. He
went on to taste life above the Cotton Curtain, earning his master’s degree
in 1952 at the University of Wisconsin. In 1946, he began a long and
esteemed career first as an instructor and coach and finally as principal of
Lincoln, the high school for black children in the Gulf Coast city of Port
Arthur. Through the years of the Sweatt case and in the unfolding course of
desegregation in Texas higher education, he played an active part in the
Colored Teachers State Association of Texas. Miller, an ambitious, articu-
late charmer, exhibited strong leadership qualities.∂∏

Shortly after the Brown ruling, Miller contacted ntsc regarding his
entering its doctoral program in education. On 20 June, Matthews and
Vice President Arthur Sampley met with him, in part because Miller pre-
sented fine academic credentials. From his past teaching work in Denton,
he had also acquired a reputation among several faculty members at ntsc
for being ‘‘a good student and a reliable person.’’ Miller convinced Mat-
thews of the ardor and ‘‘objectiveness’’ of his desire to study in the college’s
graduate school and emphasized that the white executive’s ‘‘endorsement
was of major importance; [as for him,] pursuing graduate work under
adverse conditions would be a waste of time, money, and effort.’’ He left
the meeting hopeful that he would be admitted to the college in its second
summer session, but a few days later he learned that the college had re-
jected his application. He traveled to Austin to inquire into admission
at the University of Texas and also met with Assistant Attorney General
Burnell Waldrep, who handled legal matters pertaining to the public
school system. Subsequent to his visit to Austin, Miller wrote Matthews and
informed him that ut had accepted him and that he would attend school
there unless ntsc admitted him. With his wife living full time at their home
in Denton, Miller had obvious reasons to prefer ntsc over ut. Miller also
told Matthews that the attorney general’s office ‘‘stated without hesitancy
or reservation that my being admitted to any school offering the doctoral
program was solely an administrative decision and that any state school was
legally available to me.’’ Furthermore, the expected implementation de-
cree in Brown had no bearing on Miller’s application ‘‘since neither ‘sepa-
rate’ nor ‘equal’ were factors’’ of relevance to his situation. The high
school principal added that if ntsc chose not to admit him, despite the
fact that the legal watchdog of the Texas Constitution had no objections,
he would direct his efforts toward ut. He did not hold out the threat of a
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lawsuit, but he did offer ntsc an appointment with destiny: ‘‘It is my con-
viction that my entrance now would contribute much to the successful,
inevitable integration of Negroes into the school. My every effort would
be toward the quality of deportment and performance that would dispel
much of the apprehension that some may be harboring at this time. Know-
ing even in my own work the burdened seriousness of making an unusual
decision, I understand any caution that may be yours. Yet, there are deci-
sions to be made, and we cannot be without courage to make them.’’∂π

After consulting with the attorney general’s office and confirming the
substance of Miller’s report on its position, Matthews informed the Phi
Delta Kappa educator that he could enroll at ntsc in its second summer
session. The college would take a step toward its ‘‘inevitable integration,’’
but the president stressed to the media that ntsc’s ‘‘policy on Negro
undergraduates or Negro students working on master’s degrees is not
changed. They will not be admitted at this time.’’ Miller completed his six-
week course of study and returned to his principalship at Lincoln. Mat-
thews may have received other applications from black students or heard
rumors of a legal challenge being prepared against the college’s ban
against blacks except at the doctoral level. Whatever the impetus, toward
the end of 1954, he and the ntsc board of regents drafted a plan of
gradual desegregation for the college beginning with master’s level stu-
dents, then seniors in the fall of 1956, and proceeding a level a year until
blacks were admitted in the entering class of 1959.∂∫

The Dallas headquarters of the Texas naacp, however, envisioned a
more immediate timetable for gaining the constitutionally protected right
of blacks to attend the North Texas college. Willie Atkins of Dallas and his
son Joe took Matthews, Sampley, and the ntsc board before Judge Joe W.
Sheehy of the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The
younger Atkins, who had completed a year of study at Philander Smith
College in Little Rock, Arkansas, sought a court ruling that would force
ntsc to recognize that he had a legal right to attend the school. His
petition also sought to declare the state’s notorious constitutional Article
VII, Section 7, and statutory Article 2900 ‘‘repugnant to the Fourteenth
Amendment to the Constitution of the United States’’ and therefore null
and void. He attempted to enroll in ntsc’s first summer session in June of
1955. Admission officers found that he met the college’s entrance require-
ments, but on 18 July, Vice President Sampley wrote Atkins that he would
not be admitted because he was a Negro and the present policy of the
board permitted people of his race for study for the doctorate degree only.
Atkins and his father secured legal counsel from the naacp. U. Simpson
Tate assumed the role of lead attorney, but after a near disaster in Wichita
Falls, Robert L. Carter and Thurgood Marshall of the national office
signed on as co-counsel.∂Ω
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They filed a petition on 11 August, requesting a temporary restraining
order against ntsc so that Atkins could attend the school in the fall semes-
ter. Judge Sheehy granted a hearing on the motion for temporary injunc-
tion to take place in Tyler on 2 September. Despite Tate’s careful work on
the case, he lost the preliminary decision on a technicality: a federal mar-
shal had failed to serve a subpoena to one of the regents. Without the
temporary restraining order, ntsc would begin its fall 1955 semester with
its undergraduate division and its master’s degree programs continuing on
a segregated basis. Atkins, however, still went on to attend a white state-
supported college that fall, becoming one of the first blacks to attend
Texas Western College at El Paso. Nonetheless, permanent injunction trial
proceedings against ntsc occurred on 14 November. Billye Lee and Hor-
ace Wimberly, from the attorney general’s office, presented Matthews as
ntsc’s sole witness. Matthews testified that the college, in large part, re-
fused to admit Atkins because of overcrowdedness, operating at ‘‘102 per
cent capacity at this time.’’ Matthews also stated that subsequent to Atkins
filing his suit, the board had adopted a schedule, to commence in the fall
of 1956, for admitting black undergraduates one classification level per
year, beginning with the senior class, in descending order. The defendants’
lawyers argued that in Brown II the Court, in recognition of the consider-
able complexity involved in the process, left to local school authorities the
task of deciding when, how, and at what pace to desegregate. They asserted
that Judge Sheehy should rule in favor of ntsc’s gradual, phased desegre-
gation plan as evidence of its willingness to obey and respect the new law of
the land ‘‘with all deliberate speed.’’∑≠

After the brief hearing, shortly before the noon hour, Sheehy returned
with his ruling. He expressed sympathy for the difficult problems ntsc
officials faced and for their class-per-year proposal, but the law left him no
alternative but to rule that the college had to admit blacks without delay.
The problem of size could not be used as a reason to single out blacks as a
group and refuse them admission, nor would any race-based gradual ad-
mission plans be allowed. Sheehy drew a distinction between public grade
schools, the context for the Court’s decision in Brown II granting districts
time to end segregation, and a college like ntsc. ‘‘Public schools below
college level, both for students of the white race and students of the Negro
race,’’ he stated, ‘‘are provided for and conducted on a local district basis
and to a substantial extent attendance of a child, regardless of race or
color . . . is compulsory. Whereas a college such as the Defendant College is
conducted on a state wide basis [with] attendance being purely on a volun-
tary basis.’’ If an individual white person could not stomach the possibility
of sitting next to a black person in a classroom at ntsc, then the person
had the choice to go elsewhere or not go to college at all. No law or state
power demanded or compelled the mixing of blacks and whites at the
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collegiate level. Sheehy, joining the ranks of other federal judges in Texas
who had ruled against postsecondary school segregation, decreed that
ntsc had to judge black applicants ‘‘on the same basis as if they were
members of the white race’’ and that officials of the college were ‘‘forever
restrained and enjoined from refusing admission to the minor Plaintiff or
any other Negro student of the same class as the Plaintiff to the College
solely because of their race or color.’’ The state attorneys, despite their own
and Judge Sheehy’s opinion that it would be ‘‘futile,’’ held out the pos-
sibility that they would appeal the case. The attorney general’s office ex-
tended to ntsc an offer to appeal the decision to the Supreme Court, but
the board and Matthews declined and opted to make the best of things as a
desegregated institution in the spring of 1956.∑∞

A forty-one-year-old Fort Worth piano teacher, bookkeeper, and house-
wife named Irma Etta Loud Sephas became the first black undergraduate
student to meet ntsc’s entrance requirements. The daughter of J. Q.
Loud, a retired Methodist minister, she took care of her disabled father
who lived in her home along with her husband and three-year-old daugh-
ter, Vicki. Classified as a sophomore because ntsc accepted work she had
completed at Huston College in Austin over two decades before, she en-
rolled for fifteen hours. The business major and music minor told curious
reporters on her first day at the campus that she would not seek student
housing but would commute between Fort Worth and Denton. Her plans
included bringing her daughter to Denton and leaving her at a nursery for
ntsc students’ children. When Sephas began attending classes without
incident, she and the Denton community gave a deep sigh of relief. The
editor of the Denton Record-Chronicle commended the students of ntsc ‘‘for
their patience and understanding,’’ noting how ‘‘the college’s civilized,
Christian treatment’’ of the desegregation problem was ‘‘a direct contrast
to the mob violence being displayed at the University of Alabama,’’ where
Artherine Lucy, admitted to the school by a federal court order, faced
stones, rotten eggs, curses, and threats from Tuscaloosa whites. Mob vio-
lence kept Lucy out despite international exposure of her case. The editor
expressed regret not that an American-born woman had been denied her
constitutional rights but that the incident would provide ‘‘fodder for Com-
munist propaganda’’ that ‘‘long accused’’ the United States of ‘‘racial ha-
tred, intolerance and gangsterism.’’ The ‘‘large majority’’ of the students
of ntsc, however, believed in the Golden Rule and gave evidence of a more
compassionate white America, thereby winning the admiration of the
newspaper.∑≤

While white Texans patted themselves on the back for not being as bad
toward their Negroes as white Alabamians, black Texans confronted a diffi-
cult and at times treacherous situation at ntsc. In June, when about six
black undergraduates and between fifty and seventy black graduate stu-
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dents, most of whom were teachers, enrolled at the college, the need for
housing on campus for black students became acute. Two black women
graduate students, Gwendolyn McDonald Jackson of Wichita Falls and
Rosa Lee Thomas of Dallas, secured permission to move into Terrill Hall, a
female dormitory.

Jackson, the wife of C. Emerson ‘‘Prof’’ Jackson, had played a behind-
the-scenes role in the desegregation of Midwestern University. They both
worked at Wichita Falls’s colored school, her husband as its principal and
she as the band director and organizer of its choral groups, and put there
jobs in jeopardy to help recruit the students that filed suit for admission to
Midwestern. With that experience and with news of Sephas breaking the
color line that spring semester, they went to ntsc to speak with Matthews
about her enrolling in the doctoral program in education as their good
friend Tennyson Miller had done two years earlier. Jackson, however, could
not commute from Wichita Falls to Denton every day of class as Sephas had
done. Her husband explained to Matthews, ‘‘My wife just lost her mother
and wants to change things, not stir up trouble.’’ Jackson did not want to sue
for the right to live on campus; she simply wanted her rights. Matthews took
the matter to the ntsc board, and upon its approval, he arranged for
Jackson and Thomas to live in a dormitory where young, lower-division girls
lived. He reasoned that problems were less likely to result from the two
older women living among younger girls than if they lived with other grad-
uate students closer in age. The former country school principal had wisely
assessed the situation. The white girls accommodated Jackson and Thomas,
and ntsc became the first school in Texas to desegregate university-owned
housing without incident. By the end of the summer, however, some Klan-
sters had to demonstrate that not everyone in the area acquiesced to what
they viewed as black equality steamrolling over white supremacy. At about
nine o’clock on a Wednesday night in late August, students discovered a six-
foot-tall, gasoline-soaked cross burning a few yards from the ntsc library. A
college night watchman prevented a staff photographer with the Denton

Record-Chronicle from taking pictures. No one, he said, would be allowed to
photograph the occurrence ‘‘unless authorized by Dr. Sampley.’’ Campus
officials strictly enforced a gag rule on any media coverage of racial matters,
whether positive or negative. Police Chief Glen Lanford helped Matthews
play down the cross-burning, saying, ‘‘I don’t think it’s serious’’ and by
identifying it as the work of ‘‘teenage pranksters.’’

Despite the occasional hostile act and the isolation they faced on the
campus, as well as their being completely unwelcome or segregated in the
stores, restaurants, theaters, and public accommodations off campus, black
Texans flocked to ntsc and quickly made it the most desegregated public
institution of higher education in the state. In the fall of 1956, the college
had two blacks on the football team, Abner Haynes and Leon King, a fact
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that did much to contribute to ntsc’s image as an ‘‘Island of Integration,’’
as a journalist once described the college. Black enrollment seemed to
support the moniker: in September 1957, an unofficial count (the college
did not keep statistics on the ethnic breakdown of the campus population)
put the number of black students at 181, more than at any other desegre-
gated college in the state.∑≥

As North Texas grappled with the problem of desegregation, four-year
colleges in South Texas also encountered black challenges to racial dis-
crimination. In August 1954, emboldened by Brown, Russell Hayes, a
twenty-three-year-old veteran and lifelong resident of Kingsville, met with
Texas College of Arts and Industries (A&I) president Ernest H. Poteet
about enrolling at the school. Hayes had graduated from the town’s Fred-
erick Douglass High School in 1948 and had just received an honorable
military discharge in July. As a veteran he had funds from the GI Bill to
begin his college education, and Hayes asked Poteet to let him begin his
studies right in his hometown. Poteet responded that he could not admit
him since the college’s governing board had previously discussed admit-
ting blacks and concluded that the enabling act that created A&I clearly
stated that the college had been established exclusively ‘‘for the white
youth of the state.’’ Hayes protested the board’s decision and pointed out,
‘‘I laid my life on the line for my country.’’ Between 1948 and 1954, he had
served in Okinawa, Japan, and in Korea. ‘‘I don’t want any exceptions,’’ he
explained, ‘‘I just want my rights.’’ He disavowed any connection to the
naacp and said he regarded his case as a matter of veterans’ rights. If he
was not admitted, he would appeal to the Veteran’s Administration (va) to
take away the college’s status as approved for GI Bill disbursements. He
also rejected the idea of his attending Prairie View or tsu, observing that
the va did not pay transportation costs. As a taxicab driver, he could not
afford to travel to Houston or Waller County for the same education he
could get at home.∑∂

Poteet agreed to pass on Hayes’s request to the board, and, instantly, the
young applicant became a local celebrity. As part of the price of notoriety,
Hayes received a threatening letter in the mail a day after his conversa-
tion with Poteet. He handed it over to post office authorities, who, in
turn, referred the matter to the Federal Bureau of Investigation. No one
was ever prosecuted, but the news caused quite a stir in Kleberg County.
Known for cattle ranching, oil production, agriculture, and the Naval Aux-
iliary Air Station, the county, with its seat in Kingsville, had a population in
1950 of 21,991, half of which was Anglo, 46 percent Latin American, and
3.6 percent black. For generations past, blacks had never openly contested
the disparities in white and black education, economic standing, and polit-
ical participation. Then suddenly, it seemed to the whites of Kleberg,
blacks were raising their voices on an issue that had to be reckoned with.∑∑
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Meanwhile, A&I’s board of directors concurred with Poteet’s initial re-
sponse to Hayes’s application. Hayes persisted, maintaining to the board
that he did not come as a black man seeking to enter the college but as ‘‘a
veteran with approval of the Veterans Administration.’’ Board president
John F. Lynch of Corpus Christi, formerly a regent at Del Mar Junior
College when it underwent desegregation, stated that the board had voted
to refuse to admit blacks ‘‘until either a court decision or the legislature
expressly opens the college to such applicants.’’ The board, saying it was
uncertain what it had a legal right to do under the restrictive language in
the college’s charter, opted to ‘‘stay within the law’’ and ignore the U.S.
Supreme Court’s ruling in Brown as well as Battle, which three months be-
fore had opened Midwestern. Rather than filing a lawsuit, Hayes pleaded
with the Veteran’s Administration to intervene in his behalf. Early in Octo-
ber, however, a va official in Washington, D.C., informed Hayes that ‘‘re-
tention or admission of students or trainees are matters entirely within the
discretion of the particular education institution or training establishment
in which enrollment is sought.’’∑∏

Hayes’s highly visible challenge, however, aroused H. Boyd Hall, a
Corpus Christi dentist and ‘‘old fire horse’’ activist within the naacp, to
give the board the lawsuit it asked for before it would break the color line.
He notified college officials that another veteran of the Korean War, ‘‘a
sample applicant’’ who A&I had rejected in March of 1956, intended to
use legal proceedings to obtain his right to enter the college. He hoped,
however, that the South Texas institution would follow ‘‘the pattern of Del
Mar College in Corpus Christi, Pan American in Edinburg, and Victoria
Junior College. All desegregated on their own accord. None was sued.’’ In
May, A&I’s board finally reversed itself and ordered that ‘‘no young man or
woman, a citizen of the State of Texas, shall be denied admission to this
college by reason of race or color.’’ In June, two local teachers with degrees
from tsu, Ellen King Lambert and Irma Rebecca Summers, entered A&I.
More black students enrolled in the fall, and desegregation continued
without incident. Kingsville resident Nancy M. Nelson recalled years later
that none of the black students ‘‘had a hard time. . . . They didn’t have no,
you know, big to-do, over’’ the killing of Jim Crow at A&I.∑π

The Turning Point at Lamar Tech

The ‘‘big to-do’’ over desegregation lurked in the Piney Woods of East
Texas. Kilgore Junior College pointed to the difficulty the black equal
rights movement faced in that part of the state. The most violent and
massive episodes of white resistance to black equality occurred at Lamar
State College of Technology in Beaumont and Texarkana Junior College
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in Texarkana. The clash at Lamar climaxed a protracted antidiscrimina-
tion campaign that developed after the Second World War, escalated in
1949 when the college grew from a locally supported junior college to a
state-supported senior college, and became a legal dispute in March of
1956. College administrators responded to the demand for integration,
both inside and outside the courtroom, with a pragmatic philosophy, but
privately the men who governed the college endorsed white supremacy. A
plantation mentality reigned over Lamar from its creation in 1923 as
South Park Junior College, the second junior college established in the
state. In a speech before the Kiwanis club in June 1923, its first president,
Louis R. Pietzch, who was ‘‘closely associated’’ with the Beaumont Ku Klux
Klan of the 1920s, counted the development of both the new college and
the local branch of the Klan among the city’s most outstanding achieve-
ments. ‘‘Beaumont has gained fame from its Spindletop oil field, from its
open shop association, from its Ku Klux Klan,’’ and, he said, the city ‘‘is
about to gain more fame because of its new junior college at South Park.’’
Although by the end of the 1920s the Klan’s fame turned to shame, under
Pietzch’s leadership, South Park Junior College became a key regional
college. With the help of Governor Allan Shivers, a native of the area, it
became a state-supported senior college in 1951.∑∫

Although the rapid industrialization of Southeast Texas and the GI Bill
helped to spark a tremendous increase in Lamar’s enrollment figures,
black veterans of World War II who returned home found extremely lim-
ited opportunities for postsecondary education or vocational training. The
only institution beyond high school open for blacks, a business school, had
a poor reputation and district officials were seeking to close it. A group of
black leaders calling itself the Negro Goodwill Council had protested to
Governor Beauford Jester about the educational inequality in the city and
the exclusion of blacks from Lamar State College. In 1947, when a bill was
put before the legislature to change Lamar into a state-supported senior
college, the council attempted to block its passage. John Gray, Lamar’s pres-
ident, reacted immediately to the group’s protest, promising separate facili-
ties for blacks. A year later, a black branch of Lamar, Jefferson Junior Col-
lege, opened with evening classes held at Charlton-Pollard High School. Dr.
Harvey Johnson, principal of the black high school, welcomed the creation
of a black junior college.∑Ω

Black civil libertarians, however, gave no support to the power holders’
belated attempt to move toward separate-but-equal facilities, and soon
after the Sweatt decision, they made plans to desegregate Lamar State
College. They fired their first salvo at the college’s race-based admissions
criterion in 1952. In January, James Briscoe, a native Beaumonter and
graduate of Charlton-Pollard High School, applied to Lamar. Briscoe’s
parents were laborers with little formal education and members of the
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Beaumont chapter of the naacp. They courageously supported their son’s
effort to attend the school and avoid the inconvenience of studying long
distances from home. Briscoe, a student at Morehouse College in Atlanta
since 1950, at the urging of his parents and the Beaumont naacp, agreed
to participate in the test case.∏≠

Initially, Lamar accepted Briscoe. Apparently, the admissions office did
not realize that he was a student at a black college in Atlanta. The school
notified him that on the basis of his transcript from Morehouse, he was
qualified to enroll for the spring term of 1951. On 29 January, Briscoe
went to Lamar with his acceptance letter in hand to register for classes.
Aaron Jefferson, a grocer, charter member of the Beaumont naacp, and a
distributor and local writer for the Informer, accompanied Briscoe to wit-
ness the historic moment. Lamar’s acting president, G. A. Wimberly, met
with Briscoe and explained that a mistake had been made and suggested
he apply to tsun. State law, he said, created Lamar for whites only.∏∞

Briscoe prodded the naacp for action on his case. Archie Price Sr., the
principal of Beaumont’s Hebert High School and the pastor of West Taber-
nacle Baptist Church, to which the Briscoes belonged, opposed desegrega-
tion of the college. He warned the Briscoes that they would lose their jobs
if they persisted and with six children to support, they would be ruined.
The prediction of the prominent preacher-teacher came true when Bris-
coe’s father was fired. Many of the Briscoes’ neighbors also put pressure on
the family, warning that their attack on segregation would cause white
rioting similar to what took place in the city in 1943. Some even ended all
association with the family. Local naacp leaders supported the Briscoes’
decision to relent and not file a lawsuit. They reasoned that they had
gotten the attention of influential members of the white community and
should try to let biracial negotiations produce the final victory.∏≤

The Beaumont Chamber of Commerce organized the sixty-member
United Racial Council (urc), with a white chairman and an executive
committee composed of three whites and three blacks. The urc shifted
focus away from the desegregation of the college to ending segregation in
city parks and recreational facilities. Dr. Ed Sprott, leader of the local
naacp, characterized the biracial group’s work as ineffective but a learning
experience: ‘‘For their first act, they picked two parks without swimming
pools for desegregation, got the council’s approval and also that of the city
authorities. Two days after issuance of the Mayor’s proclamation, the au-
thorities reversed their stand. Considerable protest had arisen, including
threats like ‘Blood will flow down the valley.’ Negro leaders, recognizing
that if the top echelons of both groups could not work together, their only
recourse had to be in the courts. Legal action was taken, and . . . the urc
never met again.’’∏≥

The legal action to which Sprott referred was a 1954 naacp lawsuit,
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Fayson v. Beard, to open the city’s golf course and other park facilities to
blacks. The case came before Judge Lamar Cecil, who ruled in September
1955 that Booker T. Fayson and all members of his race had to be granted
‘‘the free and unrestricted use and enjoyment of Central and Tyrrell Parks
in the City of Beaumont.’’ With a victory in that case in 1955, as well as in
court-ordered actions in higher education at ut in 1950 and Midwestern,
twc, and ntsc after 1954, Sprott, Octave Hebert, and other branch lead-
ers returned to the naacp’s method of direct attack and successfully re-
cruited seven black students to seek admission to Lamar. In the summer of
1955, two 1948 Beaumont graduates, Martin High’s Versie Jackson, who
went on to attend Texas Southern for a year, and Charlton-Pollard’s Henry
Cooper Jr., who had studied three years at tsu, led the group. The other
five were 1955 graduates of high schools in Beaumont or Port Arthur. With
the students’ participation secured, the naacp branch’s education com-
mittee wrote Lamar president Floren Lee McDonald encouraging him to
correct the ‘‘ser[i]ous injustice’’ of restricting attendance on the basis of
‘‘race.’’ The committee presented four reasons that segregation should be
ended at the college. First, the inaccessibility of Lamar put a heavy eco-
nomic hardship on families and made it almost impossible for lower in-
come blacks to send their children to college. Second, as taxpayers, blacks
had a right to ‘‘nondiscriminatory access’’ to all public colleges. Third,
segregation constituted a ‘‘repudiation of our professed belief in the
equality of all.’’ And, fourth, Lamar’s policy helped maintain the eco-
nomic backwardness of the South by causing ‘‘the loss of the talents and
capabilities of an arbitrarily selected group.’’ In reply, the Lamar board of
regents granted the committee a hearing at its meeting on 23 August
1955.∏∂

News that the regents had plans to take up ‘‘the problem’’ of admitting
black students quickly set in motion white organized resistance. On 19 Au-
gust, a group of forty-seven whites, mainly workers at Magnolia Petroleum
Company and residents of South Park, a heavily working class neighbor-
hood with a reputation for hostility toward black residents in the area,
signed a letter opposing any attempt to desegregate Lamar. Addressed to
the regents, it stated: ‘‘We, many of whom are students at Lamar Tech, and
all citizens of Jefferson County Texas, do hereby appeal to you to rule
against any integration of the white and colored races at Lamar State
College of Technology. We believe in equal but separate educational facili-
ties and we think that the naacp is trying to usurp the power of the state of
Texas.’’ Their appeal mixed the idea of racial hierarchy and separation
with the old state’s rights argument.∏∑

A few days later, at 1:30 on the morning of the regents’ meeting on the
‘‘Lamar Negro Issue,’’ a night watchman discovered a blazing fifteen-by-
eight-foot cross laid out on the ground south of the main entrance to
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the campus. When the regents arrived, the police reported that juvenile
pranksters, probably from the South Park area, had set the fire. Proceed-
ing with the business at hand, the officials voted to deny admission to the
seven black students. Taking the same position as the A&I board a year
earlier, the regents declared that the state legislature created the school in
1949 for ‘‘whites only,’’ and for whites only it would remain. They added,
just as ntsc had, that ‘‘an unprecedented growth in student population’’
prevented Lamar from accommodating any additional students. The re-
gents pledged to reconsider the matter after it had time to look into plans
to accommodate the additional student load that black admissions might
create. The board’s delaying tactics left the naacp no other option but to
resort to legal action.∏∏

When Jackson v. McDonald, as the suit to open the college was styled,
came before Judge Lamar Cecil, the students and their lawyers had good
reason to expect he would rule in their favor. The Beaumont native gradu-
ated from Rice Institute and the University of Texas School of Law and
made ties to prominent Texas Republicans like former U.S. representative
Ben Guill and multimillionaire oilman H. L. Hunt. The relatively isolated
minority party to which he belonged shaped the views he held, and it was
to the party he owed his political debts. In 1954, he was appointed by
President Dwight D. Eisenhower to a newly created judgeship for the East-
ern District, an appointment for which he owed nothing to the socially
conservative Democrats he lived among. In addition, Cecil had never held
a state or local judgeship or political office prior to his appointment.∏π

Cecil did not hide his opinion on the desegregation issue from either
side of the Lamar lawsuit. He wanted the regents and the students to reach
an agreement and release him from having to issue a court order. On
14 March 1956, local attorneys Elmo Willard and Theodore Johns, as well
as naacp southwestern regional counsel U. Simpson Tate, filed a com-
plaint on behalf of the students and a trial brief that made specific refer-
ence to Brown, Texas higher education desegregation cases Atkins and
White, and the Louisiana higher education desegregation case Constantine

v. Southwestern Louisiana Institute. The Attorney General Shepperd’s office
filed its answer to the plaintiff’s charges on 5 April and offered no new
defense whatsoever. Shepperd himself argued that Lamar’s statutory lan-
guage established it for whites only. Also, the college was overcrowded and
had made no plans for a sudden influx of Negroes. If the school was forced
to admit blacks, he asked that it be allowed to do so gradually by accepting
upper-division transfer students in the 1957–58 school year and first-year
students in 1958–59. Shepperd, in a new tact, urged Cecil to approve a
‘‘pepper and salt,’’ or tripartite, system of higher education in which the
state would provide choices of racially mixed, all-black, and all-white col-
leges, with Lamar remaining an all-white institution. As Price Daniel had
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six years before in the Sweatt case, Shepperd warned of gloom and doom if
the judge forced Lamar to admit blacks: ‘‘It is not well for turmoil and
discontent to be aroused in a community nor between the races residing
there by a too hasty forcing of a claimed right of two puppets dangled
before this court by the operators of a national racial organization.’’ Tak-
ing a dig at Thurgood Marshall and the naacp leadership, Shepperd
added, ‘‘A liberty of choice in this regard should not be abolished just to
appease the inordinate desires of those officers in certain negro organiza-
tions to chalk up a record of ‘victories.’ ’’∏∫ Judge Cecil was openly ‘‘crit-
ical’’ of the state’s answer. In May, the naacp offered to drop its suit and to
have the students waive enrollment in the summer session if the college
would voluntarily desegregate in September. Lamar’s board knew it had
lost but refused this settlement. Instead, it asked the attorney general’s
office to get Cecil to render his decision as early as possible.∏Ω

On 30 July 1956, Lamar’s Jim Crow admissions policy received its death
blow. After brief testimony from Versie Jackson and Lamar’s president,
Cecil took only a few minutes before announcing his decision that quali-
fied blacks had a right to become students at Lamar. He stated that the
‘‘separate but equal’’ doctrine was no longer in effect ‘‘whether we like it or
not’’ and that he would ‘‘follow the Supreme Court’’ as long as he sat on
the federal bench. Lamar officials, however, refused to accept the uncon-
stitutionality of its white youth–only provision. They sought a stay of exe-
cution of Cecil’s order, citing the need for time to solve local imple-
mentation problems. Although blacks had already enrolled, on 25 Sep-
tember, Shepperd’s office filed both a notice of appeal and a motion for
Cecil’s judgment to be suspended pending Fifth Circuit appellate court
action.π≠

The regents’ deep-seated and publicly stated belief in segregation, their
legal efforts, and their delaying tactics may have encouraged white extre-
mist violence. At 9 a.m. on 1 August, six ‘‘hooded figures’’ set ablaze a
twelve-foot-tall, gasoline-soaked wooden cross. Police Chief Jim Mulligan
suspected that Lamar students erected the flaming cross. On 11 August,
police found two more crosses burning in the vicinity of Lamar, one near
the Baptist Student Center, and blamed them on ‘‘youthful pranksters.’’ At
the same time, less youthful white militants unleashed a campaign of ter-
rorism against local black activists. Attorneys Theodore Johns and Elmo
Willard, for example, received death threats and their offices were van-
dalized. Other naacp members, and Hebert and Sprott in particular, also
were harassed and even terrorized with bombings. The comments of
Frances Lightfoot, who ran for mayor of Beaumont in 1956, got the most
votes in the first election, and then lost the runoff by a narrow margin,
summarized the mood in Southeast Texas. ‘‘We don’t like . . . the mulatto
naacp leader in town [Ed Sprott],’’ she told Warren Breed, an undercover
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agent of the Anti-Defamation League of B’nai B’rith. ‘‘He’s got a mansion
on the outskirts of niggertown,’’ she added; ‘‘somebody has tossed rocks at
his windows. He may be leaving town.’’ Lamar’s desegregation in 1956
represented a watershed event for East Texas, but it occurred at no small
cost.π∞

On 18 September, a ‘‘committee’’ endorsing the ‘‘continued segregation
of the races’’ met with McDonald and submitted a statement urging officials
to ‘‘not permit Negroes to enroll in Lamar Tech for the September, 1956
term.’’ Led by Charles Howell, future president of the Beaumont Citizens’
Council, the group asked the board to deny black admission pending the
resolution of the appeal of Judge Cecil’s decision and to maintain segrega-
tion even in defiance of the federal court order. As evidence that such a
policy would be in step with the desires of most Texans, the committee
referred to the ‘‘overwhelming vote’’ in July’s Democratic primary for a
referendum opposing the ‘‘mixing of the races in any tax-supported
school.’’ McDonald replied that the college was doing everything it could to
uphold segregation. After his meeting with the group, he wrote regent W.
R. Smith informing him of ‘‘a little effort on the part of out-siders [sic] to
interfere, but up to now I have everything under good control.’’π≤

Massive white resistance to desegregation lacked organization and lead-
ership with a clear-minded strategy. Politically unsophisticated, the race
militants engaged half-heartedly in relatively passive activities such as visit-
ing college officials and opinion-makers, gathering signatures on peti-
tions, and writing letters. Their impulse tended toward violent resistance.
They wished to drive terror into the hearts of blacks and thereby elicit the
cooperation of white power holders. Walking the border between violent
tactics and massive resistance and doing neither fully, the opponents of
desegregation were not very effective. A few days after Howell’s group met
with McDonald, another group emerged to protest the ‘‘integration of the
races’’ at Lamar with a petition of 160 signatures, mostly of people from
the small, all-white town of Vidor, about ten miles east of the campus. On
25 September, the second day of classes, Vidorian Eleanor Parker gave the
petition to McDonald. It ended with an ominous warning: ‘‘Please remem-
ber what happened in our city back in 1943.’’ The petition of the Vidor
citizens, who apparently had no problem claiming Beaumont as ‘‘our city,’’
contained a none too subtle threat that an attempt to end segregation at
the college would ignite a bloody riot.π≥

Lamar’s governing board did not support violent resistance to desegre-
gation, but it also did nothing to discourage massive resistance. W. R.
Smith explained in a letter to another board member: ‘‘I am not sure
whether we should or not consider the possibility of violence such as oc-
curred at the University of Alabama. I am aware of the bloody riots be-
tween the two races. While I am absolutely opposed to violence in any
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form, I would hate to be a party to anything that might bring it about.’’
Smith rationalized, ‘‘If we proceed with too much speed we may do just
this. The possibility of such trouble may require us to be a little more
deliberate than otherwise.’’ His reading of the Alabama episode, however,
may not have been accurate or truthful.π∂

Once the board understood the federal courts would demand an imme-
diate end to segregation at the college, it still refused to prepare whites for
the inevitable. It chose instead to continue to present itself as fighting what
more than a dozen senior and junior colleges in Texas had already done. If
it had spent more time trying to prepare the region for desegregation,
Lamar officials might have stemmed some of the turbulence that marred
the college’s transition to desegregation.π∑

On the first day of the fall semester at Lamar, five blacks enrolled. By the
third day, there were eleven. Official figures released on 1 October, in the
second week of school, revealed that a total of twenty-six blacks had been
accepted in various departments of the college as part of a record enroll-
ment of 5,455 students. Lamar’s first black students included Harriot An-
derson, Freddie Mae Bell, Betty Jean Booker, Alfred Briscoe III, Mattie Lee
Cobb, Lonnie Flanagan, Winona Frank, Edward Frank Jr., Versie Jackson,
Alice Jefferson, Theodore Johns Jr., Herbert Joseph, Lillie Mae Joseph,
Lexsee Nixon Jr., Alvin Randolph, Lillian M. Rhodes, Jimmie Rice, Elnora
Riggs, Robert Sampia, Clarence Sams, Hazel Thibodeaux, Vara Vincent,
and Adam Wade. Most of them had attended college before, and a few who
had official connections to the naacp (like Johns) entered the college
merely to make certain that the legal victory had not been in vain.π∏ As
black students entered Lamar, the massive resistance movement desper-
ately tried to create a lawless, riotous atmosphere. McDonald requested
the help of the sheriff and the chief of police in averting ‘‘any un-necessary
[sic] incidents.’’ He also met with student leaders and won their support
for peaceful desegregation of the college. The president’s organization of
a united front of faculty, staff, and students helped keep white extremism
from gaining a foothold on the campus once the semester began.ππ

On the first day of class, pickets appeared in front of most of the eleven
entrances to the campus. Picketers also forced black students from class-
rooms, and the police had to remove others as a precautionary measure.
Unable to attract enough support to close the campus or bar black stu-
dents, the picketers became openly hostile, insulting and jeering whites
who entered the campus. History professor Ralph Wooster recalled how
they referred to him and his colleagues as ‘‘scabs’’ and threw things at one
staff member who escorted a black student onto the campus. The picket-
ers, he remembered, ‘‘seemed by their appearance to be lower white mid-
dle class, because they were not very well clad; in fact . . . one of the ladies
didn’t even have shoes on. These were real hillbilly types.’’π∫
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Into the second week of the semester the Beaumont hillbillies, as Mc-
Donald put it, ‘‘got pretty rough.’’ Picketers soon tried to stop everyone
who entered the campus parking lots or driveways. In response, the presi-
dent had signs posted at all entrances prohibiting ‘‘loafing,’’ but police
officers and the two Texas Rangers he ‘‘quietly arranged’’ to come to
Lamar refused to enforce the law banning loiterers from campus property.
Consequently, a number of serious incidents took place. The picketers,
McDonald reported in a newsletter his office circulated during the crisis,
‘‘beat up one negro while a police officer stood idly by. This happened on
one of my parking lots. They broke a taxi cab’s window as it delivered a
negro student and later the negro driver was found to have a pistol in his
car.’’ Noting the biased and unprofessional policing of the campus, Mc-
Donald observed, ‘‘By Thursday it was obvious that the law enforcement
agencies were not going to discontinue the insulting of any teachers and
students, and I decided that public opinion was sufficiently crystalized in
my behalf to go on the offensive. The Editors of the Beaumont papers
agreed to help me and I blasted away at the lack of law and order in
Beaumont in front page headlines.’’ The negative publicity, he averred,
‘‘brought the Mayor over to my side and he called in the Police Chief and
told him to clear the pickets from the area. At 1:00 p.m. on Thursday the
police drove about 50 picketers from our eleven entrances to the campus,
arresting one. At 6:00 the pickets were back and the police again drove
them from the campus, arresting three including Mrs. A. W. Lightfoot,
one of the ring leaders.’’πΩ

On Friday, 5 October, the day after the arrests, Lamar operated without
pickets for the first time since classes had started. That night, however,
crosses were burned on both the Lamar campus and in front of city hall.
Mayor Cokinos received numerous death threats and had to have twenty-
four-hour police protection after bombs exploded at the church he at-
tended and, in an apparent mistake, at the house directly behind his.
Attorneys Johns and Willard, Ed Sprott, Octave Herbert, and other naacp
leaders were also victims of terrorism.∫≠ The picketing at Lamar resumed
on Monday and continued peacefully for a week. On 15 October, however,
Mrs. H. T. Mercer of Vidor informed the media that her group had chosen
to end the picketing permanently in order to concentrate on organizing a
rally in Beaumont’s Sportatorium, which acct president Basil Masters
would keynote. Mercer revealed the strategy behind the picket movement
in a statement to the Beaumont Journal : ‘‘Our one and only purpose in
picketing Lamar Tech . . . was to show public disapproval and aversion
to having negroes forced into our all-white schools, which is against the
laws of Texas, the laws of God, and the laws of personal morality and per-
sonal freedom. When we dared voice our protest to Dr. McDonald, and
our picketing of the college, we had faint hopes that the people of Beau-
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mont, or a portion of its white population, would become conscious of
their white blood and the danger threatening their children (and mine),
and awaken to what was happening.’’ Mercer’s statement also indicates
that a mood of resignation had come over whites in their defense of white
supremacy.∫∞

The council rally drew a crowd of over 600, many of whom paid one
dollar to become a member of the new Beaumont Citizens’ Council. Not
one of the women who led the picket movement at Lamar won election to
any of the group’s twenty leadership positions. Only men, many of them
the husbands of these women, took office.∫≤

The demise of segregation at Lamar involved not only a racial conflict
but also a ‘‘class cleavage.’’ In 1956, ‘‘the falling common whites’’ in Beau-
mont’s factories, refineries, and shipyards reacted to what they saw as an
attack on their economic status and the erosion of the social contract that
guaranteed for all classes of whites their incontrovertible superiority over
blacks. Bourgeois whites, like the Lamar regents, also loathed the assault
on ‘‘Southern customs’’ that Jackson v. McDonald posed, but for their class,
the imperative goal of law and order forced them to permit a revision of
the region’s unwritten social policy. Both bourgeois and working-class
whites, however, feared that racially mixed education would lead to mis-
cegenation. Frances Lightfoot explained the attitude of many Southeast
Texas whites when she said, ‘‘We like niggers here. We like a nice sweet
collie dog, but we don’t like ’em in bed with us. We’ll help ’em out when-
ever we can, as white folks have always done in the South. But just don’t let
’em get uppity on us.’’ When she parroted Masters and warned that ‘‘if the
white race doesn’t rise up, we’ll have a nation of mongrels in two genera-
tions,’’ she spoke not only for many white ‘‘working folks’’ but likely for
bankers like John Gray, lawyers like W. R. Smith and J. B. Morris, and
businessmen like Otho Plummer. In her view, ‘‘cafe society’’ whites, the
‘‘froth’’ of the city, deeply opposed desegregation but were spineless. The
regents fought it in the courtroom and the boardroom, but for Lightfoot,
when they and the majority of Beaumont’s affluent whites refused to help
foment a crisis in which Governor Shivers would be forced to authorize
Texas Rangers to remove black students from Lamar as a public safety
measure, their reluctance to take part in massive resistance amounted to a
betrayal and a refusal to ‘‘take a stand.’’ She explained to Warren Breed:
‘‘You take the upper crust—bankers, lawyers, and businessmen. I know
them and I have yet to see one of them come out and take a stand. But I’ll
be downtown and some of them will come up to me and say, ‘Mrs. [Light-
foot], here’s $10 or $1, take it and use it, but don’t quote me. I can’t afford
to be in this publicly. We’re not fighting the niggers, we just want to keep
our customs.’ ’’ Lightfoot deeply resented upper-class whites’ reluctance to
openly oppose the African American freedom struggle.∫≥
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Amid such animosity on campus and across the city, Lamar’s black
students tried to attend classes. Lonnie Flanagan’s determination to enter
the college met a severe test. At about 9:00 a.m. on 4 October, Flanagan
crouched down out of sight in the back seat of his stepfather’s taxicab,
while Clarence Mason, the forty-two-year-old driver for Flanagan Taxi
Company, drove in a circle near Lamar’s rear entrance. Mason would stop
the car when a propitious moment arose for Flanagan to run from the car
through Lamar’s rear gates to his class. Flanagan had successfully used this
method the day before, but on this day he encountered sentries on the
back gates. When the cab passed an entrance, Tom W. Sanford, a thirty-
eight-year-old Beaumont fence salesman, ran out in front of the cab and
motioned to Mason to stop the car. Mason slowed down and then tried to
speed away when Sanford yelled to other picketers, ‘‘He’s got a nigger in
the back!’’ Sanford dropped his placard, leaned into the car, and made a
grab for the steering wheel in an attempt to stop the car. As Mason dragged
Sanford the distance of a ‘‘city block,’’ he drew his pistol and pointed it at
the white man’s head. Sanford still refused to let go of the car. He later
said, ‘‘I told him to go ahead and shoot, but he didn’t. He started beating
my hands with the gun.’’ Mason finally stopped the car when a police
vehicle with two of the fifty officers that patrolled the campus pulled in
front of his car. With the help of Ranger captain Johnnie Klevenhagen, the
officers quickly took Mason, Flanagan, and Sanford away from the scene to
police headquarters for questioning. The police released Flanagan from
jail after he gave them a statement. Flanagan later learned that his brother,
Mansfield Flanagan, a twenty-one-year-old cab driver, had his rear window
smashed after dropping off a black student minutes before the incident
with Sanford. Police did not charge any of the white picketers for destroy-
ing Flanagan’s window, and the picketers did not press charges against him
for allegedly ‘‘nearly hitting’’ two of their ranks.∫∂

Lonnie Flanagan’s later experiences at Lamar improved markedly after
the incident. In an interview with Lamar professor Kirkland Jones, Flana-
gan said ‘‘his classmates were unusually kind and that both students and
professors transported him to and from school when his stepfather could
not drive him. Some of his professors even tutored him in areas where he
needed special help.’’ Alvin Randolph had similar memories. He most
vividly recalled a white female student who offered to share her notes with
him for the three weeks of classes he missed during the picketing crisis. But
Randolph also remembered driving along Port Arthur Road in front of
Lamar’s main entrance and seeing several white female picketers chasing
Lillie Mae Joseph into the road. She avoided a stoning, beating, or worse
only because Randolph stopped his car for her and drove her to safety.∫∑

Although the behavior of students contrasted sharply with that of the
picketers, intense isolation remained the dominant characteristic of the
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black experience at Lamar. After the picketing ended, the college ceased
to be the scene of open racial strife but remained far from being hospita-
ble to blacks. President McDonald’s ‘‘policy of gradual integration’’ pre-
vented black students from moving into the mainstream of campus life
until well into the early 1960s.∫∏ McDonald, in a letter to the chairman of
the board of advisers of the Beaumont Citizens’ Council, came out as 100
percent prosegregation but passed the buck for his actions onto the desk
of higher authorities: ‘‘As I have repeatedly stated, I am not in sympathy
with the Supreme Court’s ruling regarding the mixing of the races in
educational institutions. I was opposed openly to the admission of negroes
to Lamar. However, you and members of your organization should clearly
keep in mind that I am merely an employee of the Board of Regents, and as
such, I do not make the decisions on such important matters of policy. I am
only carrying out the orders which have been given to me by the Federal
Court and my Board of Regents.’’ He went on to assure the council mem-
bers that the Lamar board of regents had only acted ‘‘in accordance with
the Attorney General’s interpretation of the law’’ in its policies affecting
the operation of the college.∫π

In another letter, McDonald tried to allay the fears of a Galveston father
who was concerned about his daughters who attended Lamar:

I am sure you know I am very definitely apposed [sic] to integration as is the
Board of Regents. We have done everything in our power to keep from
having negroes. As a parent you will be interested to know that there are only
about ten negroes in the day classes where your daughters are concerned. No
two are in any one classroom and no white student need sit by or in any way
be in contact with one. If you are at all concerned, I will be glad for you to
telephone me; however, I think that everything will work out and we are
having a very wonderful fall session. Our enrollment has jumped from 4680
to 5600 and no class work has been interrupted at all. The students have
been a real inspiration to me as I try to make the wisest decisions over these
great troublesome problems.∫∫

Segregated seating arrangements, the college’s disinclination to accept
younger blacks with no prior collegiate experience, and the policy of re-
stricting the number of blacks to one or two per class are but a few exam-
ples of the latitude that McDonald gave himself in handling the ‘‘great
troublesome’’ problem of desegregation.

Warren Breed, in his study of how students and the ‘‘campus commu-
nity’’ adjusted to desegregation, conducted an informal poll of thirty-one
white students. He found the group divided about evenly, with sixteen
supporting equality for blacks and the remaining fifteen being indifferent
or nonsupportive. His sample revealed no enthusiastic ‘‘integrators’’ but
did include five students who felt bitter, two of whom ‘‘seemed vindictive
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and emotionally angered’’ by the admission of blacks at Lamar. With re-
gard to desegregation, ‘‘girls were markedly more favorable than boys.’’
Breed learned of only two white students who left Lamar in protest: ‘‘One
was in an English course. At the first lecture, a white student remained
seated, visibly angered. The instructor went over, and the student said he
could not stand Negroes in his classroom. The instructor said, ‘That’s just
fine.’ The student never returned. The second student was in a shop
course, and about 50 years old. He told his instructor he was ‘just too old to
start going to school with niggers.’ ’’∫Ω

Black students had a different adjustment experience. White students
had to make a transition from a traditionally white campus to accom-
modating twenty-six blacks. Black students had to make a transition from
exclusion from the Lamar campus to reluctant acceptance in a tense set-
ting. After the ugly period of picketing, blacks continued to experience
the pain of discrimination and prejudice. Winona Frank recalled that
‘‘once classes began, I felt myself surrounded by whites staring at me,
gawking, and talking behind my back in their little groups that I was never
asked to join.’’ She had no hostile encounters with picketers and never
missed a day of class during the disturbances. In addition, because Frank
was a light-skinned Creole and a product of Catholic schools, where she
learned English primarily from Irish nuns and priests, she looked, spoke,
and appeared white. Her husband, Edward, who was attending Lamar on
the GI Bill, was more racially identifiable as a Negro. When they walked
hand-in-hand to their classes they sometimes created a sensation. One
instructor, unaware of Frank’s race, requested that she come to his office
one day. Referring to her husband, he asked her, ‘‘What is that man to
you?’’ When she told him they were married, the instructor became visibly
upset and began treating her with less respect than before.Ω≠

Frank and five other black students persevered against many injustices
before they received their degrees from the college in May 1958. Bell,
Flanagan, Frank, Rice, and Vincent, all education majors, and Randolph, a
business major, became Lamar’s first black graduates. Surviving the long,
cold winter of discrimination earned them a little adulation in the black
community, a sort of consolation prize.Ω∞

Trouble in Texarkana and the State Repression of the NAACP

As white power battled black equality in Beaumont, another front in the
struggle raged in Texarkana. Although the fight to open Texarkana Junior
College (tjc) was the first continuously active campaign to desegregate a
public institution of higher education in the state after Heman Sweatt filed
his suit against the University of Texas, ultimately it was the naacp’s most
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difficult and disastrous battle. Through the influence of two native sons of
Texarkana, the Texas State Conference of naacp Branches’ executive sec-
retary, A. Maceo Smith, and its president, John J. Jones, blacks began
discussing applying to the junior college as early as 1948. Dr. and Mrs.
A. H. A. Jones and their son George volunteered for the campaign. A few
months later, John L. Montgomery and his daughter, Betty Jo Taylor, a
senior at Dunbar High School, agreed to be a part of a ‘‘total effort,’’
including legal action. Smith praised him for offering his family to be
involved in ‘‘opening up this whole question of educational inequalities
provided Negro students.’’ A lawsuit, however, did not make its way to trial
until June 1952. After such a long road to the promised land of justice,
Bruce v. Stilwell, named for Geraldine I. Bruce, one of the black petitioners,
and tjc president H. W. Stilwell, ended up being dismissed because the
plaintiffs had not appealed to the State Board of Education, which, it
turned out, claimed no authority over the admission policy of the school.
By the time the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the lower court’s
judgment in April 1953, another challenge to segregation at the junior
college already had begun.Ω≤

John J. Jones, a prominent black mortician in Texarkana since 1914,
eagerly desired to gain bragging rights among state and national naacp
leaders by winning a victory against segregation at the junior college. With
the Bruce case pending before the court, Jones, Montgomery, and other
local naacp leaders encouraged blacks to continue applying to the school.
During the opening week of the 1952 summer session at tjc, nine of Dun-
bar’s newest graduates went to the campus seeking admission. The first
black applicants arrived as a group. Bobbie Jean Whittaker, Wilma Jean
Whitmore, and Bettie Lee Edwards, along with the adults who accom-
panied them, met with the college’s dean and the registrar. They were
referred to Hale Parker, president of the school board of the junior college
district, and Parker, in turn, told them that the trustees would take up their
request for admission at their 9 June meeting. The six women and three
men in the group, along with several family members and friends, appeared
that night for what became a lengthy discussion. The board approved the
creation of a biracial negotiating committee, consisting of trustees and the
black students and their adult supporters, and stipulated that the group
‘‘meet in an effort to work the matter out in a manner satisfactory to all.’’
The simple-sounding task, however, proved to be utterly impossible.Ω≥

Tate, in his annual report, noted that tjc district officials had ‘‘com-
manded every divisive machination that their collective genius could con-
jure to frustrate the purpose of the petitioners.’’ The committee trustees
came up with some unique proposals. One plan they suggested, which was
very similar to proposals put forth in various cities when blacks sued for
access to city parks and recreational facilities, entailed white students at-
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tending the junior college in the morning and black students in the after-
noon, or vice versa. They held that such a policy would maintain racial
separation and, since both races would be ‘‘using the same facilities and
having the same curriculum and the same teachers,’’ no inequality would
exist. Black committee members flatly rejected the scheme. Next, the
trustees proposed construction of a new building staffed and equipped
like the existing junior college, with the same courses. Blacks would then
be permitted to choose tjc’s building or the new building for their very
own junior college. The black students also refused to sanction this sepa-
rate school plan. The board, however, went ahead with creating a black
branch of tjc.Ω∂

The board authorized the addition of three classrooms to Dunbar High
School and hired three instructors, giving one of them, the holder of a
Ph.D., the title of president. In September, when the school opened its
doors to the black community, not a single student enrolled. District offi-
cials closed the branch school, found its teachers jobs in the high school,
and faced another suit to open tjc to blacks. Tate gave the credit to the
‘‘high quality’’ of John Jones’s leadership for the ‘‘cohesiveness of the
community’’ behind the desegregation of tjc. ‘‘He has,’’ the regional
counsel wrote, ‘‘simply refused to let Jim Crow sprout new roots’’ in Tex-
arkana. Judge Joe Sheehy, who in November 1954 heard and decided the
new suit, Whitmore v. Stilwell, dismissed the suit on technical grounds. tjc
administrators, unlike those at most other white colleges, never stipulated
that the black applicants possessed all qualifications for admission other
than race and color. District secretary Thomas A. Bain wrote that because
of Article 7, Section 7, and Article 2900, the students were ‘‘not qualified
to attend the Texarkana Junior College.’’ Sheehy also suggested that Dun-
bar, from which they had graduated, might not have been an accredited
high school at the time of their graduation. He also loaded his opinion
with other technical matters, such as the failure of the plaintiffs to properly
name all seven members of tjc’s board as a party to the suit; the students’
failure to reapply that fall semester ‘‘in the light of the ruling laid down in
the Brown case’’; and, contrary to the previous point, the pendency of the
court’s final implementation decrees in Brown. Tate and his co-counsel,
W. J. Durham, appealed Sheehy’s ruling to the Fifth Circuit Court, which a
year later saw past the smokescreens and overturned the case. Despite
Bain’s eleventh-hour attempt to inject other irrelevant matters, the circuit
court observed that the tjc’s use of race as an admissions criteria re-
mained the only issue in the case, and it declared the practice of such a
policy unlawful.Ω∑

naacp leaders in Texarkana recruited several students from Dunbar’s
class of 1956 to apply to tjc in for fall semester. President Stilwell and the
board searched for every means to evade complying with the law. Stilwell



B L A C K  E Q U A L I T Y  V E R S U S  W H I T E  P O W E R

183

and board member Bill Williams even went so far as to encourage the
growing forces of massive resistance in the area. In Bowie County, whites
outnumbered blacks three to one. Texarkana, half of which was in Texas
and half in Arkansas, erupted the first week in September on both sides.
When eighteen-year-old Jessalyn Gray, seventeen-year-old Steve James Pos-
ton, and a few other black students presented themselves for registration,
officials asked them to reconsider but let them take their entrance exams,
pay fees, and buy books. When the news spread that blacks were about to
enter tjc, violence and massive protests took over the city. Death threats
against blacks rang throughout the black community. Violent outbreaks
included a shotgun blast fired into a service station owned by an naacp
leader and a cross and a Negro burned in effigy on the campus. On 6 Sep-
tember, just hours after black students enrolled at tjc, a Citizens’ Council
meeting convened. Keynote speaker Stilwell exhorted the crowd: ‘‘It is not
only your right but your duty to resist’’ being mixed with blacks. To admit
blacks to tjc would lower the school’s educational standards, he asserted,
and would lead to the desegregation of the grade schools, even to the
‘‘babies who can’t help themselves.’’Ω∏

Roused by such rhetoric, an estimated 500 whites mobbed the entrance
of tjc on 10 September, the first day of classes. Most of the jeering, placard-
carrying group were men, the older ones dressed in overalls and working
boots, the young ones wearing rolled up denim trousers and penny loafers.
They chose to lose a day of work to come and stand guard against Gray and
Poston. The eight-year-long legal battle had come to this: two black teen-
agers waiting, books in hand, facing angry white men who yelled and held
signs reading ‘‘No Mixed Classes’’ and ‘‘Go Home Niggers!’’ Waiting in the
hot sun for what? tjc board member Williams stood in the crowd hooting
right along with the rest. Four Texas Rangers and Bowie County police
officers observed the standoff at a distance. When Gray asked a Ranger for
help, he told her that Governor Allan Shivers had not sent them to be an
escort service for black students but to keep the peace and maintain order.
When the two students tried to walk through the mob, some men threw
rocks at them, separating them briefly, and one kicked Poston. At that
point, some blacks who were watching at a distance sent in a taxicab to get
Gray and Poston out of harm’s way. According to a newspaper report,
‘‘After 15 minutes packed with tension the Negroes climbed into a taxi and
rolled away.’’ During the days of turbulence in the city, authorities arrested
seven black teenagers for throwing rocks at a carload of white youths who
taunted them. Justice may have been blind, but, in Texarkana in the fall of
1956, it was not color-blind.Ωπ

The Citizens’ Council’s ‘‘peaceful riot,’’ as one of its leaders dubbed the
event, convinced blacks to back off their campaign to desegregate tjc. By
telephone, John Jones and Tate responded by filing a motion citing Stil-
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In September 1956, Steve Poston and Jessalyn Gray were greeted by a racist mob that
prevented them from attending their first day of classes at Texarkana Junior College. State
law enforcement officials did not intervene, and the college remained segregated for
another decade (photo by Joseph Scherschel, Getty Images, Inc.).

well and Williams with contempt of the federal court order that required
them to admit blacks to the school. Tate entered the suit against the tjc
officials in Judge Sheehy’s court without ever having met or spoken with
his clients. On 26 September, the day before Judge Sheehy’s pretrial hear-
ing on the matter, Assistant Attorney General L. W. Gray went to Tex-
arkana. He hauled Jessalyn Yvonne Gray and her father, Clarence, along
with Steve James Poston and his mother, Rosa, before a court of inquiry
presided over by a Bowie County justice of the peace. Frightened by the
presence of armed police officers, the Grays and the Postons told the court
that they had known nothing about the lawsuit against the tjc officials
until they read about it in the newspapers. They did not know, had never
met, nor had even spoken with a Ulysses Simpson Tate, much less retained
him. Clarence Gray testified that he had not discussed or given his permis-
sion to Jones, Tate, or anyone else to file a lawsuit for his daughter to go to
tjc. He said he thought Tate was the city attorney. Likewise, Steve Poston
denied knowing Tate or agreeing to be a party to any lawsuit. He added
that he did not know Jones was an naacp leader nor had he ever attended a
meeting of the naacp. Rosa Poston also professed no knowledge of a
lawsuit, but when asked what she thought about Steve’s going to tjc, she
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replied, ‘‘My idea is he could go there and be at home. It would be more
cheaper and lighter on him.’’ Getting into tjc, however, had proven any-
thing but light.Ω∫

After Gray and Poston disclosed that they had not hired Tate to file a
lawsuit, Clarence Gray knew the case before Sheehy the next day easily
could be demolished. At the hearing, Sheehy permitted tjc’s lawyer, John
Raffaelli, to put witnesses on the stand to show that the petitioners, Jessalyn
Gray and Steve Poston, did not wish to intervene and sue Stilwell and
Williams for obstructing the execution of the court order arising from
Whitmore v. Stilwell. Tate testified that before that day, he had never seen the
clients he claimed to represent and that Jones was his sole contact with
Gray and Poston. Next Raffaelli put A. H. Jones and John Montgomery on
the witness stand. Through their cogent testimony, his argument began to
crumble, and he grew more impatient. When he finished with one witness,
he would call the next one immediately, forcing Sheehy to intervene so
that Tate could cross-examine his witnesses. His trump card, however, was
Gray and Poston. Gray initially testified that she had not asked anyone to
file a suit on her behalf. But as Raffaelli continued to question her, she
started to crack. Her problem, she explained, arose from the fact that she
did not know the exact ‘‘nature of the situation.’’ She said she told Jones to
use her name and that he promised her that the naacp was going to ‘‘do
something’’ about her being denied entrance to tjc. Raffaelli reminded
her of her testimony the day before and then began to hammer the soft-
spoken youth with direct, yes or no questions. With Sheehy barking to her
to ‘‘speak out louder,’’ she started to give the lawyer what he wanted to
hear. She affirmed that Montgomery contacted her and asked to use her
name, but she denied he ever told her he would be hiring a lawyer for her.
Under cross-examination Tate put her at ease, but her testimony became
confused and contradictory. She answered that she still desired to attend
tjc but then added, ‘‘What I really wanted to do is just to go to college.’’
Tate elicited answers that helped put the naacp’s actions in a better light.
He ended by asking her if she wanted a lawsuit if that was what it would take
to get her into tjc. She answered meekly, ‘‘I suppose so.’’ ‘‘I’m not asking
what you suppose,’’ Tate retorted, ‘‘I am asking you, do you want a law suit
[sic] now?’’ When she replied that ‘‘expenses and things like that’’ associ-
ated with the suit left her uncertain, Tate asked the court’s permission ‘‘to
dismiss this petition as to Miss Gray.’’ Sheehy granted the motion.ΩΩ

Poston gave Raffaelli no trouble at all, clearly stating that he knew
nothing of a lawsuit until reading about it in the news and that he had not
authorized anyone to file a lawsuit for him. He mustered the courage to say
that he had been willing to let his name ‘‘be used in trying to get admission
for my right,’’ but he said he never knew that his name would be used for
legal action. Not bothering to cross-examine Poston, Tate made another
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motion for dismissal and ended the hearing. Sheehy took the opportunity
to rebuke Tate and to demand that in the future he be sure he was properly
employed by the party he purported to represent before setting foot in his
courtroom. ‘‘I want the Court to know,’’ Tate responded, ‘‘I appreciate
very much the situation.’’ In an instant, eight years of litigation to open tjc
ended. With the town perilously close to a full-blown race riot, the naacp
had moved teenagers like chess pieces in a gambit where their lives and
means of survival could be taken away. Neither Jones’s wealth and prestige,
brilliant naacp lawyers, nor constitutional principles would protect them
from the immediate threat they perceived. The state attorney with armed
officers had the power to take them from their homes and terrorists could
bomb them out permanently. The Grays and Postons folded, but not out of
an irrational fear. They assessed the risks, the strength of the enemy, and
made a costly strategic retreat. From the Ku Klux Klan to the suit-and-tie-
wearing Citizens’ Council, from local Texarkana folks to agents of the state
government, the forces of white supremacy in 1956 kept tjc off-limits to
black folks for another eight years. The junior college did not admit its first
black students until 1963.∞≠≠

The defeat in Judge Sheehy’s Tyler courtroom marked only the first act
in a farce of monumental proportions. The next day, a temporary injunc-
tion hearing in the case The State of Texas v. The National Association for the

Advancement of Colored People, a corporation, et al., began. At issue was the
continued existence of the naacp in Texas and the right of citizens in a
democracy to protest and change the status quo. The case followed similar
prosecutions that year in Alabama, Louisiana, and other southern states.
In June, an Alabama judge granted a temporary restraining order against
the naacp on the grounds that the organization had been operating as a
business in the state without registering. The next month, the judge or-
dered the naacp to turn over various records, including its membership
lists for all branches in the state. When the naacp refused to give up the
lists, the judge cited it for contempt of court, imposed stiff fines, and
maintained the injunction barring it from collecting dues or accepting
contributions. Legal action between the state and the naacp continued for
the next eight years, during which period the naacp ceased to function in
Alabama. Louisiana also faced a major assault on civil liberties beginning
in 1956. Using an old anti-Klan law, state officials banned the naacp until
its leaders turned in branch membership lists. Of this wave of repressive
action, Numan V. Bartley wrote nearly three decades ago in The Rise of

Massive Resistance : ‘‘The war on the naacp represented the gravest overt
threat to basic civil liberties during the 1950’s.’’ Thurgood Marshall called
the Tyler trial the ‘‘greatest crisis’’ in the organization’s history.∞≠∞

The scheme to repress the naacp sprung from the white supremacist’s
elemental belief that blacks accepted inequality in educational opportu-
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nity and other public goods and services because they were smart enough
to know that whites were a superior race and deserved what they had and
that blacks, being an inferior race, knew they did not deserve to have
absolute equality. If blacks began to seek equality through desegregation,
then there had to be some outside force that had disturbed their normally
contented minds. Texas attorney general Shepperd, Governor Shivers,
and other segregationists genuinely believed that Communists, through
the naacp, had stirred up blacks, aiming ultimately to pollute the social
and biological essence of the master race. Naturally, they had to stop it.∞≠≤

Prior to appearing before Judge Otis Dunagan, Shepperd engaged a
team of lawyers and a former fbi agent to investigate the naacp. Sterling
Fulmore Jr., assigned by the attorney general to the probe, submitted on
11 September 1956 an interoffice memorandum titled ‘‘N.A.A.C.P. Com-
munist Front Affiliation.’’ In it he provided details tying key naacp activists
to Communists and subversive groups. He cited U. Simpson Tate, Juanita
Craft, Lulu B. White, Kenneth Lamkin, and Arthur DeWitty for involve-
ment with the Harlem-based Civil Rights Congress (crc). In the late
1940s, Attorney General Tom Clark and the Congressional Committee on
Un-American Activities found the crc ‘‘to be controlled by individuals
who were either members of the Communist Party or openly loyal to it.’’
Hard hit by the U.S. government’s Subversive Activities Control Board, the
crc dissolved in 1956. Fulmore’s memorandum drew from the study ‘‘In-
dividuals from Texas Reported as Having Been Affiliated with Communist-
Front Organizations—As Compiled from Official Government Reports,’’
which identified over 200 Texans from various ethnic, educational, and
occupational backgrounds. The document, written by a Houston woman,
named prominent figures at the University of Texas such as Clarence
Ayres, J. Frank Dobie, Homer Rainey, George I. Sanchez, and Carlos Cas-
taneda; college executives such as the ut Medical Branch’s Chauncey
Leake, Thomas W. Currie of the Austin Presbyterian Theological Semi-
nary, and Texas Christian University’s Colby D. Hall; religious leaders like
Rabbi Hyman Judah Schachtel of Houston and Archbishop Robert Lucey
of San Antonio; and labor leaders, outright Communist party members,
and almost all of the naacp’s leadership. For most of the blacks, including
Huston-Tillotson College president Mary E. Branch, A. Maceo Smith, John
Jones, Rev. M. K. Curry of Wichita Falls, and tsu president Ralph O’Hara
Lanier, membership in the crc, the Southern Conference for Human
Welfare, the National Negro Congress (the parent body of the crc), or the
National Federation for Constitutional Liberties got them placed on the
list. These individuals were cited in light of the official findings of two
leading anti-Communist Texans in Washington, D.C., Martin Dies, chair of
the House Un-American Activities Committee, and Attorney General Tom
Clark. Shepperd had also considered linking his assault on the naacp to
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the Cold War by adding to the list of charges violations of the Communist
Control Act of 1954. On the advice of his assistants, however, he decided it
would be impractical to take such an approach.∞≠≥

The case Shepperd did undertake alleged that the naacp had ‘‘ex-
ceeded the bounds of propriety and law.’’ He asked for an injunction
against the operation of the civil rights organization and its legal arm,
the Legal Defense and Education Fund, Inc., known as the ldf, on the
grounds that they had violated barratry laws against soliciting litigation;
that the two groups were corporations organized under the laws of New
York and were operating illegally in the state of Texas; and that, since they
were ‘‘foreign’’ profit-making entities, they had evaded paying state fran-
chise taxes. Judge Dunagan approved an order restraining the naacp for
seven days until he could hear its answer to the charges. A temporary
injunction hearing was held on 1 October 1956 to decide whether the ban
on association activities should be extended several more months until a
permanent injunction hearing would be held. In collaboration with Mar-
shall and the ldf, Tate, Durham, Johns, Willard, and other Texas attorneys
had pioneered a new kind of public-interest law practice in the state, and
now a state court would scrutinize their practice from top to bottom. Tate,
in his eagerness to win victories against Jim Crow and show his colleagues
the way forward, sometimes failed to heed special counsel Marshall’s ad-
vice to exercise caution in his work against white supremacist laws. Tate
had to rely heavily on local naacp leaders (and lawyers in the rare case of
Beaumont and the Lamar suit) because of the sheer size of Texas, as well as
financial and organizational considerations. He briefed them by mail and
by phone on the steps to take toward the college in each area, but he could
not afford the time to go to each locale, and local plaintiffs and naacp
branches seldom could afford the expense to bring him to Kilgore, Wich-
ita Falls, Kingsville, El Paso, Austin, Denton, Texarkana, and all the other
places at every stage of preparing a suit to go to trial. At the same time, the
desire of plaintiffs, like Jessalyn Gray, to get on with their education, made
it very difficult for local communities to get volunteers who were willing to
tie up their lives in litigation for a year or more. Moreover, the rising tide of
white resistance to social change, the violence, the threatening letters and
phone calls, the economic pressure, and the police and state repression
put the naacp and the ldf between a rock and a hard place: do nothing or
go to court and run the risk of being charged with stirring up lawsuits.∞≠∂

To civil rights advocates, the Tyler trial was the most important court
battle in the history of the state, except, perhaps, for the Sweatt trial. The
case named as defendants all 112 branches of the naacp in Texas, the
Texas State Conference of Branches, and the naacp southwestern regional
office. Before the hearing, agents of the attorney general’s office visited
citizens who had challenged segregation at Texas colleges or grade schools,
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current and former plaintiffs in school desegregation cases, and the of-
ficers of more than a dozen naacp chapters. Tate, in a deliberate overreac-
tion, denounced the use of state troopers who accompanied assistant at-
torney generals during their investigations: ‘‘We consider some of the
methods now being used by the Attorney General as highly improper and
unlawful. It now appears that this is ceasing to be a lawful investigation. It is
becoming a campaign of coercion and suppression designed to deprive
Negro citizens of Texas of their civil rights and to threaten them with
danger and harm to their person.’’ Tate had a case against the state’s
intimidation tactics, but he was speaking to the media and to the record,
not to the court in which the case was being tried.∞≠∑

The activities in September 1956 of Riley Eugene Fletcher, an assistant
attorney general, are illustrative of the typical ‘‘raid’’ on an naacp branch,
as well as of how this wave of state repression directly tied local civil rights
activists to the Tyler trial. Fletcher, accompanied by a Texas Highway Patrol
captain and two patrolmen, began making unannounced visits to naacp
members in the Beaumont area. Their first stop was Sprott Clinic to see Ed
Sprott Jr., president of the Beaumont naacp branch. After waiting thirty
minutes to see the physician, Fletcher asked him to produce all ‘‘papers,
books, minutes [and] official correspondence’’ of the branch. Sprott re-
plied that he kept nothing pertaining to the organization at his office but
then vacillated when the state attorney told him to bring out whatever he
had. After haranguing Fletcher on the merits of the naacp, Sprott pro-
duced a few leaflets and referred his interrogator to the naacp secretary
Pauline Brackeen and the naacp vice president Marion Lewis. Fletcher
went to the Brackeen residence, but a neighbor, Leah Saint Julian, told
him no one was at home and that they were out of state on vacation. He
then went to the law offices of Johns and Willard and showed the local
attorneys who handled the Lamar State College case his ‘‘official visitation
letter’’ and his identification card. They opened their files to him, and he
took four documents from the Lamar College case file and went to the
office of County Clerk Fred Hill, who had the documents photocopied at
no charge. After treating his armed escorts to lunch, Fletcher worked until
close to midnight, visiting two more residences in Beaumont and two
locations in Port Arthur. Mrs. Charles Graham, a Beaumont branch naacp
Youth Council adviser, after looking at the visitation letter and identifica-
tion card, let the men into her living room. She denied that she held any
post in the branch, then stated that she had been elected an adviser at a
meeting she had not attended and had never served in that capacity. Upon
request, she retrieved some naacp papers she had but then became ‘‘per-
turbed’’ when Fletcher began copying down information from one of the
letters. She asked what he was doing, and he responded that she should
call the branch attorneys, Johns and Willard, and follow their counsel.
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After phoning Johns she told Fletcher to go ahead and finish what he had
begun. At his visit with Marion Lewis, Fletcher collected nine documents
to photocopy. After patrolman J. S. Moses replaced one of his escorts,
Fletcher went to visit naacp officers in Port Arthur. Branch vice president
Damon Davis, a Caucasian chemical engineer at the Gulf Oil refinery, and
his wife, who was active in the membership committee, gave the men a
chilly reception. Moses told Fletcher that the Davis family held biracial
committee meetings at their home, a fact that caused some of their neigh-
bors to no longer speak to them. ‘‘Quite agitated’’ by the surprise visit of
the state official, Damon Davis asked whether he had to answer any of
Fletcher’s questions. The attorney replied that he did not but that failure
to cooperate could ‘‘jeopardize the corporation’s [naacp’s] right to do
business in Texas.’’ Davis also objected to bringing out any organizational
papers, saying that they were private. At that point, as Fletcher related in
his summary report to Attorney General Shepperd, ‘‘his wife spoke up,
and said, ‘Get him all the papers, we have nothing to hide. There are no
Communists under that sofa.’ Davis said to his wife, ‘I thought you were
just going to come in here and listen.’ Davis went to another room, and got
a large brown, Manila envelope, from which he removed a stack of papers,
and started thumbing through them. I told him, ‘Just remove all purely
private and personal matters. I just want to see the official papers.’ Mrs.
Davis spoke to her husband in a sharp tone, and said, ‘Give him the whole
stack! We’ve got nothing to hide!’ ’’∞≠∏ Davis handed over the entire stack of
naacp documents. Fletcher went through it, removed what he wanted, and
returned the rest. Davis and his wife stated that they felt that the investiga-
tion was an act of pure ‘‘political persecution’’ on Shepperd’s part to serve
his own purposes. They asked whether his office also was investigating the
White Citizens’ Council and whether Shepperd would probe other groups
to which they belonged such as the Parent-Teachers Association. Before
Fletcher left, Davis talked at length about the black honor graduates who
sought admission to Lamar, how they were ‘‘fine people’’ and ‘‘would have
been a credit to the college’’ but instead had to attend school at tsu or
Prairie View. Fletcher politely dismissed these comments and left to visit
Jessie Gardner, a black housewife and the secretary of the Port Arthur
branch. She brought out her records, and he began manually copying
names from the membership rolls until he found his ‘‘eyes were failing.’’
He returned to his motel room just before midnight.

Fletcher had no time to waste. Shepperd needed all the information he
could get before the Tyler trial started, and news of Fletcher’s visits had
spread quickly among naacp members, some of whom managed to avoid
meeting with him or simply did not cooperate. He had to seize the time in
order to maintain the element of surprise. The next day, after sending
Shepperd a message via teletypewriter, he returned to Port Arthur. When
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the state attorney arrived at the house of Leroy Horton, the black refinery
worker and president of the local naacp branch met him in his yard and
greeted him by name, saying he had been waiting for him to come all
morning but had to leave for work. Taken by surprise, Fletcher said he
would see him another day and then drove off, but then he decided to
double-back and demand to see whatever naacp papers Horton possessed.
Horton replied as state and national leaders had instructed branch leaders
to respond, that he had only one, the official charter for the branch.
Fletcher looked at the charter, returned it, and left.

Fletcher then traveled to Orange, the third city in what locals call the
Golden Triangle, where he visited the president, vice president, and secre-
tary of the naacp branch. At the home of the vice president, Dr. M. F.
Harris, and his wife, the couple demanded to know what the investigation
was about and whether the Citizens’ Councils had also been targeted.
Harris, a black physician, was indignant but conceded that it was beyond
the branch’s power to prevent Fletcher from seeing its records. Fletcher
coyly suggested that Harris could prevent the inquiry by refusing to pro-
duce the papers. Harris, however, was aware that a couple of months ear-
lier, an Alabama judge held the association in contempt of court for refus-
ing to provide the state with membership rolls and correspondence and
fined it $100,000. Harris told Fletcher that he would authorize branch
secretary Louise Pritchard to provide him with the minute book and mem-
bership roll. Fletcher went there and copied names from the membership
roll, noting that it was a partial list. Finally, he visited branch president J. L.
Arnold Jr., a black refinery worker, and went through a stack of papers and
letters Arnold produced. After taking a few documents for photocopying,
he asked Arnold about the number of branch members and other matters
before leaving for supper.

That evening, Fletcher made copies of the documents he had netted
during the day. He then made his second trip to the Gardner home. ‘‘It
became apparent very shortly,’’ he noted, ‘‘that her attitude had changed
since we were there the preceding night.’’ She began arguing with the men
about bringing out the books until Fletcher told her sharply, ‘‘Let’s get
them out, the clock’s running, and we are wasting time.’’ She brought the
books out but protested about having to stay up while they did their work.
After saying she was going to bed she came into her kitchen, where the
men were working, and, as Fletcher recorded it, ‘‘turned on a portable
radio about two feet from my ear; played it quite loud, listening to a Negro
high school foot ball game, and hollering in a loud voice to her boy in
another room. Then she got the insect spray gun, and went over the
kitchen, filling it full of spray.’’ Her exerting control over her living space
made a clear impression on the attorney.∞≠π

Later that night, Fletcher learned that newspaper reporters had dis-
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covered he was in town conducting anti-naacp raids. The secrecy of his
mission had been blown. The next morning, Fletcher called Assistant At-
torney General John Davenport to report on his work. Davenport relieved
him of carrying out his scheduled visits in the nearby town of Liberty and
told him he ‘‘could come on home.’’ That Friday, 21 September 1956,
Davenport obtained from Judge Otis Dunagan in Tyler a temporary court
order to shut down the operations of the naacp. In the days ahead, Shep-
perd and his battery of lawyers put together the material Fletcher collected
in Beaumont, Port Arthur, and Orange, with records that other assistant
attorneys obtained in raids at the national New York offices of the naacp
and the ldf, at the large chapters at Houston and Dallas, along with mate-
rial gathered from other local Texas branches such as Austin, El Paso,
Texarkana, Mansfield, Fort Worth, Abilene, Monahans, Pecos, Odessa,
Brownwood, San Angelo, Midland, Wharton, and Gainesville.

During the near month-long hearing, the state produced over five hun-
dred exhibits and more than a million words of testimony that came pri-
marily from its raids and three courts of inquiry. Jessalyn Gray and Steve
Poston testified, as they had at the Texarkana inquisition, that they had not
authorized a suit to be filed against tjc. Gray added that ‘‘she was so scared
by the white officers wearing guns who summoned her to the court of
inquiry that she would now be afraid to file a lawsuit to enter the college.’’
A contract dating back a decade in which Tate agreed to pay Heman
Sweatt an $11,500 stipend to support him and pay for his education once
his lawsuit opened the University of Texas Law School was another major
piece of damaging evidence against the naacp. After Marshall, Durham,
and C. B. Bunkley put on the naacp’s defense and both sides made master-
ful closing arguments, Judge Dunagan rendered his decision restraining
the naacp and ldf from operating in the state of Texas until a final hear-
ing could be held. On 8 May 1957, Judge Dunagan signed and entered a
permanent injunction and ended the Texas v. naacp affair. The naacp,
after some internal wrangling, chose not to appeal the ruling.∞≠∫

Shepperd’s raids, the Tyler trial, and Dunagan’s ban were not the only
troubles the association faced, nor were they the only assaults on the move-
ment for the desegregation of public education. In 1956, snuff-dipping
Jerry Sadler, an attorney and a 1946 gubernatorial candidate representing
the tiny East Texas backwater of Percilla, announced plans to introduce
two bills aimed at restricting the naacp and nine bills directed at preserv-
ing school segregation. The latter bills would put into effect the proposals
the Shivers-appointed state Advisory Committee on Segregation in Public
Schools adopted in September 1956 by a thirteen to five vote. The odious
anti-naacp measures, which followed examples set by other states, ‘‘would
make it unlawful for any state or municipal government agency or any
school to employ a member of the naacp and would require all persons
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and organizations to register with the Secretary of State if their principal
function is either to promote or to oppose racial integration.’’ In the wake
of Dunagan’s temporary injunction and prosegregation Price Daniel’s win
over the liberal Ralph Yarborough in the gubernatorial election, it must
have seemed at the end of 1956 that Houston naacp leader Christia
Adair’s prophecy that Texas would fall under the rule of the Citizens’
Council was coming true.∞≠Ω

A 20 December 1956 summit meeting of twenty of the 181 Texas legisla-
tors (31 senators and 100 members of the House) at Marshall, a major East
Texas city in which blacks comprised more than half its population, consol-
idated a core group around Sadler’s bills in advance of the opening of the
legislative session in January. With its equal opportunity provision against
those promoting or opposing racial integration, the notorious ‘‘thought
permit’’ bill did not fare well. It was passed by the House, but when it went
before a senate committee the members referred it to the new attorney
general, Will Wilson, who declared it unconstitutional. As for the other
anti-naacp bill requiring all state and city employees to sign sworn state-
ments that they were not members of the naacp, in March 1957, Reagan R.
Huffman, Marshall attorney and summit host, got it onto the floor for
argument. ‘‘We can take care of our Negro citizens,’’ Huffman told his
House colleagues; ‘‘they don’t want the trouble caused by the naacp.’’
When George Thurmond, the South Texas lawyer from Del Rio, asked if
the naacp had ever been found guilty in a court of law of being a subversive
organization, Huffman answered, ‘‘No, sir. But I’m going to answer with
this: We have evidence that [the] naacp is infiltrated with members of the
Communist Party.’’ Although several lawmakers doubted the legality of the
bill, HB 32 passed in the House seventy-five to forty-nine.∞∞≠

A group of South and West Texas senators, who came to be known as the
‘‘filibusteros,’’ opposed the bill. Its leaders, Henry Gonzalez of San An-
tonio and Abraham Kazen Jr. of Laredo, both the sons of immigrant Catho-
lics, took turns speaking continuously for thirty-six and one-half hours as
part of a marathon filibuster that killed the anti-naacp measure and led to
the defeat of all but two prosegregation bills. Although the Senate floor
was conspicuously empty during periods of the ‘‘talkathon,’’ a crowd of
blacks and whites largely supportive of the senators filled the galleries
cheering them on—until the presiding officer who had warned the group
against demonstrations ordered them cleared. Gonzalez, a former city
councilman who made the motion to desegregate all San Antonio’s public
facilities, had eschewed advice in his first term in the state legislature that
as a junior senator he not take so bold a stand on a controversial matter.
Outmaneuvering veteran senators like Wardlow Lane of Center, Gonzalez
shrewdly observed to the press that ‘‘time worked in our favor. We did serve
the purpose of focusing public opinion on this type of legislation.’’ Letters
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and telegrams flooded the legislature during the highly publicized filibus-
ter, but for perhaps the first time, a significant amount of the mail opposed
the extreme attempts to uphold segregation, putting the white suprema-
cists on the defensive.∞∞∞

With the naacp humbled, the church stepped up to lead the opposition
to racial extremism. Organized labor also ended its virtual silence on the
abuse of civil rights and liberties by the state and its citizens. Shortly after
Dunagan’s temporary injunction, Rev. A. A. Lucas, president of the Mis-
sionary Baptist General Convention of Texas and former president of the
Texas State Conference of naacp Branches in the 1940s, gave a passionate
and moving speech to about 100 black ministers and lay leaders in Dallas.
He implored them to be alert to ‘‘what’s happening to our people’’ and to
not create ‘‘a substitute for the naacp’’ but to carry on its work. ‘‘If anyone
should want to enjoin the church, let them do it,’’ he said. ‘‘If the church
goes to jail, it will pray itself out.’’ In Fort Worth, the Texas State Council of
Methodist Women approved a resolution against efforts to thwart the im-
plementation of Brown. Endorsing a report from its committee on human
rights, the Texas State Congress of Industrial Organizations Council added
its opposition to ‘‘the program of the ‘hate’ organizations’’ and called on
its members to work to abolish racial discrimination in public agencies and
schools. Texas Council of Churches leader Harold Kirkpatrick got church
leaders to barrage the legislature with telegrams opposing passage of the
prosegregation bills. Thus, within two years of Brown, racial moderation in
Texas had not died; it had just begun to thrive.∞∞≤

Citizen Council aggression and state repression disrupted the naacp’s
momentum and neutralized much of its local base, but the naacp by no
means disappeared. In January 1958, naacp leader Roy Wilkins wrote
naacp activist H. Boyd Hall, saying he knew ‘‘that the situation within the
state conference and among the branches is not an easy one.’’ He nonethe-
less expressed his ‘‘hope that our Texas members and branches are going
to snap out of it in 1958. Apparently they were a little dazed and confused
by the 1957 situation, but by now they ought to be ready to go ahead.’’∞∞≥

Slowly the naacp and the movement for civil rights in Texas did stumble
to their feet. Of all the movement’s experiences—the legal battles, the
great speeches, the sanctions levied against it by fanatical white suprema-
cists in the streets and in state government—what most helped the associa-
tion to resume its role in the political and legal arena was the bravery
shown by blacks, especially the youth, in demanding their rights. An edi-
torialist in the New York Post, far removed from the heat of the struggle,
made the point most poignantly:

Do the Jim Crow legions believe such victories [as Dunagan’s order] can halt
the drive for equality? We suggest they look at the photographs of the quiet,
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resolute Negro children defying jeers and violence and sadism. The naacp
may be hounded and driven underground; but who will smother the valiant
kids, and who will say they can be permanently detoured by stones or injunc-
tions? Some day they will be able to tell their own children of how they
endured this ordeal. There will be few comparable moments of glory for the
adult delinquents leading this desperate last stand of white supremacy.

With the images of courageous youth like Marilyn Menefee, Joe Atkins, Jes-
salyn Gray, and Lonnie Flanagan facing down virulent and age-old hatreds
to stoke the cause, the struggle to advance democracy continued.∞∞∂
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chapter six

Plowing around Africans on Aryan Plantations
Access without Equity at Texas Universities, 1958–1965

Negro students have been desegregated but not integrated. . . . We are cut off
from the general stream of university life.

—Anthony Henry, a black sophomore at ut, December 1957

In the aftermath of the state’s assault on civil liberties, Texas white su-
premacists began to realize that sanctions against the democratic move-
ment for racial integration could only slow the pace of change; it could not
reverse its direction. By disrupting the work of the naacp, the attorney
general’s office had curtailed the momentum of the civil rights revolution.
The ideas of equal protection of the laws and equal educational oppor-
tunity and access and the discrediting and abandoning of the philosophy
of racial superiority, however, continued to challenge segregation at state
universities and colleges. In 1958, Richard Morehead of the Dallas Morning

News reported the findings of the first survey on desegregation of Texas
colleges. Morehead had mailed questionnaires to the presidents of over
100 public and private institutions of higher learning in Texas and dis-
closed that thirty-six schools had desegregated and nine others had open
policies (see Table 5).∞

At the hold-out schools, administrative boards clung to the concept of
Texas supporting all-black colleges, several mixed universities, and a num-
ber of all-white colleges. The idea of a tripartite system of higher education
came to be known as the ‘‘salt-and-pepper plan.’’ It was based on a simple
analogy to how people like to season their food: some like the taste of salt
but cannot stand pepper; others like pepper but cannot handle the salt;
still others prefer both salt and pepper. In the same way that a restaurant
accommodates all three preferences among its diners, so too, went the
argument, should the state provide institutions for blacks and whites who
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Table 5. Desegregated Texas Senior and Junior Colleges in 1958

Institution, City

Year

Desegregated

No. Black

Students

No. White

Students

Amarillo College, Amarillo 1951 23 1,346
Borger City Junior College, Borgerb 1954
Cisco Junior College, Cisco 1956 11 323
Del Mar Junior College, Corpus Christi 1952 25 2,100
Gainesville Junior College, Gainesville 1956 1 303
Howard County Junior College, Big Spring 1951 8 476
Lamar State College of Technology, Beaumont 1956 57 5,003
Laredo Junior College, Laredo 1954 4 773
Midwestern University, Wichita Falls 1954 16 1,435
North Texas State College, Denton 1956 133 5,855
Odessa Junior College, Odessa 1954 5 1,500
Pan-American College, Edinburgb 1954
Paris Junior College, Paris 1956 4 382
Saint Philips College, San Antonio 1955 800 200
San Angelo College, San Angelo 1953 12 787
San Antonio College, San Antonio 1955 70 4,950
Southwestern Medical College, Dallas 1958 1 409
Temple Junior College, Temple 1957 11 368
Texarkana Junior College, Texarkanaa

opened by Whitmore v. Stilwell

1955

Texas College of Arts and Industries, Kingsville 1956 15 2,785
Texas Southern University, Houstona

opened by board of directors in 1956
1958

Texas Southmost College, Brownsville 1951 2 900
Texas Western College, El Paso 1955 20 3,550
University of Texas at Austin 1950 165 15,925
University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston 1949 22 480
University of Texas Dental School, Houston 1952 8 343
Victoria Junior College, Victoria 1954 8 947
Wharton Junior College, Wharton 1954 22 1,041

Totals 642 51,572

Sources : ‘‘Status of Texas Colleges,’’ SSN, April 1958, 11, and February 1959, 2
Note : These figures are for black students enrolled at traditionally white institutions. The
figures for Saint Philips College, a municipal, traditionally black institution, are not
included.
a Desegregated by court order
b Open to both black and white students at inception
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preferred or did not mind going to college together and exclusive facilities
for those students who preferred to matriculate strictly with ‘‘their own
kind.’’ Two college systems formed the exclusive, salt-or-pepper parts of
the plan: the six-member State Teachers College System and the four-
member A&M College System (including Prairie View as the pepper-only
campus). Killing Jim Crow at these institutions would be exceedingly diffi-
cult, especially in the absence of a strong naacp and ldf challenging
discrimination in the courts. The governing boards of these hold-out sys-
tems held fast to the ‘‘salt-and-pepper’’ slogan John Ben Shepperd intro-
duced in the Versie Jackson trial in 1956 and ignored the fact that the
federal judge in the case found the scheme unacceptable.≤

Black Texans kept up the struggle to end segregation in higher educa-
tion because they felt it represented a grave injustice and because they
knew Brown made it an unlawful practice. The naacp, moreover, had
proven that the reform ideology of civil libertarianism could produce
changes in the social order of the South that only prophets or lunatics
dreamt possible. After the Court’s ruling in Brown, the civil rights move-
ment gained support from the federal judiciary and the U.S. Congress.
The Civil Rights Bill of 1957, the first legislation since Reconstruction
that involved the federal government in protecting the long-assailed and
almost-forgotten citizenship rights of blacks was proposed as a direct result
of Brown. As it worked its way through the House, Senate Majority Leader
Lyndon Johnson played a major role in watering down and narrowing the
scope of the original bill that Dwight Eisenhower’s administration had
drafted; and when it reached the Senate the Texas politician weakened it
further. He had an interest, however, in passing some form of civil rights
legislation. By convincing his southern colleagues in the Democratic Party
to allow a toothless federal civil rights bill to get through Congress, John-
son knew he would prove his statesmanship and send his own presidential
ambitions soaring. Johnson presented himself as maneuvering the bill past
the vehement opposition of Dixiecratic stalwarts like Strom Thurmond on
one side and legislative leaders like Democrat Hubert Humphrey and
Republican Williams Knowland who backed a stronger version of the bill
on the other. He handed Eisenhower a limited voting-rights protection
measure, and on 9 September 1957, over the objections of many black and
white critics, the president signed the compromise package into law. The
act created two federal agencies: the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights
(crc) and the Civil Rights Division of the Justice Department.≥

Immediately, the crc launched into its mission as a ‘‘fact-finding body’’
and produced the document Equal Protection of the Laws in Public Higher

Education, 1960. In 1959, it prepared questionnaires on enrollment by
race and on admission policies and distributed them to fifty public institu-
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tions of higher learning in Texas. Out of twenty universities and four-year
colleges, eighteen responded to the survey, and of its thirty junior colleges,
twenty-three responded. Eleven traditionally white institutions and one
traditionally black college reported that they still maintained segregation.
Five schools said they excluded blacks on the grounds that their establish-
ing acts determined that they were for white students only. In the six
desegregated colleges that enumerated their enrollment by race, black
students accounted for between 0.1 and 3.5 percent of the total student
bodies. Of the twenty-three junior colleges that responded to the commis-
sion survey, fifteen reported that they had desegregated, five stated they
had an all-white enrollment despite having a racially nondiscriminatory
admissions policy, and three said they continued to deny admission to
black applicants. Twelve of the desegregated junior colleges reported that
in the fall of 1959, blacks made up between 0.2 percent and 4 percent of
their student populations. In addition, at San Antonio’s traditionally black
Saint Philips Junior College, which was desegregated since 1955, whites
(most of whom were persons of Mexican descent) constituted one-third of
its enrollment.∂

Compared to other states, Texas, half of whose fifty-three publicly sup-
ported institutions of higher education had dropped the color ban, was
moderately desegregated. All the public universities and colleges in the
Deep South states of South Carolina, Georgia, Mississippi, and Alabama
remained completely segregated. In Louisiana, four state colleges had
admitted black students; and in Florida, after a legal battle that spanned
almost entire decade, the University of Florida had accepted its first blacks
into its graduate and professional degree programs. By 1960, about half of
the public and nearly one-third of the private institutions of higher learn-
ing in all seventeen southern and border states had desegregated. Relative
to the region’s public elementary and secondary schools, higher educa-
tion had come a long way. Nonetheless, the crc suggested in a report
released in January 1961 that the government withhold funds from segre-
gated public colleges:

The Supreme Court has held that the Federal Government is prohibited by
the Constitution from maintaining racially segregated educational institu-
tions. It is not sound policy for the Federal Government to subsidize the
unconstitutional operations of others; to do indirectly what it is not permit-
ted to do directly.

It is not sound policy for the Federal Government to disburse public
funds in such a manner that it increases the adverse effects on some citizens
of denials of equal protection of the laws by states and political subdivisions
thereof.∑
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The Texas State Advisory Committee to the crc, however, stood by the
position it took in 1959 opposing ‘‘the exercise of force or undue pressure
from any quarter.’’ The eight-member committee pointed out that ‘‘no
great unpleasantness has taken place in Texas as an outgrowth of the
efforts to bring about a recognition of the rights of citizenship of those
belonging to minority groups’’ and stated that coercive actions by the
government would ‘‘only serve to engender bitterness and resentment,
which inevitably will delay the realization of just and righteous aims.’’ The
committee, with white supremacist William B. Bates on one end and
wealthy black businessman Mack H. Hannah on the other, concluded that
securing equality for national minorities in the state had best be left to
‘‘persons of good will’’ coming together ‘‘in an atmosphere of spiritual
understanding and trust.’’ Their lofty-sounding conclusion had no basis in
political reality. The desegregation of the remaining institutions of higher
education required more than goodwill. In the end, the ultimate triumph
of desegregation came from additional initiatives in the federal courts,
threats of legal action, and the passage of national legislation that prohib-
ited the practice of racial discrimination by federally funded institutions.∏

After the repression of the naacp in 1957, no other traditionally white
four-year colleges in Texas desegregated until 1960. Between 1957 and
1960, students broke the color line at only one university, the very school
set up originally to demonstrate the state’s good faith in honoring the
separate-but-equal doctrine. In 1958, Texas Southern University finally
admitted Caucasians to a university created for Negroes. A decade before,
tsu’s board of directors rejected Jack Coffman, the first white student to
apply to the school, after Attorney General Price Daniel issued Opinion
No. V-645 on 31 July, declaring that ‘‘since substantially equal courses of
study are offered for white students at The University of Texas and other
State colleges, a white student may not be legally admitted to the Texas
State University for Negroes.’’ In January 1949, another white, Harold
Schachtel, attempted to enter the black university as part of a joint antira-
cist effort of the naacp Youth Council and the Young Progressives of Texas.
The board also refused his application on the basis of Daniel’s opinion.π

In the fall semester of 1955, whites’ attempts to enter tsu again made
headlines. tsu rejected six nonblacks, Warren Martin, an associate pastor
of a Methodist church in Houston; Albert Kaszcyke, the seventeen-year-old
son of a Polish war refugee who recently moved to Houston from Chicago;
Thomas C. Brunson Jr., a Baylor graduate and navy lieutenant on duty in
the Pacific; John August Solomon Jr., a resident of Dallas; William A.
McAnear, a resident of Houston; and Aiko Awata, a resident of Tokyo,
Japan. When their names became public, Kaszcyke, Brunson, and Sol-
omon explained to the press that their applications had been misdirected.
Kaszcyke stated he did not realize that tsu was only for blacks; Brunson
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said he intended to apply to ut for graduate work; and Solomon said he
had intended to apply to the University of Houston (uh). Martin, a native
of Kerrville who previously had worked at a black church in Waco, applied
to Houston’s tsu because it was the school he could best afford. The young
preacher told the press that ‘‘all men are brothers’’ and that he supported
the ‘‘elimination of segregation.’’ Nevertheless, when the semester started
he found himself studying at a segregated uh.∫

The applications from Caucasian men and a Japanese woman prompted
board members to reconsider tsu’s segregated admissions policy. At their
September 1955 meeting, the executive committee recommended the
immediate adoption of a racially nondiscriminatory admissions policy.
George Allen, a black board member from Dallas, supported the recom-
mendation. But Dr. H. D. Bruce, a white board member, moved to table
further discussion of the matter until the board convened in closed session.
Allen objected and called for the matter to be discussed openly before the
press, but the other members overruled him. In closed session the board
voted 5–1 to postpone a decision on desegregation until its next meeting.
Mack Hannah, chairman of the board, explained to the media that he and
his colleagues voted to delay a final vote in order to give tsu’s new presi-
dent, Dr. Samuel M. Nabrit, time to settle into his position.

On 10 January 1956, the board met and approved the desegregation of
tsu by a vote of 6–1. W. R. Banks, president emeritus of Prairie View,
Hannah, Bruce, Price Crawley, J. O. Nobles, Dr. J. C. Chadwick, and
Houston attorney Ralph Lee attended the meeting. Lee’s dissenting vote
excepted, the board agreed to admit ‘‘all qualified applicants without re-
gard to race, color or creed.’’ Lee protested that the board’s action might
be illegal without a specific court order but then moved that tsu desegre-
gate its faculty and staff saying, ‘‘If [integration] were proper for the stu-
dents it was proper for the faculty.’’ His motion carried unanimously. For
the next two years, despite tsu’s declaration of an open policy, no whites
entered the school. In the fall of 1956, several white students were admit-
ted but they never registered. Nabrit gave them each ‘‘special counseling’’
by phone or in a letter, and none followed through on enrollment. What
the president told the prospective students is not recorded, but his words
and Houston’s opposition to school desegregation apparently combined
to keep whites out in 1956, and possibly in 1957 as well. tsu kept no record
of the race or ethnicity of its student body as a matter of official policy.Ω

The massive resistance movement may have discouraged whites from
entering tsu, but, ironically, it provided the university with one of its first
publicly acknowledged white students. On Monday, 15 September 1958,
E. A. Munroe, leader of the Missionary Baptist Temple and an ardent
segregationist, applied to tsu. Accompanied by twenty-five members of his
flock, including children who carried the church banner, the U.S. flag,
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and prosegregation placards with slogans like ‘‘Intergration [sic] Leads to
Intermarriage’’ and ‘‘We Believe in a Government by the People Not by
Nine Men,’’ Munroe registered for classes and wrote a check for $83.50 for
his tuition and fees. Wearing white high-heeled boots, a dark serge suit, ‘‘a
broad-brimmed white Stetson hat and tie with fuchsia sequins and gold
lame stitching,’’ the comical figure told newspaper reporters who imme-
diately swarmed the campus that he entered the school to ‘‘show the stu-
pidity of integration and our defiance of the Supreme Court verdict on
integration.’’ He added, ‘‘My purpose is to serve as an object lesson to show
how stupid and inconsistent it is for me to enroll in a colored university as a
white man when we have so many fine white schools and universities.’’ He
indicated that he wanted a bachelor’s degree in religion and registered for
classes in psychology, philosophy, and a survey course on the Old Testa-
ment. But he also stated that he ‘‘had no idea tuition would be so high. . . .
Looks like I’ll have to sell my Fleetwood Cadillac to pay the tuition.’’∞≠

The board split on whether to admit Munroe. The minority, Lee and
Hannah, opposed his admission, saying that he applied only for ‘‘propa-
ganda purposes’’ and to embarrass the university. The majority of the
board, however, accepted Nabrit’s advice that tsu had to enroll him re-
gardless of his motives. After a few days of classes, Munroe dropped out
and stopped payment on his check, saying that he encountered an ‘‘awful
lot of prejudice and discrimination’’ from tsu’s black students, which
he claimed proved that most blacks, as well as whites, did not want inte-
gration. Another white minister enrolled after Munroe but without all
the grandstanding. Clayton McMahill, pastor of St. Thomas Methodist
Church, wanted to counter the Baptist preacher’s views, saying he was
taking a stand for ‘‘a world Christian brotherhood’’ in desegregating tsu.
He did not report any negative reactions from blacks.∞∞

Elsewhere in the state, no additional campuses were desegregated until
1960. On 11 February, ten days after four college students in Greensboro,
North Carolina, launched the sit-in movement, John Matthew Shipp Jr.
sued West Texas State College (wtsc) and gained for blacks the right of
nondiscriminatory access to the institution. The college, located in Can-
yon, the seat of Randall County (where the population was 99 percent
Anglo), offered four-year degree programs to students in the Panhandle
area. The public junior college in nearby Amarillo had dropped segrega-
tion nine years earlier, and the city’ grade schools were desegregated in
1956. Shipp, a product of Amarillo’s desegregated public schools and a
graduate of Amarillo College, sought to finish his undergraduate educa-
tion at the institution nearest to home. Henry Braswell, an assistant at-
torney general that represented wtsc in Shipp v. White, brought up the old
‘‘salt-and-pepper’’ idea, but U.S. District Court judge Joe Dooley struck it
down saying that he did not believe it would ‘‘pass muster under our
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present understanding of law.’’ Dooley told the defendant board, which
governed five other segregated state colleges, that ‘‘the law of the country
has now been decided by the Supreme Court’’ and that by its rulings in
school segregation cases, it ‘‘has settled for me the matter of barring admit-
tance of students solely on grounds of color.’’ He ordered Frank White, the
other members of the board of regents of the State Teachers College
System, and college president James P. Cornette to admit Shipp on ‘‘the
same terms and conditions that white citizens are permitted to enroll,
study, and receive instruction.’’ For the Anglo judge in an almost all-Anglo
region, the Court’s decisions on school segregation may have reconciled
him to the equal rights of blacks under the law, but the regents of the
Teachers College System continued to stonewall in the face of challenges
to segregation at its other campuses.∞≤

The board of regents of Texas Woman’s University (Texas State College
of Women until 1957), an independent body that governed the all-female
college in Denton, also vigorously opposed admitting blacks. Texas Wom-
an’s University (twu) officials exhibited their racist convictions in 1952
when an executive committee met and reviewed its policy toward ‘‘the prob-
lem of the Negro visitor or delegate to meetings held on the College cam-
pus.’’ By a unanimous vote of the deans, directors of various departments,
and the president, the committee went on record as reaffirming ‘‘its belief
in and support of the policy, rooted in Texas law, which does not permit
Negro visitors to participate in meetings on the College campus.’’∞≥ Three
years later, twu’s regents faced a more serious problem. In December of
1955, the executive committee met at the request of the board to consider
how the college should handle the desegregation problem. The committee
wrote a statement that urged that the board be guided by three principles:

(a) Strongly discourage admission of Negro students until after the present
long session, but if an insistent case is encountered at the beginning of the
second semester admit the Negro student concerned, provided that she is a
resident of Texas and meets all entrance requirements and standards; (b)
Admit fully qualified Negro applicants after the present long session but, if
legally possible, resist the admission of out-of-state Negroes for an indefinite
period; (c) Refuse indefinitely to house Negro students in the same dormi-
tory or dormitories with white students.∞∂

Effectively, the committee’s proposal put it in the hands of John A. Guinn,
twu’s president, to do all he could to prevent desegregation; but if a
qualified, in-state black could not be dissuaded from pursuing her right
to admission, then the college would capitulate and admit her, but not to
student housing. Guinn managed to persuade blacks against applying to
twu, but in the spring of 1957 the widening stream of applications again
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brought the issue to the surface. The executive committee cited five rea-
sons for its belief that ‘‘any immediate step to integrate tscw would be
likely to involve the College in violent controversy.’’ Citing the July 1956
Democratic primary vote in favor of three prosegregation referenda, the
‘‘attitudes’’ of the 55th Legislature, the rise in ‘‘bitterness’’ among segrega-
tionists Southwide, threats of violence that had been made at ut over
desegregation, and the policies of other institutions that remained segre-
gated (i.e., A&M, Texas Tech, the schools in the Teachers College System,
and A&I), the committee unanimously revoked its 1955 statement on
desegregation. Strangely, twu officials chose to ignore North Texas State
College’s successful, ongoing experience with desegregation, even of cam-
pus housing. On 14 May 1957, a few days from the third anniversary of
Brown, the group recommended to the board ‘‘that voluntary integration
at the Texas State College of Women be indefinitely postponed . . . even
under insistent pressure, until such time as the mores of the citizenry of
Texas would tolerate integration in their institution of higher learning
exclusively for women students, an institution set up specifically for white
women students in 1901.’’ On 3 June 1957, the board accepted the execu-
tive committee’s statement on integration policy and for the next four
years determined that the Texas ‘‘citizenry’’ remained vehemently op-
posed to twu dropping the race bar.∞∑

twu changed its policy in 1961. Alsemia Ann Dowells, a graduate of a
Dallas high school that year, applied for admission as a resident student.
On 24 August, by a unanimous vote, the board adopted a resolution stat-
ing that since the Supreme Court had ruled twu’s ‘‘white girls only’’ stat-
ute ‘‘unconstitutional and inoperative’’ and since the school was faced with
applications from other black female students, it authorized the president
to admit blacks ‘‘commensurate with school policy relative to the qualifica-
tions for other students.’’ That fall semester, Dowells became twu’s first
and only student of African descent. An all-female environment in no way
mitigated or lessened the stultifying white-supremacist attitudes she en-
countered. In the spring of 1962, she concluded she had endured enough
terrifying isolation and abandoned the campus, never to return. The door
she opened enabled six black women to attend twu that fall semester:
Gloria Brannon of Texarkana, Marvia Elmore of El Paso, Ruby Griffin and
Betty Person of Temple, Carolyn Washington of Fort Worth, and Minnie
Smith of Dallas. With the exception of Washington, these women became
twu’s first black graduates (along with Arnetis Green and Liz Williams of
Houston) in 1966. Almost thirty years later, in a series of interviews pub-
lished in twu’s campus newspaper, Daily Lasso, the women described both
high and low moments in their years at the college. Griffin summarized the
ordeal: ‘‘Looking back, I don’t think I’d want any daughter of mine to do
what I did. But we didn’t think about it at the time. We just did it.’’∞∏
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In 1961, with a similar ‘‘just do it’’ attitude, blacks entered Texas Tech-
nological College in Lubbock for the first time. The Reverend Merrell T.
Reed, president of the Lubbock branch of the naacp and pastor of Mount
Vernon Methodist Church, approached the board supporting three black
applicants to the college. The board rejected the students, explaining that
the act that established the school restricted it to white or Caucasian stu-
dents only, which was a boldface lie. Nothing in the 1923 enabling legisla-
tion made any reference to race. The major obstacle they faced on the
board was J. Evetts Haley, the West Texas rancher, author-historian, and
ideologue-for-hire who perfectly married anticommunism with white su-
premacy. He maintained a position identical to the ut regents of the 1940s
that the desegregation of Texas Tech would only occur over his dead body.
Reed and many other blacks may have hoped mightily that lightening
might strike Haley down and remove him from the board, but where
divine intervention proved unforthcoming, they patiently waited for a less
dramatic event to take him out of the picture: the expiration of his term on
19 February 1961. Price Daniel refused to reappoint the crusty reaction-
ary who ran a poor fourth against him in 1956 in the first gubernatorial
primary race. When Haley finally announced his retirement, blacks in
Lubbock breathed a collective sigh of relief. A reporter for the city’s
Avalanche-Journal quoted Reed as saying of Haley that he was ‘‘a good
man—a good man to have off the board.’’∞π

With Haley out of the way and the threat of a lawsuit imminent, the board
debated what it should do. For several weeks, Lubbock’s mayor, David
Casey, facilitated negotiations between the board and the black students
who were preparing to go to court. In July, the regents implemented a new
policy of admitting all qualified applicants regardless of color. While the
college’s president, Robert Cabaniss Goodwin, underwent back surgery in
Florida, Texas Tech accepted its first black students. Board president, C. I.
Wall, imposed a tight gag order on the campus, forbidding campus officials
from releasing any information to the public about the opening of the
college to blacks and from keeping any records of student enrollment by
race. The campus dormitories, varsity athletics, and eating and recreational
facilities remained segregated, with change coming ever so gradually. Un-
daunted by such indignities, however, the woman who threatened legal
action against the college, Lucille Graves, led the way for black students
when she enrolled in the summer of 1961. Ophelia Moore became the first
black to earn a degree at Texas Tech. In 1967, Coach J. T. King recruited
star athlete Danny Hardaway to become the Red Raiders’ first black football
player. His excellence on the gridiron helped ‘‘thaw’’ race relations at the
campus, but academic difficulties in his senior year forced him to transfer to
Cameron State in his hometown of Lawton, Oklahoma.∞∫

The opening of Texas Tech, a member of the Southwest Conference
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and the second largest state-supported university after ut, represented a
key victory for the civil rights movement in Texas. Its desegregation made
the remaining hold-outs’ stand more untenable than ever. Two colleges,
uh and Arlington State College (asc), desegregated in 1962 and signaled
the true beginning of the end of Jim Crow’s stranglehold on Texas higher
education. uh, which immediately became the second largest university in
Texas once its state-supported status went into effect, symbolized the fu-
ture of higher education. The admission of blacks there meant segregation
had no future. uh also became the first institution in East Texas to with-
draw from the principle of racial separatism since Lamar Tech’s forced
desegregation in 1956. The desegregation of asc, the sixth largest college
in the state and a branch of the A&M College System, signified the ulti-
mate unraveling of the ‘‘salt-and-pepper’’ construct. If blacks breached the
walls of the A&M colleges, with the militaristic and patriarchal-chauvinist
tradition of its main campus in College Station, then no Texas college
could long keep them out.

uh’s implementation of what its officials claimed was a long-planned-for
desegregation strategy occurred in the summer of 1962. ‘‘On a selective
basis as part of a study,’’ the university admitted Charles P. Rhinehart Jr., a
faculty member in tsu’s Department of Music.∞Ω Vice President Patrick J.
Nicholson, in charge of public relations and the keeper of uh’s image as an
up-and-coming urban institution of higher learning, summarized the ‘‘sit-
uation’’ to a journalist: ‘‘The initial move this summer toward integration
of the university was a part of a study began several years ago by the board.
At that time it was decided that at the proper time, we would accept any
Negro student into our graduate divisions who met the requirements of
admission. This was effected this summer. As far as I know, there were no
incidents involved. The integration was a normal development of the
school’s program. The situation has quietly taken care of itself.’’≤≠ Indeed,
under the presidency of Clanton Ware Williams, the university initiated a
‘‘study’’ of desegregation in 1959. When uh launched its campaign to
secure full state support, shortly after its number one benefactor, Hugh
Roy Cullen, died on 4 July 1957, university officials knew they would no
longer be able to forestall admitting blacks. A. R. ‘‘Babe’’ Schwartz, a Jewish
attorney and Democratic politician from the Galveston area who served in
the Texas legislature, observed that racism was a key part of the moss-
backed opposition to uh becoming a state-supported institution. State
senators from rural areas in East and West Texas formed a powerful bloc
and frequently rallied together against measures benefiting urban areas
exclusively. The coalition of rural, Anglo politicians believed that if uh
became a state university it would attract to it primarily ‘‘poor [whites] and
minorities.’’ Schwartz contended that the dirty secret of the anti-uh bloc’s
opposition was that it regarded public funding of uh as an expansion of
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the welfare system. The Texas Senate, nevertheless, approved Senate Bill
No. 2, and on July 1961, Governor Price Daniels signed legislation that
made uh a state university beginning in the fall semester of 1963. During
the transition period of 1961–63, college officials decided to desegregate
and avert the negative publicity a lawsuit would generate.≤∞

In November 1962, Nicholson told a reporter from the student news-
paper, the Daily Cougar, ‘‘Integration is a large, complex problem and we
are moving along without an exact time schedule, but we have had it under
study for three years.’’ uh regents took no action in the direction of inte-
grating its living and dining facilities and maintained that they were study-
ing the problem. uh admitted black undergraduates in the fall of 1963. In
1965, President Philip Hoffman authorized the recruitment of blacks into
university athletic programs.≤≤

Blacks who sought entry to Arlington State confronted the to-hell-and-
be-damned-if-they-don’t-understand, ‘‘Gig ’Em Aggie’’ tradition of the col-
lege’s main branch in College Station. They also encountered a school
theme and campus culture that openly celebrated white supremacy. The
school, entering the A&M system in 1923, adopted the mascot Junior
Aggies, but in 1949 it changed its nickname to the Blue Riders. After two
years, then president E. H. Hereford charged a group of student leaders to
come up with a new school theme, one that would evoke greater school
pride, unity, and enthusiasm. At an assembly of the student body in the
first week of the fall semester of 1951, the winner of a standing vote was the
Dixie Rebel. The asc Rebels stuck, and in time all the accouterments of
the Old South hero appeared on the campus: Confederate battle flags,
Daniel Decatur Emmett’s ‘‘Dixie’’ as the school song, Johnny Reb as the
mascot, Confederate decor in the main room of the University Center,
and, perhaps worst of all, the annual Old South Week, with its slave auc-
tion, complete with whites (particularly the Kappa Alpha fraternity) in
Confederate soldier uniforms and others in blackface wearing shackles.
College administrators and faculty, whose general reaction to the evolu-
tion of the school theme during the 1950s ranged from toleration to
encouragement, did not look forward to desegregation of the college.≤≥

Nevertheless, they and the asc student body and alumni had to face the
end of their Dixie fantasy land in the summer of 1962 when three students
petitioned Dr. Jack R. Woolf, asc president, for admission and threatened
to sue if they were rejected based on their race. Woolf thought he had a
couple of months to quietly prepare the campus and area community and
to secure from the local media ‘‘their support in handling the release of
the information [that asc had revised its admission policy] in a way which
would not be detrimental to the College or the students.’’ But when a
luncheon meeting he arranged to have with the managing editors of news-
papers and radio and television stations was reported by one of the news
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organizations as a press conference to announce the desegregation of asc,
his hopes of covertly accepting black students vanished. A&M system chan-
cellor Marion Thomas Harrington wrote the regents and explained that
the exposure given ‘‘the decision to admit Negroes to Arlington State
College was not as President Woolf had planned.’’ At the next meeting of
the board on 29 July 1962, it formally affirmed what had become public
knowledge: asc would become the first college in the A&M system to
desegregate. Campus officials did not keep records of enrollment by race
or ethnicity, but about thirty blacks are estimated to have attended the
school in the 1962–63 school year. An article in the school newspaper, the
Shorthorn, reported that all college facilities operated on a nonracial basis,
and the writer predicted that ‘‘Negro students will participate in all phases
of college life.’’ News reporters scoured the campus looking for trouble at
the beginning of the semester but left storyless.

One story they did not look for was Phala Mae Price’s. In 1961, preg-
nant and without a high school diploma, Price, through the help of a white
friend became the first of her race ever to be hired there, as a food server
in the cafeteria of asc’s University Center. ‘‘I was here when the first black
students came through the lunch line,’’ she recalled many years later. ‘‘I
didn’t say anything, but I was proud deep inside.’’ Without a single word,
the presence of the black students at asc began to refute what a white
supremacist world had taught her about her people, their proper ‘‘place,’’
and the future she could envision for her newborn daughter. Despite the
confederate decoration around her and the white folks’ air of superiority,
she knew that with ‘‘faith and patience . . . [and] the help of God’’ the life
possibilities for an African American were not forever frozen. She and her
husband, Phianous, sent all three of their children to the college where
she worked for twenty-seven years.≤∂

The desegregation of asc also made a difference in the strange career
of Jim Crow at the main branch of the A&M system. When system regents
opened asc to blacks, they also decided to allow Texas A&M to admit
academically qualified male students ‘‘regardless to race or color.’’ This
decision did not, however, become public knowledge until after 3 June
1963, when A&M enrolled three black students. Leroy Sterling, at home in
nearby Bryan for the summer, wanted to study at A&M so that when he
returned to tsu in the fall he would have enough hours to be a senior and
could complete his degree in languages by that next June. Two junior high
school science teachers, Vernell Jackson of Bryan and George Sutton of
Fort Worth, attended A&M that first summer session after receiving Na-
tional Science Foundation (nsf) scholarships to do six weeks study in
advanced science course work. Jackson claimed that he did not state a
desire to study at A&M on his application to the nsf. If A&M had refused
to accept the nsf-sponsored students, it undoubtedly would have gone
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against the college’s future chances of securing grants from the federal
agency. In the next session, six more blacks enrolled, four undergraduates
and two graduate students, one of whom was a woman. Each year, A&M
allowed about 200 women to take classes during the summer, but in the fall
of 1963, women were accepted as regular students for the first time in the
college’s history. The white males of A&M had to adjust to both women
and blacks as students. Between the two, the gender change apparently
overshadowed the racial change.≤∑

A&M’s admission of women came as a result of a series of Fourteenth
Amendment legal challenges patterned after the cases of black civil liber-
tarians. Blacks had not threatened a lawsuit against A&M, but two factors
readied the regents for desegregation. First, the growth of A&M’s student
body had not kept apace with colleges like ut, uh, or even asc. Many be-
lieved if the school went coeducational and announced the end of racial
segregation, its rate of growth would catch up with the other large state
universities.

Second, the executive offices of the nation and the state had moved
toward taking a public position in support of college desegregation. The
Kennedy-Johnson administration and John Connally, the Texas governor
since January of 1963, were closely aligned in political ambitions and party
operations. The desegregation of higher education might drive a wedge
between the administration and Governor Wallace in Alabama but not
Connally. The national spectacle of Wallace standing in the door of the
University of Alabama’s Foster Auditorium drew a line dividing southern
Democratic stalwarts and the rest of the party. In July, before leaving for
the National Governors Conference at Miami, Connally appeared on tele-
vision in a statewide broadcast to make his position known. He presented
what amounted to a report card on the progress of civil rights in the state.
He boasted of how Texas had taken ‘‘tremendous strides’’ in the realm of
desegregation, especially in public education. He noted that sixteen out of
twenty-one senior colleges and universities and twenty-six out of thirty-
three junior colleges had dropped segregation. Connally, in tones that
paralleled those in Kennedy’s nationwide television speech just a few hours
after black students Vivian Malone and James Hood desegregated the
University of Alabama, praised the end of segregation in Texas. He also
noted that the hold-out schools were preparing to get on the bandwagon.
His comments, combined with efforts at the national level to pass a new
and tougher civil rights bill, were the first breaking rays on the political
horizon of a new day. The dark clouds of a silent and inept Eisenhower
administration and of the racist demagoguery and repressive actions of
Shivers, Daniel, Shepperd, and company had finally passed.≤∏

The dawn of a new day does not, however, necessarily bring good
weather. In the same month as Connally’s national declaration and the
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tempest in Tuscaloosa, one state-supported senior college in Texas jumped
on the civil rights train and another tried to get in front of it. Sul Ross
State, an all-white West Texas college in the State Teachers College System,
admitted its first black students without litigation. Southwest Texas State
Teachers College, on the other hand, became the last institution of higher
learning in Texas legal history that required a federal court order before it
would end segregation. Ironically, Southwest was Lyndon Johnson’s alma
mater.

The story of desegregation at Sul Ross centers on a young, gifted black
girl named Christine Young. Her early education in Alpine occurred at the
all-black Morgan School. While she was in the seventh grade, the year of
the Brown decision, she transferred to the Centennial School, an all-Latino
junior high school in the barrio. She excelled there, became bilingual, and
graduated as valedictorian of her class. Thereafter, she attended the for-
merly all-white Alpine High School, where she graduated with honors in
1960. She applied to Sul Ross, but on 29 March 1960, registrar Robert
Decker explained in a letter that her enrollment was ‘‘not legally possible.’’
The college’s enabling act, he stated, limited who could attend Sul Ross to
‘‘White Students Only.’’ Decker suggested three ways the restriction could
be overturned whereby the college could then admit her: (1) an act of the
Texas Legislature, (2) a court order or, (3) an act of the board of regents of
the State Teachers Colleges, ‘‘subject to legal question.’’ Extremely disap-
pointed by the news, Young looked to get on with her life. Her family did
not have the wherewithal to send her away to college, so she joined the
Women’s Army Corps and left Alpine until 1963. Young could have at-
tended Sul Ross merely by claiming she was Hispanic. Someone suggested
she ‘‘pass’’ for a Mexican or a Native American, as a cousin of hers had
done in 1955. Young refused this route, possibly because of the risks it
might have entailed but also because, as one writer who interviewed her
discovered, she wanted to be ‘‘true to herself . . . to be accepted as she was.’’
She simply could not ‘‘betray her heritage’’ and pretend to belong to a
culture that was not her own.≤π

Young’s application was not without support from the black, Mexican,
and white communities of Alpine. Three years later, when she returned
from her tour of duty and confronted the same racist barrier, an influen-
tial group of educators and local political leaders rallied to support her
admission to Sul Ross. Pete Gallego Jr., a businessman, a Sul Ross graduate,
and member of the board of trustees for the Alpine Independent School
District; Charles Wade, one of Young’s teachers at Alpine Centennial
School; Dr. W. E. Lockhart, Alpine’s mayor and a prominent physician; Dr.
Delbert Dyke, Sul Ross’s dean of academic studies; Gene Hendryx, a busi-
nessman and a former state representative; and others began meeting to
discuss the problem of segregation at the college. Blacks made up less than
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1 percent of the population of Brewster County and the town of Alpine.
Anglos and Mexicans each comprised about fifty percent of the popula-
tion. The public schools had already desegregated. To the business, profes-
sional, and especially the educational leaders of the community to forbid
the admission of Young and other blacks who could pass the entrance
requirements to Sul Ross was anachronistic and unjust. Hendryx emerged
from the meetings and called Texas attorney general Waggoner Carr, who,
in turn, contacted Newton Gresham of Houston, the chairman of the
board of regents for the State Teachers Colleges. The Alpine community
indicated it wanted Sul Ross to drop its ban against blacks and that it
did not want to go through a lawsuit, which would very likely be filed
if the racial barrier did not come down. After meeting on the matter,
the board gave Sul Ross’s president, Dr. Bryan Wildenthal, permission to
open the college to all students regardless of race or color. On 3 June
1963, Young entered Sul Ross after a three-year delay. She went both
summer sessions and accumulated twelve hours before the start of the fall
semester, when eight black athletic scholarship recipients joined her at the
college.≤∫

Simultaneous with the events leading up to Young’s admission to Sul
Ross, the regents of the State Teachers College System grappled with an-
other showdown on the segregation issue at Southwest Texas State College
(swt) in San Marcos. In 1962, upon graduating from Austin’s Anderson
High School, Dana Jean Smith had the school send a copy of her transcript
to swt, which she followed with a letter indicating that she would take the
American College Test on 23 June 1962 and have her scores reported to
the college. On 22 June, swt president John Garland Flowers wrote the
teenaged girl that although her high school grades convinced him that she
met swt’s ‘‘academic qualifications for admission admirably,’’ the law that
created the college did not allow him to admit someone of her ‘‘racial
background.’’ Smith, however, did not give up after receiving Flowers’s
rejection letter. On 13 September, she and her attorney, J. Phillip Craw-
ford, went to the office of swt’s registrar, Clem Jones, to ask that the
college honor her right to attend the state-supported institution. Jones
replied that unless a court ordered him to admit her, he would not do so
then or at any future date. Shortly thereafter, she filed suit in the Austin
division of the U.S. District Court before Judge Ben H. Rice Jr., who set the
case to be heard on 4 February 1963. Three days before the trial, the
system regents met at the Driskill Hotel in Austin, the same hotel where
twenty-five years before state officials decided to reject a black man who
tried to attend a class at the University of Texas, and there they officially
requested the state attorney general to represent them at trial in the case
Smith v. Flowers. With various points of fact having been stipulated by both
sides, the only issue before Judge Rice concerned whether or not the law
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permitted swt to deny Smith and other blacks admission to the college
solely based on their race. He ruled that the law did not allow it to do so
and ordered Smith admitted ‘‘forthwith.’’ That fall semester of 1963 when
she enrolled, Flowers, who had been president of swt since 1942, person-
ally assisted Smith and allowed a photograph to be taken recording the
event. The school annual published the photograph and reported that
Flowers was pleased with the ‘‘maturity of the students’’ who enabled swt
to accomplish desegregation ‘‘so smoothly.’’ Other blacks attending the
college with Smith included three San Marcos women, first-year student
Carolyn Burleson and sophomores Gloria Odums and Georgia Hoodye;
and a freshman from Waco, Oswald Cockrell. The Smith decision, however,
did not compel the system regents to formally announce a change of policy
regarding the other colleges under their governance.≤Ω

The regents of the A&M system, meanwhile, approved the elimination
of race as an admissions criterion at Prairie View and Tarleton State in
1963 when they opened Texas A&M. But they kept the action secret and
left it up to the presidents of the two colleges to make the change when
and how they saw fit. These institutions had come under no threat of a
lawsuit; indeed, no whites applied to Prairie View and no blacks to Tar-
leton. But they did begin to inform newspaper reporters that they had
dropped segregation. Prairie View stepped out first to disclose that it had
abandoned its ‘‘Negroes-only policy’’ in the fall of 1963. The first qualified
white applicants did not seek admission to the college until 1966, however.
These students. who mostly came from Waller or other nearby counties
and towns, often were teachers who found the college to be the most
convenient and affordable place to do graduate work. Tarleton also may
have accepted its first black students in 1966. Regardless of when those
campuses actually ended segregation, the struggle for civil and human
rights won a great victory in early 1964 with the announcement that all the
colleges in the A&M system had desegregated.

That left the State Teachers College System’s three East Texas campuses
as the last hold-outs.≥≠ Blacks had attempted at least since 1954 to enter
Sam Houston State Teachers College at Huntsville, Stephen F. Austin State
College (sfa) at Nacogdoches, and East Texas State College at Commerce.
The large black populations in these areas, which ranged from 15 to 37
percent, had long imbued many local whites with an absolute dread of
blacks becoming fully free and empowered and of any new increase in
interracial contact, particularly on a socially equal level. How much impor-
tance college and state government officials should accord to the preju-
dices of these whites and for how long should they trample the constitu-
tional rights of blacks to appease white supremacists remained the critical
questions. On 12 August 1955, the regents of the state teachers colleges
answered by directing the six institutions under its governance to ‘‘advise
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Dana Jean Smith, shown here with
Southwest Texas State president John
Garland Flowers, in 1964 became the
last African American student in Texas
to require a federal court order before
she could be admitted (Southwest
Texas State University 1964 Pedagog

Year Book).

each [N]egro applicant who has or may apply for admission to such col-
lege, that such admission is denied because (1) neither the charter nor the
existing facilities at the college in question . . . permit such admission; (2)
the citizenry of the respective communities has not yet been conditioned
to the point of acceptance of the abolishment of segregation.’’≥∞

The East Texas colleges played up the Anglo community’s unprepared-
ness for desegregation, but in the early 1960s advocates of civil rights
shifted the momentum. A case that originated at Sam Houston but sent
shock waves throughout the state and nation involved what C. Vann Wood-
ward described in a Harper’s Magazine article as the regents’ ‘‘high-handed
firing’’ of Rupert Koeninger. At the end of the 1962 school year, Koen-
inger, head of Sam Houston’s sociology department for fifteen years, sud-
denly found himself dismissed from his job with no explanation. President
Harmon Lowman related to the fifty-five-year-old diminutive scholar of
criminology that his speeches encouraging school desegregation had been
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at the heart of the board’s decision to drop him from the faculty. One
speech that the regents especially complained about occurred in 1955. In
May of that year, Koeninger read a paper in which he reviewed the first year
of changes in the schools since Brown. As one of the keynote speakers at
the Southwestern Regional Conference on Integration, he explained that
‘‘you cannot expect integration to come about just by edict of the Supreme
Court.’’ More troubling than what he said, which he had discussed be-
forehand with Lowman, was where he delivered his speech. Held in Hous-
ton and drawing an evenly divided biracial crowd of about 150 persons, the
meeting had been sponsored by the Southern Conference Educational
Fund, an offshoot of the Southern Conference for Human Welfare. Ex-
treme conservatives and anticommunists, like members of the John Birch
Society, which was active in Huntsville in 1962, believed the fund was
actually a front organization of the Communist Party, USA. The Texas
Association of College Teachers conducted an investigation of the firing
and reported that Birchers and regent chairman C. S. Ramsey pressured
the board to discharge the professor. Koeninger did not stay long without a
job. That fall semester he started teaching at Texas Southern University.
Meanwhile, fifteen teachers left Sam Houston in protest of the incident,
and the American Association of University Professors placed the college
on its censured list for violating Koeninger’s right of academic freedom. It
did not remove Sam Houston’s name from the list until 1970, when a
settlement occurred involving the payment of $10,000 to the professor.≥≤

The straw that broke the regents’ resolve to avoid desegregation
emerged out of the struggle of Maxine Haywood, a Texarkana school-
teacher, and Carolyn Jean Kirkwood, a May 1964 graduate of a Huntsville
high school. The two women applied to the college during the spring and
received letters of rejection based on their race from Reed Lindsey, the
acting dean of admissions. They retained the services of attorney Weldon
H. Berry, an active member of the Houston naacp branch. On 5 June 1964,
he filed a lawsuit before Ben Connally, a federal district judge in Houston.
On the same day, system regents met in Austin and discussed the segrega-
tion question. They agreed that none of the campuses under their gover-
nance would continue to refuse students ‘‘solely on the basis of race.’’ News
of the decision rang out across the state on 8 June, and a day later, John
Connally broadcast throughout the nation that Texas had completed the
desegregation of its public, four-year colleges. He made the Texas-sized
brag at a panel discussion on civil rights and at the National Governors
Conference held that year in Cleveland, Ohio. The boast supposedly ver-
ified his argument that the problem of civil rights in education, employ-
ment, and other areas was ‘‘essentially local and the most effective solutions
could be reached by local groups’’ acting voluntarily and without pressure
from the federal government. With an eye toward the Civil Rights Bill,
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which President Johnson would sign into law in less than a month, Connally
was attempting to deny the need for such a sweeping measure and to
project his political leadership in a favorable light. Still, following his widely
publicized comments, blacks had to fight to compel officials at the hold-out
schools to get into the new era—to enter, at last, the twentieth century.≥≥

John Patrick, valedictorian of the class of 1964 at Huntsville’s Sam
Houston High School, helped to bring Sam Houston out of the racist
darkness of the nineteenth century. On 8 June, he enrolled, and the next
day he began attending classes in history and mathematics. ‘‘No one even
glanced in his direction,’’ observed one reporter who went to the campus
to record the historic event. Acting president Elliott Bowers gave the re-
porter the attitude of officialdom: ‘‘He’s just another student as far as we’re
concerned.’’ How quickly the official attitude had changed. In January
1968, Patrick graduated with a bachelor of science degree in mathematics
and chemistry. The process of change by then seemed irreversible.≥∂

The black equal rights struggle did not generate a lawsuit to open Ste-
phen F. Austin State College, but the filing of Kirkwood v. Sam Houston State

Teachers College hastened desegregation throughout the State Teachers Col-
lege System. The rights revolution came slowly to ‘‘NaKKKogdoches,’’ as
young blacks dubbed the town. A true East Texas city, it had a reputation
for ‘‘hard core’’ racial attitudes. The county, sharing the same name as its
leading town and seat of government, split into whites and blacks at about
a two-to-one ratio. Ralph Steen moved to the area in 1958, leaving his long-
held position as professor of history at Texas A&M to become president of
sfa. At his inaugural ceremony, his mentor, Walter Prescott Webb, gave the
keynote speech. He offered those attending the occasion a parable: A
farmer took a plow and went out onto his field to earn his daily bread but
then discovered that ‘‘one of those big pine trees had fallen down. The
tree was too big to move and too green to burn, and so [the farmer] just
plowed around it.’’ The wise farmer found it best to ‘‘go on and plow
around one great obstacle in order to get on with [his] crop.’’ Webb,
renowned as one of the most brilliant white supremacists in Texas history,
spoke through this story to the destiny of ‘‘Aryan civilization’’ as it faced the
long-dreaded dark hour of social equality with the African. The meaning
of the tale was simple and direct: an inferior black person entering the
schools and colleges of whites was an enormous problem, but not one that
should absorb too much of the energies and emotions of the civilization-
builders who taught and helped to mold white youth. Men like Steen
should simply accept the presence of blacks on their campus and get on
with their crop, the cultivation of the Aryan race. In time, like the fallen
tree, blacks would lose their greenness, the momentary political vigor they
were exhibiting, and could be cut into pieces, moved, or burned away. The
moral of his story did not escape Steen.≥∑
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Through the years of massive resistance, sfa’s president dutifully
spurned black applicants to the college and assured whites who worried
about the coming of blacks that when change occurred they would not be
put upon in the least. By 1963, Steen predicted that the ban against blacks
would end within a year’s time. In October, he offered sfa as the host cam-
pus for the annual meeting of the American Studies Association scheduled
for December of 1964. Since the association opposed meeting on segre-
gated campuses, he assured members of the American Studies community
that the college would be integrated before then. When the system regents
publicly announced that all the colleges they governed were free to admit
blacks, Steen first opened sfa’s graduate programs. He found the perfect
kind of black student sfa could tolerate the best. As one eyewitness ex-
plained, ‘‘Steen stacked the deck in integrating the school. The first black
to enroll was an old black preacher. With hat in hand, he was not the type of
person to offend anybody.’’ And, indeed, no violent incidents took place. If
the preacher was a character like Kingfish in Amos ’n’ Andy, then he
undoubtedly amused most whites. But whether or not he was like the
Kingfish, Uncle Tom, or any other white stereotype, he paved the way for
more blacks to enroll, including undergraduates. Approximately twenty
blacks attended sfa in the fall, but none lived on campus. The university’s
dormitories were not desegregated until 1965. Steen’s administration had
begun to ‘‘plow around’’ the blacks on his campus.≥∏

At East Texas State College, the last of the state teachers colleges to
desegregate, an estimated six blacks enrolled for summer courses in 1964.
At least ten years before they crossed the color line, blacks had made
attempts to enter the college but President James Gee routinely turned
down their applications. Described as an ardent segregationist, the native
of South Carolina had served as a staff officer under General George
Patton in the Second World War. He could take orders whether he liked
them or not. He knew by the early 1960s that blacks would enter the school
before long. In 1962, he appointed various members of the faculty and his
administration to a secret, ad hoc committee charged with studying col-
legiate desegregation and recommending the best policies and proce-
dures to take whenever the college had to face the elimination of its racial
rules. The group studied Lamar, Arlington, and North Texas and recom-
mended two major moves: First, Gee should bring together all the person-
nel of the college, from executive vice presidents to the yard men, inform
them that blacks would be admitted, and secure their cooperation—a
procedure McDonald used at Lamar to satisfactory ends. Second, the col-
lege news director should contact the media to garner their support in
bringing about a ‘‘dignified integration.’’ When Velma Waters became the
first black to enter East Texas State, Gee acted according to the commit-
tee’s recommendations. The speech he gave to prepare the college staff
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two weeks before the summer term began seemed to announce the end of
the world. Local papers printed the text of the speech, the theme of which
centered on the need to be civil:

Our attitudes, our personal conduct, and the manner in which we exercise
the utmost of practical and active good citizenship and self-control will be
forever recorded in the annals of this institution, this county and the State of
Texas as being irreparably bad or infinitely good. . . . Let us each here pledge
to ourselves and to each other that our individual and joint efforts will always
be motivated by the best interest of this college. . . . It is my devout wish and
fervent prayer that the integration of this college will come about in an
orderly manner.≥π

With President Gee having rejected Waters’s original application in 1960,
the young Commerce native showed tremendous persistence in finally
entering the school four years later. The challenges that lay ahead deeply
tested her stamina, but again she prevailed. When she took her seat in a
classroom full of whites a ring of empty chairs would appear between her
and her classmates. She had to take classes with professors who did not
want to talk to her outside of class nor would ever call on her during class.
Others graded her work unfairly and even tried to flunk her out of the
school. Nonetheless, she had some good experiences such as the help of
anonymous donors when she lacked the funds to remain in school. In
1968, Waters became one of the first blacks to get a degree at East Texas.
That same year, at 325, blacks comprised nearly 6 percent of the college’s
student body. The desegregation of sfa, Sam Houston, and East Texas
State symbolized a start in the softening of the hardest core of racist re-
calcitrance in the state. Texas’s accomplishments in social justice and race
relations, however, like those of its native son in the White House, became
overshadowed by a war in Southeast Asia, fading into that blur that Michael
Eric Dyson has called the United States of Amnesia.≥∫
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Coda

I have great respect for that unsung army of black men and women who
trudged down back lanes and entered back doors, saying ‘‘Yes, sir’’ and ‘‘No,
Ma’am’’ in order to acquire a new roof for the schoolhouse, new books, a new
chemistry lab, more beds for the dormitories, more dormitories. They did
not like saying ‘‘Yes, sir’’ and ‘‘No, Ma’am,’’ but the country was in no hurry
to educate Negroes, these black men and women knew that the job had to be
done, and they put their pride in their pockets in order to do it.

—James Baldwin, The Fire Next Time (1960).

By 1965, in order to secure greater access to educational opportunities for
themselves and their children, Negroes had, as James Baldwin wrote in his
book The Fire Next Time, stuffed ‘‘their pride in their pockets’’ to the point
that they began to burst. Even as African Americans won the enlarged
access they had long sought, their individual and collective sense of self
could no longer be stuffed down into pockets of pragmatic necessity. He-
man Sweatt and others whose names styled desegregation lawsuits like Joe
Atkins, Dana Jean Smith, Versie Jackson, John Shipp, Carolyn Jean Kirk-
wood, Wilma Jean Whitmore, Willie Faye Battle, and Thelma White, and
many others whose names did not but who often took greater risks, had let
the genie out of the bottle. Responding to William Faulkner’s silly advice to
the freedom fighters to ‘‘go slow’’ with desegregation, Baldwin answered,
‘‘Any real change implies the breakup of the world as one has always known
it, the loss of all that gave one an identity, the end of safety.’’ White Texans
resisted change and refused to surrender their dreams of unending racial
hierarchy. Black students after 1965, however, refused to surrender their
parents’ dream of a world where all races had equal rights and justice. As
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students, they began to question the meaning of university access without
acceptance, integration with continuing inequities.∞

At the same time, powerful voices called them to follow Dr. Martin
Luther King Jr. in the building of a beloved community, to do their part to
change the world. Colored rituals of integration penetrated to the core of
black pride itself—the black educational tradition. Ever in the lead, even
when black folks were going backward, the Colored Teachers State Associa-
tion of Texas began discussing the factors that made their association
separate from whites’ ‘‘untenable.’’ In 1963, ctsat’s executive committee
authorized dual memberships after the formerly segregated Texas State
Association of Teachers joined the ctsat in removing racial restrictions on
membership. On 30 November, about 2,900, or one-fourth, of ctsat
members joined the tsta. After passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and
the federal government’s Health, Education and Welfare Department and
the National Education Association issued various pro-integration man-
dates, talks of unifying the ctsat and the tsta accelerated. At a call meet-
ing of the association in August of 1966, the membership voted without
dissent to merge with the tsta. The members voted to begin a new history,
building on the sure foundation of decades of struggle for a united nation.
Optimism was palpable.≤

In carefully listening to southern crusaders for justice, African American
author Alice Walker has found that the term ‘‘civil rights’’ does not work
well to describe what the democracy-seekers sweated and shed blood for.
Perhaps in a solipsistic act of owning the words that defined their deepest
longings, perhaps because of their deep southern accents, Walker heard
from black mouths: ‘‘silver rights—I want my silver rights.’’ The democra-
tization of higher education in the United States, like the civil rights move-
ment before warriors like Fannie Lou Hamer, Mae Bertha Carter, and
Bernice Johnson Reagon started lifting hearts, was without poets and
singers. Lawyers, politicians, and bureaucrats created the language of the
struggle for access and equity in higher education. When Dr. King moved
on from dreamy images of black and white girls and boys atop hills singing
old Negro spirituals to the pressing reality of the Vietnam War and the
contradiction it posed to a nonviolent world where war was waged against
poverty and not people, the language of social transformation became
more militant and strident. At the same time, as black southerners at-
tended college with whites and discovered that the ‘‘ordeal’’ of integration
did not produce a transformed mainstream, words laced with fire cap-
tured their imaginations. In a world so long and difficult in its arrival but
still so distant from what they sought, black folk had to have songs that sang
out their agony and their hope.≥
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As James Brown, the Godfather of Soul, announced in 1966 that
‘‘Papa’s Got a Brand New Bag,’’ young warriors of the African American
freedom movement made Black Power their battle cry, Maulana Karenga
established Kwanzaa, the Black Panther Party for Self-Defense formed,
and the interracial crew on Star Trek beamed into millions of homes. On
16 August 1966, at Arthur Smith Studios, in Charlotte, North Carolina,
the Godfather recorded ‘‘Don’t Be a Dropout’’ to make it clear that ‘‘with-
out an education you might as well be dead.’’ The next year, African Ameri-
can coeds and their peers who wanted change launched serious struggles
for academic departments of Black Studies, an increase in the number of
black professors at historically white collegiate institutions, and a transfor-
mation of the liberal arts general education curriculum. Aretha Franklin,
the twenty-five-year-old Queen of Soul who put in song the rising mood,
became Billboard’s top vocalist of 1967. In 1968, she became the first
black woman to appear on Time magazine’s cover. Her hit ‘‘R-E-S-P-E-C-T’’
had as much to say about the New African generation’s challenge to a
white American culture that continued to belittle its black sisters and
brothers as it did about a person demanding respect from an indifferent
lover. In return ‘‘for a little respect’’ the wronged woman in her song
promises a healthy relationship full of honesty and honey-sweet kisses. But
if the cheating and disrespect persisted, then the offending mister ‘‘might
walk in’’ and ‘‘find out I’m gone.’’

If the Queen left room for any ambiguity about how African Americans
felt, then the Godfather, Soul Brother No. 1, banished all doubt in 1968
with his ‘‘Say It Loud, I’m Black and I’m Proud.’’ James Brown recorded
the song four months after Dr. King’s assassination amid political erup-
tions all over the United States, on college and high school campuses, in
offices and boardrooms, and in the streets. Brown once explained the
intense yearning for American democracy to live up to its potential and to
work for black people this way:

There are a lot of people who think they’re in the system, but they’re really
not in the system. Any time an Afro-American kid, 9 or 10 years old, can get
up and say, ‘Mama, I think I’m gonna study hard because I want to be
president,’ and have a shot at being president, then we’ve got America.
When you can go on any side of town and not be frantic, or curious, about
what might happen to you, and be at home at any place in America, we won’t
have to worry about ‘Say It Loud (I’m Black and I’m Proud).’ Other than
that, we’ve got a name and we’re trying to find out what it means.

The African American quest for meaning of words like ‘‘America’’ and ‘‘de-
mocracy’’ can be heard in soul music, but the search has found its greatest
expression in the struggle for access and equity in higher education.
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By the end of the 1960s, the higher education struggle in Texas and
across the United States had reached a watershed. The African American
freedom movement, first led by intelligent, brave, and eloquent leaders in
Texas, rendered unjust, undemocratic, and unspeakable the idea that
whites had the moral authority and the constitutional legitimacy to claim
public spaces—college campuses, seats on a bus, jobs, parks, water foun-
tains, ballot boxes, political offices—for their own exclusive use and bene-
fit. Their victory did not prevent whites from continuing to maintain the
supremacy of their race; and, here and there, down to our own time, the
struggles continue. New tactics and strategies, policies and practices, law-
suits and court rulings would rise and fall, hopeful yearnings and dreams
would be deferred, and promises would be made and broken. That story,
too, the history of the African American freedom movement in the second
century after chattel enslavement, must also be written. When that story is
told, let future historians look upon the men and women in the years from
1865 to 1965 with humble and respectful eyes knowing something of the
sense of pain and conviction they felt as they put their pride aside to do a
job that had to be done.

As we study history, I and many of my generation have learned humility
and have discovered a higher level of respect for our parents, for who they
are and all they had to put up with. No longer do the tears flood as we say to
ourselves, ‘‘If only they had not let us forget the price of the ticket.’’ I
entered the University of Texas in 1977 not knowing any of the names in
this book except for my kinfolk; and, even in their case, I knew nothing
about their deeds recounted here. I knew nothing about the price of the
ticket that made it possible for me to be a student at ut. Dick Gregory, who
gave a talk on the campus in my junior year, helped further break my
consciousness from, as Ayi Kwei Armah put it in Two Thousand Seasons, ‘‘the
pull of old habits of destruction’s empire.’’ Gregory’s humor, like Richard
Pryor’s, pushed me into a remembering and a project of recuperating my
history. The comedian stood before the large room filled with a few more
whites than blacks and said something to this effect: ‘‘Integration is a
beautiful thing. It’s a beautiful thing especially for my black folks. Under
segregation we thought y’all were everything. But thanks to integration,
baby, we learned y’all ain’t about nothing.’’ I laughed so hard I fell out of
my seat. He uttered a secret truth that shook my reality like an earthquake.
He revealed publicly what four years of a ‘‘white’’ high school and two years
at a ‘‘white’’ university made self-evident but unutterable: a morally bank-
rupt whiteness rules the empire. Still, a naked emperor is still the emperor
and still capable of the destruction of bodies, the death of souls.∂

One of the emperor’s senators, a man of stone named Trent Lott, pub-
licly fantasized about a world in which Strom Thurmond had become the
emperor in 1948. If Thurmond had been emperor, Lott averred, all would
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be right in the world. One must suppose that if Lott’s fantasy were reality,
Herman Barnett would never have gone to ut’s medical school, nor would
John Saunders Chase, Heman Sweatt, or George Washington Jr. have stud-
ied architecture or law at ut. Nor indeed would I have attended the
school. African Americans would have remained in their proper place, and
the United States would not be beset by crime and a lack of morals, bulg-
ing prisons, bloated federal spending on welfare and other dependency-
producing programs, foreign terrorists, and so-called affirmative action
that lowered standards to allow less qualified blacks to take places in the
finest colleges and universities in the country that would otherwise go to
all those infinitely more deserving white women and men. Lott’s hooey,
which some claim most whites (certainly most white southerners) believe
to be true, stripped him of his leadership post in the Senate. The new
emperor, a Texan named George W. Bush, berated Lott and hastened his
demise. Was he a victim of simple ignorance or evil intention? The ques-
tion is beyond the scope of this coda, but it does highlight the importance
of remembering and learning, of really knowing the price of the ticket that
started us all moving in the direction of becoming one people, one democ-
racy, with one destiny. Advancing democracy will not occur by intensifying
the oppression of black folk. That much was clear in 1948 to most Euro-
pean Americans and African Americans alike. It took two decades of Afri-
can Americans taking tremendous risks and engaging in courageous ac-
tions to demonstrate that the reduction of racial oppression in the United
States need not ruin the country. That there have been missteps, mis-
spoken words, misdeeds, and misbegotten policies in the name of affir-
matively acting to reduce racial oppression remains the subject of another
chapter and another book. They have occurred just as the log of demo-
cratic principles and practice has been plowed around on numerous cam-
puses and fields of public life. For now, though, we must, as Armah writes
of another terror-soaked age, ‘‘end this remembrance, the sound of it. It is
the substance that continues.’’∑
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Abbreviations

DMN Dallas Morning News

FLMP President Floren Lee McDonald Papers, John and
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Texas

HC Houston Chronicle

HD Houston Defender

HI Houston Informer

HP Houston Post

Integration File Integration File, Special Collections, Texas Woman’s
University Library, Denton, Texas

JCMP James Carl Matthews Papers, Willis Library,
University of North Texas, Denton, Texas

NAACP Papers Papers of the National Association for the
Advancement of Colored People, Library of
Congress, Washington, D.C. (The designations
preceding the abbreviation are the group number,
the series letter, and the box number, e.g., II-A-29.)

NYT New York Times

PD Papers Governor Price Daniel Papers, Sam Houston
Regional Library and Research Center, Liberty, Texas

SSN Southern School News

Texas v. NAACP Papers State of Texas v. NAACP, Attorney General’s Papers,
Center for American History, University of Texas,
Austin, Texas

UTAL University of Texas at Arlington Libraries Special
Collections Division

UTPOR University of Texas President’s Office Records,
Center for American History, University of Texas,
Austin
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Introduction

1. Mortimer J. Adler helped inform my sense of what were the great books of the
world. His Great Ideas from the Great Books (New York: Washington Square Press,
1963), came into my hands by way of the library of my high school philosophy
teacher, John Conway. As for UT ranking at the top of my list of universities, it rated
so highly because I knew that my uncle, Grant Saint Julian Jr., was one of the first
Negroes to attend the school as a microbiology graduate student. He became a
scientist, and from as young as I can remember he represented for me the finest
living example of an educated person. I should note here that throughout this
book I deploy the wide variety of names used to denote people of African de-
scent in the United States of America: niggers, n/Negroes, coloreds, blacks, Afro-
Americans, African Americans, and New Africans both in direct quotations and in
my own text. My approach is sometimes synchronic and at other times idiosyn-
cratic. If the reader is flexible and good humored, no confusion at all should occur.
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1. Several works examine the legal struggle against segregation. Among the most
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the defendants ‘‘completely avoided the fact issues and went off on a wild goose
chase in the field of irrelevance and pure viciousness.’’

70. Quotations from Krupnick, ‘‘Negro Admission.’’ For a summary of Cecil’s
ruling, see ‘‘Report of U. Simpson Tate, Regional Counsel,’’ June and July 1956,
NAACP Papers; on the state’s appeal, see ‘‘State Will File Lamar Tech Appeal on
Negroes,’’ Beaumont Enterprise, 26 September 1956. On a legal level, their case and
subsequent appeals had no merit at all, did not delay the desegregation process,
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pend Integration at Lamar Denied,’’ Beaumont Enterprise, 30 October 1956, on
Judge Cecil’s refusal of a motion to suspend execution of his order. On the Fifth
Circuit Court of Appeals’ 21 May 1957 affirmance of Cecil’s desegregation order,
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but Lightfoot was undoubtedly speaking of Sprott).
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eral encroachment on state authority’’ and the other on strengthening laws against
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dents from Lamar’’; Ralph Wooster interview by author, 23 June 1989; and Breed,
College Desegregation, 5–7.

79. F. L. McDonald, ‘‘Newsletter from the Office of the President’’ to the Board
of Regents, 5 October 1956, FLMP.

80. ‘‘Lamar Tech Quiet as Pickets Observe Mayor Cokinos’ Ban,’’ Beaumont Enter-

prise, 6 October 1956; Patrick K. Graves, ‘‘Leaders Recall Time of Civil Rights Act,’’
Beaumont Enterprise, 2 July 1989; G. P. Cokinos, Letter to the Editor, Beaumont

Enterprise, 15 July 1990. On violence against blacks, see ‘‘Vandalism at Office of
Negro Attorney Probed,’’ Beaumont Journal, 9 October 1956, and Johns interview.
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blocking black students from entering TJC, see ‘‘Stilwell Hails Victory in Court over
NAACP,’’ Texarkana Gazette, 28 September 1956.
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pany Desegregation Moves,’’ SSN, May 1964, 12. The NAACP held no malice
against Gray, probably sympathizing with the state of duress the ordeal put her
through. She went on to attend NTSC in the spring term of 1957 and received
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Americans had to endure restrictions in regard to where they could live and eat
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Lead, Cleric Says,’’ HC, 8 September 1955.
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14. On the opening of TSU, see ‘‘T.S.U. Desegregates Students and Faculty,’’ HC,
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by Directors,’’ HP, 11 January 1956. On whites who applied to TSU’s 1956 fall
term, see ‘‘T.S.U. Admits White Students,’’ HC, 9 September 1956; and on Sam-
uel M. Nabrit’s ‘‘special counseling,’’ see ‘‘No White Students Register at T.S.U.,’’
HC, 18 September 1956.
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cludes photograph); ‘‘White Pastor Finds Another on T.S.U. Rolls,’’ HC, 18 Sep-
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E. O. Bell said that several white students had enrolled the previous year, but he
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11. First quote is in ‘‘Rev Munroe Enrolls at TSU; Tactics Hit by Bd Member,’’ HI,
20 September 1958; second quote is in ‘‘ ‘Object Lesson,’ ’’ SSN, October 1958, 14;
and the third, ‘‘Pastor Hopes His Example Will Help,’’ HC, 18 September 1958.
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Reacting to McMahill’s enrollment, one of the board members of St. Thomas said:
‘‘This is a shock. I don’t approve of it myself.’’ My thanks to Berniece McBeth of
Houston, past chair of the Archives and History Committee of the United Meth-
odist Center (Texas Annual Conference), for helping me find out more about
McMahill.

Carter Wesley said nothing about McMahill, but in his editorial ‘‘Anarchy Vs The
Rule of Law,’’ in HI, 20 September 1958, he wrote in his acidic manner that ‘‘when
a Baptist preacher places placards in the hands of school children, attacking and
defying the Constitution of the United States, as interpreted by the Supreme Court;
and leads those children in a public demonstration against the law, we are witness-
ing one of the worst forms of [a] plea for anarchy.’’

After the initial news sensation, the issue of whites at TSU faded from public view.
In small numbers they entered the school, especially its schools of pharmacy and
law. As for faculty desegregation, TSU hired whites with unparalleled vigor. Five
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TSU’s faculty; see ‘‘In the Colleges,’’ SSN, April 1962, 17. No traditionally white
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since.

12. For quotations, see ‘‘In the Colleges,’’ SSN, March 1960, 10. Dooley’s order
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state teachers colleges at least as early as 1956; see ‘‘In the Colleges,’’ SSN, October
1956, 14. The last quotation is from Judge Joe Dooley’s summary judgment in
Shipp v. White, U.S.D.Ct., Northern District, Texas, Amarillo Division, 1 March
1960, Civil Action 2789, in Race Relations Law Reporter 5 (Fall 1960): 740.

Dooley’s decision occurred just as a wave of sit-in protests swept the South after
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counter action at Greensboro, North Carolina. See the articles ‘‘Negroes Militant,’’
‘‘Protest at UT,’’ ‘‘T.S.U. Students’ ‘Sit-Ins,’ ’’ and ‘‘Cox Vs. the ‘Sit-Ins,’ ’’ in the
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Cutting,’’ 18 March 1960, ibid., 1–2; ‘‘Sit-Ins Resumed,’’ 25 March 1960, ibid., 3;
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13. Minutes of the Texas State College for Women Executive Committee meet-
ing, 1 April 1952, Executive Committee Folder, Integration File. My thanks to
special collections librarian Kim Grover-Haskin at TWU for her help. On TWU’s
history, see Whisenhunt, Encyclopedia, 156–57.
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Committee meeting, 9 May 1955, in the ‘‘President’s Report to the Board of Re-
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of the Board of Regents meeting, 3 June 1957, for ‘‘Copy of Statement on Integra-
tion Policy,’’ Integration File. On John A. Guinn, see Frank C. Rigler, ‘‘Texas Col-
lege for Women Has a New President,’’ Texas Outlook, August 1951, 17.

16. Minutes of the Board of Regents meeting, 24 August 1961, Integration File;
on Dowells, see ‘‘Women’s University Becomes Biracial,’’ SSN, October 1961, 15,
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vember 1991.
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17. ‘‘Negroes Enter Tech; Exact Number Unknown,’’ SSN, August 1961, 9; for
Merrell T. Reed as having little help from the local NAACP branch in opening Tech
and other places (e.g., Woolworths, Walgreen, the bus station, and area motels),
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Education,’’ Desegregation Abstracts (1955): 1784; Greenberg, Arthur L. Chase, and
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Alwyn Barr, ‘‘Black Lubbock,’’ West Texas Historical Association Year Book 54 (1978):
28–29, and Jane Gilmore Rushing and Kline A. Nall, Evolution of a University: Texas

Tech’s First Fifty Years (Austin: Eakin Press, 1975), 122–24.
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23. See Jim McClellan, ‘‘Old Times There Are Not Forgotten,’’ October 1968, in
the Rebel Theme Controversy Collection, UTAL.

24. The first quote is from Marion T. Harrington to Members of the [A&M
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meeting charging that the fund organizer, James Dombrowski, was a former mem-
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Coda

1. James Baldwin, The Fire Next Time (New York: Vintage, 1993), 100. See also his
‘‘Faulkner and Desegregation,’’ in James Baldwin Collected Essays (New York: Library
of America, 1998), 209. Connecting Baldwin to the concerns of this book feels
natural and is enriched by a reading of the work of Lawrie Balfour, The Evidence of

Things Not Said: James Baldwin and the Promise of American Democracy (Ithaca: Cornell
University Press, 2001).

2. Vernon McDaniel, History of the Teachers State Association of Texas (Washington:
National Education Association, 1977), 77–87.

3. Alice Walker, In Search of Our Mothers’ Garden, quoted in Constance Curry, Silver

Rights (New York: Harcourt Brace, 1995), vii; see also Curry’s coming to think
about the goal of freedom as the oppressed did (xxvii). See also Orlando Patterson,
The Ordeal of Integration: Progress and Resentment in America’s ‘‘Racial’’ Debate (Wash-
ington: Civitas, 1997).

4. Ayi Kwei Armah, Two Thousand Seasons (Popenguine, Senegal: Per Ankh,
2000), 315.

5. Armah, Two Thousand Seasons, 317. My thanks to Rhoda Johnson for the gift of
a copy of Armah’s book from her trip to Senegal and to Asa G. Hilliard III–Nana
Baffour Amankwatia II for recommending she get me this particular one. Without
it I might not have finished my book in its right season.
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